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Letter no: GHIAL/2021-22/SPG/1634 

Date: July 30, 2021 

 

The Secretary  

Airport Economic Regulatory Authority of India  

AERA Building  

Administrative Complex  

Safdarjung Airport  

New Delhi -110003 

 

Subject : GHIAL response to consultation paper 11/2021-22 

 

Reference: Consultation paper 11/2021-22 dtd. 2nd July 2021 for determination of aeronautical 

tariff in respect of RGIA for the 3rd control period (01.04.2021-31.03.2026) 
 

Dear Sir, 

We would like to thank the Authority for giving us an opportunity to submit our response on the 

above consultation paper. 

 

The detailed response along with supporting document is attached herewith as “Exhibit – I”. We 

request to consider the submission in finalization of tariff order for third control period of 

Hyderabad Airport. 

 

For GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited  

 

 

Authorized Signatory  

 

Enclosure- Exhibit 1 
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Yashwant Bhave M.P.A.(Harvard) I.A.S. 

Ex-Secretary to the Government Of India, Ministry of 
Consumer Affairs, New Delhi 
Ex-Chairperson, Airports Economic Regulatory Authority 
of India (AERA), New Delhi 
Cell:  +91 77200 37738 
E-mail: ysbhave@gmail.com  
Dated July 8, 2017 

 

Sub: Regarding matters relating to the Non-Aeronautical Revenue in respect of GHIAL, 

Hyderabad 

1. Background: 

1.1. GMR Hyderabad International Airport Ltd. (GHIAL), (hereinafter Querist) has 

requested me to offer an opinion on matters of true import and meaning of certain 

provisions of the Concession Agreement (henceforth “CA”) between GHAIL and the 

Government of India. GHIAL, was initially incorporated as Hyderabad International Airport 

Limited on December 17, 2002 and later changed its name to GMR Hyderabad 

International Airport Limited, effective November 29, 2005. The consortium of GMR 

Infrastructure Limited and Malaysia Airports Holding Berhad  was chosen as a successful 

bidder  pursuant to an international bidding process conducted by the erstwhile united 

State Government of Andhra Pradesh for designing, financing, constructing, and for 

operating & maintaining an international airport  (Airport) and for developing Airport and 

Non-airport activities at Shamshabad, Hyderabad (hereinafter referred to as ‘Project’). 

1.2. Consequent to the selection of above said consortium, the following Agreements 

were executed.  

A. Share Holders Agreement: 

B. Land Lease Agreement: 

C. State Support Agreement: 

D. Concession Agreement:  

1.3. The Government of India (GoI) vide Concession Agreement dated December 20, 

2004 granted GHIAL the exclusive right to carry out the development, commissioning, 

operation, maintenance and management of the Airport. GHIAL had also been granted the 

right to carry out Airport and Non-airport activities and to carryon any activity or business 

related to or ancillary to the operating and maintenance of the Airport or any other 

commercial activity, with a further right to grant Service Provider Rights to any third party.  
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1.4. The concession granted by the GOI is for an initial term of 30 years from the date 

of Commercial Operations of the Airport i.e. from 23.03.2008 and can be extended for a 

further period of 30 years at the sole option of GHIAL.  

1.5. Clause 2 of the CA defines the “Scope of the Project” as under: 

The scope of the Project (the "Scope of the Project") shall mean: 

2.1.1    the development and construction of the Airport on the Site in 

accordance  with the provisions of this Agreement; 

2.1.2 the operation and maintenance of the Airport and performance of the 

Airport Activities and Non-Airport Activities in accordance with the provisions 

of this Agreement; and 

2.1.3  the performance and fulfilment of  all other obligations  of  HIAL in 

accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

1.6. Terms arising in the “Scope” are separately defined as will be apparent later (See 

Para 1.16 below for definition of Airport Activities and Non-Airport Activities). The issue in 

question being the subject matter of the present brief is the calculation of Non-Aeronautical 

Revenue in respect of GHIAL. In its brief for my opinion, the querist has extensively given 

the background and relevant clauses and for sake of brevity are not reproduced here 

except those required for understanding the logic of the interpretation and meaning 

leading to answering the following queries: 

1.7. Queries: Specifically, Querist has raised the following issues (or queries)-

Answered in Para 1.34 below: 

1) Whether the expenses incurred for non-aeronautical activities, can be deducted from 

Non-Aeronautical Revenue before cross subsidisation of 30% Non-Aeronautical 

Revenue under Hybrid Till? 

2) What revenue shall constitute the non-aeronautical revenue in the hands of GHIAL?   

3) In view of  the concession granted to GHIAL under the CA particularly under Articles 

10.2, 10.3 read with Schedule 6,  whether the cargo, fueling and ground handling 

services are treated as part of aeronautical or non-aeronautical. 

4) Whether the revenue from non-airport activities is liable for cross subsidy? 

1.8. To address these queries, it is necessary to have a proper understanding of the 

various documents referred to above and more particularly the CA along with 

communications from Ministry of Civil Aviation to GHIAL as well as communication to 

other private airports particularly Mumbai International Airport Ltd (MIAL) and Delhi 
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International Airport Ltd (DIAL) that are relevant and hence pari materia for our purpose. 

This is done in the following paragraphs. 

Primacy of the provisions of the Concession Agre ements:   

1.9. An important element of understanding and interpretation of the various 

documents and especially the provisions of the Concession Agreement between GHIAL and 

the Central Government is the correspondence between the airport regulator (AERA) and 

the Central Government. Section 13 of the AERA Act gives the functions of the Authority. 

Sub section (a) of section 13 states one of the functions of AERA viz. to determine   the   

tariff   for   the   aeronautical services taking into consideration mentioned therein. One of 

the factors in sub clause (vi), is “concession offered by the Central Government in any 

agreement or memorandum of understanding or otherwise;”. AERA Act also defines the 

various aeronautical services in section 2(a) of the said Act. Of particular relevance are the 

services of “ground handling” [Sec 2(a) (iv)] and “cargo” [Sec 2(a) (v)] that are defined as 

“aeronautical services” by the AERA Act. 

1.10. However, the Concession Agreements of both DIAL and MIAL list out, in Schedule 

5, the “Aeronautical Services” and Schedule 6, the “Non-Aeronautical Services”. Cargo 

Handling, Cargo Terminals and Ground Handling Services are mentioned in Schedule 6, i.e. 

as Non-Aeronautical Services in OMDA.  The issue that came up was whether to reckon 

cargo and ground handling services as “aeronautical Services” (as are defined as such in 

AERA Act 2008), or as “Non-Aeronautical Services” as defined in OMDA (executed in 2006, 

i.e. before coming into force of the AERA Act) 

1.11. AERA has extensively dealt with this issue in its final tariff order in respect of 

MIAL (Order No. 32/ 2012-13, Jan 15, 2013, Paras 20.11, page 330) for determining the “X” 

factor in accordance with the SSA (Schedule 1 calculations) referring to communication 

from the Government of India that revenues from services like cargo and ground handling 

be treated as non-aeronautical revenues (Vide Decision XVII on page 345 of the order) 

stating that  

“The Authority calculates the X-Factor based on the Government’s letter 

No.AV.24032/04/2012-AD dated 10.09.2012 that the revenue from services of cargo 

and ground handling (Emphasis supplied) in Delhi and Mumbai Airports be regarded 

as non-aeronautical revenue in the hands of the respective Airport Operators, 

irrespective of whether these services are provided by the Airport Operator itself or 

concessioned out to third parties. 

1.12. It will be useful to reproduce some part of the reasoning of AERA to arrive at this 

decision. This is given below: 

Observations in respect of treatment of revenues from Cargo & Ground Handling 

services: 
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The Authority had in the DIAL Tariff Determination Order, extensively dealt with 

the issue of treatment of revenue from Cargo and Ground Handling in respect of 

DIAL (paras 21.6.18 to 21.6.27 refers). It had also discussed the provisions of the 

SSA entered into between the Government of India and DIAL as well as the 

OMDA entered into between AAI and DIAL. It had stated therein that the 

revenue in the hands of the airport operator on account of rendering Cargo and 

Ground Handling services (being aeronautical services as per the AERA Act) by 

himself would be treated as aeronautical revenue. However, if the airport 

operator has outsourced these services to a third-party concessionaire (which 

may or may not include JV), the revenues which the airport operator would 

receive from such third-party concessionaire would be treated as non-

aeronautical revenues. While arriving at this distinction and categorisation the 

Authority had gone into the relevant provisions of the AERA Act as well as the 

two agreements mentioned above. 

As per the AERA Act aeronautical services, namely, Ground Handing, Cargo 

Facility and Supply of Fuel to the aircraft are defined as aeronautical services 

under Section 2(a) of the Act. Further, under Section 13(a) of the Act, the 

Authority is required to determine the tariff for aeronautical services, taking 

into consideration, inter alia, the “concessions offered by the Central Govt. in any 

agreement or memorandum of understanding or otherwise” (sec 13(1)(a)(vi) 

and any other relevant factors [sec 13(1)(a)(vii].   

The Authority had, therefore, while arriving at the above-mentioned approach 

of treatment of revenue from Cargo and Ground Handling services had taken 

into account these provisions of AERA Act, noting that the AERA Act specifies 

cargo service as an aeronautical service and thus has to be regarded as such. 

The Authority is also cognizant of the fact that both SSA and OMDA clearly 

mention formation of “Regulatory Authority” in OMDA and “Economic 

Regulatory Authority” in SSA so that the bidders were fully aware of this 

intention of the Government at the time of the bidding process.   

The Authority had issued its consultation paper in respect of tariff 

determination of Delhi International Airport on 03.01.2012. In response to this 

paper, the Government had issued a letter No. AV24032/4/2012-AD dated 

09.03.2012 to the Authority recognising that Cargo and Ground Handling 

services are defined as aeronautical services in the AERA Act while they are 

categorised as non-aeronautical services under OMDA and further stating that 

AERA should adhere to the provisions of OMDA. 
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After going through the above-mentioned provisions in the Act, SSA, OMDA as 

well as the Government’s letter dated 09.03.2012, the Authority had given its 

decision in detail in Para 24 of the DIAL Tariff Determination Order, noting that: 

“The MoCA have commented on this approach stating, inter alia that the 

Authority should adhere to the relevant provisions of the contractual 

agreements in the process of determination of tariff. The Authority infers 

from the Ministry of Civil Aviation's (MoCA) letter No.AV.24032/4/2012-AD, 

dated 09.03.2012, that according to MoCA's interpretation revenues from 

Cargo and Ground Handling services accruing to the airport operator 

should be regarded as non-aeronautical revenues, regardless and 

irrespective of whether these services are provided by the airport operator 

himself or concessionaire (including JV) appointed by the airport operator.” 

The Authority had in the DIAL Tariff Determination Order, also stated that “the 

above inference of the Authority is being brought to the notice of the 

Government”. The Authority further decided that “Depending on the 

confirmation of the Government on the treatment of revenues from Cargo and 

Ground Handling services, the Authority would duly consider the matter and the 

correction/truing up as appropriate would be considered in the next control 

period commencing from 1 April, 2014.” 

Thereafter, MIAL vide its letter no. MIAL/CEO/9 dated 10.05.2012 requested the 

MoCA to confirm the above-mentioned inference of the Authority with respect to 

the interpretation of the Government’s letter dated 09.03.2012. The Government 

asked for the comments of the Authority on the letter of MIAL. It also asked what 

specific issues on which clarification/confirmation was requested by the 

Authority from the Government. The Authority gave its detailed comments vide 

its letter no AERA/20010/MYTP/MIAL/2011-12/Vol.III/1342 dated 03.09.2012 

to the Government giving its detailed reasoning and logic for making a 

distinction between the nature of the revenue from Cargo services if these are 

provided by the airport operator himself (the nature of the revenue will then be 

aeronautical revenue) as contrasted from its nature when the airport operator 

does not provided it himself but concessioned it out to a third party (in this case 

the nature of the revenue will be non-aeronautical revenue). The Government in 

its response to these letters replied vide letter No.AV.24032/04/2012-AD dated 

10.09.2012, inter alia, stating as under: 

“ ……revenues from Cargo and Ground Handling services accruing to the 

airport operator should be categorized as non-aeronautical revenues as 

provided under the OMDA. This categorization is regardless and irrespective 

of whether these services are provided by the airport operator himself or 
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through concessionaires (including JV appointed by the airport operator). 

The same clarification holds good even for CSI Airport, Mumbai as OMDAs of 

both the airports are identical.” 

In this letter, the Government had also observed that:  

“……basic contention of AERA is that revenue from these (cargo and ground 

handling) services would be treated as aeronautical revenue if these services 

are provided by the airport operator himself and they would be treated as 

non-aeronautical revenue if they are provided by a third party through 

outsourcing contract, license etc”.  

The Government had however stated that  

“..this argument of AERA is not supported either by AERA Act or by OMDA. 

As per Schedule-6 of OMDA of Mumbai Airport, these services are classified 

as non-aeronautical. Section 13(1)(a)(vi) of the AERA Act clearly states that 

concessions offered by the Central Government in any Agreement or 

Memorandum of Understanding or otherwise will have to be taken into 

consideration by AERA while determining the tariff”.  

Para 20.45. The Authority calculates X-factor based on the interpretation of 

the Government that the revenue from the aeronautical service namely, cargo 

service (when provided by the airport operator) be categorized as non-

aeronautical revenue. 

The letters received from the Ministry and the Authority’s response in this 

matter were annexed to the Consultation Paper No.22/2012-13 dated 

11.10.2012. 

20.23.   The  issue  of  different  treatment  in  OMDA  and  the  AERA  Act  was  

recently commented upon by CAG in its Report No. 5 of 2012-13. The Ministry in 

its response had recognised this difference and clarified as under: 

“2.1   Conflict between OMDA and AERA Act in defining aeronautical and 

non-aeronautical services: OMDA pre-dates AERA Act: 

The non-aeronautical services mentioned under OMDA were part of the 

bidding process. It is totally absurd to say that this provision was made for 

giving undue advantage to DIAL. Had that been the case, AERA Act should 

have been enacted to match the provisions of OMDA. Instead of undue 

benefit to DIAL, inclusion of services which were mentioned as non- 

aeronautical in OMDA, as aeronautical in AERA Act, brings transparency 

insetting of these charges, which would ultimately benefit the users.” 
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20.26. The Government had however, in its letter No.AV.24032/04/2012-AD 

dated 10.09.2012 referred to above, stated that the revenues from Cargo and 

Ground Handling services accruing to the airport operator should be 

categorised as non-aeronautical revenues as provided under OMDA, and that 

this categorisation is regardless of whether airport operator himself provides 

these services or concessions them out. The interpretation of the Govt., of the 

provisions of OMDA is on the issue of revenues from the Cargo and Ground 

Handling Services accruing to the airport operator is different from that of the 

Authority. The substance of the Government’s interpretation is that the revenues 

accruing to the airport operator (during the period he was himself rendering 

what according to the AERA Act is an aeronautical service) be reckoned at 30% 

of such gross revenues. The Authority had noted that the SSA is executed by the 

Government with MIAL and further that OMDA is executed between AAI (which 

is under the MoCA) and MIAL, and the Authority had noted the Government’s 

interpretation on this issue. 

1.13. AERA issued the final tariff order in respect of MIAL (Order No. 13/2016-17, 

dated Sept 13, 2016, issued on Sept 29, 2016) for the second control period 1.04.2014 - 

31.03.2019. Para 2 of this order deals with “Principles  for Determination  of Aeronautical 

Tariff”.  In Para 2.6 (page 17 of the order) makes specific mention of cargo and ground 

handling services and states that : 

2.6. The Authority had also noted the difference between the provisions of the 

Act and those of OMDA in treating certain services as aeronautical or non-

aeronautical. For e.g. the Act mentions services provided for ground handling 

services relating to aircraft, passengers and cargo at an airport as well as 

services provided for cargo facility at an airport as aeronautical services 

whereas OMDA mentions cargo handling, cargo terminals, and ground handling 

services under non-aeronautical services.  

2.7. The above principles including the variances have been considered by the 

Authority in its determination of aeronautical tariff in respect of CSI Airport, 

Mumbai for the 1st Control Period. The Authority had proposed to adopt the 

same principles for its determination of aeronautical tariff for the current 

Control Period from 01.04.2014 till 31.03.2019. 

1.14. It is thus clear from the orders of AERA and the Government’s letter referred to in 

the order of DIAL and MIAL, that since cargo, ground handling are mentioned in the OMDA 

(that pre-dates the AERA Act) as non-aeronautical services, they should be regarded as such 

as far as DIAL and MIAL is concerned. The ratio of the Government of India’s letter is, in 

effect, to adhere to the provisions of contractual agreements (that pre-date the passing of 

AERA Act), for the purposes of determining tariffs for such entities.  
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1.15. Having regard to the above position, it is noted that the Concession Agreement 

signed between the Government of India and GHIAL defines “airport” as "Airport" means  

the Greenfield international airport comprising of  the Initial Phase,  to be constructed and 

operated by HIAL at Shamshabad, near Hyderabad in the State of Andhra Pradesh and 

includes all its buildings, equipment, facilities and systems and including,  where  the  

circumstances  so  require,  any  Expansion  thereof  as  per  the Master Plan;” The Concession 

Agreement also speaks, inter alia, of "Airport Activities" that are defined as: “means the 

provision, at or in relation to the Airport, of the activities set out at Schedule 3, Part 1 as 

amended from time to time, pursuant to ICAO guidelines, provided that any activities that are 

not materially similar to those contemplated in Schedule 3, Part 1 shall require the mutual 

agreement of the Parties”.  

1.16. Schedule 3, Part 1 referred to in the definition of “Airport Activities” whereas 

Schedule 3, Part 2 lists the non-airport activities. Both these parts are given in detail below: 

SCHEDULE 3: PART 1 -AIRPORT ACTIVITIES 

Airport Activities include the following services, facilities and equipment: 

Airside facility 

Airfield pavements (runway, apron and taxiway system) 

Airfield ground lighting 

Airside and perimeter security including access control and patrolling 

Taxiways including one emergency take off runway/parallel taxiway 

Apron control and allocation of aircraft stands 

Arrivals concourses 

Bird scaring 

Emergency services 

Crash, rescue and fire service 

Flight catering services 

General aviation ground handling 

General aviation facilities 

Ground handling services 

Ground handling equipment 

Ground power for aircraft 
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Cargo terminal 

Cargo handling and cargo terminal operations, custodial S~N~C~S 

Aircraft cleaning services 

Aircraft fuelling services 

Hangars and aircraft maintenance services 

Pre-conditioned air for aircraft 

Pavement surface water drainage 

Guidance systems and marshalling 

Airside/landside/terminal facilities 

Facilities for the disabled and other special needs people 

Check-in counters 

Cleaning, lighting, cooling and air conditioning of public and office areas 

Customs and immigration halls 

Baggage systems including outbound and reclaim 

Flight information and public-address systems 

Information desks and staffing 

Bus lounge for servicing remote stands 

Staircases, lifts and escalators 

Passenger boarding bridges (aerobridges) 

Lost property 

Noise insulation and sound proofing 

Passenger and hand baggage search 

Piers and gate rooms 

Policing and general security 

Prayer rooms 

Scheduling committee support 

Signage for easy orientation of passengers 

Staff entries with search and security facilities 

Toilets and nursing mothers' rooms 



Page 10 of 20 

 

X-Ray service for carry on and checked-in luggage 

Airline lounges 

Banks I ATM I Bureaux de Change 

Business centre 

Duty free sales in international section 

Hotel reservation services 

Restaurants, bars and other refreshment facilities 

Special assistance services 

Tourist information services 

Travel agency 

Messenger services 

VIP lounges 

Infrastructure and utilities for the airport complex (mainly landside) 

Airside and landside access roads and forecourts 

Utilities (including electricity, telecommunications and water) 

Waste water and refuse treatment and disposal 

Landscaping and horticulture 

Line maintenance services 

Public telephones 

Vehicle fuelling services 

Vehicle rental 

Foul and surface water 

Drainage 

Vehicle parking 

Cloak rooms 

Conference centre 

Freight forwarders1 consolidators1 agents 

Retail shops 

Lockers 
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Observation terrace 

Porter services 

Post office 

Trolley services 

"Non-Airport Activities" means the provision, at or in relation to the Airport, of the 

services set out at Schedule 3, Part 2; 

SCHEDULE 3: PART 2 - NON-AIRPORT ACTIVITIES 

Landside Non-Airport Activities include the following services, facilities and 

equipment: 

Offices for freight consolidators/ forwarders or agents at cargo complex, offices for 

airlines Bus terminal for local and regional buses, Airport shuttle transport services 

(hotels, city centre, etc.); 

Business parks; 

Airport hotels, restaurants, conference venues, meeting facilities, business centres, trade 

fairs, real estate, theme parks, amusement arcades, golf courses, sports facilities, banks 

and exchanges and shopping malls; 

Commercial buildings / complexes/ entertainment complexes/ tourist related activities; 

Independent power producing plants for emergency supply may be established in 

connection with business parks; 

Viewing point (at an existing hilltop) with parking, access and small food and beverage 

facility; 

Any other revenue generating activity related to the development of the Site or of the 

Airport in relation to Non-Airport Activities 

1.17. The Concession Agreement has provisions regarding “Airport Charges” that are 

defined in the “Definitions” section and activities which will attract these charges in Para 

10.2 of the CA. Para 10.3 also relates to what it calls “Other charges” that specifically 

exclude the “Regulated Charges”. These provisions are given as under: 

"Airport Charges" means (Definitions): 

(i) amounts charged or imposed by HlAL in respect of the provision or use of the 

facilities and services which are included within Airport Activities (emphasis 

supplied); 

(ii) amounts charged or imposed by HIAL on or in respect of passenger and 

cargo movement or aircraft traffic into, on, at or from the Airport; and 
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(iii) any other amounts deemed by this Agreement to be Airport Charges and 

further including any amounts to be collected by HIAL on behalf of Gol, GoAP or 

AAI; 

10.2 Airport Charges 

10.2.1 The Airport Charges specified in Schedule 6 ("Regulated Charges") shall 

be consistent with ICAO Policies. 

10.2.2 The Regulated Charges set out in Schedule 6 shall be the indicative 

charges at the Airport. Prior to Airport Opening HlAL shall seek approval from 

the Ministry of Civil Aviation for the Regulated Charges, which shall be based on 

the final audited Project cost. The Ministry of Civil Aviation shall, subject to the 

proposed Regulated Charges being in compliance with the principles set out in 

Article 10.2.1, grant its approval thereto within a period of forty-five (45) days 

of the date of the application being submitted by HIAL. Within 120 days after the 

Airport Opening Date, HlAL shall submit the final audited Project cost to the 

Ministry of Civil Aviation. 

10.2.3 If at any time prior to the date the IRA has the power to approve the 

Regulated Charges HlAL wishes to amend such charges it shall seek consent 

from the Ministry of Civil Aviation for such amendments. The Ministry of Civil 

Aviation shall, subject to the proposed charges being in compliance with the 

principles set out in Article 10.2.1, grant its approval of such amendments within 

a period of forty-five (45) days of the date of the application being submitted by 

HIAL. 

10.2.4 From the date the IRA has the power to approve the Regulated Charges, 

HlAL shall be required to obtain approval thereof from the IRA. In this regard 

HlAL shall submit to the IRA, in accordance with any regulations framed by the 

IRA, details of the Regulated Charges proposed to be imposed for the next 

succeeding relevant period together with such information as the IRA may 

require for review. Unless otherwise agreed in writing between the Parties such 

approved Regulated Charges shall comply with the principles referred to in 

Article 10.2.1 until the earlier of (i) the date that outstanding Debt in respect of 

the Initial Phase has been repaid and (ii) fifteen (15) years from Airport Opening 

Date. 

10.3 Other Charges 

HlAL and/or Service Provider Right Holders shall be free without any restriction 

to determine the charges to be imposed in respect of the facilities and services 

provided at the Airport or on the Site, other than the facilities and services in 

respect of which Regulated Charges are levied. 
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1.18. This brings us to the definition of “Regulated charges” that is given in Schedule 6 

SCHEDULE 6: REGULATED CHARGES 

Pursuant to and without prejudice to the principles set out in Article 10.2 of this 

Agreement, HlAL shall be entitled to levy and recover from airline operators, 

passengers and other users and in respect of both domestic and international 

aircraft and passenger movements, at rates consistent with ICAO Policies, the 

following Regulated Charges: 

(i) Landing, Housing and Parking charges (domestic and international): 

The charges to be adopted by HlAL at the time of Airport Opening will be the 

higher of: 

(a) The AAI tariff effective 2001 duly increased with inflation index, as set out 

hereunder, up to the Airport Opening Date, or 

(b) The then prevailing tariff at the other AAI airports. 

(ii) Passenger Service Fee (domestic and international): 

The charges to be adopted by HlAL at the time of Airport Opening will be the 

higher of: 

(a) The AAI tariff effective 2001 duly increased with inflation index, as set out 

hereunder, up to the Airport Opening Date, or 

(b) The then prevailing Passenger Service Fee at the other AAI airports 

The Passenger Service Fee chargeable by HIAL, as given above, is inclusive of the 

cost of security expenditure on Central Industrial Security Force (CISF). This 

component of the cost towards security expenditure on CISF shall be revised 

upwards by HlAL as and when directed by GOl, subject to the provision that such 

increases will also be accompanied by similar increase in the Passenger Service 

Fee. 

(iii) User Development Fee (UDF) (domestic and international): 

HlAL will be allowed to levy UDF w.e.f. Airport Opening Date, duly increased in 

the subsequent years with inflation index as set out hereunder, from embarking 

domestic and international passengers, for the provision of passenger amenities, 

services and facilities and the UDF will be used for the development, 

management, maintenance, operation and expansion of the facilities at the 

Airport. 

1.19. A combined reading of the above provisions of the Concession Agreement of 

Government of India with GHIAL would indicate that there are only three types of 
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“Regulated Charges” contemplated in the CA as (i) Landing, Housing and Parking charges 

(domestic and international), (ii) Passenger Service Fee (domestic and international) and 

(iii) User Development Fee (UDF) (domestic and international). Furthermore, the CA 

expressly mentions that for “other Charges (para 10.3 of the CA), “HlAL and/or Service 

Provider Right Holders shall be free without any restriction to determine the charges to be 

imposed in respect of the facilities and services provided at the Airport or on the Site, other 

than the facilities and services in respect of which Regulated Charges are levied”. 

1.20. Pertinently, though admittedly, the services of Cargo, ground handling and 

Aircraft fueling services are mentioned as “Airport Activities”, they do not find any mention 

in Schedule 6. Charges for these services or activities are therefore non regulated 

charges. Clause 10.3 deals with “Other Charges”. HIAL has a right to determine charges for 

those facilities which are not covered in “Regulated Charges”. Hence, HIAL can charge 

whatever it desired without any regulation in that behalf. Under the CA, they will be 

deemed to be non-regulated services though the position under AERA Act is, however, to the 

contrary. 

1.21. This case is covered by the ratio of the Governments letter referred to by AERA 

while passing the tariff order in respect of MIAL that the provisions of the Concession 

Agreement (that pre-dates the AERA Act) should be adhered to while determining the 

aeronautical tariffs for that airport. In case of GHIAL therefore, Cargo, ground handling and 

Aircraft fueling services though airport activities are outside the ambit of regulated 

charges. Hence the Regulator that has been contemplated in the CA (called Independent 

Regulatory Authority or the IRA), does not determine charges for these services or 

activities. 

1.22. Clause 10.2.3 of the CA (see Para 1.17 above) clearly speaks of the power of IRA 

to approve the Regulated Charges. As mentioned in the above paragraphs, cargo and 

ground handling charges are not specified as “regulated charges”. The AERA Act, does 

classify airport activities and non-airport activities or airport and non-airport revenues. 

Neither does the CA does refer to either “aeronautical services” or “Non-aeronautical 

services”. What is does is to classify activities as “airport activities” and “Non-airport 

Activities” and clearly specifies regulated charges. Most of the “airport activities” are not 

aeronautical services (under AERA Act) so to equate all airport activities as aeronautical 

activities will be erroneous. AERA is mandated to prescribe charges for aeronautical 

services. By the ratio of the letter of the Government No.AV.24032/04/2012-AD dated 

10.09.2012 referred to above, the provisions of CA (that pre-dates the passage of AERA 

Act) will have to be complied with.  

1.23. At the time of signing of the CA in Dec 2004, the classification was made 

according to “airport activities” and “non-airport activities” without classification of 

aeronautical services (giving aeronautical revenue) and non-aeronautical services (giving 
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non-aeronautical revenue). When the airport regulation was on “single till”, the 

classification of aeronautical and non-aeronautical services (and revenues arising 

therefrom) did not matter and aeronautical services were taken as defined in AERA. With 

30% hybrid till regime, it is necessary to separate aeronautical revenues from non-

aeronautical revenues. Furthermore, the Government’s letter No.AV.24032/04/2012-AD 

dated 10.09.2012 referred to above indicates that the provisions of the Concession 

Agreements should be strictly adhered to.  If cargo, ground handling and fuel supply are to 

be treated as “aeronautical services” (since they are defined as such in AERA), this would 

mean that this aeronautical service (giving aeronautical revenue), is outside the purview of 

“regulated charges” (and not amenable to be regulated by AERA) as defined by the CA. As a 

general proposition, the only way of harmoniously constructing the framework of CA with 

the AERA Act, is to regard only such activities that CA has specified as being both the “airport 

Activities” and attracting “regulated charges” as aeronautical services for the purposes of the 

CA (that pre-dates passage of AERA Act by four years). By exclusion, those airport activities 

that do not attract regulated charges will be regarded as non-aeronautical services for the 

purposes of CA. Such a general proposition alone will be free from any internal 

inconsistencies and also have harmonious construction with AERA Act. 

1.24. Hence, the “Airport Activities” can be classified as (i) Aeronautical Services that 

attract regulated charges (giving aeronautical revenue) and (ii) Non-Aeronautical Services 

that are outside the ambit of regulated charges (giving Non-aeronautical revenues). Viewed 

from this perspective, cargo, ground handling and fuel supply, though “aeronautical 

activity” are not aeronautical services within the context of CA read with AERA Act. Charges 

for cargo, ground handling and fuel supply would not be regulated by AERA. Hence, for the 

purposes of the CA, cargo and ground handling will need to be classified as Non-

Aeronautical services and revenue therefrom as Non-Aeronautical Revenues. 

1.25. Non-Airport Activities: "Non-Airport Activities" means the provision, at or in 

relation to the Airport, of the services set out at Schedule 3, Part 2. These do not fall in 

“regulated charges”, and given the classification of aeronautical and non-aeronautical 

classification given in Para 1.23 above), these are not “non-aeronautical” services or 

activities (within the framework of the CA). 

1.26. Regulatory Till: Specifically, with respect to Hyderabad airport, vide ORDER No. 

14/2016-17 dated 23rd January 2017, AERA has observed and stated as under: 

2.2…….. Recently in the case of Hyderabad, the Govt. directed the Authority 

under section 42 of the AERA Act to take into account only 30% of the non-

aeronautical revenues for tariff fixation during the first control tariff period. The 

Ministry has now come with a clear cut policy to the effect that a ‘Hybrid Till’ of 

30% shall be used for determination of tariffs at all airports. 
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1.27. The National Civil Aviation Policy 2016, henceforth NCAP, was approved by the 

Union Cabinet on June 15, 2016. On the Regulatory till, NCAP states that (Sub-clause (c) of 

Clause 12 on Page 16 : 

To  ensure  uniformity and  level  playing  field  across  various operators, 

future tariffs at all airports  will be calculated  on a ‘hybrid till’ basis,  unless 

otherwise specified for any project being bid out in future. 30% of non-

aeronautical revenue will be used to cross-subsidise aeronautical charges. 

1.28. In accordance with the pronouncements in the NCAP, AERA issued an order No. 

14/2016-17 (dated 12th Jan. 2017, issued on 23rd Jan 2017), titled “In the matter of aligning 

certain aspects of AERA's Regulatory Approach (Adoption of Regulatory Till) with the  

provisions  of the  National Civil Aviation Policy-2016 (NCAP-2016) approved by the 

Government of India” wherein it took into account the NCAP’s approach towards 

Regulatory till and felt that there is need to revisit the guidelines issued by the Authority 

and align its guidelines on the Till mechanism in line with the New Civil Aviation Policy 

(NCAP). AERA therefore ordered that  

ORDER:The Authority in exercise of powers conferred by section 13(1)(a) of the 

Airports Economic Regulatory Authority of India Act, 2008 and after careful 

consideration of the comments of the stakeholders on the subject issue, decides and 

orders that: 

(i) The Authority will in future determine the tariffs of major airports under “Hybrid 

Till” wherein 30% of non-aeronautical revenues will be used to cross-subsidise 

aeronautical charges. Accordingly to that extent the airport operator guidelines 

of the Authority shall be amended. The provisions of the Guidelines issued by the 

Authority, other rather than regulatory till, shall remain the same. 

(ii) In case of Delhi and Mumbai airports, tariff will continue to be determined as per 

the SSA entered into between Government of India and the respective operators 

at Delhi and Mumbai. 

1.29. In economic regulation of airports, there are three types of regulatory tills: (a) 

Single Till, (b) Dual Till and (c) Hybrid Till. In Single Till, revenues and costs associated with 

providing both aeronautical and non-aeronautical services are taken together for the 

purposes of determining aeronautical charges at the airport. In other words, 100% 

revenues and costs associated with providing non-aeronautical services are taken into 

account. In Dual Till, only revenues and costs associated with providing aeronautical 

services are taken into account for the purposes of determining aeronautical charges at the 

airport. In other words, zero percent revenues and costs associated with providing non-

aeronautical services are taken into account. Hybrid till, as the name suggests, only a 
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certain percentage (in this case 30%) of revenues and costs associated with providing non-

aeronautical services are taken into account for subsidizing the aeronautical charges. In 

this sense, “Hybrid Till” is also a “Shared Revenue” till. In fact, many times, the words 

“Hybrid till” and “Shared Till” are used synonymously. For example, in the comments of 

Airport Authority of India’s comments on the White Paper issued by AERA VARIOUS 

ISSUES RELATING TO REGULATED OBJECTIVES AND PHILOSOPHY IN ECONOMIC 

REGULATION OF AIRPORTS AND AIR NAVIGATION SERVICES, AAI regards “Hybrid” and 

“Shared” as synonymous. For example, in its comments of Till, it states its views on Till as 

under: 

“Till – Treatment of Non-aeronautical revenue and adoption of Single, Dual 

or Hybrid (Shared) Till” as under: 

….in case of DIAL and MIAL, there is a provision to adopt ‘Hybrid (Shared) 

Till’ as per the State Support Agreement entered between JVCs and GOI for 

the purpose of fixation of tariff.. 

1.30. From a combined reading of the comments of Airport Authority of India’s 

comments on the White Paper (Para 1.29 above) and the Order No 14/2016-17 of AERA 

(Para 1.28 above) the words “Shared Till” and “Hybrid Till” are used interchangeably. 

AERA’s order No. 14/2016-17 clearly stipulates that it will follow a “Hybrid Till” at 30%.  In 

Hybrid Till, all the costs associated with generating the non-aeronautical revenue (as may 

be defined in a given Agreement) are subtracted from the Non-aeronautical revenue and 

the net result is used to compute the amount of cross subsidization towards aeronautical 

charges. Hence a part of the Non-Aeronautical Revenue (after netting of the costs 

associated with generating the Non-Aeronautical Revenue) is so to say “shared” with the 

Aeronautical Revenue (also likewise netted) and aeronautical charges determined 

accordingly. 

1.31. The wording “shared till” also connotes that some portion of the Non-Aeronautical 

Revenue is shared along with the Aeronautical Revenue to arrive at the airport charges (for 

aeronautical services (assuming that the Non-Aeronautical services are kept unregulated, 

meaning thereby that the airport operator is free to charge for them at will). Merely calling 

a regulatory till “shared till” does not per-se and ipso-facto mean that the costs associated 

with generating the non-aeronautical services are not to be reckoned or deducted while 

arriving at the number on which the shared till percentage is to be applied. For example, 

the State Support Agreement of Delhi Airport, (Schedule 1), is in Pari materia with the CA of 

Goa Airport. In the SSA of Delhi Airport, it is found that the words used in giving a formula 

for determination of aeronautical charges are:  

“Calculating the aeronautical charges in the shared till inflation – X price cap model.”   

Explaining the terms of the formula, 
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𝑇𝑅𝑖 = 𝑅𝐵𝑖×𝑊𝐴𝐶𝐶𝑖 + 𝑂𝑀𝑖 + 𝐷𝑖 + 𝑇𝑖 − 𝑆𝑖 

Where 

TR = target revenue 

RB = regulatory base pertaining to Aeronautical Assets and any investments 

made for the performance of Reserved Activities etc. which are owned by the 

JVC, after incorporating efficient capital expenditure but does not include 

capital work in progress to the extent not capitalised in fixed assets. It is 

further clarified that working capital shall not be included as part of 

regulatory base. It is further clarified that penalties and Liquidated 

Damages, if any, levied as per the provisions of the OMDA would not be 

allowed for capitalisation in the regulatory base. It is further clarified that 

the Upfront Fee and any pre-operative expenses incurred by the Successful 

Bidder towards bid preparation will not be allowed to be capitalised in the 

regulatory base. 

WACC = nominal post-tax weighted average cost of capital, calculated using 

the marginal rate of corporate tax 

OM = efficient operation and maintenance cost pertaining to Aeronautical 

Services. . It is clarified that penalties and Liquidated Damages, if any, levied 

as per the provisions of the OMDA would not be allowed as part of operation 

and maintenance cost. 

D = depreciation calculated in the manner as prescribed in Schedule XIV of 

the Indian Companies Act, 1956. In the event, the depreciation rates for 

certain assets are not available in the aforesaid Act, then the depreciation 

rates as provided in the Income Tax Act for such asset as converted to 

straight line method from the written down value method will be 

considered. In the event, such rates are not available in either of the Acts 

then depreciation rates as per generally accepted Indian accounting 

standards may be considered. 

T = corporate taxes on earnings pertaining to Aeronautical Services 

S = 30% of the gross revenue generated by the JVC from the Revenue Share 

Assets. The costs in relation to such revenue shall not be included while 

calculating Aeronautical Charges. 

“Revenue Share Assets” shall mean (a) Non-Aeronautical Assets; and (b) 

assets required for provision of aeronautical related services arising at the 

Airport and not considered in revenues from Non-Aeronautical Assets (e.g. 

Public admission fee etc.) 



Page 19 of 20 

 

𝑅𝐵𝑖 = 𝑅𝐵𝑖−1 − 𝐷𝑖 + 𝐼𝑖 

Where  RB0 for the first regulatory period would be the sum total of 

i. the Book Value of the Aeronautical Assets in the books of the JVC and 

ii. the hypothetical regulatory base computed using the then prevailing tariff and 

the revenues, operation and maintenance cost , corporate tax pertaining to 

Aeronautical Services at the Airport, during the financial year preceding the 

date of such computation. 

I = investment undertaken in the period 

1.32. Attention is drawn to the way “S” factor is worded. It speaks of a percentage of 

“30% of the gross revenue generated by the JVC” and also specifically states that “The costs 

in relation to such revenue shall not be included while calculating Aeronautical Charges”. It 

is clear that the draftsman of the SSA found that merely using the term “shared till” will not 

ipso-facto connote that the costs in relation to such (non-aeronautical) revenue would not be 

included while calculating Aeronautical Charges and added the further qualification or 

clarification about the costs in relation to non-aeronautical revenue. Furthermore, “S” 

factor speaks of “30% of the gross revenue generated by the JVC from the Revenue Share 

Assets.” Clearly, the words “shared till” are used to merely connote that some portion of the 

non-aeronautical revenue is to be reckoned while calculating the aeronautical charges. In 

other words, “shared till” is not a “term of art1” in airport economics with respect to 

regulatory till so that merely using this term will automatically connote that the costs 

associated with generating of non-aeronautical revenue are to be excluded from the 

percentage of shared till. 

1.33. It will thus be clear that the regulatory till at GHIAL will be “Hybrid Till” at 

30% and that the expenses can be deducted from Non-Aeronautical Revenue for the 

purpose of 30% cross subsidy under Hybrid Till. 

1.34. I now propose to answer the queries ad seriatim as under (the queries are 

already mentioned in Para 1.7 above but are nevertheless reproduced below only for ease 

of referencing): 

Query 1: Whether the expenses incurred for non-aeronautical activities, can be deducted 

from Non-Aeronautical Revenue before cross subsidisation of 30% Non-Aeronautical Revenue 

under Hybrid Till? 

Answer: Yes. (See Para 1.33 above) 

Query 2: What revenue shall constitute the non-aeronautical revenue in the hands of GHIAL? 

                                                        

1 A word or phrase that has a precise, specialized meaning within a particular field or profession. 
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Answer2: Revenues from those Airport Activities that are outside the “regulated charges” 

will constitute “Non-Aeronautical Revenue” (See Para 1.23 and 1.24 above) 

Query 3: In view of the concession granted to GHIAL under the CA particularly under Articles 

10.2, 10.3 read with Schedule 6, whether the cargo, fuelling and ground handling services are 

treated as part of aeronautical or non-aeronautical. 

Answer 3: For the purposes of the CA, cargo and ground handling will need to be classified 

as Non-Aeronautical services and revenue therefrom as Non-Aeronautical Revenues (Para 

1.24 above) 

Query 4: Whether the revenue from non-airport activities is liable for cross subsidy? 

Answer 4: No. Only revenues from non-aeronautical services (activities) are liable for 

cross subsidy. (Vide Para 1.25 above) 

The above opinion is given on the basis of factual position and documents provided by the 

Querist as well as my understanding of these documents based on my work as an economic 

regulator of the major Airports under AERA. 

Furthermore, this opinion cannot be treated as evidence before any Court, Tribunal or 

Quasi-judicial authority and has been given on the basis of materials furnished by the 

Querist. 

Dated: July 8, 2017 

            

 

Yashwant Bhave 

Ex-Chairman, Airports Economic Regulatory Authority (Retd) 
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DISCLAIMER 

 
Please note that this response/submissions to the present consultation paper is 
being filed by GHIAL without prejudice to its rights and contentions with regard 
to the treatment of services of CGF and revenue therefrom, forex losses, real 
estate income, dividend and other income etc. 
 
GHIAL also request the authority to adhere to confidentiality of our 
response/submissions and use the relevant sections of our response/submissions 
on need base only without giving reference to various opinions and certificates 
attached as part of our evidence-based submissions and any forward looking 
statements made in our response shall also be kept confidential, while sharing 
our submissions with various stakeholders. 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

Airports Economic Regulatory Authority of India (herein after referred to as ‘the 
Authority’) has issued a Consultation Paper No. 11/2021-22 on July 2, 2021 
regarding Determination of Aeronautical Tariff for Rajiv Gandhi International 
Airport (RGIA), Hyderabad being operated by GMR Hyderabad International 
Airport Limited [hereinafter referred to as GHIAL, the company, us and/or we]) 
for the 3rd Control Period of 01.04.2021 – 31.03.2026. 
 
GHIAL would like to submit that the Concession Agreement (CA) signed by the 
Government of India with GHIAL is binding for ready reference; the integrity and 
sanctity of contractual provisions have to be respected and upheld. Section 
13(1)(a) of the AERA Act entitles the Authority to perform the function of 
determining the tariff for the aeronautical services taking into consideration 
various factors including the Concession Agreement. Regulatory powers therefore 
have to be exercised in a manner which are consistent with contractual and vested 
rights of GHIAL under the concession agreement, land lease agreement and state 
support agreement. 
 
We request the Authority to favourably consider our submissions, elaborated in 
the subsequent sections, while determining the tariff Order for RGIA, Hyderabad.  
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II. GUIDING PRINCIPLES OF THE TARIFF DETERMINATION 

1. The services of and Revenue recognition from the Cargo, Ground 
Handling and Fuel Throughput (CGF) 

The Authority has proposed to treat Cargo, Ground Handling and Fuel 
Throughput as aeronautical and to be included in the calculation tariff 
determination accordingly. 
 
The Authority has mentioned that it noted the reference made by HIAL to the 
direction of Hon’ble TDSAT Order dated March 04, 2020 to the effect “It would 
be a just and better course of action to remit the limited number of surviving 
issues for fresh consideration and adjudication by AERA, which is direct to act 
accordingly.” The Authority has further taken note of the Order of Hon’ble 
TDSAT dated December 16, 2020 (BIAL order) wherein all the issues, which are 
equally relevant for HIAL have been decided on merit and the surviving issues 
stand decided as listed in para 1.4.5, Chapter 1 of this Consultation Paper. 
 
The Authority had observed that HIAL’s Concession Agreement defines ‘airport 
activities’ to mean provision at or in relation to the airport, of the activities set 
out at Schedule-3, Part-1, as amended from time to time. The provision of 
ground handling, cargo and aircraft fuelling services have been included in the 
list of ‘airside facilities’ provided in Schedule-3, Part-1 of the Concession 
Agreement. The Authority further observed that as per HIAL’s Concession 
Agreement, "Independent Regulatory Authority" or "IRA" means the Airports 
Economic Regulatory Authority, or any other regulatory authority set up to 
regulate any aspect of ‘airport activities’.  
 
Hence, even going by the Concession Agreement, the Authority is to regulate 
“any aspect” of “airport activities” thus, including cargo, ground handling and 
fuel farm. Accordingly, the Authority in Order No. 38/2013-14 for the First 
Control Period had ruled that, “The remit of the Authority would thus be what 
the legislature has given to it and this has already been embodied and expressly 
provided for in the Concession Agreement. After the promulgation of AERA Act, 
there can be no doubt that it needs to determine tariff for cargo, ground 
handling and fuel services.” 
 
The Authority had further observed that the Government of India had suo moto 
included services pertaining to cargo, ground handling and supply of fuel to 
aircraft in the list of aeronautical services under Section 2 (a) (iv), (v) and (vi) 
in the AERA Act, 2008. Therefore, classifying cargo, ground handling and fuel 
farm services as aeronautical services was conscious decision of the 
Government during the formulation of the AERA Act, which was taken post the 
award of concessions of all four airports i.e. HIAL, MIAL, DIAL and BIAL. 
 
Further, the Authority was guided by the letter issued by the Ministry of Civil 
Aviation to the Authority in respect of Determination of Multi-year Tariff for 
Bangalore International Airport Limited (BIAL) - Consultation Paper No. 
14/2013-14, wherein the Ministry had recommended the recognition of cargo, 
ground handling and fuel farm as aeronautical services. 
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More recently, the Hon’ble TDSAT judgment passed in the matter of AERA vs 
BIAL on 16th March 2021 has put forward that: 
 
‘by the virtue of explicit list of regulated charges given in Schedule 6 of the 
Concession Agreement, Clause 10.3 of the Concession Agreement vested BIAL 
and/or Service Provider Right Holders the freedom to determine the charges in 
respect of other facilities and services provided at the Airport or on the site, 
without any restrictions. But the right noted above is only to determine the 
charges and not to treat it as non-aeronautical charges. Significantly Clause 
10.3 is for other charges, i.e. other than Airport Charges that are covered by 
Clause 10.2. Airport Charges vide above clause are restricted to only the 
regulated charges specified in Schedule 6 but Clause 10.1 which grants right to 
impose charges only upon BIAL or any Service Provider Right Holder or the AAI 
for any facilities and/or services provided at the Airport which are included 
within Airport Activities cannot be ignored. This clause begins with the words – 
“subject to Applicable Law…..”.  
 

The parties were aware that statutory provisions are in the offing for 
establishing a Regulator to look after the economic activities at the Airport and 
only temporarily this role was given to MoCA. Once the Act came into force, the 
right to impose charges in respect of Airport Activities became subject to such 
a law particularly as per definitions in the Act and therefore, a subordinate right 
of determining such charges imposable or determinable under the Concession 
Agreement will definitely be governed by the applicable law i.e. the Act. Section 
13(1)(a) entitles the Authority to perform the function of determining the tariff 
for the aeronautical services taking into consideration various factors including 
the Concession Agreement. Hence, when the provisions in the Concession 
Agreement such as Clause 10.1 permit the operation of applicable law on the 
subject, AERA definitely got the right to determine the aeronautical services 
covered by CGF, more so in view of policy directive of MoCA for a dual till 
regime.’ 
 
Additionally, the judgment clearly states ‘that any other interpretation allowing 
important aeronautical services of CGF to go beyond the tariff determination 
power of AERA will lead to diarchy in respect of determination of tariff for the 
aeronautical services. Such exercise must remain holistic and therefore, unified 
in the hands of the Regulator as per Section 13 of the Act. 
 
Hence based on decision given by the Hon’ble TDSAT in case of BIAL and the 
HIAL Concession Agreement, HIAL TDSAT Order, Authority’s principles of tariff 
determination in line with AERA Act and AERA Guidelines as issued from time 
to time, the Authority proposes to treat these three services as aeronautical in 
nature and the treatment of all building blocks pertaining to these services has 
been treated aeronautical in nature 

 
Our Response:  
 

In this regard GHIAL would like to submit to the Authority that the airport 
activities mentioned in Schedule 3, part 1 of CA are a master list of services, 
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all-encompassing facilities and equipment that have to be provided by the 
airport operator, but it does not mandate regulation of the said activities. 
Schedule 6 read with Article 10 of the Concession Agreement (CA) is the 
appropriate provision which deals with the Airport charges which can be 
regulated by the Authority. 
 
Further it is submitted that the Schedule 6 of the Concession Agreement, 
maintains a clear distinction between regulated charges [Schedule 6 read with 
Article 10.2.] and other charges [Article 10.3.] A reading of the Concession 
Agreement, more particularly Articles 10.2 read with Schedule 6 and 10.3. will 
reveal that the cargo, ground handling and fuel supply (collectively referred to 
as “CGF”) are covered under “other charges” and hence not liable to be 
regulated, as opposed to “regulated charges”.  
 
The AERA Act has explicitly protected the concessions granted by the central 
government. Under Sec 13(1)(a)(vi) the Authority has been mandated to take 
into consideration the concessions granted by the Central Government. Since 
the CA has the statutory protection, the Authority is bound to comply with the 
concessions so granted under the CA in its true spirit and letter.    
 
The provisions of the CA are very clear and unambiguous that the Independent 
Regulatory Authority (IRA) shall determine only the Regulated Charges as 
mentioned in the Schedule 6 thereto. Hence, any charge beyond the scope of 
Schedule 6 is outside the purview of regulations and cannot be determined by 
IRA. 
 
The Authority is aware that the Concession Agreement with GHIAL on 
20.12.2004 i.e. much prior to the promulgation of AERA Act in 2008, whereby 
certain concessions were granted to GHIAL and in the Act the concessions so 
granted have been given statutory protection and the legislature mandated the 
Authority to take into consideration the same while determining the tariff. 
 
The consideration and observations of the Authority are in contradiction to the 
AERA Act and the Concession Agreement which is amply clear from the 
following arguments:   
 
a. AERA Act 2008:  Section 2 of the AERA Act contains definitions and begins 

with the phrase – “In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires.…..”.  
Various definitions such as Aeronautical Service, Airport, Service Provider 
etc. follow thereafter. The context is set out in the section 13 (1) (a), which 
clearly mandates that the concession has to be considered while 
determining the tariff. It may be noted that Section 13(1) (a) of the AERA 
Act, 2008 provides for determination of tariff for aeronautical services. 
Section 13(1) (a) (v) provides that, consideration should be paid to revenue 
generated from services other than aeronautical services. It is also 
provided under Sec 13 (1)(a)(vi) that, the concession offered by 
the Central Government in any agreement or MOU or otherwise 
must be considered. 
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In this regard, GHIAL would like to reiterate that vide Section 
13(1)(a)(vi) of the AERA Act the Authority is mandated to determine the 
tariff for the aeronautical services taking into consideration,  

 
“….the concession offered by the Central Government in any agreement 
or memorandum of undertaking or otherwise;”  
 
 A contextual reading of Section 13(1)(a)(vi) indicates that the 
concession granted by the Central Government must be mandatorily 
read into the AERA Act and all concessions granted therein have to be 
taken into consideration by the Authority while determining tariff. Hence, 
even as per the AERA Act the concessions granted must be taken into 
consideration while enumerating the aeronautical services, which in case 
of GHIAL is non aeronautical. The concession provisions are detailed in 
the subsequent section. 

  
b. Concession Agreement: Clause 10 of the Concession Agreement deals 

with the Charges to be levied at the Airport and 10.2.1 relates to the 
regulated charges to be levied which states as below:  

 
       “..10.2.1 The Airport Charges specified in Schedule 6 (“Regulated    
         Charges”) …....” 
 
Further reliance is also placed on the definition of Regulatory Charges which 
in terms of the concession is as follows: 

 
“Regulated Charges” has been defined in article 10.2.1 of the CA 

 
More specifically, GHIAL would like to draw attention of the Authority to 
Schedule 6 ("Regulated Charges") of the Concession Agreement which 
succinctly mentioned the regulated charges that the Authority can regulate, 
under three broad headings:  

i. Landing, Housing and Parking charges (domestic and international) 

ii. Passenger Service Fee (domestic and international) 

iii. Development Fee (UDF) (domestic and international) 

 

Further, GHIAL would also like to draw your attention to the clause 10.3 of the 
Concession Agreement wherein GHIAL has been given the concession in the 
form of freedom to determine charges for the services other than the facilities 
and services in respect of which Regulated Charges are levied. Following is the 
extract of relevant provision: 
 
“10.3 Other Charges 
 
HIAL and/or Service Provider Right Holders shall be free without any restriction 
to determine the charges to be imposed in respect of the facilities and services 
provided at the Airport or on the Site, other than the facilities and services in 
respect of which Regulated Charges are levied.” 
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In terms of Clause 10.2.1, the Authority has the power to determine only the 
Regulated Charges as categorically and unambiguously mentioned in Schedule 
6 of the Concession Agreement. Admittedly, in Schedule 6 of the Concession 
Agreement there is no mention of CGF. It is pertinent to mention here that 
schedule referred to by the Authority from the concession agreement i.e. Part 
1 of Schedule 3 is in relation to provision of infrastructure in relation to Airport 
Activities which does not necessarily correspond to Regulated Charges under 
Schedule 6 or clause 10.2. by any stretch of imagination. Airport Activities 
mentioned in Schedule 3 are distinct from the Regulated Charges mentioned in 
Schedule 6. Therefore, any reliance by the Authority on schedule 3 part-1 is in 
contradiction of the provisions of the AERA Act and the CA. It is clearly stated 
under the CA that the Authority has power to determine only ‘Regulated 
Charges’ as mentioned in Schedule 6 in terms of section 13(1)(a)(vi) of the Act 
and not ‘Airport Activities’ mentioned in Schedule 3 part-1. 
 
c. Opinion of the Attorney General: In this regard, to a specific query to 

the Attorney General raised by MoCA pursuant to the directions of Hon’ble 
High Court of AP in WP. No. 6487/2014 filed by GHIAL; as to whether or not 
the Concession Agreement permits to use the revenues from non-
aeronautical  activities or services including the revenues from CGF and/or 
non-airport activities, to cross subsidize the charges for aeronautical 
services, the Attorney General had categorically opined that the CA has two 
relevant clauses, viz., Article 10.2 (which deals with Airport Charges which 
are also termed as Regulated charges) read with Schedule 6 (CGF are not 
covered under Schedule 6 and are hence not covered under Regulated 
Charges) and Article 10.3. (which deals with “Other Charges”) and that HIAL 
has a right to determine charges for facilities which are not covered under 
‘Regulated Charges’.  The Attorney General also has opined that it will be 
deemed to be non-regulated services under the CA and hence, included 
under non-aeronautical services. The opinion of the Attorney General 
was submitted to the Authority vide our submission, the same is again 
attached herewith as Annexure I for ready reference. 

 
Expert Opinion:  
It is pertinent to mention that the opinion rendered by Hon’ble Justice R.C. 
Lahoti, Former Chief Justice of India had also clearly opined that: 

 
“1) While construing section 13(1)(a)(vi) of the AERA Act and acting 
thereunder, Article 10.2 and 10.3 of the Concession Agreement and 
other provisions thereof have to be kept in view. The AERA would be 
justified, and that would be a fair and just exercise of power, if the AERA 
may regulate the Regulated Charges as defined in the Concession 
Agreement and may not regulate any Other Charges in respect of the 
facilities and services provided at the Airport” 
 
A copy of the Opinion rendered by Justice Lahoti is annexed herewith as 
Annexure II. 
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Further, an opinion from the learned Solicitor General of India was also obtained 
by MoCA on the issue of treatment of CGF. A copy of the said opinion rendered 
by the learned SG is attached herewith as Annexure-III.  

 
At para 3.8 of the said opinion, the learned SG has elaborately dealt with the 
letter written by the Authority as well as the provisions of the CA and 
categorically opined that the CGF will have to be treated as non-
aeronautical/non regulated activities for the purpose of tariff determination by 
AERA.  

 
The promulgation of AERA Act doesn’t give sweeping power to the Authority to 
determine cargo, ground handling and fuel services; and the powers conferred 
under the statute are to be read in conjunction with section 13(1)(a)(vi) of the 
AERA Act, 2008 where the supremacy of Concession Agreement is 
unequivocally emphasised and duly protected by the legislature.  

 
The Authority has noted the Government’s view that revenues from cargo, 
ground handling services and fuel supply which are defined as Aeronautical 
Services in the AERA Act, 2008 may be reckoned as Aeronautical Revenues. 
The Authority is entitled to have the view but the same can’t be applied 
retrospectively on concessions which are prior to 2008 and by virtue of the 
concessions granted by the central government, the airport operator is entitled 
to treat CGF on par with “other charges” as it has been observed that the 
Authority is upholding cargo and ground handling revenue as non-aeronautical 
based on OMDA provisions of DIAL and MIAL.   

 
The Authority has equated the concession agreement of Hyderabad to that of 
Bangalore Airport and cited MOCA letter in case of BIAL for treatment of CGF.  
In this context, GHIAL submit that the aforesaid letter of MoCA cannot be relied 
upon as it has a different contextual dimension (40% Hybrid Till in first control 
period Order of BIAL vs Single Till in first control period Order of GHIAL) and is 
not in line with our Concession Agreement.  

 
Further, GHIAL would like to inform that Authority’s reference of Ministry’s letter 
for BIAL for treatment of services like cargo, ground handling and fuel supply 
as regulated and using the same as basis for HIAL appears to be a selective 
approach as the Authority ignored the directive of MoCA in case of DIAL and 
MIAL. Hence, reference is also invited to the directions of the MoCA to the 
Authority in case of DIAL and MIAL vide letter no F.NO. AV.24011/001/2011-
AD (Attached herewith as Annexure IV). In the stated letter the MoCA had 
sought legal advice from Ministry of Law and Justice who had opined that the 
concessions offered by central government have to be statutorily honoured by 
AERA and are under the ambit of section 13 (1)(a)(vi) of the AERA Act, 2008. 
The relevant portion of the letter are reproduced below for ready reference: 
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The MoCA taking cognizance of the above had directed the Authority to consider 
all concession documents under section 13(1)(a)(vi) of the AERA Act, 2008 in 
case of DIAL.  
 
In view of the aforesaid, GHIAL requests the Authority to take due cognizance 
of the Concession Agreement executed by MoCA with GHIAL as guiding factor 
for determination of treatment of Cargo, Ground Handling and Fuel Farm as 
non-aeronautical services and the revenue generated or received therefrom as 
non-aeronautical revenue.  
 

 
 

2. Treatment of Forex losses 

 

The Authority has observed that HIAL had included “Forex Loss Adjustment as 
per AS 11” as part of its aeronautical and non-aeronautical RAB for the First 
Control Period. As per the Authority’s Order No. 38/2013-14, the Authority had 
observed that “sourcing of funds is a conscious business decision of the airport 
operator” and accordingly had proposed to disallow the capitalization of 
adjusting for forex losses and excluded it from the calculation of RAB. For the 
Current Control Period, the Authority has decided to continue with its extant 
stance of disallowing the inclusion of forex loss adjustment in the calculation of 
RAB. However, such losses were proposed to be allowed partially as part of 
one-time adjustment to operating expenses subject to a certain cap in Order 
No. 34/2019-20 
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Further, the Authority as part of the tariff determination of the Second Control Period, 
while fixing the cap on cost of borrowing through ECBs, had not considered any 
fluctuation in foreign exchange rate during the First Control Period. However, the 
Authority had proposed to compare the cost of borrowing through ECBs (foreign 
currency borrowings) with that of the RTLs (domestic borrowings) and allow HIAL to 
recover forex losses to the extent that the effective cost of borrowing in foreign 
currency (net of forex gains / losses) is not higher than the cost of RTLs, subject to the 
ceiling of interest rates as per the decisions of the Order no 34/2019-20 for the Second 
Control Period. This is essential to ensure efficient borrowing by the Airport Operator 
in interest of the airport users.  
 
Consequently, based on the direction of Hon’ble TDSAT’s in case of HIAL, the Authority 
has reviewed the submission of HIAL and is of the view that foreign exchange losses 
are part of ordinary business risks to be borne by the operator and may not be foreseen 
as the fluctuations are not certain. Hence, the Authority proposes to consider the forex 
losses as per the previous treatment and the cap on upper limit as part of the 
operational expenditure.  
 

 
Our Response: 
 
GHIAL would like to submit that the principles of tariff determination prescribed by the 
Authority do not prohibit the airport operator to contract debt in foreign currency. The 
Authority would be mindful of the fact that in 2006-07 Rupee interest cost was very 
expensive (ranging between 10.5%-12.5% p.a.) vis-à-vis USD borrowing (~4% p.a.). 
The Rupee was appreciating against USD and the market perception was Rupee to 
strengthen further. Given such backdrop, GHIAL drew the ECB at an average USD INR 
rate of 40 and only took interest rate swap to convert the floating rate loan to fixed 
rate loan. The all-in-cost of ECB was working out to 8.73% p.a. vis-à-vis then Rupee 
borrowing cost of 12% p.a 
 
Given the background, it is unfair to restrict the allowance of exchange rate variation 
actually suffered by the Company to an upper cap of Rupee borrowing cost on year on 
year basis due to the following reasons:  

a. Foreign exchange borrowing is resorted to with an intention to bring down the 
overall cost of borrowing over the period of loan rather than looking at cost for 
a shorter period/year.  
 

b. Decision of going in for Rupee or foreign currency borrowing is taken at a given 
point in time with the available information and long term view of currency at 
that time of such decision making 
 

c. Any subsequent artificial restriction of overall cost capping at Rupee borrowing 
cost is not only adhoc but also unfair 
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d. There have not been any guidelines issued by the Authority which mandates 
either hedging the foreign currency borrowing or limiting the cost of foreign 
exchange variation to an overall Rupee cost. Any such decision can at best be 
prospective and not retrospective so that the Company can take necessary 
mitigating steps pronto. A retrospective application of such adhoc benchmarking 
with Rupee cost will put GHIAL into significant disadvantages as the exchange 
fluctuation is beyond the control of the Company 
 

e. ECB was availed with the anticipation that the Authority would allow the 
company to collect UDF in USD from international passenger booking tickets in 
USD. It may be noted that the Authority allowed DIAL to collect UDF from 
international passenger for tickets booked in USD in USD.  This would have act 
as a natural hedge for the company and would substantially neutralize the losses 
it has incurred during the period.  
 

f. The foreign exchange variations are beyond the control of the airport operator 
and can be considered as uncontrollable expenses which should be considered 
by the Authority on actuals. GHIAL has incurred an amount of Rs 168.15 cr on 
account of forex fluctuations on ECB against which Authority has allowed Rs 
76.35 cr and hence request the Authority to consider the balance Rs 91.80 cr as 
pass through cost for true up in control period 1. 
 

g. Authority capped the interest rate for first control period to 12.5% whereas 
actual interest rate paid on ECB was ~ 7.69%. Without prejudice to our rights 
of claim of actual forex loss even by considering the decision of the Authority, 
the eligible forex losses to be recovered should be as per the table below: 

 
The exchange loss suffered by GHIAL on account of principal and interest payment 
based on the Authority benchmarked RTL is as under (please refer Table 3 of Order 
No. 34/2019-20); 
   
As can be seen from the above table, loss to the extent Rs 154.72 cr should be allowed 
as a pass through expense as it is within the permissible cap of 12.5% allowed in the 
first CP order vis–a-vis  partial allowance of Rs 76.35 Cr.  

Financial 
Year  

Max 
allowable 

Fx Losses 
as per 

Authority 

(A) 

Total 
Fx 

Losses 
of 

GHIAL 

(B) 

Recovery 
allowed to 

GHIAL as 
per 

Authority 

(C) 

Max 

Allowable ECB 
Interest 

[Capped upto 

12.5% as per 
CP1 tariff 

order] (E) 

Actual 
ECB 

Interest 
Paid 

[7.69%] 

(F) 

Balance 

Allowable 
interest 

G=(E-F) 

FY 08-09 14.44 5.79 5.79 63.38 38.94 24.44 

FY 09-10 19.56 6.43 6.43 63.38 38.94 24.44 

FY 10-11 16.11 8.07 8.07 61.80 38.21 23.59 

FY 11-12 20.03 16.76 16.76 58.63 36.26 22.36 

FY 12-13 18.64 16.64 16.64 55.46 34.32 21.14 

FY13-14 8.38 35.44 8.38 52.29 40.04 12.25 

FY 14-15 8.8 37.16 8.8 48.44 34.24 14.20 

FY 15-16 5.48 41.86 5.48 43.90 31.60 12.30 

Total 111.44 168.15 76.35 447.27 292.54 154.72 
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Further, it is observed that the Authority has recouped the gains on account of lower 
borrowing cost of ECB in initial 5 years (FY09-FY13). Similarly, the loss on account of 
exchange fluctuations, should also be absorbed under regulatory framework.  
 
In the absence of any clear policy guidelines, it was assumed that the Authority would 
consider this as allowable opex as the intent of ECB was to optimize the project cost 
(reduction in IDC) during the construction period and GHIAL had indeed passed on the 
benefits of lower cost of infrastructure (lower RAB and lower WACC) to the passengers.  
 
Hence we request the Authority to reconsider its stand and allow the forex loss as 
allowable expenses. 

 

 

3. Treatment of income from real estate development 

The Authority given the scenario of following a 30% shared till (compared to a single 
till which was followed as per Order No. 38/2013-14), proposes to consider property 
development as a non-aeronautical activity. Accordingly, the income from property 
development was used to cross-subsidize airport operations to the extent of 30% and 
any expenditure associated with these revenues would not be allowed through RAB or 
Operating Expenses. 
 
Further the Authority has quoted TDSAT Order in case of BIAL “Land lease agreement 
do not show that land comprising the site was divided into two or more parts so as to 
confine the area of Airport to a limited extent. Since no such arrangement was made 
under any of the agreements, the claim of BIAL that there is additional land beyond 
the airport precincts over which AERA will have no legal Authority of regulation for tariff 
determination cannot be accepted.” 
 
Hence based on the above arguments, the Authority proposes to continue its treatment 
of income from real estate development as part of non-aeronautical revenue which will 
be used for cross subsidisation under shared till framework. 
 

 

Our Response:  
As per Clause 10.3 of the Concession Agreement, GHIAL has the power to determine 
charges to be levied in respect of the facilities and services provided at the Airport or 
on the Site, other than the facilities and services in respect of which Regulated Charges 
are levied.  
 
Further, as per Schedule 3 of the Concession Agreement a distinction has been made 
between Airport Activities which fall under Part 1 and Non-Airport Activities which fall 
under Part-2. Activities which fall under Part 1 of Schedule 3, fall in the category of 
Airport Activities which includes both aeronautical and non-aeronautical services and the 
infrastructure to be created by the airport operator.  
 
However, in Part 2 of Schedule 3, certain Non-Airport Activities which can only be carried 
out on ‘landside’ i.e., outside the precinct of Airport. Such activities/services neither fall 
within the category of aeronautical services nor in the category of non-aeronautical 
services but are non-airport activities.  
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As such, the revenues from real estate and commercial development which falls under 
Part 2 of Schedule 3 of the Concession Agreement and are provided on the landside i.e., 
outside the Airport and are non-airport activities and as such the same cannot be treated 
as Non-aeronautical revenue by any stretch of imagination. The proposal of the 
Authority in this regard to treat the same as non-aeronautical revenue and subjecting 
the same to cross subsidisation is contrary to concession provisions as well as the land 
lease agreement executed by the State Government (which forms part of the 
concession) As per the land lease agreement, the land was acquired not only for the 
construction of the airport but also to carry out commercial/non-airport activities. Hence, 
linking the commercial development/non-airport activities to the airport construction is 
not justifiable and the same is completely outside the purview of regulatory authority. 
Refer Section 3.1(b) of the Land Lease Agreement  

 
 
In this regard, the learned Attorney General categorically opined that non-airport 
activities should be outside the purview of AERA since AERA is related to only regulation 
of airports and what is outside the precincts should not be in the jurisdiction of AERA. 
The Attorney General while addressing “query vii” pertaining to non airport activities to 
be kept outside purview of AERA has also stated that the preamble of the Act and its 
provisions clearly show that only the airport is within the sweep of the Act. Additionally, 
it is pertinent to note that the right to development of real estate and treatment thereof 
other than aeronautical or non-aeronautical revenue was an independent right granted 
to the bidder as a concession and has been a part of competitive bidding process which 
cannot be taken away in an adhoc manner as is being sought to be done by the Authority 
in the present Consultation Paper.   
 
Further, the state government as per the communication dated 03.03.2011 while 
furnishing its views on the draft guidelines on economic regulation of services provided 
by Airport Operators has stated that intention of setting up the airport is for the socio-
economic development of the region and any adjustment proposed by AERA would not 
serve the purpose for which the land was leased out to GHIAL. Relevant extract of the 
letter:    
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Further, the letter of the then GOAP dated 01.03.2011 also stated the following;  
 

 
 
Letter of State Government attached as Annexure V for your ready reference 
Further, in this regard it is pertinent to mention that Justice R.C Lahoti in his Opinion 
has held as under: 
 
“2. In view of a categorical differentiation carried out under the Concession Agreement 
wherein Non-Airport Activities are completely unconnected to the Airport business, the 
revenues generated though the Non-Airport Activities under the Concession Agreement 
cannot be considered by AERA to offset cost for the purpose of determining the tariff 
for Regulated Charges. 
 
4. The value of the land earmarked for Non-Airport Activities (market or notional) cannot 
be included in or deducted from the RAB and accordingly the revenue generated 
therefrom cannot be taken into account for cross subsidising the aeronautical tariff for 
the Airport.” 
 
It may be appreciated that the Hon’ble TDSAT in its judgment dated 23rd April 2018 in 
the matter of AERA Appeal no 6 of 2012 has clearly mentioned that as per the AERA Act 
also the concessions awarded are to be respected, which in this present consultation 
paper have been ignored. The relevant portion of the order are reproduced below:  

 
“(i) In exercise of powers under Section 13 of the Act, AERA is required to respect 
rights/concessions etc. (See Para 31).  
 
(ii) Contractual rights can be voided only on the basis of explicit statutory 
provisions or implications from statutory provisions permitting no other option (See 
Paras 34 and 36)” (emphasis supplied) 
 
It may be clearly seen that there exists no explicit provision in the statute which debars 
GHIAL of considering real estate outside the regulatory purview, whereas the concession 
clearly demarcates it as non-airport activities. Hence, in view of the concession 
provisions and the aforesaid communication from the State Government, GHIAL request 
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the Authority to treat the land meant for Non-airport activities as outside regulatory 
regime.   
 
Further, the reliance placed by the Authority on the letter of GoAP dated 12.02.2014 is 
not reflective of the concession granted to GHIAL. The earlier communications of GoAP 
dated 01.03.2011 and 03.03.2011 (copy attached as Annexure V) is in line with the 
Concession Agreement and Land Lease Agreement. The legal opinion obtained by MoCA 
from the learned Attorney General also endorsed (copy attached as Annexure I) the 
view of the State Government w.r.t. the treatment of land and related commercial and 
other development thereon as conveyed in Annexure V.  
 
The GoI also while signing the concession agreement considered non-airport activity as 
a separate concession given to GHIAL. It is the same reason due to which even in case 
of termination of contract in the event of default by GHIAL also the GoI has to pay the 
value of investment made by GHIAL in non-airport activity in order to acquire asset 
related to non-airport activity. [Refer clause 13.5.2 of the Concession Agreement]  
 

 

4. Treatment of dividend and interest income received by HIAL on 
investment made as well as interest income in general 

The Authority has considered the dividend and interest income received from our 
cargo subsidiary Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Ltd (HMACPL), as part of cargo 
revenue. In the similar lines the dividend and interest income from Duty Free 
subsidiary considered as part of non-aeronautical revenue.  

 
Our Response:  
 
GHIAL would like to submit as under in this regard: 
 

 The investment in the subsidiaries was made by GHIAL and the same is not 
considered as regulatory asset base for the purpose of tariff calculation. 
Accordingly, since the investment is outside RAB Boundary any return 
generated from such investment in the capacity of equity shareholder should 
also be outside the regulation and regulator. 
 

 The Authority earlier in its Order no. 38/2013-14 correctly considered the 
dividends outside the regulatory determination in line with the treatment of 
RAB corresponding to such investments. Accordingly, the Authority did not 
consider dividends as part of the ARR calculations.  Hence, the Authority is 
requested to keep the dividends outside the regulatory purview.  

   
Further, it may also be pertinent to mention here that the Authority has also considered 
dividend income accruing to the airport operator outside the regulatory considerations. 
In this regard reference the attention is invited to Order No. 40/2015-16 dated 
December 8, 2015 with respect to Delhi International Airport (DIAL) wherein the 
Authority stated the following: 
 
“6.105.2. …………… since the assets pertaining to the JVs were not being reckoned for 
the purpose of determination of RAB, the Authority is of the view that the dividend 
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income accruing to DIAL from such JVs should also not be considered towards cross-
subsidization”  
 
The above has been a consistent consideration of the Authority in the previous tariff 
determination in case of DIAL and GHIAL. Similarly for interest income, Authority was 
of the view that  
 
“………the interest income generated by DIAL was part of their internal cash flow 
management and was therefore not considered as part of cross- subsidization” 
 
It has further been observed that the Authority has considered Interest Income in 
second control period as non-aeronautical in the consultation paper while calculating 
true-up. This is in variance with the order of the Authority in the second control period. 
GHIAL would like to submit that the treatment of the Authority on interest income is 
not proposed on account of the following:  
 

a. Interest income is generated out of the liquidity which is retained in the business 
to ensure sustainability of the business. Had the entire profit been dividend out 
to shareholders, GHIAL would not have earned interest income, however, it 
would make the organization vulnerable to external factors that are beyond its 
control like the prevailing COVID-19 situation. It may be appreciated that, we 
are able to address the COVID related challenges and operational losses due to 
prudent liquidity retention policy of the business. Hence the Authority should 
encourage the airport operators to retain cash in the business to ensure 
continuity of operations and should not disincentivize by cross subsidizing 30% 
of such interest income.    

 

b. GHIAL over the period has invested in subsidiaries to build an eco-system around 
RGIA and actively played the role of project proponent and anchored several 
initiatives by not remunerating its shareholder through payment of dividend.  
 
The concession agreement made clear distinction of what constitute regulated 
business and non-airport business. Hence GHIAL undertook the business risk 
and investment risk to promote business which are outside regulation. The 
dividend received by GHIAL is in the capacity of shareholders on account of 
assuming such business and investment risk and hence rightfully be outside 
Regulatory Till. The case in point is cargo concession which was operated under 
JV structure, wherein the dividend received by the JV partner is outside Till but 
in case of GHIAL this forms part of Regulatory Till as per the treatment proposed 
by the Authority. This is not proper from the principles of equity. Hence we 
request the Authority to not consider the dividend income on investment in 
subsidiaries under the regulatory purview. 

  
c. The other way to earn treasury income is due to the mismatch if any in terms 

of revenue earned. It is observed that while truing up the under or over recovery 
in following control period, the Authority considers the over or under collection 
with time value or at carrying cost of WACC. This inter-alia means that the 
Authority has considered any potential interest on the surplus during the control 
period with a rate of WACC. Such interest relates to the investment which can 
be made from the surplus amount at much higher rate as compared to the actual 
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and is also considered 100% aeronautical in nature. This may be seen from the 
consideration of the Authority in the calculation of surplus of CP 2 at table 63 
where the surplus amount of Rs 1301 Crores has been considered with WACC 
value to be at Rs 1976 Crores which means an additional Rs 675 Crores of 
income has already been considered by Authority/ Considering the actual 
treasury income over and above the present value of the surplus would therefore 
lead to double accounting of the same income. 
 

d. Hence the Authority should encourage the airport operators to retain cash in the 
business to ensure continuity of operations and should not disincentivize by cross 
subsidizing 30% of the interest income.  Accordingly, GHIAL request the 
Authority not to consider interest income for the purpose of cross subsidization.  

 

  
 

5. Cross subsidisation of 30% of Non-Aeronautical PBT under shared 
till 

 
The Authority has noted the submission of HIAL for considering the non-aeronautical 
PBT as cross subsidy for computing the Aggregate revenue requirement (ARR). The 
Authority is of the opinion that only 30% of non-aeronautical revenue is used for cross 
subsidy under shared till model, the Airport Operator gets to retain the balance 70% 
of non-aeronautical revenue.  
 
Subsequently, the Airport Operator should bear the expenses pertaining to the non-
aeronautical activities as most of them are being incurred by the concessionaire 
engaged for it. Further, the usage of 30% of the gross non-aeronautical revenues 
towards cross subsidization purpose is uniform across the airports under the purview 
of the Authority. The said treatment is also in line with the agreements such as OMDA, 
SSA etc. pertaining to DIAL and MIAL. 
 
Hence, the Authority does not agree with HIAL to allow for 30% non-aeronautical 
PBT for cross subsiding the ARR. The Authority proposes to continue using 30% non-
aeronautical revenue for cross subsidising under shared till framework.   

 
Our Response:  
 
Authority has applied the decision of its Order No. 14/2016-17 on Adoption of "Hybrid 
Till", wherein 30% of non-aeronautical revenues will be used to cross-subsidize 
aeronautical charges, in the case of HIAL 
 
In this regard GHIAL would like to state that  

a) Authority in its Order No. 14/2016-17 on adoption of Hybrid Till has relied on 

ICAO guidelines on Shared Till Philosophy and stated that a portion of surplus 

generated from non-aero revenues should be shared with the airlines and other 

users and not retain the entire surplus.   
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ICAO guidelines states that "reaching a common understanding on the 
contribution of non-aeronautical revenues to defray the cost base for charges is 
an acknowledgement of the partnership between airports and users". This 
clearly means that the non-aero revenues in the airport should be shared 
between the airport operator and the users. The airport operator and the airlines 
should come to an understanding on who gets how much of the surplus 
generated from non-aero revenues. The intention here seems to be that the 
airport operators who collect these revenues should share a portion of it with 
the airlines and other users and not retain the entire surplus. The ICAO 
guidelines therefore indicate a preference for a 'Hybrid till' rather than a 'Single 
Till'/ 'Dual Till'. (emphasis supplied) 

 
b) Also, as per Order no 13/2010-11 “In the matter of Regulatory Philosophy and 

Approach in Economic Regulation of Airport Operators”: 
Relevant extract from Para 5.18 to 5.24 (emphasis supplied) 
 
“5.18 It is important to recognize the context in which ICAO uses the terms "cost 
relatedness" and the related concept of "cross subsidy". ICAO speaks of cost 
relatedness in the context of charges for aeronautical or regulated services. This 
implies that according to ICAO guidelines, one regulated service should not be 
cross subsidized from other regulated service. It is important to bear in mind 
that ICAO does not use the term "cross subsidy" in the context of surpluses from 
non-aeronautical revenues to be used to moderate charges for aeronautical 
services. Infact as subsequently discussed, ICAO encourages contribution from 
non-aeronautical revenues towards aeronautical charges. 
 
5.19 Regarding cost relatedness, ICAO clearly states that non-aeronautical 
revenues are generated by passengers and hence they should benefit from the 
non-aeronautical surpluses. 
 
5.20 For sake of clarity, the relevant portion of Para 30 of ICAO Doc 9082/8, 
(2009) is reproduced below; 

  
…. The Council also states that in determining the cost basis for airport charges 
the following principles should be applied:  
(i) The cost to be shared is the full cost of providing the airport and its essential 
ancillary services, including appropriate amounts for cost of capital and 
depreciation of assets, as well as the costs of maintenance, operation, 
management and administration, but allowing for all aeronautical revenues plus 
contributions from non-aeronautical revenues accruing from the operation of the 
airport to its operators (Emphasis added). 
 
5.21 Authority thus notes that ICAO's guidelines speak of "contributions from 
non-aeronautical revenues accruing from the operation of the airport to its 
operators". Common reading of these words would indicate that whatever 
contributions from non-aeronautical revenues accrue to the Airport Operators 
should be taken into account for determination of aeronautical charges.” 
 

It is also important to refer to the White Paper on Regulatory Objectives and Philosophy 
in Economic Regulation of Airports and Air Navigation Services issued by the Authority 
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in December 2009, wherein the Authority has listed out certain major issues impacting 
formulation of a regulatory philosophy. In this regard, the Authority while laying down 
the philosophy for Single till has stated that single till uses profits from non-aeronautical 
activities at an airport to offset the aeronautical cost base for determining airport 
charges. Therefore, even as per the Authority’s own Regulatory philosophy only non-
aeronautical revenue, after deducting all costs associated with it, should be used for 
the purposes of cross subsidization. 
 
In this regard we seek to place reliance upon the opinion dated 08.07.2017 rendered 
by Shri Yashwant Bhave Ex- chairperson of the AERA has opined that: 
 
“In Hybrid till all the costs associated with generating the non-aeronautical revenue (as 
maybe defined in a given agreement) are subtracted from the non-aeronautical revenue 
and the net result is used to compute the amount of cross-subsidization towards 
aeronautical charges. Hence, a part of the non-aeronautical revenue (after netting of 
the costs associated with generating the non-aeronautical revenue) is so to say 
“shared” with the aeronautical revenue (also likewise netted) and aeronautical charges 
determined accordingly. ” 
 
A copy of the opinion dated 08.07.2017 issued by Shri Yashwant Bhave is annexed 
herewith as Annexure VI. 
 
Also, as per provisions of the CA, only the Regulatory Charges as mentioned in the 
Schedule 6 are to be determined by AERA consistent with ICAO policies but not on the 
cross subsidization. 
  
In view of the above, GHIAL requests the Authority to determine tariff based on the 
philosophy of shared/hybrid till wherein all the costs associated with generating the 
non-aeronautical revenue are subtracted from the non-aeronautical revenue and the 
net result is used to compute 30% cross-subsidization towards aeronautical charges. 

 

6. Cost of Equity 

The Authority had examined the arguments made and reports submitted by 
stakeholders recommending a higher cost of equity that is commensurate with the 
operational risks of the aviation sector and also ensures an appropriate return to 
investors in the Second Control Period. However, the Authority had observed that 
similar arguments had been made by stakeholders including HIAL in the First Control 
Period and also reiterated in HIAL’s MYTP submission for the Second Control Period 
and now the Third Control Period as well. The Authority had analysed the arguments 
and reports in detail and already responded to the same in its Order No. 38/2013-14 
for the First Control Period. 
 
Additionally, order of Hon’ble TDSAT for BIAL has supported the Authority’s decision in 
the matter of considering the cost of equity based on its own computation and that it 
requires no interference. The excerpt from the said order is as given below: 
 
51.’ On a careful perusal of the chart depicting Project IRR for claiming state support 
through SSA, it is found that there was no agreement or contract between the parties 
to which MoCA would have been necessary, to guarantee equity return of 21.66% or 
any fixed return on equity.  
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The charts were to work as models for understanding the need/quantum of state 
support claimed by BIAL. The model and the figures for its formulation do reflect the 
understanding of BIAL on Project IRR but that cannot amount to an agreement between 
the concerned parties, particularly MoCA on the fair return on equity. It is not 
guaranteed or promised in the terms of any agreement between the concerned parties, 
be it the Concession Agreement or the SSA. This claim of BIAL is not found acceptable.  
 

In Para 13.4.9 of the tariff order the Authority has correctly concluded that the equity 
IRR of 21.66% is not specified either in the Concession Agreement or in the SSA. The 
decision of AERA on this issue requires no interference.’ 
 
Hence, taking these facts into consideration, the Authority proposes to maintain its 
stance of considering cost of Equity as 16% for both First and Second Control Period. 

Our Response:  
 
We request the Authority to consider expert report of M/s Jacob Consulting which has 
after analysing the parameters specific to GHIAL has proposed a Cost of Equity of 
24.2%. A copy of the report of M/s Jacobs Consulting is annexed herewith as 
Annexure VII. 
 
The Authority has sought to continue the Cost of Equity of 16% basis the First Control 
Period which inter-alia has relied upon the NIPFP Report. In this regard, we submit the 
reliance on NIPFP Report is misplaced as NIPFP has no previous credentials for 
determination of Return of Equity and further, NIPFP has not been appointed as an 
expert as required under the provisions of the Act. Also, the parameters adopted by 
NIPFP in its report are flawed and not specific to Indian airport sector.  
 
Without prejudice to our claim of 24% for Cost of Equity, we place reliance on the 
reports of SBI Capital Markets Limited, who was appointed by MoCA (as the policy 
making authority) for the purpose of determination of ideal cost of equity for airport 
sector/operators and whereby SBI Cap recommended CoE of airports in the range of 
18.5% to 20.5%.It is also relevant to note that, unlike NIPFP Report, the SBI Cap 
Report has adopted the parameters specific to the Indian airport sector and therefore 
is more relevant as expert evidence. GHIAL submits that due credence should be given 
to the report of SBI Capital Markets, which was an independent study commissioned 
and engaged by the Government of India, Ministry of Civil Aviation.  
 
Further, for the third control period GHIAL had submitted an independent study by 
CRISIL Limited which recommended cost of equity ranges between 20.34% to 23.80% 
for GHIAL. This study is specific to GHIAL based on the Capital Asset Pricing Model and 
considers the risk-free rate in India, the appropriate risk premiums and comparable 
airport betas.  
 
Further, without prejudice to our claim of 24% of cost of equity, we would like to draw 
the attention of the Authority to the State Support Agreement with erstwhile GOAP 
assures that the project shall provide equity internal rate of return of 18.33%.    

 
Hence, GHIAL request the Authority to consider Cost of Equity at least as recommended 
by SBI Caps for the purpose of determination of FRoR. A copy of MoCA letter 
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(Annexure VIII together with SBI Caps Report is annexed herewith as (Annexure 
IX).  
 

GHIAL once again requests the Authority to adhere to the specific concessions granted 
by the central government to GHIAL under the CA relating to the issues i.e.  treatment 
of CGF, Real Estate development, Forex Losses, Treatment of Dividend and Interest 
Income, Philosophy of shared/Hybrid till and Cost of Equity as explained above as the 
investment decision was made based on those contractual provisions. Departure of the 
treatment on these contractual provisions shall be contradictory to the provisions of the 
CA as well as AERA Act and shall jeopardise the interest of the shareholders and debt 
providers.  
 

 

7. Other Principal Issues 

 
i. CSR and Donations:  

 

The Authority has looked into the matter of allowing Expenditure on Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR) as a pass through based on the TDSAT’s judgment 
dated December 16, 2020 in the matter of Bangalore International Airport 
Limited vs. Airports Economic Regulatory Authority of India which is as follows: 
 
“Hon’ble TDSAT held that there is no difference between CSR expenditure 
mandated by law and an expenditure in the nature of income tax which is 
allowed as a cost pass- through. It reasoned that not allowing such cost would 
amount to indirectly lowering the percentage fixed as a fair return on equity, as 
the CSR expenditure would be apportioned from the return allowed to equity 
holders. TDSAT therefore set aside the decision of AERA and directed it to pass 
relevant orders so that reduction in determined fair return does not cause loss 
to equity holders due to CSR expenditure. It further directed AERA to conduct 
the necessary truing-up exercise” 
 
Based on this judgment, the Authority has decided to true-up the expenditure 
towards CSR derived based on aeronautical profit & loss statement as per the 
Authority’s computation.  

 
Our Response: 
 
CSR spent was mandated by the statute and hence this mandated spent has 
affected the regulated and determined fair return on equity. GHIAL would like 
to draw attention to the operative part of the TDSAT Order in relation to CSR 
 
“There is no difference between expenditure towards CSR once it is mandated 
by law vis-à-vis an expenditure in the nature of income tax which is allowed as 
a cost pass- through. Not allowing such cost amounts to indirectly lowering the 
percentage fixed as a fair return on equity, because if the impugned decision 
of the Authority is accepted, the expenditure towards CSR has to come out from 
such return allowed for the equity holders. In view of the above discussions, 
the grievance of BIAL in respect of expenditure on CSR is found to have merits. 
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The impugned decision on this issue is, therefore, set aside. The Authority shall 
pass consequential orders so that no loss due to reduction in determined fair 
return is caused to the equity holders on account of expenditure on CSR. 
Necessary truing-up exercise shall be done by the Authority accordingly.” 
 
Based on the above pronouncement it can be inferred that the intent of the 
order is to preserve the return on equity to airport operator which has been 
affected due to a CSR activity. Further, as a responsible corporate citizen we 
also work for amelioration in the living conditions of the people in and around 
the airport villages. The CSR activity of GHIAL is centred around 3 major 
themes:   
 

a. Education  
 

GHIAL through its CSR arm works extensively with 12 Govt school located 
in 6 villages reaching out to more than 500 students to improve their 
learning levels through various interventions, e.g., provide additional 
teachers, after school session, special sessions for slow learners and basic 
infrastructures like, benches, computes etc. Also run gifted children program 
wherein the education requirements till under graduation level of 
meritorious under-privileged children are taken care of and currently 121 
such students are enrolled under the said program 

 
b. Health Care   

 
GHIAL run mobile medical unit for people in 23 villages and carry out 20,000 
treatments every year. GHIAL also run 7 evening clinics in the villages 
extending 10,000 treatments every year. Conduct 3 nutrition centres for 
pregnant & lactating women for a period of 1 year from their 3rd month of 
pregnancy. 200 such women are availing the facility. Also set up 2 nos. RO 
water plant which is serving the requirement of 750 families.  

 
c. Empowerment & Livelihood  

 
GHIAL impart vocational training centres directly benefiting 1,000 youths in 
collaboration with industry leaders and make them job ready with 80% 
placement. Women empowerment is one of the key focus areas of GHIAL-
CSR and as part of this, women groups from villages have been trained on 
tailoring, jute and paper products, chocolate making, garment making, etc.  
 
To further support the women in marketing these products, an initiative 
called EMPOWER (Enabling Marketing of Products of Women Entrepreneurs) 
has been initiated by GHIAL CSR 

 
The above initiatives have helped GHIAL to have collaborative arrangements 
with its stakeholders and developed mutual trust and respect.  
  
Since CSR is allowed by the Authority only on aeronautical profit and as there 
is no aero profit as per regulatory determination GHIAL is unable to recover the 
amount spent on CSR despite this being an integral part of operations at the 
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airport.  Hence, GHIAL request the Authority to treat CSR and donations as 
aeronautical opex given the overall context of spent which is driven by the 
objective of taking the society along and make them grow as we grow. Any 
under-recovery of CSR spent shall negatively affect the fair return on equity. 
 
By adopting the notional approach of AERO P&L Authority has just find a way 
to reiterate its earlier position of not providing CSR. Authority should adopt 
similar approach as they did in case of tax. Authority in case of allowance of tax 
has considered the actual amount of tax paid by the company and allocated the 
same into aero and non-aero PBT ratio. Authority should consider the same 
approach in case of CSR, the actual amount paid towards CSR should be 
allocated in the ratio of AERO and Non-Aero PBT. This approach will provide 
consistency approach towards allocation of taxes as well as CSR.   
 
Else the Authority may consider the unabsorbed CSR & Donations be deducted 
from non-aeronautical revenue and cross subsidization shall be allowed on the 
balance amount of non-aeronautical revenue. This will comply with the spirit of 
the TDSAT judgement.  

 
 

ii. Treatment of Cargo Satellite Building 
 

The Authority in its Order No. 34/ 2019-20 had observed that the Cargo Satellite 
Building (“CSB”) was being used as an administrative office for the staff of 
freight forwarders and some portion of the building was also being used as a 
storage/warehouse for cargo parcels. Since the building was being used to 
undertake cargo related operations related to the cargo handling at the airport, 
it was proposed to be treated as an aeronautical service in line with the 
treatment of cargo services as decided by the Authority in the previous chapter 
and hence all building blocks related to CSB have been accorded the treatment 
of aeronautical services. 

 
Our Response:  
As regard to the offices for freight consolidators/forwarders or agents at cargo 
complex are classified as non-airport activities under schedule 3 - Part 2 of 
Concession Agreement and are provided on the landside i.e. outside the Airport 
cannot be treated as Non-aeronautical revenue and the same is outside the 
purview of the Authority. The relevant provision of the concession is reproduced 
herein below for ready reference: 
 
SCHEDULE 3: PART 2 – NON-AIRPORT ACTIVITIES 

Landside Non-Airport Activities include the following services, facilities and 
equipment: 

Offices for freight consolidators/ forwarders or agents at cargo complex, offices for 
airlines 

Bus terminal for local and regional buses, Airport shuttle transport services (hotels, 
city centre, etc.) 
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Business parks 

Airport hotels, restaurants, conference venues, meeting facilities, business centres, 
trade fairs, real estate, theme parks, amusement arcades, golf courses, sports 
facilities, banks and exchanges and shopping malls 

Commercial buildings / complexes/ entertainment complexes/ tourist related activities 

Independent power producing plants for emergency supply may be established in 
connection with business parks 

Viewing point (at an existing hilltop) with parking, access and small food and beverage 
facility 

Any other revenue generating activity related to the development of the Site or of the 
Airport in relation to Non-Airport Activities 

 
The Cargo Satellite Building (CSB) at RGIA has been built as an innovative 
solution for providing Office and warehousing space as a trade facilitation 
measure.  
 
The activities performed in CSB can be broadly classified and explained as: 
 

1. Warehousing: The CSB serves the purpose of transit warehousing for 
various companies without having any restrictions on reserving space 
only for the purpose of Air Cargo. Since the Airport is at a convenient 
location in terms of connectivity, the CSB warehousing space is utilized 
by many companies for the purpose of storing transit cargo through ICDs 
as well as for Domestic distribution through road networks which are 
Non airport activities in nature.  

 
2. Office Space: Currently there are various companies, who are in no way 

related to Air Cargo, but have utilized the location with proximity to the 
Airport as an advantage and set up their base at the CSB as mentioned 
earlier.  For example, Notified Area Committee, which provides Building 
Plans approval for any construction at the Airport.  

 
This facility is set up by GHIAL as it wanted to create an enabling infrastructure 
which could have been set up through concession by GHIAL. The stated facilities 
even otherwise do not form part of Cargo activities as has been contended by 
the Authority. Hence, in terms of the concession and the nature of service, 
GHIAL request the Authority to treat Cargo Satellite Office Building (CSB), 
outside regulatory till. 

 
 

iii. Treatment of vehicle Fueling Stations 
 

The Authority would like to re-iterate that the fueling station is providing service 
which is incidental to aircraft operations since these vehicles are necessary to 
support the operation of aircraft services, cargo and passenger services, 
emergency services, and maintenance of the airport and hence, qualify as an 
aeronautical service. Hence, the Authority proposes to include vehicle fueling 
service as aeronautical service and therefore all building blocks related to 
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vehicle fueling service have been accorded the treatment of aeronautical 
services 

 
Our Response:  
 
Vehicle Fuelling service is provided by BPCL at RGIA to fuel the vehicles that ply 
in the airside. Additionally, BPCL runs another fuel station which is located on 
the landside/city side. The landside service don’t form part of the core activity 
of the airport, this fuelling station provides fuel to the vehicle plying to and from 
airport and serving customers which are not necessary to be users of the 
Airport. As per section 2 a (vi) the fuelling service is aeronautical in case it is 
supplying fuel to the aircraft: 
 
For supplying fuel to the aircraft at an airport 
 
The Vehicle fuelling station is not supplying fuel to the aircraft hence it cannot 
be considered as part of aeronautical service. The definitions in the AERA  Act 
read with the concession are inclusive and cannot be expanded to any other 
services. Further, the transaction with GHIAL is only for space rent with the 
fuelling station and cannot be construed as a fuelling service. 
 
Hence, GHIAL requests the Authority to consider the classification as per AERA 
Act read with the concession for fuel station and consider the revenues as non-
aero. 

 
 

iv. NOB  (New Office Building): 
 

The following treatment has been proposed to be considered by the Authority 
for allocation of NOB assets for the First Control Period and the Second Control 
Period as per Table 6 of the consultation paper: 
 
The percentage of floors usage has been considered as the driver for NOB. Prior 
to 2014-15, two floors of NOB GHIAL are used by HIAL employees for both 
aeronautical and non-aeronautical purpose and remaining three floors are not 
being utilized by HIAL 2015-16 onwards. The usage of NOB is categorized as 
60% non – aeronautical and 40% common for FY 2008-09 to FY 2014-15 
consistent with the previous tariff orders. FY16 onwards, since three floors of 
NOB are used by HIAL employees for both aeronautical and non-aeronautical 
purpose and remaining two floors are not being utilized by HIAL, usage of NOB 
is categorized as 40% non - aeronautical and 60% common for the Second 
Control Period as well as the Third Control Period. The building blocks pertaining 
to NOB will be accorded the same treatment for purpose of tariff determination 
in this Consultation Paper. 

 
Our Response: 
The new office building at RGIA is the corporate and administrative head quarter 
of GHIAL and the key staffs are deputed here to discharge the functions. 
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With increase in operations of airport, the staffing requirement has gone up and 
GHIAL presently occupying three floors for its own staffing requirement and 
opportunistically leased out the balance two floors, which would be gradually 
occupied as the operations expand. We would request the Authority to treat NOB 
in line with Terminal building and then allocate based on aero: non aero asset 
ratio. 
 
Authority allocation of NOB assets into 60% non-aero and 40% common till FY15 
and 40% non-aero and 60% common based for FY 16 onwards is not proper as 
GHIAL has rented out the vacant floor to third parties only for temporary usage 
and for opportunistic utilisation of resources till such time it is not completely 
used internally.  
GHIAL would like to inform that usage of NOB by GHIAL will increase significantly 
post the deployment of additional manpower in FY22 and FY 22 on account of 
expansion and will be utilised 100% for company’s operations. 
 
The treatment of NOB assets by the Authority based on its current occupancy is 
not proper. The classification of assets should not change based on its usage. 
The Authority is requested to consider the assets as common and allocation 
should be made accordingly. 

 
v. Site Office Building: 

 

Authority has allocated the building blocks pertaining to Site Office Building as 
common for purpose of tariff determination in the consultation Paper based on 
the area utilization. The Site Office building is divided into common and the area 
utilization is calculated each year for purpose of arriving at actual utilization and 
then allocated into aeronautical and non-aeronautical.  
 

 
Our Response: 
Site office building is used for various common services like IT room, Record 
room, Staff canteen, parking, auditorium, Store rooms and training halls. 
Balance space, pending utilisation, has been leased out to third party on 
availability basis. Hence, we request the Authority to treat site office building 
assets as common assets. 

 
vi. Township:  

 

Authority has proposed to allocate the building blocks pertaining to Township 
based on critical staff ratio as aeronautical and remaining as non-aeronautical 
for purpose of tariff determination in the consultation Paper. This ratio is 
calculated every year based on actual occupancy. 
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Our Response: 
Employees are provided accommodation in township to have quicker responses 
management in case of emergency or to continue to operate the airport in case 
of a disruption in the city. Employees are housed in township to ensure smooth 
operation of the airport as the airport is away from the city. GHIAL has built the 
township keeping in mind the long-term usage and hence the occupancy of 
township is gradual and shall increase with elevated level of activity. Hence 
allocation based on occupancy is not a right benchmark and request the 
Authority to consider township as aero assets based on its intended purposes 
or at best be allocated on common asset ratio.  

 
vii. Landscaping 

Authority has observed that landscaping is not integral to airport operations in 
general and hence proposed to be treated as common. All building blocks 
pertaining to landscaping are proposed to be treated as common for purpose 
of tariff determination of this consultation Paper. 
 

 
Our Response: 
Landscaping is an integral part of customer experience at the airport campus. 
The overall customer experience depends a lot on ambience at the airport 
campus and accordingly GHIAL has treated landscaping as aeronautical 
expenses. Also, the Authority in the past as well as in recent consultation paper 
of similarly placed airports, considered landscaping as aero expenses for other 
airports. Hence, we request the Authority to be consistent and consider 
landscaping as aero expenses. 

 
 

viii. Opex allocation for Guest Relations and IT cost centers 
 

Authority has considered the expenses pertaining to guest relation and IT cost 
centres as common as per the independent study. 
 

 
Our Response: 
IT expenses are primarily pertaining to Airport operation and should be 
considered as aeronautical expenditure. IT O&M contracts are primarily 
composite contracts for maintenance of all IT services and works at the airport. 
 
Expenses accounted under the guest relation cost center includes costs relating 
to management and facilitation of certain category of passengers passing 
through airport terminal  and guest relation is integral part of Airport operations. 
Hence, we request the Authority to consider cost related to protocol services as 
aero. 
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Summary of submission on Principles Issues with the Authority for 
fresh consideration 
 

Particulars GHIAL 
Submission 
on Treatment 

Basis of submission on Treatment 

CGF  
(including GPU, 
ICT) 

Non-
aeronautical 

Provisions of Concession Agreement, 
AERA Act, AG opinion, SG opinion and 
Expert Opinion. The airport activities and 
regulated charges are two distinct issues 
and should be viewed as decoupled.  

Forex Loss Pass through 
opex 

ECB was availed to optimize the overall 
cost of borrowing; while the Authority 
recoups the benefits of lower cost, the 
loss is not considered as pass through 
fully which is against the spirit of 
principles of equity.   

Income from 
Real Estate 
Development 

Outside 
Regulatory Till 

To be viewed based on land lease 
agreement, State Support Agreement and 
GOAP earlier communications on the 
matter. 

Treatment of 
Dividend and 
Interest Income 

Outside 
Regulatory Till 

Since the assets of the subsidiaries are 
not forming part of RAB any income 
arising out of investment activity should 
be outside Regulatory Till. 
 
Interest Income arises on account of 
deployment of surplus money retained in 
the business by depriving the 
shareholders by not paying dividend with 
the sole intent to make business prepared 
for uncontrollable shocks, ensures 
sustainability and prepare for undertaking 
infrastructure development on need basis.   

cross 
subsidisation of 
30% of Non-
Aeronautical PBT 
under shared till 

Cross 
subsidization at 
PAT level  

ICAO principles of cost relatedness in 
generating non-aeronautical revenue 
should be considered to determine the 
contribution for Shared Till.  

CSR and 
Donations  

Aero expenses To protect the regulated return on equity 
in accordance with the TDSAT Order  

CSB Non-Airport 
Activity 

In line with the place of services delivered 

Vehicle Fuelling 
Station 

Non aero and 
Non-Airport 
Activity 

In line with the nature of service and the 
place of services delivered 

NOB Common 
Assets 

NOB is used as corporate office of GHIAL 
and hence to be treated as common 
assets. 
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Particulars GHIAL 
Submission 
on Treatment 

Basis of submission on Treatment 

SOB Common To be allocated on overall common asset 
ratio. 

Township Aero Assets Township is meant for critical staffs 
deployed at operations as well as various 
support functions and hence to be treated 
as aero assets 

Landscaping 
Department 

Aero  In line with treatment at other Airports  

IT Department  Aero Critical for Airport Operations 

Guest Relation 
Department  

Aero Integral part of airport operations 
required for facilitation of certain category 
of passengers passing through airport 
terminal 
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III. TRUE-UPS FOR PRE CONTROL PERIOD AND 1ST CONTROL PERIOD 

 

1. 1. Pre Control Period Entitlements:  

 

The Authority stated that while it had initially proposed to consider the Pre 
Control Period Entitlement for the period since commencement of airport 
operations i.e. 23.04.2008 to 31.03.2011 (inclusive of carrying costs) as per 
Proposal No. 1.a under section 4 of the Consultation Paper 09/2013-14, it 
finally decided to revise the Pre Control Period duration to nineteen months 
starting from 1st September 2009 i.e. after the Authority came into 
existence as per Decision 2.a under Section 5 of Order No. 38/2013-14. 
 
The Authority further notes that the Hon’ble TDSAT vide its order dated 
March 04, 2020 (“HIAL TDSAT Order”), held that the issues that are 
surviving should be remitted back to AERA for its fresh consideration and 
adjudication. The TDSAT Order also stated that “While deciding the remitted 
issues AERA should keep its views open so that the issues are decided fairly 
and in accordance with law without any prejudice on account of the earlier 
litigation or this judgment and order.” The Authority also notes that all 
remitted issues have been decided by Hon’ble TDSAT on merit in BIAL order 
dated December 16, 2020. 
 
Based on the judgment of Hon’ble TDSAT in the HIAL Order and based on 
the similar view and direction given by the Hon’ble TDSAT in the BIAL Order, 
the Authority proposes to revisit the entitlement of balance period of PCPE 
and provide for the same. The Authority proposes to consider the entire 
PCPE period (01.04.2008 – 31.03.2011) for the purpose of the true up 
exercise during the Current Control Period 

 
Our Response:  
a. PCP entitlement ignored for the period 23rd March 2008 to 31st March 2008 
 
We agree with the Authority’s proposal to consider the entire PCPE period 
(23.03.2008 – 31.03.2011) for the purpose of the true up exercise during the 
Current Control Period. However, we would also like to submit that the 
operations of GHIAL started on March 23, 2008 which is recognized by the 
Authority in Section 2.2.2 of the Consultation Paper and hence request the 
Authority to consider the PCPE for 9 days for FY08 based on the same 
principles on which PCPE for FY09-10 is considered: 
  

Asset Allocation Ratio 92.64% 

Overall Opex Allocation 84%   

WACC 10.02% 

 
 Without prejudice to our rights to CGF being non-aeronautical and other 
issues listed in the previous segment of this response, for the limited purpose 
of alignment of regulatory approach in the consultation paper, GHIAL has 
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considered the treatment of building blocks for this period as per proposed 
decisions of the Authority.  

 
The regulatory building blocks for the period of 9 days is as under:  
 

Particulars  Rs. Crs  

Return on Capital Employed 5.28  

Operating Expense 49.86  

Concession Fee 0.15  

Depreciation 2.38  

Taxes 0.00  

Gross Target Revenue 57.70 

Cross Subsidization 1.98 

Aero Revenue Eligibility 55.72 

Less: Actual Aero Revenue 3.90 

Total Deficit – Absolute Value (for the period 23rd 
Mar'08 to 31st Mar'08) 51.82  

 
The Audited Financials (Annexure X) and the excel computations are enclosed 
for the consideration of the Authority as Annexure XI 
 
b. Calculation error for the PCP eligibility for the period 01.04.2008 to 30.09.2009 
 
Additionally, GHIAL would like to highlight the arithmetical inaccuracy while 
computing PCPE for FY2010 followed from previous control period. The approach 
of calculation of PCPE needs to be revisited from building block perspective as 
there was no prior determination whatsoever. As per building block approach 
Authority should consider only ARR deficit/surplus for the purpose of true up. 
Accordingly, in case of FY’10 & FY’11 the ARR deficit was Rs. 111.07 Cr and Rs. 
49.88 Cr respectively. The same amount should be allowed as true up.  
  
 

Pre-control Period Entitlements – Rs. 
Cr     2009 2010 2011 

  As per CP2 Order No. 34/2019-20           

    Return on Capital Employed    197.66 192.38 

    

Total Expenses (Incl. Concession 
Fee)    169.24 196.76 

    Depreciation     102.67 105.00 
    Tax     0.00 0.00 
    NAR Cross-Subsidization    -28.61 -32.23 
   Average Revenue Requirement    440.96 461.90 
    Less: Actual Aero Revenue    -329.89 -412.02 

    Revenue Deficit        111.07 49.88 

  
Authority while allowing PCPE true up has carried forward the trueup allowed in 
CP2 order “as is” and balance is provided in CP3. Hence the combined true-up of 
Rs.81.32 crores is incorrect which is considered as per Table 3 of the Consultation 
Paper of the Authority. The correct figure is Rs.41.72 crores as can be seen from 
Table 12 of CP2 Tariff order no 34/2019-20 (given below) 
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Table 12: Pre- Control Period deficit (losses) in respect of HIAL as considered by 
the Authority for the 2nd Control Period in the 2nd Control Period tariff order 
 

Pre-control Period Entitlements – 
Rs. Cr   

FY2009
-10 

FY2010-
11 

Aggregate 
Pre -CP 

As per Order No. 38 under Single Till 
(a)  39.6 -3.09 36.51 

As per actuals    

Return on Capital Employed (b) 197.66 192.38 390.03 

Total Expenses (Incl. Concession Fee) (c) 169.35 196.81 366.16 

Depreciation (d) 102.67 105.00 207.67 

Tax (e) 0.00 0.00 0.00 

NAR Cross-Subsidization (f) -28.67 -32.28 -60.95 

Average Revenue Requirement (g)= 
b+c+d+e+f 441.00 461.90 902.90 

Less: Actual Aero Revenue (h) -329.89 -412.02 -741.91 

 Annual Deficit (Pre- control Period 
Entitlement (i= g+h)  111.12 49.88 161.00 

True up (considering 7 months in 
FY2009-10 and FY2010-11) 41.72 52.97 94.69 

Discounting period -8.30 -7.30  

PV of True up 92.23 106.43 198.65 

Total True ups as on 01-01-2018 198.65 

 
Hence, the incremental true-up works out to Rs 36.52 crores as given in the table 
below: 
 
Revised Entitlement (Basis CP3 
assumptions) – Rs. Cr 

2009 2010 2011 Total 

Return on Capital Employed 201.15 197.66 192.38 
 

Total Expenses (Incl. Concession Fee) 191.52 169.24 196.76 
 

Depreciation 98.66 102.67 105.00 
 

Tax 0.00 0.00 0.00 
 

NAR Cross-Subsidization -27.04 -28.61 -32.23 
 

Average Revenue Requirement 464.3 441 461.9 
 

Less: Actual Aero Revenue     -289.98 -329.89 -412.02 
 

Revenue Deficit (A) 174.3 111.1 49.89 
 

Authority Considered in CP2 Tariff Order & 
allowed separately in CP3 (B) 

0.00 41.72 52.97 
 

Revised True-Up (A-B) 174.3 69.35 -3.08 240.6 

True up as per Consultation paper 174.3 29.75 0.00 204.1 

Incremental true Up  0.00 39.60 -3.08 36.52 

 
 
Revised True-Up (PV as on 31.03.2011) 211.00 76.29 -3.08 284.20 

True up as per Consultation paper (PV 
as on 31.03.2011) 

211.00 32.73 0.00 243.72 
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Incremental true Up (PV as on 
31.03.2011) 

  43.56 -3.08 40.48 

 
 

2. ADFG Assets: 
It is observed that the Authority has deducted an amount of Rs.107 
crores received from erstwhile GOAP in the form of Advance 
Development Fund Grant (ADFG).   

 
 
Response: 

The treatment of ADFG by the Authority is at variance with its earlier Order 
No. 38. given below:  

 
“11.28. …………..The Authority notes that the funds granted by GoAP have 
not been earmarked by GoAP for any particular class of assets and thus it 
is not possible for the Authority to earmark specific asset class to be 
reduced from RAB on this account”. Based on this the ADFG of Rs. 107 Cr 
should be proportionately excluded from aero and non-aero assets along 
with corresponding depreciation. 

 
It would be pertinent to mention that ADFG was granted to fund the Airport 
construction and both aeronautical and the non-aeronautical assets are an 
integral part of airport construction (please refer SSA) and combined 
offerings are inseparable part of overall passenger service delivery.  

 
The ADFG received by GHIAL was for the initial phase of construction hence 
should be reduced from the overall assets block and not from aeronautical 
RAB only. Further, the Authority may recall that the concession of RGIA 
was granted on the basis of bidder seeking minimum government 
assistance/support to build the infrastructure and accordingly ADFG quoted 
by GHIAL was towards building the airport infrastructure. Hence, removal 
of grant from only aeronautical asset block is not in line with the purpose 
for which grant was given by the State Government.  

 
Hence GHIAL request the Authority to align the treatment of ADFG in line 
with its earlier Order and proportionately reduce from aero and non-aero 
assets block.  
 

 

3. Authority’s examination of the matters of true up of Tax for the 
first control period as part of tariff determination for the 
Current Control Period 

 
It has been observed that the Authority has computed Aeronautical P&L 
without considering cross subsidization of non-aero Revenue. This approach 
defeats the very purpose of Regulation wherein the economic and viable 
operations of the airport is enshrined. The ICAO principles of cost relatedness 
of the revenue arising out of non-aeronautical functions as elaborated in the 
preceding section of the submission needs to be adhered to.   
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In accordance with building block approach, Authority subsidies the aero 
eligibility of GHIAL calculated as per building block by 30% of revenue from 
revenue share assets. In other words some part of the aeronautical revenue 
is expected to be recovered through cross subsidy from revenue from revenue 
share assets. However, while determining tax Authority has not considered 
this 30% of revenue. 
 
TDSAT in case of MIAL appeal no 4 of 2013 against the CP1 order of MIAL in 
its order dtd. 15th Nov’2018 at para 15 opined that: 
 

“…by the provision in the Agreement, ‘S’ is an element of revenue on 
aero side and by the same yardstick must be added while calculating 
the ‘T’. We find some merit in these arguments..” 

 
Accordingly TDSAT vide Judgment at Para 41(i) remanded the matter of 
considering the S-Factor as part of revenue in calculation of tax, to AERA. 

 
The Authority should consider the S-Factor in consideration for aeronautical 
tax for DIAL. Since, this is the issue of settling principle under the SSA the 
effect of such consideration should be taken from the first control period itself. 
 
Accordingly, GHIAL request Authority to kindly take positive view on the 
subject matter. 
 
As per the Consultation Paper of the Authority, the Aeronautical PBT for the 
control period is minus Rs 89.37 crores stating that the airport operator despite 
having invested so heavily in the regulated business failed to earn minimum 
return and for survival it has sole reliance on non-aeronautical revenue. 
Further, the absorption of the significant proportion of tax payment by non-
aeronautical segment is not proper when aeronautical business contributes 
~70% of the revenue. Hence GHIAL request the Authority to consider the 
cross subsidization of non-aeronautical revenue while drawing up Aeronautical 
P&L for all statutory levy, i.e., Tax payments and CSR. 
 
Further, the actual tax paid by GHIAL is the minimum alternate tax paid on 
account of available benefits under 80IA of the Income Tax Act. Authority has  
in a way considered a lower tax  into the building block (allocated in the ratio 
of respective taxes as per Aero and Non-Aero PBT) and hence denied the 
statutory benefits of section 80IA being made available to the company for 
investing in infrastructure development. 
 
Tax payable based on the aeronautical taxable income computed as per the 
normal provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961 should be considered as pass 
through tax in place of allocation of actual MAT paid by the company 

     
Hence, we request the authority to consider 30% of non-aeronautical 
revenues for drawing of aeronautical P&L and calculate the eligible aero tax 
as per the normal tax provisions (instead of absorbing the benefits of 80IA) to 
protect Fair Rate of Return on Equity 
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4. Other Key Principle Points: 

  
GHIAL request the Authority to consider the following based on the detailed 
submission given in the preceding section of the response:  

 

Particulars GHIAL 
Submission 
on Treatment 

Basis of submission on Treatment 

CGF  
(including GPU, 
ICT) 

Non-
aeronautical 

Provisions of Concession Agreement, 
AERA Act, AG opinion and Expert Opinion. 
The airport activities and regulated 
charges are two distinct issues and should 
be viewed as decoupled.  

Forex Loss Pass through 
opex 

ECB was availed to optimize the overall 
cost of borrowing; while the Authority 
recoups the benefits of lower cost, the 
loss is not considered as pass through 
fully which is against the spirit of 
principles of equity.   

Income from 
Real Estate 
Development 

Outside 
Regulatory Till 

To be viewed based on land lease 
agreement, State Support Agreement and 
GOAP earlier communications on the 
matter. 

Treatment of 
Dividend and 
Interest Income 

Outside 
Regulatory Till 

Since the assets of the subsidiaries are 
not forming part of RAB any income 
arising out of investment activity should 
be outside Regulatory Till. 
 
Interest Income arises on account of 
deployment of surplus money retained in 
the business by depriving the 
shareholders by not paying dividend with 
the sole intent to make business prepared 
for uncontrollable shocks, ensures 
sustainability and prepare for undertaking 
infrastructure development on need basis.   

cross 
subsidisation of 
30% of Non-
Aeronautical PBT 
under shared till 

Cross 
subsidization at 
PAT level  

ICAO principles of cost relatedness in 
generating non-aeronautical revenue 
should be considered to determine the 
contribution for Shared Till.  

CSR and 
Donations  

Aero expenses To protect the regulated return on equity 
in accordance with the TDSAT Order  

NOB Common 
Assets 

NOB is used as corporate office of GHIAL 
and hence to be treated as common 
assets. 

SOB Common 
Assets 

To be allocated on overall common asset 
ratio. 
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Particulars GHIAL 
Submission 
on Treatment 

Basis of submission on Treatment 

Township Aero Assets Township is meant for critical staffs 
deployed at operations as well as various 
support functions and hence to be treated 
as aero assets 

Landscaping 
Dept 

Aero  In line with treatment at other Airports  

IT Dept Aero Critical for Airport Operations 

Guest Relations 
Dept 

Aero Integral part of Airport Operations 

 
 
 
 

 
 



   

Response to AERA Cons. Paper No. 11/2021-22          Page 38      GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited  

IV. TRUE-UPS FOR SECOND CONTROL PERIOD 

 

1. Assets Segregation  

 

The Authority proposes to follow assets segregation based on the Independent 
Study 

 
Our Response:  
 
GHIAL have already submitted our perspective from Concession Agreement, 
Land Lease Agreement and State Support Agreement in the guiding principles 
section of the submissions. Hence our response in this section would be brief 
and request the Authority to read all the issues in conjunction with the detailed 
submission in the preceding section of the submission.  
 

Particulars Submission 

Cargo Satellite Building  This would be treated as non-airport activity 
as per Part 2 of Schedule 3 of the CA wherein 
the ‘Offices for freight consolidators/ 
forwarders or agents at cargo complex, 
offices for airlines’ is explicitly mentioned.  
  

Cargo Terminal Building  The conjoint reading of CA, AG opinion and 
Legal Opinion of Ex-CJI of Supreme Court 
concludes that CGF revenue should be 
treated on part with ‘other charges’. The 
activity mentioned in Part 1 of Schedule 3 of 
the CA provides for list of infrastructure 
facility with the limited objective of 
infrastructure that the airport operator should 
provision for in order to carry out airport 
activity. However, equating the same with 
‘Regulated Charges’ is not proper and the 
corroboration of the same can’t be made 
from Schedule 6 of the CA.    
 

Fuel Farm  Please refer to our submission on the 
preceding section on CGF treatment. 
 

Ground Power  Ground Power being akin to ground handling 
services should form part of treatment of CGF 
as per CA. 
 

New Office Building (NOB) NOB is the corporate office of GHIAL. Pending 
absorption of the floors by GHIAL, it was let 
out with the intent to reduce the ARR and 
thereby reduce the aeronautical charges. 
However, the Authority’s treatment of the 
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Particulars Submission 

assets based on its occupancy is not proper 
as the purpose should determine the assets 
classification not the temporary usage of the 
assets and request the Authority to consider 
the assets as common.  
  

Site Office Building (SOB) In line with NOB, GHIAL has done 
opportunistic let out of the unabsorbed 
space. Hence request the Authority to 
consider SOB based on the intent for which it 
was set up. 
 

Township The Airport being away from the city, GHIAL 
developed township to house critical staffs 
engaged in airport operations and corporate 
functions to have quick response time during 
emergency. Hence the very nature of the 
assets is meant for the core purpose 
rendering airport services and hence should 
be considered as aeronautical assets.  
    

Ground Handling  Please refer to our submission on the 
preceding section on CGF treatment. 
 

IDAT The overall area of IDAT is 4000 sqm which 
is entirely catering to passenger processing 
consist of only check in counter, baggage 
reclaim area, passenger sitting space, 
utilities.Non-aero offerings on the floor of 
IDAT primarily consists of car rental counters, 
paid portals and few vending machines which 
is around 22.60 Sqm area. On a overall basis 
retail area in IDAT is ~ 0.57% of total IDAT 
area. Hence GHIAL request the Authority to 
consider IDAT assets as 99.4%% 
aeronautical and not to equate this to 
passenger terminal building having higher 
non-aeronautical offerings.  
   

IIDT The overall area of IIDT is 9000 sqm which is 
entirely catering to passenger processing.  
Total Non-aero offerings on the floor of IIDT 
is on 105 sqm area which is 1.17% of total 
IIDT Area. Non-Aero services at IIDT 
primarily include area given for pharmacy, 
forex counters, paid porters, secure wrap, 
vending machines etc. Hence we request the 
Authority to consider IIDT assets as 100% 
aeronautical or max 98.3% aeronautical and 



   

Response to AERA Cons. Paper No. 11/2021-22          Page 40      GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited  

Particulars Submission 

not to equate this to passenger terminal 
building having higher non-aeronautical 
offerings. 
 

Passenger Terminal 
Building (Plant & 
Machinery) 

PTB Plant and Machinery is essential for PTB. 
HVAC, lifts, Escalator, PHE are essential for 
airport operation and not incidental to non-
aero revenue. 
Hence, these should be considered as 
aeronautical. 

PTB IT system other than 
explicit used for non-aero 

PTB IT system which are not specifically used 
for Non-Aero are essential to provide airport 
operation accordingly should be considered 
as aeronautical asset. 

PTB Lighting PTB Lighting is necessary for airport 
operation irrespective of whether there non-
aero service. Any utilisation by non-aero 
concessionaire has been netted off from total 
expense. Accordingly, the PTB lighting 
related asset should be considered as 
aeronautical. 

Landscaping We request the Authority to consider 
landscaping as aeronautical in line with the 
treatment in other airports as this is an 
integral part of overall passenger experience.   

Reservoir  As a responsible airport operator, over the 
period, GHIAL has undertaken various 
sustainable initiatives. One such initiative was 
to build reservoir as the natural gradient of 
the airport land can be used to recharge 
ground water and also to meet water 
requirements at the airport. Almost 60 days 
of water requirement of the airport is met 
through reservoirs. GHIAL understand that 
the Authority has mistakenly presumed this 
asset as an extension/for the Hotel. This 
asset has been built on the GO 111 land. The 
location is 2-3 km away from the Hotel. The 
reservoir is built to cater the entire Airport 
premise and not alone the Hotel. Hence, the 
location of asset should not determine the 
allocation of the assets. 
 
Hence the location of the assets should not 
determine the treatment of the assets as 
GHIAL cannot get natural gradient to hold 
water within the airport premises. To draw 
parallel, the solar plant is located at landside 
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Particulars Submission 

but the power generated by it is used by the 
airport. 
GHIAL submit that the reservoir water is used 
exclusively for airport requirements.  
 
Hence GHIAL request the Authority to 
consider the reservoir capex of Rs. 27.47 
crores as part of RAB. 
 

     
GHIAL request the Authority to reconsider the assets segregation approach in  
light of the above submission. 
 
 

2. Decommissioning of Parking Stands 

 

The independent study also highlighted that 12 parking stands had been de 
commissioned by HIAL in 2018 and 2019, however, the same did not reflect in 
the fixed asset registers of HIAL. Hence based on arbitrary approach, an 
amount of Rs. 14.91 Crores has been deleted from aeronautical assets before 
arriving at that gross fixed asset ratio 

 
Our Response:  
 
The current development work at GHIAL has been undertaken in a brownfield 
airport and accordingly the construction works undertaken in Apron areas for 
expansion works involve modification of few remote stand areas.  
 
The contention of the Authority that the decommissioning of parking stands 
did not reflect in the Fixed Assets register of GHIAL is on account of conversion 
of parking stands to contact stands as the piers are extended as part of current 
expansion. Hence the usefulness of the capital cost that incurred still stands 
to benefit GHIAL and accordingly as per accounting standards same should 
not account for deletion from the FAR 
 
GHIAL would like to draw the attention of the Authority to the operating part 
of Accounting Standard 10 wherein the recognition of cost of assets is as 
under:  

 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment should be recognised 
as an asset if, and only if: (a) it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the enterprise; and (b) the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. 

 
Accordingly, the random deletion of Rs. 14.91 crores isn’t required as GHIAL 
shall continue to derive economic benefits and hence we request the Authority 
to align the treatment in line with the treatment in the audited books of 
account. 
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However, in case the hypothetical deletion is made in the balance sheet from 
aero assets, the corresponding reflection in the form of charge off to P&L 
Statement is required as per double entry system of bookkeeping. Hence we 
request the Authority not resort to hypothetical deletion of the assets; 
however, in case such deletion is considered, the Authority may please 
consider charge off of equivalent amount to P&L Statement in the same year. 
  
 

3. Cost of Debt 

 

The Authority considered cost of debt for the second control period as per 
Table 32 of the Consultation Paper.  

 
Our Response:  
 
GHIAL would like to draw attention of the Authority to 2 aspects:  
 

a. During the second control period, fresh debt was raised in Oct 2017, 
Apr 2019 and Feb 2021. Hence simple averaging without giving effect 
to timing of the drawdown of debt would lead to incorrect borrowing 
cost. Hence actual draw down of the debt to be factored for calculation 
of cost of debt 
 
GHIAL have observed that the debt addition for FY18 has been 
erroneously considered as Rs 1640 Cr against actual debt drawal of Rs 
2147.3 Cr [Total bond proceeds raised in FY18 Rs 2230 Cr (USD 350 
mn) adjusted with proportionate hotel loan of Rs 82.6 Cr].  
 
GHIAL request Authority to consider the average debt for FY18 based 
on above debt drawl and suitably adjust the timing factor for calculation 
of cost of debt. 
 

b. It would be pertinent to mention that the debt raised during this period 
is for expansion funding. Hence during the construction period, as per 
accounting standard, interest forms part of IDC and doesn’t reflect in 
P&L. Hence while calculating cost of debt, total interest (both P&L and 
IDC) to be considered.    

 
GHIAL have worked out the average debt and cost of debt for the second 
control period as under and request the Authority to consider the same for 
true-up computation; 
 

Particulars – Rs. Crs FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 

Opening Debt 1523.3 1525.0 2147.3 2147.3 4214.3 

Addition 50.0 2147.3 0.0 2067.0# 2188.0* 

Less: Repayment 48.3 1525.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Closing Balance  1525.0 2147.3 2147.3 4214.3 6402.3 

Average Debt 
(Considering actual 
drawdown of funds) 

 1,524.2   1,836.1  2,147.3  4,214.3   4,578.9  
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Interest Paid (including 
Capitalised Interest) 

154.3 170.4 192.3 402.4 437.0 

Cost of Debt 10.12% 9.28% 8.95% 9.55% 9.59% 
#Drawn on April 10, 2020 
 *Drawn on Feb 2nd 2021 

 
GHIAL request the Authority to consider the above basis while calculating the 
cost of debt. 
 

4. Depreciation:  

 

The Authority has recalculated the yoy depreciation for the Second Control 
Period based on the revised additions to RAB as per the rates fixed by the 
Authority in its Order No 35/2017 18 which is also adopted by HIAL in its 
computation from FY19 onwards. Further, the Authority has adjusted the 
depreciation towards ADFG assets. The Authority has revised the 
depreciation based on the new rates which was proposed by the Authority 
in its Order No. 34/2019-20 

 
Our Response: 
 
GHIAL is unable to reconcile the basis of depreciation calculation of the 
Authority. Even after considering the adjustments as mentioned by the 
Authority in table 36 of the Consultation Paper, GHIAL observed that the book 
depreciation and the depreciation considered by the Authority is having 
significant gap.  
 
For the calculation of depreciation for 2nd control period, adhoc depreciation 
rates have been applied on the asset class wise gross block. We have observed 
that though the allocation change has been made for asset additions 
pertaining to FY17 to FY21, no change has been considered for the opening 
asset block of FY2017. It is observed that the opening gross block is not been 
considered correctly for CP2 depreciation calculation. This methodology will 
leave a major inconsistency between book depreciation and depreciation as 
per the Authority in future and it will be a huge reconciliation issue. 
 

Particulars – Rs. Crs FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 

Depreciation as per Books of 
Accounts (Adjusted with dep 
on ADFG and AS11 assets) 

172.75 173.04 144.16 151.85 170.56 

Aero Depreciation considered 
by the Authority – Table 36 of 
the CP  

108.82 112.04 140.99 176.53 184.38 

Aero Depreciation after giving 
effect to the changes 
proposed by the Authority in 
CP (As per GHIAL 
computation) 

149.20 149.62 131.04 137.01 154.29 

YoY Difference -40.38 -37.58 9.95 39.52 30.09 
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GHIAL is unable to ascertain the gap in depreciation and request the Authority 
to revisit depreciation computation. GHIAL request the Authority to align the 
overall depreciation with book depreciation and then allocate between aero 
and non-aero.  
      
Additionally, we would also like to request to the Authority to consider the 
following treatment to align the Net Block of assets while deletion is 
considered.  
 
a. When assets are deleted from gross block, the corresponding accumulated 

depreciation should also be deleted so that the net impact of deletion is 
taken to the P&L. The following accumulated depreciation of the deleted 
assets should be considered:   

 
 

Particulars – Rs. Crs FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 Total 

Total Deletions as per 
Books 

1.86 4.10 1.01 106.00 52.74 165.71 

Accumulated Dep on 
deletion 

1.53 1.13 1.01 37.54 23.26 64.47 

Net Deletions to be 
considered 

0.32 2.97 0.00 68.46 29.48 101.24 

 

Aero Deletions as per (as 
per Authority- Table 30) 

1.05 10.31 9.42 97.22 51.99 169.98 

Accumulated Dep on 
Aero Deletions 
(Allocation as per 
Authority) 

0.43 1.03 0.84 32.56 22.96 57.82 

Net Aero Deletions to be 
considered  

0.62 9.28 8.58 64.66 29.03 112.16 

 
GHIAL request the Authority to consider the net deletions, aggregating to Rs 
112.16 cr, as against gross value of assets deleted from the books while 
calculating the RAB.  
 
 

5. Operating Expenses: 

 

The Authority has commissioned an independent study to analyse 
efficient operation and maintenance costs submitted by the operator and 
determine the allocation and their reasonableness which is important for 
effective execution of tariff determination for aeronautical services. 
 
The independent study has reviewed the various cost centers and 
developed a basis for segregation into aeronautical and non-aeronautical 
activities. The independent study had also determined the appropriate 
proportion of common cost centre that may be included in aeronautical 
activity, in order to determine the total aeronautical cost 
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Our Response: 
 
Without prejudice to our right of CGF related expenses being non-aero, for 
the limited purpose of the consultation paper, we are submitting are 
responses on opex allocation based on Authority’s treatment.  
 

Details of Expenses GHIAL Submission 

General Admin Cost  GHIAL has submitted a detailed response and 
rationale for the travel expenses incurred 
during the 2nd control period vide our letter no 
1580 dated 21st April 2021 which is annexed 
herewith for ready reference.  
 
GHIAL request the Authority to revisit the 
travel cost of senior management which is 
essential for the mainstay of airport business 
and treat overall travel cost as common as 
submitted instead of random allocation  
 

Community 
Development  

GHIAL request the Authority to consider CSR 
as part of aero opex as explained in the 
preceding section in order to protect the fair 
rate of return on equity. 
 

Bank Charges The Authority hasn’t considered the amount 
attributed to interest charges due to delayed 
payment.  
 
In this regard, GHIAL would like to submit that 
the interest charges due to delayed interest 
payment is on account of the very operative 
aspect of advance tax payment mechanism. 
GHIAL tend to pay advance tax based on our 
estimates of profitability for the year broken 
into each quarter. However, the actual 
performance and the incidence of tax shall 
vary, hence the Tax Authority considers the 
difference in tax provision and actual tax 
payments and levy interest on the same.  
 
Since the advance tax payment has the 
systemic lacuna, all the tax paying corporates 
are having the challenges on delayed payment 
interest. 
 
Hence GHIAL request the Authority to consider 
the delayed payment interest as part of eligible 
opex. 
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Details of Expenses GHIAL Submission 

Forex Losses  It is observed that the Authority as per Order 
No. 34 2019/20, has not included the forex 
losses in the RAB calculation but allowed 
partially recovery by considering it as 
operating expenses (to the extent where the 
effective interest rate on external commercial 
borrowings = interest rate on rupee term 
loan).  
 
In this regard, GHIAL request the Authority to 
take cognizance of the fact that GHIAL has 
always been making endeavours to reduce the 
cost of borrowing by tapping overseas market 
and thereby reducing reliance on Rupee bank 
loan which are relatively expensive. Our 
weighted average cost of borrowing for the 
second control period has been 8.13% (table 
32 of the CP) which is very competitive by any 
standard. The significant reduction is achieved 
on account of refinancing exercise that we 
have undertaken in FY18 by way of raising of 
USD Bond at al-in-cost of 8.90% replacing the 
RTL which was hovering at 11%. 
  
The legacy ECB that GHIAL refinanced out of 
the proceeds of USD 350 million helped in two 
counts:  

a. GHIAL has arrested the further forex 
loss as well as  

b. bring down the weighted average cost 
of debt to ~200 bps against the 
Authority allowed permissible cap of 
10.70% +50 bps.  

 
Given the above backdrop, it can be observed 
that the refinancing has brought down the 
overall cost by 230 bps (10.70%+0.50%- 
8.90%) which for a tenor of 10 years (average 
maturity of USD 350 million bond being 10 
years) works out to 23%.    
 
Hence, GHIAL request the Authority to 
consider onetime loss of Rs.186.62 crores (the 
aeronautical portion of which is Rs.155.23 
crores) as part of allowable operating 
expenditure spread over the tenor of 
refinanced loan, i.e., 10 years as the cost of 
one time loss of Rs.186.62 crores for drawn 
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Details of Expenses GHIAL Submission 

amount of USD 350 million (Rupee equivalent 
of Rs.2230 crores) works out to 8.37%.  
 
Hence we request the Authority to redraw the 
Opex eligibility based on the above 
submission.  
  

 
 
 

6. Aeronautical Tax:  

 

The Authority further reiterates its stance as per decision no. 8 order no 
34/2019 20 and proposes to allocate HIAL’s taxes (as per the aggregate profit 
& loss account) between aeronautical and non-aeronautical components based 
on the ratio of taxes as per both aeronautical and non-aeronautical profit & loss 
accounts. 

 
Our Response:  
It has been observed that the Authority has computed Aeronautical P&L without 
considering cross subsidization of non-aero Revenue. Since the cross subsidization 
reduced the aeronautical revenue eligibility of the airport operator, this should 
form part of revenue for the purpose of aeronautical P&L computation.   

 
In accordance with building block approach, Authority subsidies the aero eligibility 
of GHIAL calculated as per building block by 30% of revenue from revenue share 
assets. In other words some part of the aeronautical revenue is expected to be 
recovered through cross subsidy from revenue from revenue share assets. 
However, while determining tax Authority has not considered this 30% of 
revenue. 
 
TDSAT in case of MIAL appeal no 4 of 2013 against the CP1 order of MIAL in its 
order dtd. 15th Nov’2018 at para 15 opined that: 
 

“…by the provision in the Agreement, ‘S’ is an element of revenue on aero 
side and by the same yardstick must be added while calculating the ‘T’. We 
find some merit in these arguments..” 

 
Accordingly TDSAT vide Judgment at Para 41(i) remanded the matter of 
considering the S-Factor as part of revenue in calculation of tax, to AERA. 
 
The Authority should consider the S-Factor in consideration for aeronautical tax 
for DIAL. Since, this is the issue of settling principle under the SSA the effect of 
such consideration should be taken from the first control period itself. 
 
Since Aeronautical P&L of the Authority doesn’t consider cross subsidization, the 
aeronautical P&L is artificially kept supressed. Further it goes against the spirit of 
fair rate of return on equity. Although aeronautical revenue is 69% of the total 
revenue of GHIAL in second control period, aero tax is just 44.78% of total tax 
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outgo of GHIAL. This shows the fundamental flaw of tax computation wherein 
aeronautical P&L is suppressed by 30%, i.e. equivalent of cross subsidization.  
 
Further, the actual tax paid by GHIAL is the minimum alternate tax paid on 
account of available benefits under 80IA of the Income Tax Act. Authority has in 
a way denied the statutory benefits of section 80IA being made available to the 
company for investing in the infrastructure development while considering the 
lower MAT into the building block (allocated in the ratio of respective taxes as per 
Aero and Non-Aero PBT). Tax payable based on the aeronautical taxable income 
computed as per the normal provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961 should be 
considered as pass through tax in place of MAT paid by the company 
     
Hence, we request the authority to consider 30% of non-aeronautical revenues 
for drawing of aeronautical P&L and calculate the eligible aero tax as per the 
normal tax provisions (instead of absorbing the benefits of 80IA) to protect Fair 
Rate of Return on Equity 

 
  

7. Non aeronautical Revenue  

 

The Authority proposes to treat CGF services as aeronautical service and 
consequently the income from these services including cargo, ground 
handling and fuel farm including CSB and GPU, income from ICT as 
aeronautical revenue. The Authority also proposes to treat the dividend 
income from duty free subsidiary as non-aeronautical and cargo subsidiary 
as aeronautical revenue, revenue from commercial property development 
as non-aeronautical in line with recommendation of GoAP to treat real estate 
income as non-aeronautical revenue. 

 
Our Response: 
Without prejudice to our contentions and rights that CGF being non-
aeronautical, we have aligned our response with the Authority’s treatment of 
CGF for the limited purpose of this Consultation Paper.  
 
GHIAL has given detailed rationale for dividend income, interest income and 
income from real estate to be outside Regulatory Till in the preceding section 
of the submissions and request the Authority to consider the same.  
 
Further, GHIAL has observed that the Authority has considered notional gain 
on account of fair value of Interest Rate Swap (IRS) of Rs 40.19 cr and Rs 
11.9 Cr in FY18 and FY19 respectively as part of non-aeronautical income. 
GHIAL would like to submit that the fair valuation of IRS is a book entry and 
hence notional in nature and it is not realised in cash. 
 
Hence GHIAL request the Authority to exclude notional gain on account of fair 
value of IRS from non-aero revenues. 
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8. Other Issues  

 

a) Pending True up for first control period 

 
This is with reference to true up of operating expenses provided in chapter 3 of 
the Consultation Paper No. 30/2017-18 dated 19.12.2017 for first control period, 
GHIAL had submitted that there was a shortfall of Rs 8.33 crore towards 
aeronautical operating expenses basis Authority's calculation. Following is the 
extract of variation submitted by GHIAL as part of response to the consultation 
paper:  

 
 
Authority has captured this submission as part of para 3.73 in the order no 
34/2019-20 for 2nd CP. Further, Authority in the same order at para 3.99 noted 
the same and proposed that the suitable reconciliation will be done at the time of 
third control period. Following is the relevant extract of the order: 
 

3.99. Also, the Authority notes RIAL's submission that as per HIAL's 
calculations, there is a shortfall of Rs.8.33 crores in the true-up for 
operating expenses. The Authority notes that the difference is on account 
of the aeronautical concession fee which is allowed towards true-up. The 
Authority notes RIAL's suggestion that the aforementioned differential 
could be addressed through a reconciliation exercise along with HIAL. The 
authority proposes to conduct this reconciliation at the time of tariff 
determination for the 3rd Control Period. 

 
Authority in the consultation paper no. 11/2021-22 has proposed that the true up 
for first control period will be only to the extent of CSR expense. Authority’s 
proposal is against it’s own decision and against the tariff principles. Accordingly, 
we request Authority to kindly relook into the expense reconciliation for first 
control period and consider the true up of Rs. 8.33 Cr. with time value in CP3. 
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b) 4.9.5 The Authority noted that Airport Authority of India (AAI) has 
discontinued paying the rental for providing ANS/CNS services in 
FY20 and FY21 for the Second Control Period. Although AAI has 
discontinued paying the rentals, the Authority proposes to consider 
these rental for FY20 and FY21 towards aeronautical revenues as a 
commercial activity is being undertaken by the parties 

 
Our Response: 
It has been observed that Authority has considered notional rentals for FY20 
and FY21 for ATC tower. All along we have been making endeavours to collect 
lease rents from AAI however given the constraints we request the Authority 
to consider ATC rentals on actual invoicing basis only. 
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V. CONSIDERATION IN THIRD CONTROL PERIOD  

1.Traffic Projection 

 

The Authority has considered the following traffic for FY22; 

Traffic (in Mn.) FY22 

Domestic 12.41 

International 1.93 

Total 14.34 
 

 
Our Response:  
 
While GHIAL agree with the Authority on the traffic recovery from FY23 
onwards, GHIAL request the Authority to consider FY22 traffic on account of 
the second wave of Covid pandemic which has affected the Q1FY22 traffic at 
the airport;  

  

Traffic (in Mn.) April-21 May-21 June-21 Total 

Domestic 0.71 0.27 0.39 1.37 

International 0.09 0.03 0.04 0.16 

Total 0.80 0.30 0.43 1.53 

 
As can be observed GHIAL has clocked 1.53 million of traffic in the first quarter 
of current fiscal and with the onset of impending of third wave the traffic 
recovery in FY22 would be very muted.  
 
GHIAL believe that the recovery of traffic is closely tied-in to the pace of 
infection and the pace of vaccination. Given the current focus of vaccination, 
GHIAL is of the view that significant part of population of metro and tier 1 and 
tier 2 cities would be vaccinated by December giving a fillip in air traffic in 
Q4FY21 provided India successfully avert the onslaught of third wave of Covid 
pandemic.  
 
Pax Projection: 
 
As per our current estimates, domestic traffic for FY22 would be in the range 
of 9.50 million. It may be observed that international traffic will take some 
more time as most of the countries are still preferring bubble arrangement as 
the foreign countries are still witnessing infection rate albeit at a manageable 
level. GHIAL believe our international traffic for FY22 would be in the range of 
0.80 million in FY22. 

 
Given the above, the month-on-month stack up of traffic is estimates as under: 

  

Traffic (in 
Mn.) 

Domestic International 

Q1FY22 1.37 0.16 
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Traffic (in 
Mn.) 

Domestic International 

July 21 0.70 0.05 

August 21 0.75 0.05 

September 21 0.80 0.05 

October 21 0.85 0.05 

November 21 0.90 0.07 

December 21 0.95 0.07 

January 22 1.00 0.08 

February 22 1.05 0.08 

March 22 1.10 0.08 

Total  9.48 0.74 

 
GHIAL request the Authority to consider traffic of 10.22 mn for FY22  
 
Transfer/Transit Pax  

 
In last few years RGIA has emerged as the hub of South & Central India. Under 
the Regional Connectivity Scheme (RCS) of Govt. of India, all the major Indian 
Carriers have deployed ATR/Q400s type aircraft at RGIA and connected to number 
of RCS routes and connected to various smaller catchment cities/towns out of 
RGIA. In Fiscal 2021 and 2020, total 12 RCS routes were catered out of Hyderabad 
viz Cudapa, Gwalior, Hubbali, Nasik, Belgaum, Jharsaguda, Kolhapur, Ajmer, 
Mysore, Nanded, Pondicherry and Vijaynagar. These RCS routes have also 
contributed to transfer traffic at RGIA. In Fiscal 2021, UDF exempted RCS pax 
was around 2.25% of the total domestic pax.  
 
During FY21 the COVID-19 pandemic, the still prevailing pandemic had hit the 
world including India and the traffic numbers came down drastically during this 
period. Airlines were consolidating their operations in main cities like Hyderabad 
instead of connecting directly between Tier II to Tier II/III etc. cities/towns. Due 
to this the transfer traffic number at Hyderabad has increased significantly in 
FY21. GHIAL expect that once the situation is restored comes back to normal, our 
unbillable transfer traffic at HYD may will settle down around 10% range as 
against our initial submission of 1.08% of total domestic pax. However, for the 
purpose of rate card GHIAL has assumed domestic departing transfer and transit 
pax as filed with the Authority.  

 
Air travel has been impacted due to the unprecedented Covid’19 pandemic and it 
is very difficult complex to estimate the likely traffic for the current control period. 
Hence, GHIAL request the Authority to allow mid-term review of the rate card at 
the end of FY23 based on actual billable traffic for FY22 and FY23 so as to enable 
us to achieve and that recovery the of ARR as proposed in the consultation paper 
is achievable. 
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ATM Projection: 
 
GHIAL request the Authority to consider the historical ATM as basis for 
projection of ATMs. Historically, the pax/ATM is as under:  

 

Particulars FY19 FY20 

International Pax/ATM 151 149 

Domestic  Pax/ATM 113 112 

 
Hence GHIAL request you to revise the ATM numbers for the third control 
period based on the above submission.  
 
 

Regulatory Assets Base and Depreciation:  

 

a. Capital expenditure towards capacity expansion to 34 MPPA  

 

The Authority has considered the following capital expenditure towards capacity 
expansion of 34 Mn. It is observed that the Authority has accepted RITES 
recommendations and given additional allowance towards Apron & Taxiways 
and GSE Tunnel and Design Development and PMC for Rs. 29.80 Crores and 
Rs. 4.38 Crores more than the revised cost estimates by RITES.  

 

Particulars 
 

GHIAL 
Submission 

RITES 
Recommendation 

Difference 

Total Terminal Building 
Cost with Airport 
Systems (a) 

3728.32 3347.39 (380.93) 

Apron & Taxiways and 
GSE Tunnel Cost (b) 

978.47 814.11 (164.36) 

Expansion of the Kerb 
and Approach Ramp (c) 

156.40 156.40 0.00 

Road Infrastructure (d) 167.00 104.28 (62.72) 

Hard Cost  5030.18 4422.18 (608.01) 

Preliminaries, Insurance 
& Permits (e) 

120.20 98.35 (21.85) 

Design Development and 
PMC (f) 

202.94 132.67 (70.27) 

Contingencies (g) 243.01 132.67 (110.34) 

Total Soft Costs (2) = 
(sum of e to g) 

566.15 363.69 (202.46) 

Total Capital 
Expenditure (1) + (2) 

5596.34 4785.87 (810.47) 

Authority considered 
additional (6.2.5 of the 
CP) 

 34.14 34.14 

Total 5596.34 4820.01 (776.33) 
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Authority has disallowed expansion capex basis recommendation as per 
independent study primarily in the per sqmt cost and the area under expansion. 
With respect to the disallowances proposed by Authority GHIAL would like to 
submit as following and request the Authority to kindly consider our request 
favourably: 
 
 

 International Competitive bidding and market discovery of cost 
 
GHIAL would like to submit the GHIAL has embarked on capacity expansion in 
a brownfield airport. The award was based on the scope document prepared 
by design consultant Meinhardt, a globally renowned consulting firm. During 
AUCC, GHIAL considered the area as was emanating out of design basis which 
the bid was invited. GHIAL run an international competitive bidding process to 
select the L1 bidder. After having evaluated the bids, in order to further 
optimize the cost, the technically qualified bidders were asked to submit 
separate proposal with entire scope of works, proposal excluding Airport 
Systems and proposal for supply of only Airport Systems.  The following 
bidders submitted the proposals;  

 

Sr 
No 

Description L&T Megawide 

1 Original Scope     

2 Excluding Airport Systems    

3 Only Airport Systems  Regretted  

 
Accordingly, contract for supply of Airport System was awarded to Megawide 
Construction Corporation and balance work was awarded to L&T Limited. The 
Authority shall appreciate that by splitting the contract GHIAL was able to make 
a saving of Rs.50.02 crores. The purpose of adoption of ICB was to market 
discover the price of the works. We request the Authority to take cognizance of 
the fact that market discovery of price through ICB is always a better proposition 
than cost estimation which is more of a perception based on experience. Since 
the brownfield expansion has its execution challenges and the construction period 
is spread over 42 months, the bidders while bidding for the project has factored 
in the unforeseen costs and time to put together the bid.  
    
The RITES reports are more of cost estimation based on assumptions which 
doesn’t reflect the demand environment, supply constraint, unpredictable 
commodity price cycles and skillset challenges. The contracts were awarded 
during the heydays when the economy was growing, commodity prices were on 
upcycle, many of the metro airports unveiled capacity expansion as the airport 
was experiencing high teens growth and infrastructure was awfully inadequate.  
 
GHIAL request the Authority to take into account above variable that are generally 
into the play in the bidding process while the bidders submit their bids. A case in 
point would be the price movement in flat steel, an essential supply for airport 
construction. The average price of flat steel in the month of June 2021 was 
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Rs.69,500 per tonne which is almost 2x of what it was in the same month last 
year (Rs.37,350) (source: CRISIL Research). In the first half of 2021 flat steel 
price were 51% higher year-on-year- Rs.58,717 per tonne vs Rs.38,000 in the 
first half of 2020. Such spike in prices of commodities are not rare and not one-
off. Hence the bidders in order to protect the margin while submit their bids duly 
price in the eventualities which can’t be quantified in cost estimation exercise 
which is more of traditional way of looking at things taking into consideration 
historical developments. Hence, we request the Authority to assign due weightage 
to factor in the intangibles in a bidding process that have a significant bearing on 
the outcome of a bid.  
 
While Authority has been emphasising on finalising the project cost based on 
benchmarked prices as per the study, these benchmarked prices may not be 
resulting into actual project cost and there could be differences in the final project 
cost derived post market discovery vis a vis cost recommended as per the study. 
Even in case of similarly placed airports authority has allowed a margin of 10% 
over and above the indicative cost as per the study. 
 
Given this perspective on the cost, we would like to submit our rationale on the 
area of airside and terminal and the request the Authority to consider the same 
while allowing the capital cost of our expansion works.        

 
 Discrepancies noticed in the consideration of areas for airside and 

terminal 
 
It seems that the Authority has relied on the areas mentioned in the AUCC 
document. The areas mentioned in the AUCC document were arrived on a macro 
approach with an intent to get the consent of the stakeholders. Once the consent 
of the project was in place and the contracts were awarded the detailed design 
of the project undertaken. The final areas post the detailed design were submitted 
to AERA / Rites vide our submission dated 16th March 2021.  
 
A. Airside 
The airside area in the revised submission is considered as per the current design 
considering the various airside optimization initiatives to improve the airside 
efficiency. The MYTP filing was on the basis of AUCC document while the design 
during execution stage incorporated the inputs from the stakeholders (AAI) to 
bring in cohesive execution which will facilitate airside operations on non-intrusive 
basis for years to come. The key differences from the initial submission to the 
final because of such initiatives are stated as under: 
 
a) Area of Apron and Taxiway with respect to areas presented in AUCC 

 

1. Reduction of Apron Area and Increase of Taxiway area due to introduction of 

dual Code C Taxilanes: 

 
During the AUCC phase it was felt that a single taxiway would be sufficient to 
meet the requirements of both north and south remote apron. However, 
during the interactions, review & approvals by statutory authorities, it was 
advised by Airport Authority of India that operations will not be efficient 
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without introducing dual taxilanes. The design was accordingly modified based 
on the recommendation and the dual taxilanes have been considered in the 
final design. To accommodate this arrangement, south apron area has been 
reduced from 79,564 sqm to 51,072 sqm and taxiway increased from 48,613 
sqm to 77,105 sqm, effectively maintaining the same paved footprint area 
(apron + taxiway).  
 
 

2. Expansion of Bravo Taxiway: 

 
Initially, it was felt that a parallel taxiway of 2350m would suffice to meet the 
requirements of runway occupancy time and aircraft taxiing. However, during 
the interactions, review & approvals by statutory authorities, it was advised by 
AAI that further extension of bravo taxiway upto MRO/till the threshold of 
Runway 09L would give access to the beginning of the runway without 
backtrack and also facilitate aircraft operations to RWY 09R/L due to change 
in wind pattern from October onwards. 
  
Accordingly, Bravo taxiway extension of 534m beyond 2350m is proposed to 
be constructed during the expansion stage. Hence the increase in taxiway area 
from 79,831sqm to 104,186 sqm. The email communication of AAI and the 
reasons for area interchangeability as explained in above point shall be read 
conjointly. 
 

3. Additional 2 RETs 

Originally, four new RETs were envisaged in master plan for 34 mppa to be 
constructed in a phased manner (2 initially and 2 subsequently). Accordingly, 
it was updated in AUCC to build 2 nos. However, at the time of awarding EPC 
contract, 2 nos were included in Contract and 2 more were put as provisional 
item. However, during the interactions, review & approvals by statutory 
authorities, it was advised by AAI to look into the possibility of constructing 
two new RETs for each runway at a distance of 1600 meters to cater ATR-72 
type of aircraft and 1900 meters to cater Code-C type of aircraft, which would 
optimize the arrival ROT (runway occupancy time). Hence during the 
execution of EPC contract, these provisional items have been operated and 
thus 4 are being constructed (email communication of AAI attached for 
reference). 
  
It is reiterated that the contract for the construction of 4 RETs was in place 
before COVID and the construction had already been initiated before the 
lockdown. Also, both the Taxiways extension and the construction of RETs 
form an integral part of the overall airside works that require the closure of 
the entire runway for extended periods, this work cannot be deferred to a later 
date for execution on a piecemeal basis. The current scale of operations 
provides execution window with minimal runway interruption as the 
taxiway/secondary runway can handle the current peak ATMs which otherwise 
would have been very challenging during elevated scale of ATMs. Accordingly, 
the area being constructed as per current design vis-à-vis our submission to 
the Authority as per MYTP as under:  
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As per MYTP/AUCC As per Current Design  

Particulars – Sqm Apron Taxiway  Total  Apron Taxiway  Total  

West Apron 57,472 131,230 188,702 57,472 131,230 188,702 

North East Apron  25,379 65,874 91,253 25,379 65,874 91,253 

Remote Apron (North)  75,150 115,950 191,100 75,150 115,950 191,100 

Remote Apron (South)  79,564 48,613 128,177 51,072 77,105 128,177 

Parallel Taxiway (Bravo)  - 79,831 79,831 - 104,186 104,186 

Rapid Exit Taxiways  
 

23,133 23,133 - 47,431 47,431 

Total 237,565 464,631 702,196 209,073 541,776 750,849 

  
Request Authority to consider the areas as per the current design given above. 
 

B. Terminal Building  
 
The Terminal building design has undergone changes on account of the following:  
 
East and West Side Processor areas 
 
During execution phase, it was found necessary to shift 18m of west side terminal 
expansion towards eastern side to protect demolition of Interim International 
Departure Terminal (IIDT) as the said terminal was built to cater to uninterrupted 
international operations till such time the entire international area is released after 
expansion. Because of this shift of 18m to eastern side certain areas were required 
to be increased to facilitate baggage handling equipment, airline offices etc. 
During the detailed design stage of the PTB for 34 MAP, Operations and other 
stakeholders including Airlines and reserved services have sought additional office 
spaces. This requirement was considered with additional floor space created at C 
level. 
 
East and West Side Pier areas  
 
Design of 34 MAP master plan envisages piers with bulbs (expanded area at the 
end of pier) on either end to accommodate maximum number of contact and 
remote stands. During the development of detailed design, simulation has 
revealed that additional space will be required to improve the passenger 
movements and other amenities. It was also felt that these areas in bulb portion 
have good vertical clearance and are appropriate areas to cater for passenger 
amenities like lounges etc. Accordingly, a mezzanine area of 3055 sqm on eastern 
side and 2582 sqm on western side of pier is proposed to be constructed. This 
will improve the passenger experience in the bulb area. With this arrangement, it 
would ease out the passenger movement and creates an opportunity for providing 
passenger amenities.  
 
It may please be noted that the changes highlighted above require changes to 
the basic structure of the single, integrated terminal building including 
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creation/strengthening of foundations, pillars etc which are difficult to undertake 
once the terminal becomes operational, thereby necessitating the execution of 
works along with the ongoing construction. Accordingly, the area being 
constructed as per current design vis-à-vis our submission to the Authority as per 
MYTP as under:  
 

Particulars – Sqm 
As per 

MTYTP/AUCC 

As per Current 

Design 

Terminal Forecourt   12,095 11,948 

East Side (Processor) Terminal 27,914 43,756 

 West Side (Processor) Terminal   69,703 59,409 

East Side Pier  69,020 69,138 

 West Side Pier  70,077 68,201 

 Mezzanine   5,637 

 Total  248,809 258,089 

  
 
In aggregate, the overall modification in airside and terminal area based on MYTP 
submission vis a vis current design is as under:  
 

 Particulars – 

Sqm 

As per 

MTYTP/AUCC 

As per 

Current 

Design  

% Change over 

MYTP/AUCC 

Submission 

Airside 702,196 750,849 6.93% 

Terminal   248,809 258,089 3.73% 

  
The Authority will appreciate that the exact areas cannot be determined at the 
concept design stage and areas are bound to get adjusted during detailing stage 
especially with an expansion of this scale (almost 3x in capacity). The minor 
increase in area is a requirement coming out of detailed design, meeting stake 
holder expectations, challenges related to brown field expansion. Hence GHIAL 
request the Authority to consider the area that are being constructed as per 
current design for the purpose of evaluation of our MYTP for 3rd control period.  
 
 Per Sqm Rates considered for terminal and Apron and Taxiways 
 
As mentioned above GHIAL request the authority to consider the actual cost 
incurred which has been derived from international competitive bidding and not 
benchmarked cost to arrive at the project cost for CP3. Without prejudice to the 
argument GHIAL has the following observations on the per sqm rates considered 
in the consultation paper. 

 In order to arrive at the cost RITES applied inflation based on CIDC Index 
and given the additional impact of GST on its earlier capital cost per sqm 
of terminal and airside which was more of an exercise of reasonableness 
assessment of the cost estimates of our earlier proposed expansion of 20 
MAP. CIDC index is not a true reflection of inflationary effect on airport 
construction.  
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 The Authority in case of DIAL considered CPWD rate of inflation which is 
more market representative of the price increase in construction materials. 
Distinction needs to be made in building construction vs airport 
construction as airport construction is specialised in nature with design 
complexity, façade convolution, significant strengthening of the subgrade 
for load bearing capacity and is heavily tilted towards price of steel and of 
equipments like PBB, BHS, Escalators, Elevators etc which are primarily 
imported and given the rupee depreciation of 4.55% (CAGR of rupee 
depreciation till end of calendar year 2020 over end of calendar year 2017)  
on imports alone, the inflation is certainly higher than CIDC index.   

 
We request the Authority to consider the capex towards terminal and airside 
works in line with our submission.  
 
 Capex considered for Road infrastructure: 
 
The capital cost of road infrastructure is reduced from 8 lanes to 6 lanes. The 
road widening was envisaged primarily to have uncongested vehicular movements 
given the past traffic growth that the Airport witnessed during pre-Covid period. 
The reduction in cost is not explained by the RITES, hence GHIAL are unable to 
rationalize the reduction and request the Authority to give us allowance in full.  
 
However, GHIAL would like to submit to the Authority that this project shall be 
taken up after the traffic recovers to a level of 20 mn+. Out of total project cost 
envisaged towards road infrastructure, company incurred Rs 24.23 Cr till FY2021 
and balance capex of Rs 142.77 Cr shall be incurred once there is a significant 
increase in traffic. Hence, GHIAL request the Authority to allow for true up of the 
project cost based on actuals in the fourth control period and not to incur any 
penalty on account of non-capitalisation in third control period.   
 
 Soft cost provisions:  
 
GHIAL would like to draw the attention of the Authority on the following soft cost 
estimates of RITES for 20MAP expansion works vs 34MAP expansion works of  
GHIAL; 
 

Particulars   RITES (% of 
Hard Cost) -
20MAP 

RITES (% of 
Hard Cost) -
34MAP 

GHIAL  (% of 
Hard Cost)-
34MAP 

Preliminaries, Insurance and 
Permits  

3.4% 2.2% 2.4% 

Design & PMC 5.0% 3.0% 4.0% 

Contingency 3.0% 3.0% 4.8% 

Total 11.4% 8.2% 11.2% 

 
As can be observed from the table that our current soft cost provision is in line 
with the RITES approved soft cost provisions for 20MAP. The reduction in soft 
cost for 34 MAP is not cogently explained by RITES and the % taken is arbitrary 
and without any basis. GHIAL would like to provide our perspective on each 
component of soft cost provisions as under: 
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Preliminary: 
Earlier in case of 20 MAP proposed expansion, RITES considered preliminary 
@3.4% of project cost while giving a perspective that it ranges between 1% to 
5% depending on the scale of the project. As part of information submission to 
RITES, GHIAL has provided the detailed list of preliminary works and since our 
current preliminary cost estimates is at 2.38%, GHIAL request the Authority to 
consider the same as part of capex. 
 
Design PMC: 
The Design and PMC cost for the project is in line with earlier evaluated cost of 
RITES for our 20 MAP expansion proposal wherein RITES provisioned 5% of 
capital cost towards design development and PMC.  
 
RITES have contended that there could have been better price discovery had PMC 
contract been bid out. However, RITES while estimating capital cost of terminal 
and airside defy the said principles of market discovered price and prevailed over 
its imputed cost. Hence the overall approach of RITES on the cost estimation 
exercise lacks understanding of basic tenet of market discovered price.  
 
We would like to reiterate that although PMC is awarded to our group company, 
however, the award is purely on arms-length basis. It is the only airport focus 
consultant in India and have worked in various airport projects in India and 
abroad. Had an overseas consultant was appointed as PMC, GHIAL believe the 
cost would have been even higher. Value of PMC is arrived for utilization of 
services of various discipline experts over period of project implementation. Cost 
of different experts is based on manpower cost benchmarking study carried out 
by PWC. Therefore, in effect, considering the project implementation period and 
the magnitude and size of the project, the PMC cost is comparable which is ~3% 
of the hard cost of the project.  
 
As part of the responses, GHIAL has submitted the manpower deployed by PMC 
including the cost to arrive at the total PMC cost. However, RITES failed to take 
cognizance of the said submission.   
 
Hence, GHIAL request the Authority to approve our Design and PMC cost of Rs. 
202.94 crores.    
 
Contingency:  
For our 20 MAP expansion proposal RITES provisioned 3% of capital cost towards 
physical contingencies including any modification to the scope of work and 
unforeseen items. RITES acknowledged that considering the magnitude of the 
project, the provision of 3% towards contingencies is considered adequate and 
the same is followed by the government organizations such as AAI and CPWD.  
 
GHIAL has made a lumpsum provisions of contingency at 4.8% of the hard cost 
of the project. Since this is a mammoth brownfield expansion and the impact of 
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increase in capacity to 34 MPPA could not be assessed/ exact scoping was not 
feasible at the beginning of the project, hence GHIAL was of the views that 5% 
of the hard cost of the project towards contingencies would be sufficient. 
 
During the course of implementation of the project, various design modifications 
were required to maintain aesthetics and seamless feel which resulted in 
additional work being undertaken. The communication on additional works were 
submitted to RITES vide our letter no GHIAL/2020-21/SPG/1523 dated February 
10th 2021 stating that we are deliberating at an acceptable variation order. Such 
claims at present are to the tune of Rs 360 Cr, details of which have already been 
submitted to RITES in our above stated letter. Hence we request the Authority to 
reconsider basis the evidence already provided and allow contingency during true 
up.  
 
Since the project has achieved physical progress of ~68%, hence the actual cost 
provisioned against contingency should be considered. Hence we request the 
Authority to consider and approve contingency of Rs.243 crores.  
 
In view of the aforesaid submission, GHIAL request the Authority to consider the 
capital cost for expansion as per revised submission of GHIAL as given below;  
 

Particulars – Rs. Crs GHIAL 
Submission 

Capex 
considered 

by the 
Authority 

GHIAL 
Revised 

Submission 

Terminal Building Cost with 
Airport Systems (a) 

3728.32 3347.39 3728.32 

Apron & Taxiways and GSE 
Tunnel Cost (b) 

978.47 814.11 978.41 

Expansion of the Kerb and 
Approach Ramp (c) 

156.40 156.40 156.40 

Road Infrastructure (d) 167.00 104.28 167.00* 

Hard Cost  5030.18 4422.18 5030.18 

Preliminaries, Insurance & 
Permits (e) 

120.20 98.35 120.20 

Design Development and PMC 
(f) 

202.94 132.67 202.94 

Contingencies (g) 243.01 132.67 243.01 

Total Soft Costs (2) = (sum 
of e to g) 

566.15 363.69 566.15 

Total Capital Expenditure 
(1) + (2) 

5596.34 4785.87 5596.34 

Additional allowance   34.14 - 

Total 5596.23 4820.01 5596.34 

*Out of total project cost of Rs 167 Cr envisaged towards road infrastructure company 
incurred Rs 24.23 Cr till FY2021. GHIAL has decided to defer the expansion of widening 
of main access road to fourth control period and incur the balance capex of Rs 142.77 Cr 
when there is a significant increase in traffic. Hence, GHIAL request the Authority not to 
levy any penalty on account of delay in capitalisation and allow the true up based on 
actuals in the fourth control period. 
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The upfront determination of cost is important to us as the contracts are awarded 
through competitive bids and disallowance of such scale as proposed in the 
Consultation Paper shall make the entire expansion unviable. We request the 
Authority to include the above increased allowance as part of third control period 
tariff. In case Authority is not inclined to consider the above incremental capex of 
Rs 713.55 Cr in the 3rd Control Period ARR, true up of the same based on actual 
capex incurred towards the project should be allowed during 4th control period.  
 
The Authority should appreciate the fact that the contracts are already awarded 
and capital commitments have already been made. GHIAL also has raised 
requisite funding for the same. Hence such significant disallowance shall have 
negative bearing on the cash flows and debt servicing ability as well as may lead 
to a potential rating downgrade thereby increasing the future borrowing cost 
significantly. 
 
 
Interest During Construction:  
 

The Authority noted HIAL’s submission to fund the expansion capital 
expenditure through debt and internal accruals in the ratio of 70:30. 
Considering the revision in the capital expenditure and the Authority’s 
guidelines, the Interest during Construction proposed to be allowed for the 
Third Control Period is as given below; 

 

Particulars – 
Rs. Crs 

Aggregate for second 
control period  

FY22 FY23 FY24 Total 

IDC  39.78 188.42 286.43 165.06 679.68 

 
Our Response:  
 
GHIAL would like to bring to the notice of the Authority that in the given scenario 
GHIAL could able to tie up the debt for the pending debt for the project. GHIAL 
has raised USD 300 million in Feb 2021 (Rupee Equivalent of Rs.2188 crores) to 
achieve financial close of the expansion project. By this GHIAL has secured the 
project cost as fully funded and ensured that there is no financing risk to the 
Airport as well as any inconvenience to the stakeholders. The landed cost of the 
facility including hedging works out to 9.65% p.a. payable semi-annually. GHIAL 
request the Authority to consider the same while computing IDC and cost of Debt. 
 
The arrangement fee for the said bond is Rs. 40.54 Cr which will be amortised 
over bond tenure (as part of project cost till Mar 2023 and thereafter as part of 
P&L till Feb 2026). GHIAL request the Authority to consider the above 
development in CP3 tariff determination exercise. 
 
Further, GHIAL has also observed that amortised bond issue cost pertaining to 
Bond II (USD 300 Mn raised in April 2019), Rs 6.22 Cr and Rs 0.15 Cr has not 
been considered as part of Bank charges in FY24 and FY25 respectively. 
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Amortised Bond Issue Expenses to be included in Bank charges: 
 

Particulars – 
Rs. Crs 

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 Total 

Issue cost- 
Bond II  

   6.22 0.15  

Issue cost- 
Bond III 

   8.13 8.10 6.80 

Total     14.35 8.25 6.80 

 
GHIAL request the Authority to consider the same while calculating the IDC for 
expansion works. 
  
Penalty in case of delayed execution: 
 

6.2.30 The Authority proposes to reduce 1% of the total project cost from 
ARR/Target Revenue as readjustment in case any particular capital project is 
not completed as per the capitalization schedule during the true up of the Third 
Control Period, at the time of determination of tariff for the Fourth Control 
Period. 

 
Our Response: 
 
The investment being regulated in nature, GHIAL is constrained to have recovery 
through alternative means thereby affecting the fair rate of return on equity. 
GHIAL also request the Authority to waive 1% penalty in case of delayed 
execution as GHIAL is passing through extraordinary time due to Covid pandemic 
and already the project team has to face two bouts of waves during the execution. 
 
  

b. General Maintenance Capital Expenditure: 

 

Capital expenditure towards airfield pavement enhancement and 
airfield ground lighting Upgrade 

The Authority noted HIAL’s submission that due to COVID situation, HIAL was 
unable to carry out the stakeholders’ consultation and the same would be 
undertaken by HIAL once the situation improves and social distancing norms 
are relaxed. The Authority would like to mention its dissatisfaction and concern 
over HIAL not carrying out the stakeholders’ consultation. The Authority 
reiterates that the stakeholders’ consultation is of prime importance and the 
same should have been conducted via online mediums and channels. In this 
regard, Authority directs HIAL to conduct the said consultation at the earliest. 

 
Our Response:  
 
We take a note of the Authority’s observation on AUCC process and would like to 
draw attention of the Authority that AUCC for the project is already concluded in 
September 2015 seeking approval for the project wherein it was proposed that 
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the execution would be carried out in 2 phases; between FY 18 to 21 and the 
balance in FY 22 to 24. However, due to inadvertent error in the submission we 
presented that AUCC shall be conducted.   
 
Since GHIAL couldn’t take up the project during FY17-18 due to constraint on 
airside as the traffic growth was significant and decided to have accelerate 
implementation during Covid time when airside intervention would not cause 
serious disruption in ATMs. Hence GHIAL request the Authority to waive the 
stipulation of AUCC for the said project as it is already conducted.  
 
 

Capital expenditure towards general and allied capital works: 

 Under the statutory requirements as per HIAL’s submission, HIAL has 
proposed procurement of body scanners for 36 ATRS lanes at a cost of Rs. 
108 Crores in the Third Control Period for the purpose of building a new 
cargo terminal. It is understood that 36 ATRSs lanes may not be required in 
a cargo terminal and shall be applicable for a passenger terminal.  

 
  Under the statutory requirements as per HIAL’s submission, HIAL has 

proposed drain gratings for covering the open storm water drains at a cost 
of Rs. 30 Crores in the Third Control Period. The Authority is of the view 
that the subject expenditure may not be essential given that it will have 
limited application towards resolution of issues such as water logging and 
blockages. 

 
Our Response: 
 
Body Scanners – GHIAL would like to submit that there was an inadvertent error 
in our submission of body scanners. Instead of cargo terminal, the said scanners 
would be forming part of the terminal to ensure passenger processing. This spent 
is emanating from the statutory requirements (Annexure XII: BCAS CIR,1/2019) 
and hence GHIAL request the Authority to consider the said capex of Rs.108 
crores as per the following phasing; 
 

Particulars  Rationale FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 Classification  

Body 
scanners 
for 36 
ATRS 
lanes 

Required in 
the existing 
terminal for 
passenger 
processing.   

36.00 42.00 15.00 15.00 - Aero 

 
Drain Gratings - With respect to other disallowance of sustaining capex 
estimates, viz., drain gratings for covering the open storm water drains we would 
like to inform that this capex has been envisaged towards ensuring safety of 
Aircraft during the runway excursion and is required to be incurred for providing 
enhanced safety. Hence, GHIAL request the Authority to consider it as part of 
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general and allied capital works in third control period which needs to be carried 
out.  
 

Particulars  Rationale FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 Classification  

Drain 
gratings  

Covering the 
open storm 
water drains 

- - - 15.00 15.00 Aero 

 
 
GHIAL request the Authority, inter alia, to consider the project., viz., study by 
NATS for new runway requirement and airside capacity, AOCC, IMC and SOCC in 
the expanded terminal, widening of the perimeter road and development of GA 
Apron drains, as true-up in case GHIAL has to take up the project due to traffic 
recovery faster than the anticipation.   
 
 

Operating Expenses for the Third Control Period: 

 

The Authority observed that HIAL has calculated % of Aeronautical Assets and 
% of Aeronautical operating expenditure based on the assumptions and 
projections for the Third Control Period. However, the Authority proposes to 
consider % aeronautical opex ratio as 83.06% (average of revised aero opex 
ratio for the Second Control Period as per the independent study) consistently 
throughout the Third Control Period. Similarly, the Authority proposes to 
consider aeronautical asset ratio as 91.32% (average of revised aero asset ratio 
for the Second Control Period as per the independent study) consistently 
throughout the Third Control Period. These ratios are used to allocate common 
operating expenses under various costs heads submitted by HIAL. 

 
Our Response:  
 
It has been observed that the Authority has considered allocation of third control 
period operating expenses based average of YOY ratio for aero assets and aero 
expense based on the outcome of the study. Since, nature of assets that are 
proposed to be added in third control period are primarily aero in nature, GHIAL 
request the Authority to adopt dynamic aero assets and aero opex ratio instead 
of static ratio which is average of revised aero asset and aero opex ratio for the 
second control period as per the independent study 
 
It has been observed that the Authority has allowed only inflationary increase in 
most of the opex item and one time cost for expansion is considered in FY23 and 
FY24. On a broader scale the opex considered for 20.6 million passenger with 
inflation should be given in FY23 despite traffic being in the same range. Hence 
GHIAL request the Authority to revisit the opex as submitted by us while consider 
the following;  
 
Manpower Expenses:  
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GHIAL request the Authority to consider real increase over inflation which is a 
standard industry practice to retain manpower. Further GHIAL request the 
Authority to consider one time increase in manpower count in FY22 and FY23 as 
GHIAL will be rolling out expanded terminal for passenger use and the onboarded 
employees need to be provided necessary training to make them job ready.  
 
The approach of additional manpower requirement linked to traffic is not optimal 
as GHIAL was managing the passengers processing through its existing 
constrained terminal and hence optimized the manpower deployment which shall  
be achieved in expanded terminal over the period in line with passenger growth. 
Since the impact of pandemic is felt in traffic, GHIAL is not proposing any linear 
growth in manpower headcount in line with traffic. Hence GHIAL request the 
Authority to consider the following increase in manpower numbers: 
  

Particulars (Nos.) FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 

Manpower Growth– As 
per MYTP  

16.5% 29% 7%   

Manpower Growth– 
Revised   

 16.5% 29% 7%  

 
General Admin:  
Legal Cost – GHIAL in it’s ordinary course of business come across disputes with 
customers, supplies, regulatory bodies etc. which requires legal settlement to 
ensure continuity of the organization. Organizations don’t incur legal expenses 
out of own volition, the situation compels it to incur in order to ensure the very 
existence of it. Given the said purpose of incurrence of legal cost, in our MYTP 
filing we considered legal cost as common cost and there is no departure in our 
submission from the previous control period wherein the Authority approved legal 
expenses as common cost.  
 
Authority at its para 7.2.10 has stated following: 
 

The Authority noted that as per HIAL’s submission legal is a support 
function and accordingly HIAL has allocated most of the legal cost as 
common cost. The Authority proposes that legal cost pertaining to 
aeronautical activities should only be allowed as part of the tariff 
determination exercise hence in absence of detailed bifurcation of legal 
cost by HIAL into aero and non-aero, the Authority proposes to project the 
legal costs for the Third Control Period allocated between aero and non-
aero in the ratio of 50:50. 

 
Authority’s observation is incorrect. As desired by Authority we have provided a 
detailed list of expenses incurred towards legal fees along with the rationale for 
the 2nd control period. Most of the legal expenses were incurred towards ensuring 
continuity of airport business. The independent study has also concluded the 
allocation of legal expense as common for second control period. The cost for CP3 
is simply a projection GHIAL is unable to understand the rationale for bifurcation 
by the Authority in case of projections. Hence GHIAL request the Authority to 
treat legal expenses as common for the purpose of CP3 projection, this treatment 
will be consistent to the outcome of independent study.   
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Community Development and Donations:  
Based on the pronouncement of TDSAT Order and as explained in the preceding 
section of the submission, it can be inferred that the intent of the order is to 
preserve the fair rate of return on equity to airport operator which has been 
affected due to a statutory levy. Since in our case CSR is allowed on aeronautical 
profit only and as there is no aero profit as per regulatory determination, GHIAL 
is unable to recover the amount spent on CSR thereby affecting our equity return 
negatively.  
 
Hence GHIAL request the Authority to either treat this as aeronautical opex fully 
or the unabsorbed CSR should be deducted from non-aeronautical revenue and 
cross subsidization shall be allowed on the balance amount. This will comply with 
the spirit of the TDSAT judgement.  
 
Bank Charges:  
GHIAL request the Authority to consider the historical trend of receivables in our 
books which is as under:  
 

Particulars -Rs. Crs FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 

Receivables  108.43 120.37 153.65 214.47 213.25 

Revenue from 
Operations  

1195.9 1331.5 1549.8 1611.1 546.76 

Receivables Turnover 
(no. of month) 

    1.09      1.08      1.19      1.60      4.68  

 
Given the historical trend of receivables, it is requested to increase the period 
from 0.5 months to 1.5 month for projecting working capital requirement for the 
third control period. 
 
It may be noted that the processing fee and the cost related to issuance of debt 
is required to be charged off to P&L over the tenor of the facility. The Debt which 
GHIAL has raised to fund its expansion, the cost related thereto has been charged 
off in line with accounting treatment. Otherwise, this would have been forming 
part of IDC/preliminaries. Hence we request the Authority to allow bank charges 
considered by GHIAL due to amortization of processing fee and onetime cost 
related to expansion debt in FY24-FY26.  
 

Particulars  -Rs. Crs. FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 

Amortization of Bond 
Issue Expenses – Bond 
II + Bond III 

  
 14.35   8.25   6.80  

 
GHIAL also request the Authority to true-up bank charges based on actuals at the 
end of the Third Control Period. 
 
True up in 4th Control Period: 
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GHIAL request the Authority to consider true-up of operating expenses based on 
actuals in the 4th control period  
 

Non-Aeronautical Revenues for the Third Control Period: 

 

The Authority has linked passenger growth rates as well as the ATM growth 
rates as revised in view of the current macro-economic scenario and overall 
slowdown in the aviation industry. These growth rates are used as modified 
growth drivers for the purpose of projecting the individual nonaeronautical 
revenue stream.  

 
Our Response:  
 
Without prejudice to our rights of CGF being non-aeronautical, GHIAL for the 
limited purpose of submissions of consultation paper, aligned the treatment of 
CGF as per the Authority.  
 

It has been observed that the Authority has considered the following growth rates 
in FY22;  
 

Particulars  FY22 

Growth in Domestic pax 66.10% 

Growth in International pax 234.59% 

ATM Growth 43.57% 

 
We would request the Authority to consider the most likely traffic for FY22 as 
explained in the preceding section (total traffic of 10.22 mn., domestic being 9.48 
mn. and international at 0.75mn.) and impact of the reduced traffic be suitably 
adjusted for projections of non-aero revenues.  
 

Interest Income:  

 

The dividends and other non-operating income have been forecasted at the 
levels of FY20 for the remaining periods and shall be trued up as per actuals. 

Particulars - Rs. 
Crs. 

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 Total 

Interest & Dividend 
from Duty Free 
Subsidiary  

134.55 
 

134.55 
 

134.55 
 

134.55 
 

134.55 
 

672.73 

 

 
 
Our Response:  
 
It has been observed that the Authority has extrapolated Interest Income earned 
by GHIAL in FY21 in the third control period.  
 
GHIAL would like to submit that in our second control period interest income was 
outside Till primarily for the fact that such income is generated out of the liquidity 
which is retained in the business to ensure sustainability of the business and 
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address the infrastructure development requirements of the airport. Had the 
entire profit been dividend out to shareholders, GHIAL would not have earned 
interest income, however, it would make the organization vulnerable to external 
shocks, e.g., we are able to address the COVID related challenges and operational 
losses due to liquidity retained in the business and funding of expansion at 70:30 
Debt equity ratio was not feasible. Please refer section II- Guiding Principles of 
Tariff Determination for the detailed rationale for exclusion of interest and 
dividend income out of regulatory purview. 
 
The interest income considered by the Authority in third control period by 
extrapolating FY21 interest income is not proper as GHIAL started accumulating 
internal accrual to fund the expansion program at an optimal debt equity ratio. 
The surplus that the business generated during the intervening period gets 
deployed in the treasury instrument pending deployment to the project. Based on 
our current pace of airport execution, the entire cash would gradually be depleting 
and be exhausted by FY24.   
 
Hence the Authority should encourage the airport operators to retain cash in the 
business to ensure continuity of operations and meet all the infrastructure needs 
of the airport and should not disincentivize by cross subsidizing 30% of the 
income.   
 
The cash generation ability of GHIAL is not as significant that it would generate 
annual interest income of Rs.135 crores. Further, if the traffic for FY22 is 
considered at 10mn. instead of the Authority proposed 14 mn., the cashflow 
would look further depressed. 
 
Further, we would like to submit that GHIAL was able to earn interest income in 
FY19-21 as it had built internal accrual to fund the project in the optimal Debt 
Equity ratio. The internal accrual pending deployment to the project was parked 
in instruments so that it earns returns. However, the expansion project being on 
stream, GHIAL would not have liquidity to earn interest income of the magnitude 
as considered. Further an amount of Rs. 29.75 crores was clubbed under interest 
income which is penal interest that Air India agrees to pay and this is “one time” 
in nature.   
 
Given the above, GHIAL request the Authority not to consider interest income 
during third control period for the purpose of cross subsidization.  
 
    

Income from Real Estate Development: 

 

The Authority also proposes to treat revenue from real estate development as 
non-aeronautical in nature.  

 
Our Response:  
 
GHIAL would like to draw the attention of the Authority on our submissions in 
section II- Guiding Principles of Tariff Determination with respect to treatment of 



   

Response to AERA Cons. Paper No. 11/2021-22          Page 70      GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited  

real estate income. Income from real estate development as per our Concession 
Agreement is non-airport activity and hence should be outside Till. 
 
AG of India also opined that “………what is outside the precincts should not be in 
the jurisdiction of AERA.” Hence GHIAL request the Authority to consider income 
from Real Estate Development as outside Till.  
 
Hence GHIAL request the Authority to kindly consider revenue from real estate 
outside regulatory purview. 
 

Taxation for the Third Control Period: 

 
It has been observed that the Authority has computed Aeronautical P&L without 
considering cross subsidization of non-aero Revenue. This approach defeats the 
very purpose of Regulation wherein the economic and viable operations of the 
airport is enshrined.  
 
As per the Consultation Paper of the Authority, the Aeronautical PBT for the 
control period minus 106.15 crores which sums up the fact that the airport 
operator despite having invested so heavily in the regulated business failed to 
earn minimum return and for survival it has sole reliance on non-aeronautical 
revenue.  
 
Further, tax payable based on the aeronautical taxable income computed as per 
the normal provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961 should be considered as pass 
through tax in place of allocation of actual MAT paid by the company under the 
benefits claimed as per Sec 80IA of the Income Tax Act. 
     
Hence, we request the authority to consider 30% of non-aeronautical revenues 
for drawing of aeronautical P&L and calculate the eligible aero tax as per the 
normal tax provisions (instead of absorbing the benefits of 80IA) to protect Fair 
Rate of Return on Equity 
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VI. DISCOUNTING FACTOR 

 
GHIAL would also request the Authority to have a revisit of the discounting rate 
applied in the calculation to arrive at present value of ARR as well as the 
computing rate applied in the calculation to arrive at present value of true-ups.  
   
In this regard, GHIAL propose the following for consideration of the Authority: 
 

1. It is proposed that the cash flows should be assumed to be available at the 

mid of the respective years as it is closer to the reality that the cash flows 

of a firm are distributed evenly throughout the year. The authority has 

followed this approach for the true-up of 1st CP and Pre-CP (01.09.2009 

to 31.03.2011) values in the second control period tariff order. The 

Authority has assumed mid-year discounting also for the true-up of CSR.  

 

However, the same approach is not applied on the cash flows pertaining 

to true-up of PCPE, true-up for 2nd CP and while discounting the Revenue 

requirement for the 3rd CP. It is requested that the mid-year assumption 

be applied to all the cash streams for logical appropriateness and 

consistency. 

  
2. The discount rates for the calculation of discounting factors have to 

correspond to the period through which the discounting is being 

performed. While the authority has adhered to this philosophy in general, 

the following deviations have been observed;  

  

a. The true-up value for the 1st CP and for pre-CP calculated in the 

2nd CP tariff order considered the discounting rate of 10.10% for a 

period corresponding to CP2 from 31st March 2016 to 1st January 

2018. While discounting at 10.10% was appropriate for the period 

until 31st March 2016, the discount rate of 10.84% should be 

applied for the period corresponding to 2nd CP. 

 

b. While discounting the values till 31st March 2022, the authority has 

applied the 2nd CP rate of 10.84% for the period from 31st March 

2021 to 31st March 2022. Since the period corresponds to 3rd CP it 

is proposed that the rate of 12.12% be applied while discounting for 

the period. 

 

3. It is also proposed that the PV of all the cash flows be assumed till 1st 

October 2021 as the effective implementation date of new tariff. 

 
Hence, we request the Authority to consider discounting factor basis mid of the 
respective year throughout the control periods.  
  



   

Response to AERA Cons. Paper No. 11/2021-22          Page 72      GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited  

 
Conclusion on CP: 
 

GHIAL request the Authority to consider the representations made in the 
preceding section of the submission based on the guiding principles while 
determining the aeronautical charges for 3rd control period.  
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Section 1 

COST OF EQUITY FOR RGIA, HYDERABAD 

1.1 INTRODUCTION 

Although there are, in principle, a number of methods for estimating the cost of capital 
including the dividend growth model, and Fama French and other capital arbitrage 
based methodologies, by far the dominant approach to setting the cost of capital is the 
Capital Asset pricing Model (or CAPM).  This assesses the cost of systematic or non-
diversifiable risk associated with equity by a simple formula:- 

 

re = rfr + (1+�) X Mrp 
 

where 

 

• re is the cost of equity 

• rfr is a notional rate of interest for a ‘risk free’ asset - conventionally taken as 
the interest rate on Government debt 

• � is a measure of systematic risk – the covariance between the movements of a 
quoted share equivalent to the company concerned and the stock market 

• Mrp is the market risk premium – the average difference between returns on 
the (risky) market as a whole and the risk free rate. 

It should be noted that this considers only market risk - on the grounds that any specific 
risk should be capable of being diversified away through portfolio management.  In 
principle this means that any cash flows should be a weighted average of a range of 
scenarios which encompass the risks faced by the company as a whole – including 
disaster scenarios.  If a single forecast is used then there is a strong argument for 
making risk adjustments either through the cash flows or – as would be done 
commercially - through the cost of capital (or both) to reflect the specific risks that 
would otherwise not be dealt with.  

 

Regulators in the UK, for example, tend to adopt ad hoc approaches, based on using 
cash flows which are relatively conservative and using costs of capital towards the top 
of the range to allow for this problem. 
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1.1 Components of CAPM 

1.1.1 Risk Free Rate 

This CAPM formula assumes that there is an underling long term risk free rate of debt – 
normally regarded as that of Government gilt edged securities - which reflects the real 
long term preferences of savers.  The nominal risk free debt rate incorporates the effects 
of inflation which will vary over time.  The equivalent real rate can be calculated 
through the Fisher formula as: 
 

rfr real = (1 + rfr nominal) / (1+ i) – 1 

 

1.1.2 Market Risk Premium (MRP) 

Although straightforward in principle, this has been subject to significant debate and a 
wide range of figures is potentially possible in any given estimation.   
 
The Mrp is defined above as the average difference between returns on the (risky) 
market as a whole and the risk free rate.  For forward looking cost of capital 
determinations, this should reflect the reasonable expectations of shareholders – i.e. the 
anticipations that have led them to accept the higher risk of investing in equity - rather 
than necessarily the out-turn in the immediate past.   
 
In practice equity returns are, of course volatile, meaning that these reasonable 
expectations should be based on average performance over a substantial period.  In the 
case of India this should at least at least cover the period of financial liberalisation in 
1991.  In other countries averages over substantially longer periods have been taken into 
account. 
 
There has been a substantial academic debate over whether arithmetic or geometric 
averages should be used.  If returns in each year are regarded as entirely independent, 
and certain other conditions are met, it can be shown that an arithmetic average is 
appropriate.  If other assumptions are met estimates closer to geometric assumptions 
may be preferred.  It should be noted that Mr Doug Andrew the former Director of 
Economic Regulation for UK CAA in a recent conference in India strongly supported an 
arithmetic average approach. 
 
Whatever methodology is used to determine the Mrp, it should, of course be consistent 
with any estimates made of the rfr. 
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1.1.3 Debt / Equity Ratio 

Although only the cost of equity is estimated in this paper, the Debt/Equity ratio plays 
an important role in determining the equity beta. 
 
In principle the debt and equity in CAPM calculations (and cost of capital calculations 
in general) should be based on market value.  However in many applications the 
accounting values are used, either in the interests of simplicity and stability, or because 
there are no direct ways of ascertaining the values of the debt or equity concerned – 
especially for forward looking estimates. For a company such as Hyderabad 
International Airport Limited, which is not quoted, and for which valuations are 
inevitably contentious, it is these accounting values which will need to be applied. 

 

1.1.4 Beta 

For a quoted airport, the beta is the covariance of movements of the company share 
price with movements in a suitable market index over a substantial period.  Put more 
simply, it is the average ratio between in the market over a period and movements of 
the stock involved. In current circumstances there may well be some problems in 
estimating this, since any figures during the credit crunch and the following financial 
disturbances are likely to be unstable and not representative of the likely position going 
forward.  Averages over a significant period, are likely to be better estimators.    
 
Although it is possible to use betas determined daily these are likely to be unstable and 
distorted for shares which are not heavily traded, and regulators have tended to make 
use of weekly or monthly betas over a substantial (five year) period.  
 
Where a company is not traded, regulators have typically used comparable traded 
companies as a benchmark, making adjustments where necessary for known 
differences.  Experience elsewhere has suggested that the best indicator for airports is 
other traded airports internationally.  While some parties have suggested use of 
utilities, in practice their risk characteristics tend to be far lower than those of airports, 
and as a result the betas of quoted airport companies tend to be far higher than those of 
utilities in the same countries when like for like comparisons are made.  Amongst the 
differences which have been noted are:- 

 

• The less strong relationship with the economy as a whole – utilities, such as 
water, tend to be regarded as essentials, while air travel is primarily 
discretionary and therefore tends to be far more vulnerable to economic 
changes 

• The lack of dependence, by utilities on income from areas such as retail, which 
clearly have higher underlying betas than utilities; 
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• The lower vulnerability of utilities to collapse or inability (or simply refusal) to 
pay by key customers responsible for a very large proportion of their overall 
output. 

Any comparison between airports will be made more complicated by the different 
financial structures of the companies concerned.  As a result benchmarking exercises 
normally attempt to put betas onto a standardised footing where the company is 
assumed to be all equity financed.  These standardised betas are known as asset betas 
and are taken to represent the underlying risk of the asset itself prior to any financing 
structures.  Once an appropriate asset beta for the operation concerned has been 
established, this is then converted back to an estimated company beta by re-adjusting 
for the effects of financial gearing. 
 
The process concerned is known as de-levering and re-levering the beta.  There are a 
number of formulae for this depending on assumptions made about the forward 
looking financial structure.  A standard approach is to use the Miller formula, which is 
applicable in conditions where the debt remains constant. 

 

Βe = βa X (1+D/E) 

where  

• βe is the equity beta; and 

• βa is the asset beta  

 

It should be noted that this formula follows the standard approach of assuming the 
underlying beta of debt is insignificant.  It is possible to extend the formula to include 
specific debt betas though these are very difficult (if not impossible) to measure under 
normal circumstances and have relatively little impact on the final result in most 
applications (though it will affect interim calculations of asset betas). 
 
Where betas are estimated from comparable airport shares, the resulting beta will 
strictly speaking apply to the whole airport company - rather than to aeronautical 
activities in isolation.  In some applications, attempts have been made to isolate the 
aeronautical components by treating the overall beta as a weighted average of activities 
comprising the aeronautical activities themselves together with a basket of companies 
which together represent non-aeronautical activities including retail companies (which 
typically have a high beta) and property investment companies (which have lower betas 
than airports).  The results of these approaches have, in our experience, proved 
inconclusive and contentious, and for present purposes we have assumed that the 
airport company betas are broadly representative of the airport’s aeronautical activities.    

 



 

Cost of Equity      Page 5              STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL 

Hyderabad International Airport Limited  

1.2  Values of Cost of Equity Parameters 

1.2.1 Risk Free Rate 

Calculating the risk free rate over a significant period in India is complicated by the fact 
that up to the early 1990’s interest rates on India were repressed by strict government 
controls over the economy.  Varma and Barua in their paper ‘A First Cut Estimate of the 
Equity Risk Premium in India’ have, however estimated an underlying risk free rate for 
India over the 25 years from 1980 to 2005.  They split this period into the period up to 
the onset of major economic reforms in 1991, and the period subsequent to those 
reforms from 1991 – 2005.  Up to 1991 the estimate incorporates substantial adjustments 
to the one year bank deposit rate to allow for, what they describe as ‘interest rate 
repression’ : beyond 1991 the estimates is based primarily on direct evidence from 364 
day treasury bills (allowance is made for a transition period leading up to 1995).   Since 
Varma and Barua’s prime intention s to deal with the risk premium (see later) they are 
content to show the risk free rate figures in nominal terms.   

Exhibit 1 below shows their results together with inflation over the same period, and 
the implications for the real risk free rate.  All series are shown in arithmetic and 
geometric terms.  

EXHIBIT 1 
RISK FREE RATE ACROSS INDIA SINCE 1981 

  Arithmetic Geometric 

  

Risk 
Free 
Rate Inflation 

Real 
Risk 
Free 

Risk 
Free 
Rate Inflation 

Real 
Risk 
Free 

1981-
1991 12.0% 9.0% 2.8% 12.0% 8.9% 2.8% 
1991-
2005 9.5% 6.9% 2.4% 9.5% 6.8% 2.5% 
Whole 
Period 10.6% 7.8% 2.6% 10.5% 7.7% 2.6% 

 

The figure of 2.6% is numerically consistent with the 2.5% recommended for UK 
regulators in a major study by Smithers & Co and also used by the Irish regulator for 
the Dublin determination.  We would have expected a higher rate to apply in the Indian 
context, and it is likely that the use of 1 year bills in India rather than 10 year bonds 
(which is standard in the UK) has depressed the risk free rate for this purpose (long 
bonds typically have a higher inflation and other risks leading to a premium which 
amounts to 0.5 to 1% for UK and US bonds).  We have, however, left the real risk free 
rate unchanged so that it is consistent with the estimate used later for the equity risk 
premium, derived from the same source. 
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1.2.2 Debt / Equity Ratio 

The airport financing structure for Hyderabad is made more complex by the presence of 
Government grants and an interest free loan from the state Government (which is to be 
paid off between 15 and 20 years after the opening of the airport). The grant is non 
refundable and is in the nature of equity. The interest free loan is subordinated to term 
debt and is in the nature of quasi-equity. 

The long term lenders of Hyderabad Airport have treated both of these as quasi-equity 
and this treatment has been followed here, resulting in a debt equity ratio of 2.65 as 
shown in Exhibit 2 below. 

 
EXHIBIT 2 

HIAL DEBT / EQUITY RATIO 
 

  INR Crs 

Equity 378
Interest Free Loan from GoAP 315
Advanced Development Fund 
Grant 107
Total Equity 800
    
Term Loan 2005 960
Term Loan 2007 718
Additional Term Loan required 442
Total Debt 2120
    
Debt/Equity 2.65

 

Infrastructure projects are typically financed with high gearing and debt:equity 
exceeding 70:30. Such debt heavy structures will inevitably tend to have high costs of 
equity (as the debt level rises, the costs of both debt and equity rise commensurately). 
For comparison purposes, therefore, we have also derived a cost of equity with a more 
typical long term gearing for a mature airport. 

In this case we have taken a financial structure of 50% debt 50% equity throughout the 
period, which we have assumed will be consistent with investment grade debt over the 
long term.  
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1.2.3 Beta 

Beta has been estimated for airports in a range in a range of regulatory and other 
applications.  Beta evidence has been used in three major determinations at Dublin, 
Copenhagen, and Stansted. Evidence on quoted airport betas derived from submissions 
to the Dublin process is shown below in Exhibit 3. 

EXHIBIT 3 
BETA VALUES AT AIRPORTS ACROSS THE WORLD 

 

  Daily       Monthly     

  
Last 6 
months 

Last 
year 

Last 2 
Yeats 

Last 5 
Years 

Last 
Year 

Last 2 
Years 

Last 5 
years 

Vienna 0.52 0.57 0.58 0.64 0.58 0.6 0.69
Frankfurt 0.52 0.57 0.63 0.67 0.66 0.69 0.72
Copenhagen 0.35 0.38 0.41 0.4 0.49 0.46 0.43
Paris 0.75 0.76 0.76 0.72 0.74 0.76 0.73
Venice 0.41 0.45 0.35 0.48 0.54 0.53 0.56
Florence Airport 0.43 0.42 0.42 0.46 0.44 0.45 0.48
Auckland 0.76 0.77 0.87 0.86 0.83 0.86 0.85
Ljubljana 1.16 1.16 1.09 1.07 1.17 1.11 1.07
Zurich 0.36 0.38 0.4 0.32 0.44 0.44 0.36
Mexico (Aeroportuario del 
Pacifico) 0.67 0.7 0.73 0.72 0.75 0.79 0.81
Mexico (Aeroportuario del 
Sureste) 0.68 0.69 0.67 0.65 0.56 0.61 0.63
Average 0.60 0.62 0.63 0.64 0.65 0.66 0.67

 

 

Taken together this gives a range for ‘typical’ airport betas of between 0.60 and 0.67.  
Even if Ljubljana is excluded (as an outlier) the range would be 0.55 to 0.63.  These 
figures are consistent with the Copenhagen regulator’s estimate of 0.63 as an average 
beta for airports aeronautical activities in isolation derived from a sample of 7 
comparator airports (including Thailand and Malaysia) and the Dublin Airports 
decision to use 0.61.  

BAA’s regulator has gone beyond this to establish a representative range for airports 
though this uses a different methodology applying a debt beta as well as an equity beta 
with the result that asset beta numbers are not directly comparable.  The resulting 
diagram, therefore, is shown below in differential form in Exhibit 4 (to avoid confusion 
arising from incompatible estimation methodologies). 
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EXHIBIT 4  
UK COMPETITION COMMISSION RELATIVE BENCHMARKS FOR AIRPORT BETAS  

(FROM LONDON STANSTED AIRPORT PRICING REVIEW) 
 

 
Source: UK Competition Commission and Civil Aviation Authority 
 
Exhibit 5 outlines the relative systematic risk (relevant to beta) of Hyderabad compared 
with major airports in general. 

Between them, these factors would suggest a beta at the upper end of the scale.  The 
regulators in the UK applied a premium of 0.17 for Stansted, where growth has now 
begun to mature.  We would believe that Hyderabad, at this stage in its development is 
significantly more risky than Stansted. However for present purposes we have used a 
relatively modest premium to the airport range of 0.60-0.67 to arrive at an initial beta of 
0.75.  

Risk Spectrum
(Asset Beta) 

Heathrow  
+0.03 

Gatwick 
+0.08 

Stansted/ 
Rest of BAA 
+0.17 

     Utilities  
 -.14 to +0.01 

International 
Airports  
(Base) 

Market 
+0.28 

Airlines  
+0.56 
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EXHIBIT 5  

RELATIVE SYSTEMIC RISK (TO BETA) OF HIAL COMPARED TO OTHER MAJOR AIRPORTS 
 

Source of Risk Relative Risk Faced 
by Hyderabad 
compared to Typical 
Airport 

Comment

Traffic Risk High Traffic growth crucially dependent on 
rapid recovery and subsequent 
growth of the Indian economy 

Domestic Exposure High Hyderabad has a high proportion of 
domestic traffic which is fully exposed 
to the national economy 

Low Cost Airlines Medium Hyderabad will have a limited 
proportion of low cost traffic.  
Although leisure traffic is sensitive to 
the economy, low cost airlines have 
shown themselves better able to deal 
with cyclical risk than full fare 
operators   

Non-aeronautical business Low/Medium Low level of aeronautical business 
means that growth risks are not 
diversified 

Capital Cycle Risk High Major capital expenditure in 
anticipation of  traffic growth. No 
opportunities for lower risk 
incremental growth. 

Proportion of Fixed Costs High Partly as a result of the capital cycle, 
and the limited activities undertaken, 
very large elements of Hyderabad’s 
costs are fixed further leveraging 
exposure to economic growth 

Political Risk High The current issue of split of the state, 
if it materialises,  may potentially 
impact  traffic and the growth of 
revenues. 

 

1.2.4 Equity Risk Premium 

Consistent with our use of a relatively low risk free rate of 2.6% derived from Varma 
and Barua, we have adopted the equity risk premium figures from the same source 
shown in Exhibit 6.  This gives an estimate of the risk premium of between 8.75 and 
12.51%. 

These estimates are high compared with typical risk premia from other sources 
covering developed countries.  However the results are supported by, for example 
Mehra, who reports a risk premium between 1991 and 2004 of 9.7%.  Mehra also gives 
figures for developed countries shown in Exhibit 7. 



 

Cost of Equity      Page 10              STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL 

Hyderabad International Airport Limited  

 
EXHIBIT 6 

MARKET RISK PREMIUMS FOR EQUITY 
  Arithmetic Geometric 

  
Equity 
returns 

Risk 
Free 
Rate 

Market 
Risk 
Premium 

Equity 
returns 

Risk 
Free 
Rate 

Market 
Risk 
Premium 

1981-
1991 23.2% 12.0% 11.2% 21.00% 12.0% 9.0% 
1991-
2005 23.0% 9.5% 13.5% 18.10% 9.5% 8.6% 
Whole 
Period 23.1% 10.6% 12.5% 19.30% 10.5% 8.8% 

 

EXHIBIT 7 
EQUITY RISK PREMIA FOR DEVELOPED COUNTRIES 

Country Period
Risk 

Premium

United Kingdom 1947-1999 4.60%
Japan 1970-1999 3.30%
Germany 1978-1997 6.60%
France 1973-1998 6.30%
Sweden 1919-2003 5.50%
US 1889-2004 6.50%
Australia 1900-2000 8.70%

 

Amongst the reasons for a high equity risk premium than is some other regulatory 
determinations are:- 

• Use of bills rather than bonds 

• Under-estimate of forward looking risk free rate expected by investors having 
taken into appropriate Indian Government credit ratings 

• Intrinsic risks of investing in a high growth developing country rather than a 
relatively low growth and mature developed country. 

• The relatively high and continuing level of inflation 

Whilst the risk premiums estimates for India given are relatively high we have accepted 
them for current purposes as being consistent with the relatively low risk free rate 
applied.    

As noted before academic research has generally supported the use of the arithmetic 
risk premium as the best unbiased estimate of the risk premium going forward, though 
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there is also evidence suggesting that in certain circumstances this could be an 
overestimate.  We have assumed an estimate of 11% which is significantly below the 
upper end of the scale. 

1.2.5 Resulting Cost of Equity 

The final cost of equity derived from these calculations is shown in Exhibit 8. 

EXHIBIT 8 
HIAL COST OF EQUITY 

Component   
Current D/E
Value 

Standardised 
D/E Value 

Inflation I 5% 5% 
Real risk free rate  2.60% 2.60% 
Nominal Risk Free RFr 7.7% 7.7% 
D/E  265% 100% 
Asset beta Ba 0.75 0.75 
Equity beta Be 2.74 1.5 
Market risk premium Mrp 11% 11% 
Post tax cost of 
equity  37.8% 24.2% 

 

As can be seen, the choice of debt equity ratio has a major effect on the cost of equity. In 
a WACC calculation this would be largely counteracted by the level of debt in the final 
calculation, with the final overall costs of capital being very close. 

We have also considered the sensitivity of the outcome to different estimates of 
individual components.  The results are shown in Exhibit 9. 

EXHIBIT 9 
FINAL COST OF EQUITY FOR HIAL 

 

 
Element New Value 

Impact on 
Development 

D/E 

Impact on 
Standardised

D/E Comment 

Lower market risk 
premium 9% -5.4% -3.0% 

Lower end of Varma and Barua 
range 

Lower equity beta 0.6 -6.0% 
 

-3.3% Airport average 

Lower risk free rate 2% -0.6% 
 

-0.6% 
Lower level used in some UK 
regulation 

Lower market 
premium, higher risk 
free rate 

9% Mrp,4.6% 
real risk free 

rate -3.3% 

 
 

-0.9% 

Lower risk premium with 
compensating higher risk free 
rate 
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Overall we would recommend the use of a base cost of equity 38% with the 
development capital structure and 24% if a standardised debt: equity structure is 
applied.   

The actual cost of equity appropriate individual project (as distinct from the ‘airport as 
a whole’ rate relevant to regulation) may however depend on the specific application 
being considered, with higher rates applicable for projects with higher risk than the 
airport as a whole, and lower rates being applicable for projects where the cash flows 
are more stable. 
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No.AV.24032/037/2011-AD
 
Government of India
 

Ministry of Civil Aviation
 
-X-·)l--l(· _x, -)l­

B-Block, Rajiv Gandhi Bhavan, 
New Delhi-ll0003 

12 th March, 2012 

The Chairman, 
Airports Economic Regulatory Authority,
 
AERA Building,
 
Safdarjung Airport,
 
New Delhi
 

Sub: Regulatory Approach on Fair Rate of Return on Equity (RoE) - reg. 

Sir, 

I am directed to refer to your D.O. letter No. AERA/35090/PMO REF/2009­
10 dated 08.09.2011 on the above subject and to say that Airports Authority of India 
got a study conducted through a Financial Advisor namely M/s SBI Capital Markets 
Ltd. (SBI CAPS). The Financial Advisor has since submitted its report and has 
opined that a return on the Equity in the range of 18.5% to 20.5% would be 
reasonable for airport sector in India. A copy of the report of the Financial Advisor is 
enclosed. 

':1- . On the Quasi Equity for the airport sector, the study has concluded that the 
rate of return would depend on the type and features of the instrument being used 

-for such form of finance. The report further states that in case of Quasi Equity, the 
risk/return profile lies above that of debt and below that of Equity. 

3. The report of the Financial Advisor may kindly be consideredm taking 
decision in this regard. 

4. This has the approval of the Hon'ble Minister of Civil Aviation. 

(m and) 
Under Secretary to the Govt. of India 

Ph.01l-24640214, 01l-24610542(Fax) 
Encl: as above 
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NOTICE TO THE MEMBERS OF THE 
FIFTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE COMPANY 

ORDINARY BUSINESS

SPECIAL BUSINESS

Notice is hereby given that the Fifth Annual General Meeting of the Members of GMR 
Hyderabad International Airport Limited will be held on Friday, the 27th June, 2008 at  12.00 
Noon at the Registered Office of the Company at 8-2-120/112/88 & 89, III Floor, Aparna Crest 
Road No 2, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad 500 034 to transact the following business.

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Profit and Loss Account for the period March 23, 2008 to 
March 31, 2008, the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 together with Annexures thereto for 
the period ended on that date, and the reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

2. To appoint a Director in place of Mr. P Ramakanth Reddy, who retires by rotation and, being 
eligible, offers himself for reappointment.

3. To appoint a Director in place of Mr. R S S L N Bhaskarudu, Director, who retires by rotation 
and, being eligible, offers himself for reappointment. 

4. To appoint a Director in place of Mr. Srinivas Bommidala, Director, who retires by rotation and, 
being eligible, offers himself for reappointment. 

5. To appoint M/s Price Waterhouse, Chartered Accountants, Hyderabad, as the Statutory 
Auditors of the Company to hold office from the conclusion of this meeting until the conclusion 
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company and to authorize the Board to fix their 
remuneration and pass the following resolution as a Special Resolution; 

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Section 224A of the Companies Act, 1956, if applicable, M/s 
Price Waterhouse, Chartered Accountants, Hyderabad, be and are hereby appointed as 
Statutory Auditors of the Company for the financial year 2008-09 from the conclusion of this 
Annual General Meeting till the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting on such 
remuneration as may be determined by the Board of Directors.” 

6. To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an  ordinary Resolution;

“RESOLVED THAT Ms. Anna Roy, be and is hereby appointed as a Director, subject to 
retirement by rotation.”
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Board of Directors

CFO & Company Secretary

Auditors 

Lending Banks & Financial Institutions

Mr. G.M. Rao, Chairman 

Mr. Kiran Kumar Grandhi, Managing Director 

Mr. B.V. Nageswara Rao

Mr. Srinivas Bommidala 

Dato' Bashir Ahmad bin Abdul Majid 

Mr. K. Balasubramanian

Mr. P. Ramakanth Reddy, IAS

Mr. T. Chatterjee, IAS

Mr. V. P. Agrawal

Ms. Anna Roy

Prof. Rigas Doganis 

Mr. R.S.S.L.N. Bhaskarudu

 Mr. T.S. Appa Rao, IAS
(alternate to Mr. P. Ramakanth Reddy, IAS)

 Mr. K. Brahmananda Reddy, IRAS
(alternate to Mr. T. Chatterjee, IAS)

Dato’ Abd. Hamid bin Mohd Ali
(alternate to Dato' Bashir Ahmad bin Abdul Majid)

Mr. G. B. S. Raju
(alternate to Prof. Rigas Doganis)

Mr. Rajgopal Swami

M/s Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants
#8-2-293/82/A/1131A

Road No.36, Jubilee Hills
Hyderabad – 500 034

Abu Dhabi Commercial Bank
Allahabad Bank
Andhra Bank

Bank of Baroda
Canara Bank
IDBI Bank Ltd

Infrastructure Development Finance Company Ltd.
Oriental Bank of Commerce
State Bank of Hyderabad

Vijaya Bank

Registered Office: 

#8-2-120/112/88 & 89, III Floor, Aparna Crest, Banjara Hills

Road No.2, Hyderabad – 500 034

Airport Office: 

Shamshabad, Ranga Reddy District, Andhra Pradesh, India – 501 218

By Order Of the Board
  

 Sd/-
Rajgopal Swami

Chief Financial Officer &
Company Secretary

Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS’ FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2008

Snapshot of activities for 2007-08

The financial year 2007-08 saw the following major activities  

The First Six Weeks of Commercial Operations 

To, 
The Members, 
GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the Fifth Annual Report and the Audited Accounts for the 
year ended March 31, 2008, together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. The company has drawn up 
its first Profit & Loss Account for a nine day period from March 23, 2008 to March 31, 2008. 

The year 2007 – 08 has been momentous for your company with the inauguration of the Rajiv 
Gandhi International Airport (RGIA) and commencement of commercial operations. 

- Company commenced commercial operations on the 23rd March 2008, less than three 
years from the foundation stone laying.

- Company received formal notification from the Ministry of Civil Aviation on March 20, 
2008 to commence operations from the 23rd March. 

- two “proving flights” of Jet Airways and Kingfisher touched down on the 12th February 2008

- The Cargo complex set up by the company in joint venture with Menzies Aviation has also 
started commercial operations simultaneously on the 23rd March 2008 

- Your company has implemented SAP and during December 2007, SAP went live at your company. 

- Concessions to provide ground handling services were granted to Menzies Aviation - 
Bobba joint venture and Indian & AI – SATS Consortium

- Tenaga Parking India Pvt. Ltd was awarded the contract for managing the Car Park at the RGIA

- Your company has signed an agreement with Routes Development Group for hosting 
Routes Regional Asia 2009 networking event at Hyderabad

The Rajiv Gandhi International Airport (RGIA) was inaugurated on the 14th March 2008 by Smt. 
Sonia Gandhi, Chairperson of the UPA.  

Between the first concrete pour on 10th October, 2005 to the Airport Launch on the 14th March 
2008, RGIA has been built to handle 12 mppa in a remarkably short period of less than three years.

The airport commenced operations on the 23rd March 2008 and has since successfully completed 
six weeks of commercial operations. During this period, a total of 9,27,000 passengers have 
travelled from / to Shamshabad and an average of 260 aircraft movements per day were recorded.

Lufthansa Flight LH752 from Frankfurt was the first commercial flight to land at the RGIA at 0025 
IST on 23rd March 2008. 

21 different airlines including 11 foreign airlines are currently operating from Shamshabad. Gulf 
Air would be added to the list of foreign airlines from July 01, 2008 and British Airways would 
commence flying to Shamshabad from October 27, 2008.

The fuel uplift at the airport has doubled over that at the Begumpet airport  (from 550 kl per day to 1100 kl 
per day) owing to reduction in tax on the aviation fuel from 33% to 4% and ‘open access’ model.    

The old Begumpet airport has been closed for all civil aviation operations effective midnight 22nd 
March 2008. Public Interest Litigations regarding the close down of the Begumpet airport are 
however still pending in the High Court of Andhra Pradesh. 

4

Notes

ANNEXURE TO NOTICE

Item No. 6 

Inspection of Documents

1. A Member, entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend 
and vote in his stead and such proxy need not be a member of the Company. Proxies, in order 
to be effective, must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company not less than forty 
eight hours before the commencement of the Meeting.

2. The relevant  Explanatory statement under  Section 173 of  the Companies  Act, 1956 in 
respect  of  Special  business  under item No. 6 is annexed hereto.

Explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 173 of the Companies Act, 1956

Ms. Anna Roy was appointed as an Additional Director by the Board of Directors on October 13, 
2007. She holds office as Director upto the date of the ensuing Annual General Meeting. Notice 
under Section 257 of the Companies Act, 1956, along with necessary deposit, has been received 
from a member of the Company proposing the candidature of Ms. Anna Roy as a Director. 

Board recommends the resolution to the Members for approval.

None of the Directors except Ms. Anna Roy is interested in the resolution.

The Documents pertaining to the Special Business will be available for inspection by any member 
at the Registered Office of the company between 11.00 a.m. to 4.00 p.m. on all working days till 
the date of the Fifth Annual General Meeting. 

3

By Order Of the Board
  

 Sd/-
Rajgopal Swami

Chief Financial Officer &
Company Secretary

Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008
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Sl No Name of the Director Representing

1 Mr. G M Rao, Chairman Sponsors

2 Mr. Kiran Kumar Grandhi, Managing Director Sponsors

3 Mr. Srinivas Bommidala Sponsors

4 Mr. B V Nageswara Rao Sponsors

5 Prof. Rigas Doganis Sponsors - Alternate Director 
- Mr. GBS Raju.

6 Mr. K Balasubramanian Sponsors

7 Mr. P Ramakanth Reddy Government of Andhra Pradesh 
- Alternate Director - Mr. T S Appa Rao

8 Mr. T Chatterjee Government of Andhra Pradesh 
- Alternate Director 
- Mr. K Brahmananda Reddy.

9 Mr. V P Agrawal Airports Authority of India

10 Ms. Anna Roy Airports Authority of India

11 Dato’ Bashir Ahmad Bin Abdul Majid Sponsors - Alternate Director 
- Dato’ Abd. Hamid bin Mohd Ali

12 Mr. R S S L N Bhaskarudu Independent 

Commercial and Business Development

Human Resources, Administration & Training Programs 

Recruitment:

Learning and Development:

HR Automation through ERP:

Employee Relations:

Finance

As on March 31, 2008, the following are the major concessioners / stakeholders providing various 
facilities at the RGIA:

• Cargo Operations - GHIAL and Menzies Plc. Joint Venture

• Business Hotel – Accor with Novotel brand

• Flight Catering - LSG Sky Chef and Sky Gourmet 

• Fuel Farm O & M – Reliance Industries

• Duty Free & Retail - Nuance and Shoppers Stop Joint Venture

• Management of Car Parking - Tenaga Parking India

• Airport Lounges – Plaza Premium, Hong Kong 

• Ground Handling - Air India-SATS Joint Venture and Menzies Aviation-Bobba  Joint Venture

• Airport Medical Centre inside PTB – Apollo Hospitals

• Advertising – Lakshya Media

• F&B – HMS Host and Blue Foods

• Bookstore – Landmark and Odyssey

• Telecom – Tata Teleservices

• Retail Fuel (non-aviation) – Bharat Petroleum

• Concession for foreign exchange - Travelex and Weizmann

 Your company has standardized the recruitment process to strengthen its working team. 
During the year, 574 employees have been recruited. Currently your company employs 830 personnel.

 Your company provides opportunities to all its employees to attend 
training programs to hone their technical and behavioral skills. During the year under review, 
training on Airport Familiarization, Aviation Security, Service quality, Values & beliefs and various 
other functional aspects was provided by your company. 

 The following sub-modules of SAP HR have been implemented – 
Organisation Management, Personnel Administration, Time Management and Payroll.

 your company holds Town-Hall meetings as a platform for information 
sharing between management and employees on organizational plans, goals & objectives and 
project status. To convey a corporate identity and to establish & maintain professional norms, the 
GHIAL Corporate Uniform has been rolled-out.

As on the end of the March 31, 2008 your company has received majority of equity contributions 
and majority of the term loans have also been drawn down. During the financial year the company 
received an amount of Rs. 155.17 crores as share application money and an amount of Rs. 1010.40 
crores was received as term loans. 

During the year your Board has approved incurring of additional expenditure of Rs. 442 crores 
towards providing additional facilities at the Airport. The entire amount of Rs. 442 crores would be 
financed by means of debt and quasi debt. The total project cost after the addition of Rs. 442 crores 
amounts to Rs. 2920 crores.  

Your company has drawn up its maiden Profit and Loss Account for a 9 day period i.e., March 23, 2008 to 
March 31, 2008. During this 9 days your company has registered a turnover of Rs. 5.96 crores. The 
expenditure incurred by the company during this period amounted to Rs.62.97 crores. The company 
suffered a net loss of Rs. 57.81 crores, owing to the write off of an amount of Rs. 26.62 crores of preliminary 
and preoperative project expenditure which is of revenue nature and not eligible to be capitalised. 

Effective March 23, 2008, all the project related expenditure incurred since the incorporation of the 
company and being of capital nature and amounting to Rs. 2255.34 crores have been capitalised 
and is been represented and restated in the form of identifiable Fixed Assets.

Directors

Composition and size of the Board of Directors

During the year under review, Ms. Neelam Sanghi ceased to be a Director of the company. The 
Board places on record its appreciation for the services rendered by Ms. Neelam Sanghi during her 
tenure as a Director of the company. 

Ms. Anna Roy was appointed as an Additional Director on the Board with effect from October 13, 2007 
and holds office till the ensuing Annual General Meeting. A notice under Section 257 of the Companies 
Act, 1956 has been received from the member of the company, for her appointment. 

Mr. P Ramakanth Reddy, Mr. R S S L N Bhaskarudu and Mr. Srinivas Bommidala, Directors of the company 
retire at the ensuing Annual General Meeting and being eligible offer themselves for re-appointment. 

The present Board comprises of the following directors: 

65

Board Committees

Audit Committee

During the year, the Audit Committee of Board of Directors was reconstituted and presently 
comprises of the following Directors:

Sl No Name of Director

1 Mr. P Ramakanth Reddy, Chairman

2 Mr. Srinivas Bommidala, Member 

3 Mr. B V Nageswara Rao, Member 

4 Mr. K Balasubramanian, Member

5 Mr. R S S L N Bhaskarudu

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises of the following Directors 

 Sl No Name of Director

   1 Mr. P Ramakanth Reddy, Chairman

   2 Mr. B V Nageswara Rao, Member 

   3 Mr. K Balasubramanian, Member
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training programs to hone their technical and behavioral skills. During the year under review, 
training on Airport Familiarization, Aviation Security, Service quality, Values & beliefs and various 
other functional aspects was provided by your company. 

 The following sub-modules of SAP HR have been implemented – 
Organisation Management, Personnel Administration, Time Management and Payroll.

 your company holds Town-Hall meetings as a platform for information 
sharing between management and employees on organizational plans, goals & objectives and 
project status. To convey a corporate identity and to establish & maintain professional norms, the 
GHIAL Corporate Uniform has been rolled-out.

As on the end of the March 31, 2008 your company has received majority of equity contributions 
and majority of the term loans have also been drawn down. During the financial year the company 
received an amount of Rs. 155.17 crores as share application money and an amount of Rs. 1010.40 
crores was received as term loans. 

During the year your Board has approved incurring of additional expenditure of Rs. 442 crores 
towards providing additional facilities at the Airport. The entire amount of Rs. 442 crores would be 
financed by means of debt and quasi debt. The total project cost after the addition of Rs. 442 crores 
amounts to Rs. 2920 crores.  

Your company has drawn up its maiden Profit and Loss Account for a 9 day period i.e., March 23, 2008 to 
March 31, 2008. During this 9 days your company has registered a turnover of Rs. 5.96 crores. The 
expenditure incurred by the company during this period amounted to Rs.62.97 crores. The company 
suffered a net loss of Rs. 57.81 crores, owing to the write off of an amount of Rs. 26.62 crores of preliminary 
and preoperative project expenditure which is of revenue nature and not eligible to be capitalised. 

Effective March 23, 2008, all the project related expenditure incurred since the incorporation of the 
company and being of capital nature and amounting to Rs. 2255.34 crores have been capitalised 
and is been represented and restated in the form of identifiable Fixed Assets.

Directors

Composition and size of the Board of Directors

During the year under review, Ms. Neelam Sanghi ceased to be a Director of the company. The 
Board places on record its appreciation for the services rendered by Ms. Neelam Sanghi during her 
tenure as a Director of the company. 

Ms. Anna Roy was appointed as an Additional Director on the Board with effect from October 13, 2007 
and holds office till the ensuing Annual General Meeting. A notice under Section 257 of the Companies 
Act, 1956 has been received from the member of the company, for her appointment. 

Mr. P Ramakanth Reddy, Mr. R S S L N Bhaskarudu and Mr. Srinivas Bommidala, Directors of the company 
retire at the ensuing Annual General Meeting and being eligible offer themselves for re-appointment. 

The present Board comprises of the following directors: 
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Board Committees

Audit Committee

During the year, the Audit Committee of Board of Directors was reconstituted and presently 
comprises of the following Directors:

Sl No Name of Director

1 Mr. P Ramakanth Reddy, Chairman

2 Mr. Srinivas Bommidala, Member 

3 Mr. B V Nageswara Rao, Member 

4 Mr. K Balasubramanian, Member

5 Mr. R S S L N Bhaskarudu

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises of the following Directors 

 Sl No Name of Director

   1 Mr. P Ramakanth Reddy, Chairman

   2 Mr. B V Nageswara Rao, Member 

   3 Mr. K Balasubramanian, Member
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Environment

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The Airport is striving to measure up to the norms of LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environmental 
Design). LEED is a certification programme drawn up in 2001 to define green construction, an 
initiative of the United States Green Building Council (USGBC) which is a coalition of builders, 
manufacturers of innovative green products, eco-sensitive architects, natural-resource-sensitive 
engineers and government groups promoting environmentally friendly buildings. 

At RGIA, judicious use of materials with high recycled/recyclable content has been promoted in 
the terminal building and car park area. Contractors, too, were urged to meet LEED norms.

The design team targeted energy conservation measures, demand-side water management, rain 
water harvesting, recycling of waste-water and solid waste management.

Architecturally, glazing facades boasting good thermal performance were selected for building 
exteriors. Natural lighting during day time will save on energy costs. Integrated building 
management system (IBMS) reduces HVAC load & general lighting loads. 

The Passenger Terminal Building’s (PTB) central chilled water system uses secondary chilled water 
pumps with variable speed drives (VFDs) that save significant pumping energy during partial load 
operations. Start-ups maximise plant efficiency according to the PTB’s cooling demands.

The Variable Air Volume (VAV) air–conditioning system’s supply and return air fans with variable speed 
drives save power. The VAV systems, equipped with space carbon dioxide (CO2) sensors and fresh air 
quantity controls, regulate inputs for low occupancy conditions, reducing air conditioning energy 
consumption. They also run on the 'free cooling economiser mode,' that uses outdoor air when 
temperature and relative humidity conditions are below specified levels, thus preserving cooling energy.

Lighting controls, depending on occupancy use, are switched off by photo sensors when sufficient 
natural lighting is available through glazing and sky lights.

Your directors confirm that

1. in the preparation of the annual accounts for the financial year ended 31st  March, 2008, the 
applicable accounting standards have been followed along with proper explanation relating to 
material departures.

2. the Directors have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year ended 31st March, 2008

3. the Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities 

4. the Directors have prepared the accounts for the financial year ended 31st March, 2008 on a 
‘going concern’ basis.

Company’s Subsidiaries: 

During the year under review, your company has incorporated the following five subsidiary 
companies:

Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited: The Company was incorporated with the 
objective of providing certain security services at the Rajiv Gandhi International Airport. The 
company has undertaken the construction and maintenance of the office space and residential 
quarters for the CISF personnel and Phase I of the quarters and the office space have since been 
handed over to the CISF.

Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited has an authorised share capital of Rs.13 crores 
comprising 1.3 crore equity shares of Rs. 10/- each and paid up share capital of Rs. 6.3 crores, 
comprising of 63 lakh equity shares of Rs. 10/- each and are wholly held by your company. 

GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited: The Company is incorporated with 
the objective of providing specialised and skilled manpower to the various allied and ancillary 
activities at the Rajiv Gandhi International Airport. The company currently provides 132 personnel 
specialised in the hospitality industry towards the Hotel operations of your company which are 
likely to commence during the financial year 2008-09.  

GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited has an authorised and paid up share capital of 
Rs. 5 lakhs comprising 50,000 equity shares or Rs. 10/- each and are wholly held by your company. 

GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited: The Company was incorporated to engage in the 
business of property development in and around the Rajiv Gandhi International Airport. Lot of 
aviation linked business, time sensitive manufacture industries, hotel and entertainment industry 
is likely to get concentrated around the airport and the company proposes to engage in all this 
development activity. Detailed Master Planning and Infrastructure Planning for Commercial 
Property Development is currently being carried out by the company. 

GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited has an authorised and paid up share capital of Rs.5 lakhs 
comprising 50,000 equity shares or Rs.10/- each and are wholly held by your company. 

GMR Hyderabad Aviation SEZ Limited: The Company has been incorporated with the objective 
of setting up an aviation specific Special Economic Zone, including setting up of Maintenance 
Repair and Overhaul (MRO) facilities within the airport premises. The company has obtained the 
approval from the Board of Approval (BOA) for setting up of the aviation specific SEZ. The 
company is yet to commence business activity.   

GMR Hyderabad Aviation SEZ Limited has an authorised and paid up share capital of Rs.5 lakhs 
comprising 50,000 equity shares or Rs.10/- each and are wholly held by your company. 

GMR Hyderabad Multiproduct SEZ Limited: The Company has been incorporated with the 
objective of setting up a multiproduct Special Economic Zone within the airport premises. The 
company has obtained the approval from the Board of Approval (BOA) for setting up of the aviation 
specific SEZ. The company is yet to commence business activity.    

GMR Hyderabad Multiproduct SEZ Limited has an authorised share capital of Rs.10 lakhs and a 
paid up share capital of Rs.5 lakhs comprising 50,000 equity shares or Rs.10/- each and are wholly 
held by your company. 

Existing Subsidiary: Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited: During the year under 
review, Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited (HMACPL) has commenced commercial 
operations and completed 9 days of operations as on March 31, 2008. During this period, HMACPL 
has generated revenues to the tune of Rs.0.46 crores. After the writing off of the preliminary and 
preoperative project expenditure, the company registered a loss of Rs.1.79 crores. 

During the year the company had enhanced its share capital in order to meet its operational 
requirements and procurement of fixed assets. The restated authorised share capital comprises of 
Rs.10 crore equity share capital. As on March 31, 2008 the company’s paid up share capital is 
Rs.1.02 crores, of which your company has 51% contribution. 
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Shares Allotment and Shares Transfer Committee

The share allotment and share transfer committee comprises of the following Directors

 Sl No  Name of Director

    1 Mr. Kiran Kumar Grandhi, Chairman

    2 Mr. B V Nageswara Rao, Member 

    3 Mr. K Balasubramanian, Member

    4 Mr. Srinivas Bommidala, Member 
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Environment

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The Airport is striving to measure up to the norms of LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environmental 
Design). LEED is a certification programme drawn up in 2001 to define green construction, an 
initiative of the United States Green Building Council (USGBC) which is a coalition of builders, 
manufacturers of innovative green products, eco-sensitive architects, natural-resource-sensitive 
engineers and government groups promoting environmentally friendly buildings. 

At RGIA, judicious use of materials with high recycled/recyclable content has been promoted in 
the terminal building and car park area. Contractors, too, were urged to meet LEED norms.

The design team targeted energy conservation measures, demand-side water management, rain 
water harvesting, recycling of waste-water and solid waste management.

Architecturally, glazing facades boasting good thermal performance were selected for building 
exteriors. Natural lighting during day time will save on energy costs. Integrated building 
management system (IBMS) reduces HVAC load & general lighting loads. 

The Passenger Terminal Building’s (PTB) central chilled water system uses secondary chilled water 
pumps with variable speed drives (VFDs) that save significant pumping energy during partial load 
operations. Start-ups maximise plant efficiency according to the PTB’s cooling demands.

The Variable Air Volume (VAV) air–conditioning system’s supply and return air fans with variable speed 
drives save power. The VAV systems, equipped with space carbon dioxide (CO2) sensors and fresh air 
quantity controls, regulate inputs for low occupancy conditions, reducing air conditioning energy 
consumption. They also run on the 'free cooling economiser mode,' that uses outdoor air when 
temperature and relative humidity conditions are below specified levels, thus preserving cooling energy.

Lighting controls, depending on occupancy use, are switched off by photo sensors when sufficient 
natural lighting is available through glazing and sky lights.

Your directors confirm that

1. in the preparation of the annual accounts for the financial year ended 31st  March, 2008, the 
applicable accounting standards have been followed along with proper explanation relating to 
material departures.

2. the Directors have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year ended 31st March, 2008

3. the Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities 

4. the Directors have prepared the accounts for the financial year ended 31st March, 2008 on a 
‘going concern’ basis.

Company’s Subsidiaries: 

During the year under review, your company has incorporated the following five subsidiary 
companies:

Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited: The Company was incorporated with the 
objective of providing certain security services at the Rajiv Gandhi International Airport. The 
company has undertaken the construction and maintenance of the office space and residential 
quarters for the CISF personnel and Phase I of the quarters and the office space have since been 
handed over to the CISF.

Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited has an authorised share capital of Rs.13 crores 
comprising 1.3 crore equity shares of Rs. 10/- each and paid up share capital of Rs. 6.3 crores, 
comprising of 63 lakh equity shares of Rs. 10/- each and are wholly held by your company. 

GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited: The Company is incorporated with 
the objective of providing specialised and skilled manpower to the various allied and ancillary 
activities at the Rajiv Gandhi International Airport. The company currently provides 132 personnel 
specialised in the hospitality industry towards the Hotel operations of your company which are 
likely to commence during the financial year 2008-09.  

GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited has an authorised and paid up share capital of 
Rs. 5 lakhs comprising 50,000 equity shares or Rs. 10/- each and are wholly held by your company. 

GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited: The Company was incorporated to engage in the 
business of property development in and around the Rajiv Gandhi International Airport. Lot of 
aviation linked business, time sensitive manufacture industries, hotel and entertainment industry 
is likely to get concentrated around the airport and the company proposes to engage in all this 
development activity. Detailed Master Planning and Infrastructure Planning for Commercial 
Property Development is currently being carried out by the company. 

GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited has an authorised and paid up share capital of Rs.5 lakhs 
comprising 50,000 equity shares or Rs.10/- each and are wholly held by your company. 

GMR Hyderabad Aviation SEZ Limited: The Company has been incorporated with the objective 
of setting up an aviation specific Special Economic Zone, including setting up of Maintenance 
Repair and Overhaul (MRO) facilities within the airport premises. The company has obtained the 
approval from the Board of Approval (BOA) for setting up of the aviation specific SEZ. The 
company is yet to commence business activity.   

GMR Hyderabad Aviation SEZ Limited has an authorised and paid up share capital of Rs.5 lakhs 
comprising 50,000 equity shares or Rs.10/- each and are wholly held by your company. 

GMR Hyderabad Multiproduct SEZ Limited: The Company has been incorporated with the 
objective of setting up a multiproduct Special Economic Zone within the airport premises. The 
company has obtained the approval from the Board of Approval (BOA) for setting up of the aviation 
specific SEZ. The company is yet to commence business activity.    

GMR Hyderabad Multiproduct SEZ Limited has an authorised share capital of Rs.10 lakhs and a 
paid up share capital of Rs.5 lakhs comprising 50,000 equity shares or Rs.10/- each and are wholly 
held by your company. 

Existing Subsidiary: Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited: During the year under 
review, Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited (HMACPL) has commenced commercial 
operations and completed 9 days of operations as on March 31, 2008. During this period, HMACPL 
has generated revenues to the tune of Rs.0.46 crores. After the writing off of the preliminary and 
preoperative project expenditure, the company registered a loss of Rs.1.79 crores. 

During the year the company had enhanced its share capital in order to meet its operational 
requirements and procurement of fixed assets. The restated authorised share capital comprises of 
Rs.10 crore equity share capital. As on March 31, 2008 the company’s paid up share capital is 
Rs.1.02 crores, of which your company has 51% contribution. 
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Shares Allotment and Shares Transfer Committee

The share allotment and share transfer committee comprises of the following Directors

 Sl No  Name of Director

    1 Mr. Kiran Kumar Grandhi, Chairman

    2 Mr. B V Nageswara Rao, Member 

    3 Mr. K Balasubramanian, Member

    4 Mr. Srinivas Bommidala, Member 



Statement under Section 212 of the Companies Act, 1956 

Auditors

Particulars of Employees

Acknowledgement

A statement under Section 212 of the Companies Act, 1956 consolidating the financial statements 
of the following subsidiaries of your company is presented as an Annexure to this report: 

1. Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited
2. Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited
3. GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited
4. GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited

The Auditors, M/s. Price Waterhouse, Chartered Accountants, Hyderabad, retire at the ensuing 
Annual General meeting and have confirmed their eligibility and willingness to accept office, if re- 
appointed.

Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption & Foreign Exchange Earnings & Outgo

The particulars as required under sub-section (1)(e) of Section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956, 
read with the Companies (Disclosure of particulars in the Report of the Board of  Directors) Rules, 
1988, are set out as an Annexure to this report.

Particulars required under Section 217(2A) of the Companies Act, 1956 read with Companies 
(Particulars of Employees) Rules, 1975, as amended, are set out in the Annexure to this report.

Your Directors take this opportunity to express their sincere thanks and gratitude to the 
Government of India, Government of Andhra Pradesh, Airports Authority of India, Malaysia 
Airports Holdings Berhad, GMR Group and the Lending Banks and Financial Institutions, for their 
co-operation.

Your Directors place on record their sincere appreciation of the contributions made by the 
employees at all levels through their hard work, dedication, solidarity and support.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 

    Sd/-       Sd/-
Kiran Kumar Grandhi R S S L N Bhaskarudu
Managing Director Director

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

Information pursuant to companies (Disclosure of particulars in the report of the board 
of Directors) Rules, 1988. 

Conservation of Energy, Technology absorption.

Since the Company is in the project stage majority of the year and is not engaged in any 
manufacturing activity, the particulars are not applicable. 

Foreign Exchange Earnings and outgo

There were no foreign exchange earnings during the period. information regarding foreign 
exchange outgo is given in item No. 20 of the notes to Accounts.

Annexure to Directors’ Report

AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GMR HYDERABAD 
INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT LIMITED

1. We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited (“the 
Company”) as at March 31, 2008, and the related Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended on that date annexed thereto, which we have signed under reference to this report. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in India. 
Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes, 
examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,  issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of sub-section (4A) of Section 227 of ‘The Companies Act, 1956’ of India (the ‘Act’) and on 
the basis of such checks of the books and records of the company as we considered appropriate 
and according to the information and explanations given to us, we give in the Annexure to this 
report, a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

4. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in paragraph 3 above, we report that:

(a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge 
and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit:

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the company so 
far as appears from our examination of those books;

(c) The Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report 
are in agreement with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt with 
by this report comply with the accounting standards referred to in sub-section (3C) of Section 
211 of the Act;

(e) On the basis of written representations received from the directors, as on March 31, 2008 and 
taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31, 
2008 from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of Section 
274 of the Act;

(f) In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the said financial statements together with the notes thereon and attached thereto give in the 
prescribed manner the information required by the Act and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

(i) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the company as at March 31, 2008; 

(ii) in the case of the Profit and Loss Account, of the loss for the period ended on that date; and

(iii) in the case of the Cash Flow Statement, of the cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Sd/- 
P. Rama Krishna, Partner

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse, 

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008
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Statement under Section 212 of the Companies Act, 1956 

Auditors

Particulars of Employees

Acknowledgement

A statement under Section 212 of the Companies Act, 1956 consolidating the financial statements 
of the following subsidiaries of your company is presented as an Annexure to this report: 

1. Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited
2. Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited
3. GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited
4. GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited

The Auditors, M/s. Price Waterhouse, Chartered Accountants, Hyderabad, retire at the ensuing 
Annual General meeting and have confirmed their eligibility and willingness to accept office, if re- 
appointed.

Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption & Foreign Exchange Earnings & Outgo

The particulars as required under sub-section (1)(e) of Section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956, 
read with the Companies (Disclosure of particulars in the Report of the Board of  Directors) Rules, 
1988, are set out as an Annexure to this report.

Particulars required under Section 217(2A) of the Companies Act, 1956 read with Companies 
(Particulars of Employees) Rules, 1975, as amended, are set out in the Annexure to this report.

Your Directors take this opportunity to express their sincere thanks and gratitude to the 
Government of India, Government of Andhra Pradesh, Airports Authority of India, Malaysia 
Airports Holdings Berhad, GMR Group and the Lending Banks and Financial Institutions, for their 
co-operation.

Your Directors place on record their sincere appreciation of the contributions made by the 
employees at all levels through their hard work, dedication, solidarity and support.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 

    Sd/-       Sd/-
Kiran Kumar Grandhi R S S L N Bhaskarudu
Managing Director Director

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

Information pursuant to companies (Disclosure of particulars in the report of the board 
of Directors) Rules, 1988. 

Conservation of Energy, Technology absorption.

Since the Company is in the project stage majority of the year and is not engaged in any 
manufacturing activity, the particulars are not applicable. 

Foreign Exchange Earnings and outgo

There were no foreign exchange earnings during the period. information regarding foreign 
exchange outgo is given in item No. 20 of the notes to Accounts.

Annexure to Directors’ Report

AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GMR HYDERABAD 
INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT LIMITED

1. We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited (“the 
Company”) as at March 31, 2008, and the related Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended on that date annexed thereto, which we have signed under reference to this report. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in India. 
Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes, 
examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,  issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of sub-section (4A) of Section 227 of ‘The Companies Act, 1956’ of India (the ‘Act’) and on 
the basis of such checks of the books and records of the company as we considered appropriate 
and according to the information and explanations given to us, we give in the Annexure to this 
report, a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

4. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in paragraph 3 above, we report that:

(a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge 
and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit:

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the company so 
far as appears from our examination of those books;

(c) The Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report 
are in agreement with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt with 
by this report comply with the accounting standards referred to in sub-section (3C) of Section 
211 of the Act;

(e) On the basis of written representations received from the directors, as on March 31, 2008 and 
taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31, 
2008 from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of Section 
274 of the Act;

(f) In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the said financial statements together with the notes thereon and attached thereto give in the 
prescribed manner the information required by the Act and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

(i) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the company as at March 31, 2008; 

(ii) in the case of the Profit and Loss Account, of the loss for the period ended on that date; and

(iii) in the case of the Cash Flow Statement, of the cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Sd/- 
P. Rama Krishna, Partner

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse, 

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008
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ANNEXURE TO AUDITORS’ REPORT

[Referred to in paragraph 3 of the Auditors’ Report of even date to the members of GMR Hyderabad 
International Airport Limited on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2008]

1. (a) The company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars including quantitative 
details and situation of fixed assets.

(b) The fixed assets are physically verified by the management according to a phased 
programme designed to cover all the items over a period of three years, which in our 
opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size of the company and the nature of its 
assets.  Pursuant to the programme, a portion of the fixed assets has been physically 
verified by the management during the year and no material discrepancies between the 
book records and the physical inventory have been noticed.

(c) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, a 
substantial part of fixed assets has not been disposed of by the company during the year.

2.  The company has neither granted nor taken any loans, secured or unsecured, to/from 
companies, firms or other parties covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Act.

3. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, having regard to 
the explanation that certain items purchased are of special nature for which suitable 
alternative sources do not exist for obtaining comparative quotations, there is an adequate 
internal control system commensurate with the size of the company and the nature of its 
business for the purchase of fixed assets and for the sale of services. The activities of the 
Company did not involve purchase of inventory and sale of goods during the financial year. 
Further, on the basis of our examination of the books and records of the company, and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across nor 
have been informed of any continuing failure to correct major weaknesses in the aforesaid 
internal control system. 

4. According to the information and explanations given to us, there have been no contracts or 
arrangements referred to in Section 301 of the Act during the year to be entered in the register 
required to be maintained under that Section. Accordingly, commenting on transactions made 
in pursuance of such contracts or arrangements does not arise.

5. The company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning of Sections 
58A and 58AA of the Act and the rules framed there under.

6. In our opinion, the company has an internal audit system commensurate with its size and 
nature of its business.

7. (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, in our opinion, the company is generally regular in depositing the 
undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income-
tax, sales-tax, wealth tax, Customs duty and service tax and other material statutory 
dues as applicable with the appropriate authorities. According to the information and 
explanation given to us and the records of the company examined by us, investor 
education and protection fund, excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for 
the current year.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, there are no dues of income-tax, sales tax,  wealth tax, customs duty 
and service tax which have not been deposited on account of any dispute. According to 
the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company examined 
by us, excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for the current year.

8. The Company has accumulated losses as at March 31, 2008 and it has incurred cash loss in the 
financial year ended on that date and it has not incurred any cash loss in the immediately 
preceding financial year as it was in Project development stage.

9. According to the records of the company examined by us and the information and explanation 
given to us, the company has not defaulted in repayment of dues to any financial institution or 
bank as at the balance sheet date. The Company has neither issued any debentures during the 
year nor are any debentures outstanding as at the balance sheet date.

10. The company has not granted any loans and advances on the basis of security by way of pledge 
of shares, debentures and other securities.

11. The provisions of any special statute applicable to chit fund / nidhi / mutual benefit 
fund/societies are not applicable to the company.

12. In our opinion, the company is not a dealer or trader in shares, securities, debentures and 
other investments. 

13. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company has 
not given any guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial institutions during 
the year.

14. In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, on an overall 
basis, pending utilisation for the stated purpose, certain loan funds were temporarily invested 
in short term investments, till the stated end use.

15. On the basis of an overall examination of the balance sheet of the company, in our opinion and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, there are no funds raised on a 
short-term basis which have been used for long-term investment. 

16. The company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to parties and companies 
covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Act during the year.

17. The company has not raised any money by public issue during the year.

18. During the course of our examination of the books and records of the company, carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud 
on or by the company, noticed or reported during the year, nor have we been informed of such 
case by the management.

19. The other clauses (ii), (iii)(b), (iii)(c), (iii)(d), (iii)(f), (iii)(g), (v)(b), (viii) and (xix) of 
paragraph 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,are not applicable in the case of the company for 
the current year, since in our opinion there is no matter which arises to be reported in the 
aforesaid order. 
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Sd/- 
P. Rama Krishna, Partner

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse, 

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008
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ANNEXURE TO AUDITORS’ REPORT

[Referred to in paragraph 3 of the Auditors’ Report of even date to the members of GMR Hyderabad 
International Airport Limited on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2008]

1. (a) The company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars including quantitative 
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programme designed to cover all the items over a period of three years, which in our 
opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size of the company and the nature of its 
assets.  Pursuant to the programme, a portion of the fixed assets has been physically 
verified by the management during the year and no material discrepancies between the 
book records and the physical inventory have been noticed.

(c) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, a 
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internal control system commensurate with the size of the company and the nature of its 
business for the purchase of fixed assets and for the sale of services. The activities of the 
Company did not involve purchase of inventory and sale of goods during the financial year. 
Further, on the basis of our examination of the books and records of the company, and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across nor 
have been informed of any continuing failure to correct major weaknesses in the aforesaid 
internal control system. 

4. According to the information and explanations given to us, there have been no contracts or 
arrangements referred to in Section 301 of the Act during the year to be entered in the register 
required to be maintained under that Section. Accordingly, commenting on transactions made 
in pursuance of such contracts or arrangements does not arise.

5. The company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning of Sections 
58A and 58AA of the Act and the rules framed there under.

6. In our opinion, the company has an internal audit system commensurate with its size and 
nature of its business.

7. (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, in our opinion, the company is generally regular in depositing the 
undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income-
tax, sales-tax, wealth tax, Customs duty and service tax and other material statutory 
dues as applicable with the appropriate authorities. According to the information and 
explanation given to us and the records of the company examined by us, investor 
education and protection fund, excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for 
the current year.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, there are no dues of income-tax, sales tax,  wealth tax, customs duty 
and service tax which have not been deposited on account of any dispute. According to 
the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company examined 
by us, excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for the current year.

8. The Company has accumulated losses as at March 31, 2008 and it has incurred cash loss in the 
financial year ended on that date and it has not incurred any cash loss in the immediately 
preceding financial year as it was in Project development stage.

9. According to the records of the company examined by us and the information and explanation 
given to us, the company has not defaulted in repayment of dues to any financial institution or 
bank as at the balance sheet date. The Company has neither issued any debentures during the 
year nor are any debentures outstanding as at the balance sheet date.

10. The company has not granted any loans and advances on the basis of security by way of pledge 
of shares, debentures and other securities.

11. The provisions of any special statute applicable to chit fund / nidhi / mutual benefit 
fund/societies are not applicable to the company.

12. In our opinion, the company is not a dealer or trader in shares, securities, debentures and 
other investments. 

13. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company has 
not given any guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial institutions during 
the year.

14. In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, on an overall 
basis, pending utilisation for the stated purpose, certain loan funds were temporarily invested 
in short term investments, till the stated end use.

15. On the basis of an overall examination of the balance sheet of the company, in our opinion and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, there are no funds raised on a 
short-term basis which have been used for long-term investment. 

16. The company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to parties and companies 
covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Act during the year.

17. The company has not raised any money by public issue during the year.

18. During the course of our examination of the books and records of the company, carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud 
on or by the company, noticed or reported during the year, nor have we been informed of such 
case by the management.

19. The other clauses (ii), (iii)(b), (iii)(c), (iii)(d), (iii)(f), (iii)(g), (v)(b), (viii) and (xix) of 
paragraph 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,are not applicable in the case of the company for 
the current year, since in our opinion there is no matter which arises to be reported in the 
aforesaid order. 
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Sd/- 
P. Rama Krishna, Partner

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse, 

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008
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Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

I. Source of Funds
1. Shareholder’s Funds

a) Capital 1 5,87,300 5,87,300
b) Reserves and Surplus 2 107,00,00,000 107,00,00,000

2. Share application money, pending allotment 348,36,77,000 205,59,09,000

3. Loan Funds
a) Secured Loans 3 1541,53,49,989 536,68,16,666
b) Unsecured Loans 4 339,48,24,066 333,47,01,057

2336,44,38,355 1182,80,14,023

II. Application of Funds
1. Fixed Assets

a) Gross Block 5 2279,35,14,635 13,17,65,577
b) Less: Depreciation 7,48,75,833 2,63,20,947
c) Net Block 2271,86,38,802 10,54,44,630
d) Capital Work-in-Progress (Including)

        Capital advances) 172,21,31,777 953,00,18,074
e) Expenditure during construction 

        pending allocation 6 30,42,54,987 180,68,74,444

2474,50,25,566 1144,23,37,148

2. Investments 7 89,86,35,979 43,14,26,703

3. Current Assets, Loans Advances
a) Sundry Debtors 8 8,95,12,137 -
b) Cash and Bank Balances 9 55,240,01,042 50,52,65,061
c) Other Current Assets 10 28,92,130 8,78,551
d) Loans and Advances 11 142,00,72,499 21,07,30,304

206,48,77,808 71,68,73,916
Less: Current Liabilities and Provisions
a) Liabilities 12 490,41,12,989 74,13,97,101
b) Provisions 13 1,80,66,196 2,12,26,643

492,21,79,185 76,26,23,744

Net Current Assets (285,73,01,377) (4,57,49,828)

4. Profit & Loss Account 57,80,78,187 -

Statement on Significant Policies and notes
To the accounts 20 2336,44,38,355 1182,80,14,023

(Amount in Rupees)

Schedule
Ref

As at March 31, 2008 As at March 31, 2007

The Schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Balance Sheet

This is the Balance Sheet referred to in our report of even date

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Kiran Kumar Grandhi R S S L N Bhaskarudu Rajgopal Swami
Partner Managing Director Director Chief Financial Officer &
Membership No. 22795 Company Secretary
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

I. Income

Income from Services 14 5,95,65,195
Other Income 15 4,53,87,972

10,49,53,167
Less: Concession Fee 41,98,127

Net Income 10,07,55,040

II. Expenditure

Personnel Cost 16 2,70,28,866
Operating Cost 17 1,10,07,651
Administration Cost 18 32,55,91,385
Expenditure during construction period not in Capital Nature 26,61,74,683
Preliminary Expenses written off 1,60,500

III. Profit Before Interest & Depreciation (52,92,08,045)

Finance Charges 19 2,21,68,573
Depreciation & Amortisation 2,56,08,432

IV. Profit Before Taxation (57,69,85,050)

Provision for Taxation - Current -
- Deferred -
- Fringe Benefit Tax 9,28,874
- Wealth Tax 1,64,263

V. Profit After Taxation (57,80,78,187)

VI. Available Surplus Carried to Balance Sheet (57,80,78,187)

Earnings per Share(Rs.) - Basic & Diluted (9,843)

Statement on Significant Accounting Policies 
and notes to the accounts 20

(Amount in Rupees)

Schedule Ref
For the period from
March 23, 2008 to

March 31, 2008

Profit and Loss Account for the period ended March 31, 2008

The Schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Profit & Loss Account

This is the Profit & Loss Account referred to in our report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
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Sd/- Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Kiran Kumar Grandhi R S S L N Bhaskarudu Rajgopal Swami
Partner Managing Director Director Chief Financial Officer &
Membership No. 22795 Company Secretary
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants
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1. Shareholder’s Funds

a) Capital 1 5,87,300 5,87,300
b) Reserves and Surplus 2 107,00,00,000 107,00,00,000

2. Share application money, pending allotment 348,36,77,000 205,59,09,000

3. Loan Funds
a) Secured Loans 3 1541,53,49,989 536,68,16,666
b) Unsecured Loans 4 339,48,24,066 333,47,01,057

2336,44,38,355 1182,80,14,023

II. Application of Funds
1. Fixed Assets

a) Gross Block 5 2279,35,14,635 13,17,65,577
b) Less: Depreciation 7,48,75,833 2,63,20,947
c) Net Block 2271,86,38,802 10,54,44,630
d) Capital Work-in-Progress (Including)

        Capital advances) 172,21,31,777 953,00,18,074
e) Expenditure during construction 

        pending allocation 6 30,42,54,987 180,68,74,444

2474,50,25,566 1144,23,37,148

2. Investments 7 89,86,35,979 43,14,26,703

3. Current Assets, Loans Advances
a) Sundry Debtors 8 8,95,12,137 -
b) Cash and Bank Balances 9 55,240,01,042 50,52,65,061
c) Other Current Assets 10 28,92,130 8,78,551
d) Loans and Advances 11 142,00,72,499 21,07,30,304

206,48,77,808 71,68,73,916
Less: Current Liabilities and Provisions
a) Liabilities 12 490,41,12,989 74,13,97,101
b) Provisions 13 1,80,66,196 2,12,26,643

492,21,79,185 76,26,23,744

Net Current Assets (285,73,01,377) (4,57,49,828)

4. Profit & Loss Account 57,80,78,187 -

Statement on Significant Policies and notes
To the accounts 20 2336,44,38,355 1182,80,14,023

(Amount in Rupees)

Schedule
Ref

As at March 31, 2008 As at March 31, 2007

The Schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Balance Sheet

This is the Balance Sheet referred to in our report of even date
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Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants
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Date: May 14, 2008

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

I. Income

Income from Services 14 5,95,65,195
Other Income 15 4,53,87,972

10,49,53,167
Less: Concession Fee 41,98,127

Net Income 10,07,55,040

II. Expenditure

Personnel Cost 16 2,70,28,866
Operating Cost 17 1,10,07,651
Administration Cost 18 32,55,91,385
Expenditure during construction period not in Capital Nature 26,61,74,683
Preliminary Expenses written off 1,60,500

III. Profit Before Interest & Depreciation (52,92,08,045)

Finance Charges 19 2,21,68,573
Depreciation & Amortisation 2,56,08,432

IV. Profit Before Taxation (57,69,85,050)

Provision for Taxation - Current -
- Deferred -
- Fringe Benefit Tax 9,28,874
- Wealth Tax 1,64,263

V. Profit After Taxation (57,80,78,187)

VI. Available Surplus Carried to Balance Sheet (57,80,78,187)

Earnings per Share(Rs.) - Basic & Diluted (9,843)
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

1413

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Kiran Kumar Grandhi R S S L N Bhaskarudu Rajgopal Swami
Partner Managing Director Director Chief Financial Officer &
Membership No. 22795 Company Secretary
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

G
M

R
 H

Y
D

E
R
A
B
A
D

 I
N

T
E
R
N

A
T
IO

N
A
L
 A

IR
P
O

R
T
 L

IM
IT

E
D



Schedules forming part of Balance sheet as at March 31, 2008

Authorised

40,00,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs.10 each  
(2007-40,00,00,000 Equity share of 10 each 400,00,00,000 400,00,00,000

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up 5,87,300 5,87,300
(58,730 (2007 - 58,730) 
Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up

{Out of the above, 36,995 (2007 - 36,995) 
Equity shares fully paid up are held by the holding company, 5,87,300 5,87,300
GMR Infrastructure Limited}

Schedule 1  - Capital

(Amount in Rupees)

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2007

Capital Reserve 107,00,00,000

107,00,00,000 107,00,00,000

107,00,00,000

Schedule 2 - Reserves and Surplus
As at

March 31, 2008
As at

March 31, 2007

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2007

  Term Loans - Banks

In Indian Rupees 847,32,66,667 427,30,66,667

In Foreign Currency 501,50,00,000 -

  Term Loans - Financial Institution 192,70,83,322 109,37,49,999

1541,53,49,989 536,68,16,666

Schedule 3 - Secured Loans

(Term loans are Secured by mortgage of Leasehold right, title, 
interest and benefit in respect of Leasehold Land and first charge 
on all movable and immovable assets, operating cash flows, 
book debts, receivables, intangibles and revenues, both present 
and future, as well as assignment of all right, title, interest, 
benefits, claims and demands available under the concession 
agreement and other project documents, security interest in the 
Trust and Retention Account, Debt Service Reserve Account and 
further secured by pledge of certain equity shares, both present 
and future, held or to be held, as the case may be, by both, the 

Other than Short Term
Interest Free Loan from Government of Andhra Pradesh 315,05,00,000 0

Security deposits from Concessionaires 24,43,24,066 7,50,00,000

Short Term
Bank Overdraft - 10,97,01,057

339,48,24,066 333,47,01,057

315,0 ,00,000

As at
March 31, 2008Schedule 4 - Unsecured Loans

As at
March 31, 2007
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Schedules forming part of Balance sheet as at March 31, 2008

Authorised

40,00,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs.10 each  
(2007-40,00,00,000 Equity share of 10 each 400,00,00,000 400,00,00,000

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up 5,87,300 5,87,300
(58,730 (2007 - 58,730) 
Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up

{Out of the above, 36,995 (2007 - 36,995) 
Equity shares fully paid up are held by the holding company, 5,87,300 5,87,300
GMR Infrastructure Limited}

Schedule 1  - Capital

(Amount in Rupees)

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2007

Capital Reserve 107,00,00,000

107,00,00,000 107,00,00,000

107,00,00,000

Schedule 2 - Reserves and Surplus
As at

March 31, 2008
As at

March 31, 2007

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2007

  Term Loans - Banks

In Indian Rupees 847,32,66,667 427,30,66,667

In Foreign Currency 501,50,00,000 -

  Term Loans - Financial Institution 192,70,83,322 109,37,49,999

1541,53,49,989 536,68,16,666

Schedule 3 - Secured Loans

(Term loans are Secured by mortgage of Leasehold right, title, 
interest and benefit in respect of Leasehold Land and first charge 
on all movable and immovable assets, operating cash flows, 
book debts, receivables, intangibles and revenues, both present 
and future, as well as assignment of all right, title, interest, 
benefits, claims and demands available under the concession 
agreement and other project documents, security interest in the 
Trust and Retention Account, Debt Service Reserve Account and 
further secured by pledge of certain equity shares, both present 
and future, held or to be held, as the case may be, by both, the 

Other than Short Term
Interest Free Loan from Government of Andhra Pradesh 315,05,00,000 0

Security deposits from Concessionaires 24,43,24,066 7,50,00,000

Short Term
Bank Overdraft - 10,97,01,057

339,48,24,066 333,47,01,057

315,0 ,00,000

As at
March 31, 2008Schedule 4 - Unsecured Loans

As at
March 31, 2007
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Salaries, allowances and benefits to employees 103,81,25,244 43,04,06,413

Contribution to Provident and other Funds 3,41,31,442 1,78,00,784

Staff welfare expenses 8,57,31,724 5,84,29,354

Advertisement 5,53,43,620 4,03,84,535

Rent 9,45,02,842 7,10,65,158

Rates and taxes 3,05,58,222 2,26,44934

Insurance 3,74,67,246 2,30,32,384

Repairs and Maintenance - Others 38,09,12,172 3,12,67,228

Consultancy and other professional charges 108,90,97,171 39,59,56,967

Director’s sitting fee 11,44,000 6,55,000

Electricity charges 4,76,74,322 1,56,51,499

Remuneration to auditors

Audit Fees 12,58,000 12,18,200

Certification 6,84,660 7,19,660

Others 11,25,000 3,21,035

Reimbursement exps - Statutory Auditor 6,235

Travelling and conveyance 46,58,71,986 21,12,24,102

Communication expenses 4,32,69,140 3,04,54,173

Interest on fixed loans 99,73,17,365 29,16,20,862

Bank / other finance charges 6,65,16,816 4,67,40,510

Depreciation 5,03,07,125 2,65,77,600

Income Tax 91,28,731 92,28,309

Wealth Tax 80,081 80,437

Fringe Benefit Tax 4,14,63,421 1,64,90,344

Miscellaneous expenses 47,87,89,644 17,82,66,904

Donations 12,44,18,185 1,01,76,137
Preliminary Expenses 1,60,500 1,60,500

517,50,84,894 193,05,73,029

Less : Interest on Deposits 2,53,83,247 2,06,96,556

Income from Investments 14,15,92,437 8,67,73,249

Profit on Sale of Investments 17,42,765 16,70,968

Profit on Sale of Assets 77,381 77,200

Gain / (Loss) on Exchange Fluctuations (Net) 1,66,31,873 (5,80,671)

Miscellaneous Income 5,52,48,558 1,12,81,283

Rent received-Land sub lease 1,51,35,906 37,80,000

491,92,72,727 180,68,74,444

Less : Project expenses charged to Profit and Loss Account 26,61,74,683 -

465,30,98,044 180,68,74,444

Less : Preliminary expenses charged to 1,60,500 -

Profit and Loss Account 465,29,37,544, 180,68,74,444

Less : Allocated to Capital Assets 434,86,82,557 -

30,42,54,987 180,68,74,444

(Amount in Rupees)

Up to and as at
March 31, 2008

Schedule 6 - Expenditure during construction period, 
pending allocation (Net)

Up to and as at
March 31, 2007

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 
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Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 

    Long Term Other than Trade - Unquoted
In shares of Subsidiary Companies
Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Pvt. Ltd. 52,02,000 5,10,000
(5,20,200 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid)

GMR Hyderabad Aerotroplis Limited 5,00,000 -
(50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid)

GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited 5,00,000 -
(50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid)

Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 5,00,000 -
(50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid)

GMR Hyderabad Aviation SEZ Limited 5,00,000 -
(50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid)

GMR Hyderabad Multiproduct SEZ Limited 5,00,000 -
(50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid)

77,02,000 5,10,000

Current Other than Trade - Unquoted

DBS Chola Short term Floating Rate Fund
- Daily Dividend Reinvestment Plan - 1,61,19,561
Nil (2007-16,09,316.88) units of face value Rs. 10 per unit

Principal Cash Management Fund Liquid Option Instl. Plan
-Dividend Reinvestment Daily - 3,51,16,997
Nil (2007-35,11,453.87) units of face value Rs. 10 per unit

Principal Floating Rate FMP Fund Institutional Option 14,01,44042 -
-Dividend Reinvestment Daily
1,39,97,187.67 (2007-Nil) units of face value Rs. 10 per unit

Reliance liquidity Fund Daily Dividend Option - 31,76,34,152
Nil (2007-3,17,53,571.61) units of face value Rs. 10 per unit

UTI Liquid Cash Plan Institutional-Daily Income 40,03,84,032 5,15,48,661
Option-Reinvestment 342746.796 (2007-50,565.38)
units of face value Rs.1,000 per unit

ING Vysya Liquid Fund Super Institutional Daily Dividend Option 25,02,49,337 1,04,97,332
2,50,12,927.45 (2007-10,49,314.36) 
units of face value Rs.10 per unit

Reliance Liquid Plus Fund-Institutional Option-Daily Dividend Plan 10,01,56,568 -
1,00,042.879 (2007-Nil) units of face value Rs.10 per unit

[Aggregate Net Asset value as at March 31, 2008 89,09,33,979 43,09,16,703
-Rs.89,09,33,979 (2007-Rs. 43,09,17,552) ]

Total Investments 89,86,35,979 43,14,26,703

(Amount in Rupees)

As at
March 31, 2008Schedule 7 - Investments

As at
March 31, 2007
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Salaries, allowances and benefits to employees 103,81,25,244 43,04,06,413

Contribution to Provident and other Funds 3,41,31,442 1,78,00,784

Staff welfare expenses 8,57,31,724 5,84,29,354

Advertisement 5,53,43,620 4,03,84,535

Rent 9,45,02,842 7,10,65,158

Rates and taxes 3,05,58,222 2,26,44934

Insurance 3,74,67,246 2,30,32,384

Repairs and Maintenance - Others 38,09,12,172 3,12,67,228

Consultancy and other professional charges 108,90,97,171 39,59,56,967

Director’s sitting fee 11,44,000 6,55,000

Electricity charges 4,76,74,322 1,56,51,499

Remuneration to auditors

Audit Fees 12,58,000 12,18,200

Certification 6,84,660 7,19,660

Others 11,25,000 3,21,035

Reimbursement exps - Statutory Auditor 6,235

Travelling and conveyance 46,58,71,986 21,12,24,102

Communication expenses 4,32,69,140 3,04,54,173

Interest on fixed loans 99,73,17,365 29,16,20,862

Bank / other finance charges 6,65,16,816 4,67,40,510

Depreciation 5,03,07,125 2,65,77,600

Income Tax 91,28,731 92,28,309

Wealth Tax 80,081 80,437

Fringe Benefit Tax 4,14,63,421 1,64,90,344

Miscellaneous expenses 47,87,89,644 17,82,66,904

Donations 12,44,18,185 1,01,76,137
Preliminary Expenses 1,60,500 1,60,500

517,50,84,894 193,05,73,029

Less : Interest on Deposits 2,53,83,247 2,06,96,556

Income from Investments 14,15,92,437 8,67,73,249

Profit on Sale of Investments 17,42,765 16,70,968

Profit on Sale of Assets 77,381 77,200

Gain / (Loss) on Exchange Fluctuations (Net) 1,66,31,873 (5,80,671)

Miscellaneous Income 5,52,48,558 1,12,81,283

Rent received-Land sub lease 1,51,35,906 37,80,000

491,92,72,727 180,68,74,444

Less : Project expenses charged to Profit and Loss Account 26,61,74,683 -

465,30,98,044 180,68,74,444

Less : Preliminary expenses charged to 1,60,500 -

Profit and Loss Account 465,29,37,544, 180,68,74,444

Less : Allocated to Capital Assets 434,86,82,557 -

30,42,54,987 180,68,74,444

(Amount in Rupees)

Up to and as at
March 31, 2008

Schedule 6 - Expenditure during construction period, 
pending allocation (Net)

Up to and as at
March 31, 2007

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 
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Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 

    Long Term Other than Trade - Unquoted
In shares of Subsidiary Companies
Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Pvt. Ltd. 52,02,000 5,10,000
(5,20,200 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid)

GMR Hyderabad Aerotroplis Limited 5,00,000 -
(50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid)

GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited 5,00,000 -
(50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid)

Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 5,00,000 -
(50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid)

GMR Hyderabad Aviation SEZ Limited 5,00,000 -
(50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid)

GMR Hyderabad Multiproduct SEZ Limited 5,00,000 -
(50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid)

77,02,000 5,10,000

Current Other than Trade - Unquoted

DBS Chola Short term Floating Rate Fund
- Daily Dividend Reinvestment Plan - 1,61,19,561
Nil (2007-16,09,316.88) units of face value Rs. 10 per unit

Principal Cash Management Fund Liquid Option Instl. Plan
-Dividend Reinvestment Daily - 3,51,16,997
Nil (2007-35,11,453.87) units of face value Rs. 10 per unit

Principal Floating Rate FMP Fund Institutional Option 14,01,44042 -
-Dividend Reinvestment Daily
1,39,97,187.67 (2007-Nil) units of face value Rs. 10 per unit

Reliance liquidity Fund Daily Dividend Option - 31,76,34,152
Nil (2007-3,17,53,571.61) units of face value Rs. 10 per unit

UTI Liquid Cash Plan Institutional-Daily Income 40,03,84,032 5,15,48,661
Option-Reinvestment 342746.796 (2007-50,565.38)
units of face value Rs.1,000 per unit

ING Vysya Liquid Fund Super Institutional Daily Dividend Option 25,02,49,337 1,04,97,332
2,50,12,927.45 (2007-10,49,314.36) 
units of face value Rs.10 per unit

Reliance Liquid Plus Fund-Institutional Option-Daily Dividend Plan 10,01,56,568 -
1,00,042.879 (2007-Nil) units of face value Rs.10 per unit

[Aggregate Net Asset value as at March 31, 2008 89,09,33,979 43,09,16,703
-Rs.89,09,33,979 (2007-Rs. 43,09,17,552) ]

Total Investments 89,86,35,979 43,14,26,703

(Amount in Rupees)

As at
March 31, 2008Schedule 7 - Investments

As at
March 31, 2007
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(Amount in Rupees)

Cash on Hand 5,24,141 1,85,850

Balances with Scheduled Banks

   - on Current Accounts 36,06,81,069 50,79,211

   - on Deposit Accounts 10,00,00,000 50,00,00,000

      - on Margin Money* 9,11,95,832 -

*The margin money deposits are towards letters of credit and Bank 55,24,01,042 50,52,65,061
Guarantees issued by the bankers on behalf of the company.

(Unsecured, Considered good)

Interest accrued on deposits 24,92,130 4,78,551

Grant accrued 4,00,000 4,00,000

28,92,130 8,78,551

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2008

Schedule 8 - Sundry Debtors

Schedule 9 - Cash and Bank Balances

Schedule 10 - Other Current Assets

As at
March 31, 2007

As at
March 31, 2007

As at
March 31, 2007

(Unsecured, Considered good)

Loans to Employees 55,72,388 53,13,480

Advances to Subsidiaries 6,23,40,000 -

Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received* 51,32,78,857 5,45,81,696

Deposits with Government Authorities 1,95,77,630 79,32,522

Balance with Customs, Excise, etc 75,08,13,624 14,29,02,606

Advance to towards Share Application Money 6,84,90,000 -

*Includes amount due from Managing Director as at March 31, 2008 - 142,00,72,499 21,07,30,304

Rs.9,99,061 (2007 - Rs.8,54,995) Maximum amount due at any time 

During the period was Rs.96,21,720 (2007 - Rs. 51,32,956)

As at
March 31, 2008

Schedule 11 - Loans and Advances As at
March 31, 2007

2019

   Sundry Creditors

    - Due to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises* 10,378,343 -

- Due to other than Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 348,99,92,630 10,00,14,953

350,03,70,973 10,00,14,953

Advances from Concessionaires 2,58,13,334 -

Retention Money 110,23,29,038 59,06,08,790

Other liabilities 25,69,89,176 5,07,73,358

Interest accrued but not due 1,44,12,341 -

Concession Fee Payable 41,98,127 -

*Note: Classification is on the basis of information available with the company 490,41,12,989 74,13,97,101

As at
March 31, 2008Schedule 12 - Liabilities

As at
March 31, 2007

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 

Provision for Income Tax (net of advance taxes) - 6,47,298

Provision for Wealth Tax (net of advance taxes) 1,64,263 32,185

Provision for Fringe Benefit Tax (net of advance taxes) 13,91,891 10,27,013

Provision for Gratuity 32,75,507 29,46,710

Provision for Superannuation - 45,03,879

Provision for Leave Encashment 1,32,34,535 1,20,69,558

1,80,66,196 2,12,26,643

As at
March 31, 2008

Schedule 13 - Provisions As at
March 31, 2007

Schedules forming part of Profit and Loss Account 
for the period ended March 31, 2008

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 
(Amount in Rupees)

Aeronautical 1,94,41,312

Non Aeronautical 4,01,23,883

5,95,65,195

(Amount in Rupees)

For the period from
March 23, 2008 to

March 31, 2008
Schedule 14 - Income from Services

Operators Fee 39,73,641

Insurance 58,059

Repairs and Maintenance

Buildings 35,250

Plant and Machinery 6,08,448

Others 28,85,679

Electricity Charges 34,46,574

1,10,07,651

For the period from
March 23, 2008 to

March 31, 2008
Schedule 17 - Operating Cost 

Interest received, (Gross) 29,55,921

[Tax Deducted at Source Rs. 13,41,526/- (2007-13,60,497]

Income from Investments(gross) 16,94,978

Miscellanious Income 2,54,989

Gain on Exchange Fluctuation 4,04,82,084

4,53,87,972

For the period from
March 23, 2008 to

March 31, 2008
Schedule 15 - Other Income

Salaries and Wages 1,66,52,309

Contribution to Provident fund and other funds 39,54,415

Staff welfare expenses 64,22,142

2,70,28,866

For the period from
March 23, 2008 to

March 31, 2008
Schedule 16 - Personnel Cost
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(Amount in Rupees)

Cash on Hand 5,24,141 1,85,850

Balances with Scheduled Banks

   - on Current Accounts 36,06,81,069 50,79,211

   - on Deposit Accounts 10,00,00,000 50,00,00,000

      - on Margin Money* 9,11,95,832 -

*The margin money deposits are towards letters of credit and Bank 55,24,01,042 50,52,65,061
Guarantees issued by the bankers on behalf of the company.

(Unsecured, Considered good)

Interest accrued on deposits 24,92,130 4,78,551

Grant accrued 4,00,000 4,00,000

28,92,130 8,78,551

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2008

Schedule 8 - Sundry Debtors

Schedule 9 - Cash and Bank Balances

Schedule 10 - Other Current Assets

As at
March 31, 2007

As at
March 31, 2007

As at
March 31, 2007

(Unsecured, Considered good)

Loans to Employees 55,72,388 53,13,480

Advances to Subsidiaries 6,23,40,000 -

Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received* 51,32,78,857 5,45,81,696

Deposits with Government Authorities 1,95,77,630 79,32,522

Balance with Customs, Excise, etc 75,08,13,624 14,29,02,606

Advance to towards Share Application Money 6,84,90,000 -

*Includes amount due from Managing Director as at March 31, 2008 - 142,00,72,499 21,07,30,304

Rs.9,99,061 (2007 - Rs.8,54,995) Maximum amount due at any time 

During the period was Rs.96,21,720 (2007 - Rs. 51,32,956)

As at
March 31, 2008

Schedule 11 - Loans and Advances As at
March 31, 2007

2019

   Sundry Creditors

    - Due to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises* 10,378,343 -

- Due to other than Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 348,99,92,630 10,00,14,953

350,03,70,973 10,00,14,953

Advances from Concessionaires 2,58,13,334 -

Retention Money 110,23,29,038 59,06,08,790

Other liabilities 25,69,89,176 5,07,73,358

Interest accrued but not due 1,44,12,341 -

Concession Fee Payable 41,98,127 -

*Note: Classification is on the basis of information available with the company 490,41,12,989 74,13,97,101

As at
March 31, 2008Schedule 12 - Liabilities

As at
March 31, 2007

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 

Provision for Income Tax (net of advance taxes) - 6,47,298

Provision for Wealth Tax (net of advance taxes) 1,64,263 32,185

Provision for Fringe Benefit Tax (net of advance taxes) 13,91,891 10,27,013

Provision for Gratuity 32,75,507 29,46,710

Provision for Superannuation - 45,03,879

Provision for Leave Encashment 1,32,34,535 1,20,69,558

1,80,66,196 2,12,26,643

As at
March 31, 2008

Schedule 13 - Provisions As at
March 31, 2007

Schedules forming part of Profit and Loss Account 
for the period ended March 31, 2008

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 
(Amount in Rupees)

Aeronautical 1,94,41,312

Non Aeronautical 4,01,23,883

5,95,65,195

(Amount in Rupees)

For the period from
March 23, 2008 to

March 31, 2008
Schedule 14 - Income from Services

Operators Fee 39,73,641

Insurance 58,059

Repairs and Maintenance

Buildings 35,250

Plant and Machinery 6,08,448

Others 28,85,679

Electricity Charges 34,46,574

1,10,07,651

For the period from
March 23, 2008 to

March 31, 2008
Schedule 17 - Operating Cost 

Interest received, (Gross) 29,55,921

[Tax Deducted at Source Rs. 13,41,526/- (2007-13,60,497]

Income from Investments(gross) 16,94,978

Miscellanious Income 2,54,989

Gain on Exchange Fluctuation 4,04,82,084

4,53,87,972

For the period from
March 23, 2008 to

March 31, 2008
Schedule 15 - Other Income

Salaries and Wages 1,66,52,309

Contribution to Provident fund and other funds 39,54,415

Staff welfare expenses 64,22,142

2,70,28,866

For the period from
March 23, 2008 to

March 31, 2008
Schedule 16 - Personnel Cost
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Rent 6,55,604

Rates and Taxes 2,95,491

Advertisement 7,38,42,482

Consultancy and Other Professional Charges 2,41,41,167

Traveling and Conveyance 2,59,84,367

Remuneration to Auditors

  Audit fees 15,00,000

Communication Expenses 26,73,409

Donations 1,70,12,653

Office Maintenance 66,09,416

Security Charges 28,62,840

Printing and Stationery 1,04,92,851

Loss on Sale of Fixed Assets 20,14,261

Recruitment and Training Charges 36,53,168

Inauguration Expenses 14,65,37,045

Miscellaneous Expenses 73,16,631

32,55,91,385 

(Amount in Rupees)

For the period from
March 23, 2008 to

March 31, 2008
Schedule 18 - Administration Cost

Schedules forming part of Profit and Loss Account 
for the period ended March 31, 2008

Interest on Fixed Loans 2,03,64,898

Other Finance Charges 18,03,675

2,21,68,573

For the period from
March 23, 2008 to

March 31, 2008
Schedule 19 - Finance Charges

2221

SCHEDULE - 20

I. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Accounting Assumptions:
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention on the basis of a going concern, with revenues 
recognised and expenses accounted on their accrual and amounts determined as payable or receivable during the year, 
except those with significant uncertainties, and in accordance with the applicable Accounting Standards as issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

2. Revenue Recognition:
Revenue from Airport operations are recognised on accrual basis, net of Service tax, applicable discounts and 
collection charges, when services are rendered and it is probable that an economic benefit will be received which can 
be quantified reliably. 

3. Concession Fee: 
The concession fee computed as a percentage of revenue pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Concession 
agreement for the Development, Construction, Operation and maintenance of GMR Hyderabad International Airport, 
is recognised as charge in the Profit and Loss account. 

4. Fixed Assets
Fixed Assets are stated at cost, net of cenvat credit less accumulated depreciation. Cost of acquisition is inclusive of 
freight, duties levies and all incidental expenditure attributable to bringing the assets to its working condition. Assets 
under installation or under construction as at the balance sheet date are shown as capital work in progress. 

All fixed Assets are assessed for any indication of impairment at the end of each financial year. On any such indication, 
the impairment loss (being the excess of carrying value over the recoverable value of the asset) is immediately 
charged to the Profit and Loss Account. The impairment loss recognised in the prior years is reversed where the 
recoverable value exceeds the carrying value of the asset upon re-assessment in the subsequent years. 

5. Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on straight line method at the rates based on the estimated useful lives of the assets or those 
prescribed under Schedule XIV of the Companies Act, 1956 whichever is higher. Individual assets costing less than 
Rs. 5,000 are fully depreciated in the year of purchase.

Lease hold improvement are amortised over shorter of estimated useful lives or lease period.

6. Foreign currency Transactions
All Foreign currency transaction are accounted at the exchange rates prevailing on the date of transactions. Current 
assets and current liabilities are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date and the 
resultant gain / loss is recognised in the financial statements. 

In case of Forward Exchange Contacts or any financial instruments i.e in substance a forward exchange contact to 
hedge the foreign currency risk which is on account of firm commitment and / or is a highly probable forecast 
transaction, the premium or discount arising at the inception of the contract is amortised as expense or income over 
the life of the contact. 

7. Government Grant:
Government Grant in the nature of Capital Subsidy is treated as capital reserve. 

8. Investments: 
Long-term investment are valued at cost unless there is a permanent diminution in their values. Current investments 
are valued at cost or market value whichever is lower. Cost of acquisition is inclusive of expenditure incidental to 
acquisition. Income from Investments is recognised in the year in which it is accrued and stated at Gross.

9. Retirement Benefits:
    Retirement Benefits are accounted for on accrual basis in respect of contribution schemes     such as provident fund 

and superannuation fund with contributions charged against revenue each last year. Liability for gratuity is funded 
through a scheme administered by an insurer and a provision is made based on actuarial valuation carried out as at 
balance sheet date. Provision for leave encashment is made based on actuarial valuation carried as at the year end.

10.  Borrowing Costs:
       Borrowing costs that are attributable to acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as 

a part of cost of such asset. All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the year in which they are 
incurred.

11.  Earnings per Share:
      The earnings considered in ascertaining the Company’s earnings per share (EPS) comprised the net profit/(loss) after 

tax. The number of shares used in computing Basic EPS is the weighted average number of shares outstanding during 
the year. The number of shares used in computing Diluted EPS comprises of weighted average shares considered for 
deriving Basic EPS, and also the weighted average number of equity shares which could have been issued to the 
conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares where applicable. Dilutive potential shares are deemed to have been 
converted as of the beginning of the year, unless they have been issued at the later date.

12. Taxes on Income: 
Current tax is determined based on the amount of tax payable in respect of taxable income for the year. Deferred tax 
is recognized on timing differences being the difference between the taxable incomes and accounting income that 
originate in one year and are capable of reversal in one are more subsequent years. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are computed on the timing differences applying the enacted tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets arising on account of unabsorbed depreciation 
or carry forward of tax losses are recognized only to the extent that there is virtual certainty evidence that sufficient 
future tax income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be realized.

II. Notes on Accounts

1. (a) Contingent liabilities:
Bank Guarantee outstanding in respect of customs and others  Rs. 19,01,95,826 (2007 – Rs Nil) 

(b) Capital Commitments:
  Estimated Value of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account, not provided for (Net of Advances): 

Rs. 162,31,95,688 (2007-Rs. 647,34,57,941)

     (c) The Company has entered in to SWAP agreement from floating rate of interest to fixed rate of interest against its 
foreign currency loan of USD 125 million, covering a period of September 10, 2007 to April 1, 2024. Impact on 
Marking-to-Market as on the Balance Sheet date is Rs. Nil

2.  The company commenced its Commercial operations from March 23, 2008.   Accordingly Profit and Loss Account has 
been drawn up for a period from March 23, 2008 to March 31, 2008. This being the first year of operations, previous 
year figures has not been furnished for the profit and loss account.

3. In respect of security component of passenger service fees being in the nature of “pass through”, the same has not 
been considered as part of the company revenues. The balances at the period end have been disclosed under the 
respective heads in the Balance Sheet.

4. Company has capitalized Rs. 434,86,82,557 towards cost of various assets in building the Airport, as expenditure 
incurred during construction period as stated in schedule 6 including borrowing cost and trial run cost. Preoperative 
expenditure of Rs. 26,61,74,683 other than those which have been capitalized, were charged to the profit and loss 
account during the year. Borrowing cost amounting to Rs. 99,72,45,171 has been included in the above expenditure 
incurred during construction period and capitalized as part of project cost.
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Rent 6,55,604

Rates and Taxes 2,95,491

Advertisement 7,38,42,482

Consultancy and Other Professional Charges 2,41,41,167

Traveling and Conveyance 2,59,84,367

Remuneration to Auditors

  Audit fees 15,00,000

Communication Expenses 26,73,409

Donations 1,70,12,653

Office Maintenance 66,09,416

Security Charges 28,62,840

Printing and Stationery 1,04,92,851

Loss on Sale of Fixed Assets 20,14,261

Recruitment and Training Charges 36,53,168

Inauguration Expenses 14,65,37,045

Miscellaneous Expenses 73,16,631

32,55,91,385 

(Amount in Rupees)

For the period from
March 23, 2008 to

March 31, 2008
Schedule 18 - Administration Cost

Schedules forming part of Profit and Loss Account 
for the period ended March 31, 2008

Interest on Fixed Loans 2,03,64,898

Other Finance Charges 18,03,675

2,21,68,573

For the period from
March 23, 2008 to

March 31, 2008
Schedule 19 - Finance Charges

2221

SCHEDULE - 20

I. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Accounting Assumptions:
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention on the basis of a going concern, with revenues 
recognised and expenses accounted on their accrual and amounts determined as payable or receivable during the year, 
except those with significant uncertainties, and in accordance with the applicable Accounting Standards as issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

2. Revenue Recognition:
Revenue from Airport operations are recognised on accrual basis, net of Service tax, applicable discounts and 
collection charges, when services are rendered and it is probable that an economic benefit will be received which can 
be quantified reliably. 

3. Concession Fee: 
The concession fee computed as a percentage of revenue pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Concession 
agreement for the Development, Construction, Operation and maintenance of GMR Hyderabad International Airport, 
is recognised as charge in the Profit and Loss account. 

4. Fixed Assets
Fixed Assets are stated at cost, net of cenvat credit less accumulated depreciation. Cost of acquisition is inclusive of 
freight, duties levies and all incidental expenditure attributable to bringing the assets to its working condition. Assets 
under installation or under construction as at the balance sheet date are shown as capital work in progress. 

All fixed Assets are assessed for any indication of impairment at the end of each financial year. On any such indication, 
the impairment loss (being the excess of carrying value over the recoverable value of the asset) is immediately 
charged to the Profit and Loss Account. The impairment loss recognised in the prior years is reversed where the 
recoverable value exceeds the carrying value of the asset upon re-assessment in the subsequent years. 

5. Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on straight line method at the rates based on the estimated useful lives of the assets or those 
prescribed under Schedule XIV of the Companies Act, 1956 whichever is higher. Individual assets costing less than 
Rs. 5,000 are fully depreciated in the year of purchase.

Lease hold improvement are amortised over shorter of estimated useful lives or lease period.

6. Foreign currency Transactions
All Foreign currency transaction are accounted at the exchange rates prevailing on the date of transactions. Current 
assets and current liabilities are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date and the 
resultant gain / loss is recognised in the financial statements. 

In case of Forward Exchange Contacts or any financial instruments i.e in substance a forward exchange contact to 
hedge the foreign currency risk which is on account of firm commitment and / or is a highly probable forecast 
transaction, the premium or discount arising at the inception of the contract is amortised as expense or income over 
the life of the contact. 

7. Government Grant:
Government Grant in the nature of Capital Subsidy is treated as capital reserve. 

8. Investments: 
Long-term investment are valued at cost unless there is a permanent diminution in their values. Current investments 
are valued at cost or market value whichever is lower. Cost of acquisition is inclusive of expenditure incidental to 
acquisition. Income from Investments is recognised in the year in which it is accrued and stated at Gross.

9. Retirement Benefits:
    Retirement Benefits are accounted for on accrual basis in respect of contribution schemes     such as provident fund 

and superannuation fund with contributions charged against revenue each last year. Liability for gratuity is funded 
through a scheme administered by an insurer and a provision is made based on actuarial valuation carried out as at 
balance sheet date. Provision for leave encashment is made based on actuarial valuation carried as at the year end.

10.  Borrowing Costs:
       Borrowing costs that are attributable to acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as 

a part of cost of such asset. All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the year in which they are 
incurred.

11.  Earnings per Share:
      The earnings considered in ascertaining the Company’s earnings per share (EPS) comprised the net profit/(loss) after 

tax. The number of shares used in computing Basic EPS is the weighted average number of shares outstanding during 
the year. The number of shares used in computing Diluted EPS comprises of weighted average shares considered for 
deriving Basic EPS, and also the weighted average number of equity shares which could have been issued to the 
conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares where applicable. Dilutive potential shares are deemed to have been 
converted as of the beginning of the year, unless they have been issued at the later date.

12. Taxes on Income: 
Current tax is determined based on the amount of tax payable in respect of taxable income for the year. Deferred tax 
is recognized on timing differences being the difference between the taxable incomes and accounting income that 
originate in one year and are capable of reversal in one are more subsequent years. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are computed on the timing differences applying the enacted tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets arising on account of unabsorbed depreciation 
or carry forward of tax losses are recognized only to the extent that there is virtual certainty evidence that sufficient 
future tax income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be realized.

II. Notes on Accounts

1. (a) Contingent liabilities:
Bank Guarantee outstanding in respect of customs and others  Rs. 19,01,95,826 (2007 – Rs Nil) 

(b) Capital Commitments:
  Estimated Value of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account, not provided for (Net of Advances): 

Rs. 162,31,95,688 (2007-Rs. 647,34,57,941)

     (c) The Company has entered in to SWAP agreement from floating rate of interest to fixed rate of interest against its 
foreign currency loan of USD 125 million, covering a period of September 10, 2007 to April 1, 2024. Impact on 
Marking-to-Market as on the Balance Sheet date is Rs. Nil

2.  The company commenced its Commercial operations from March 23, 2008.   Accordingly Profit and Loss Account has 
been drawn up for a period from March 23, 2008 to March 31, 2008. This being the first year of operations, previous 
year figures has not been furnished for the profit and loss account.

3. In respect of security component of passenger service fees being in the nature of “pass through”, the same has not 
been considered as part of the company revenues. The balances at the period end have been disclosed under the 
respective heads in the Balance Sheet.

4. Company has capitalized Rs. 434,86,82,557 towards cost of various assets in building the Airport, as expenditure 
incurred during construction period as stated in schedule 6 including borrowing cost and trial run cost. Preoperative 
expenditure of Rs. 26,61,74,683 other than those which have been capitalized, were charged to the profit and loss 
account during the year. Borrowing cost amounting to Rs. 99,72,45,171 has been included in the above expenditure 
incurred during construction period and capitalized as part of project cost.
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DBS Chola Short term Floating Rate 9,24,17,774 92,57,01,399 9,40,27,091 94,18,20,960

Fund-Daily Div Reinv Plan (27,96,41,066) (280,46,82,671) (33,25,85,675) 333,57,80,782

NFSTD Canara Robeco Floating Rate 15,65,25,210 160,59,48,650 15,65,25,210 160,59,48,650

ST Daily Dividend Fund (4,54,01,212) (45,58,73,571) (4,68,95,195) (47,08,74,656)

Principal Cash Management Fund 14,22,53,664 144,13,05,911 14,57,65,118 147,64,22,908

Liquid Option Inst. Plan-Dividend (5,86,80,904) (58,68,50,115) (5,51,69,450) (55,17,33,119)

Reinvestment Daily

Kotak Liquid (Institutional Premium) 3,68,37,784 45,04,56,108 3,68,37,784 45,04,56,108

-Daily Dividend (73,246) (8,95,662) (57,98,658) (7,09,06,567)

ING Vysya Liquid Fund Super 6,72,37,254 67,26,95,274 4,32,73,641 43,29,43,270

Institutional Daily Dividend Option (7,95,23,404) (79,54,73,446) (7,84,74,090) (78,50,00,000)

LIC Liquid Fund-Dividend Plan - - - -

(18,69,94,674) (205,17,61,221) (18,88,70,452) (207,27,98,469)

Reliance liquidity Fund Daily 21,14,34,406 211,49,99,510 24,31,87,978 243,26,33,662

Dividend Option (12,30,04,905) (123,04,30,362) (9,12,51,333) (91,27,96,210)

 Reliance Call Market Linked Plan - - - -

(5,54,11,863) (61,73,49,104) (5,54,11,863) (61,73,49,104)

UTI Liquid Cash Plan Institutional 9,37,699 95,59,33,049 5,95,517 60,70,97,678

-Daily Income (5,42,082) (55,26,23,639) (4,91,517) (50,10,74,978)

ICICI Pru Institutional Liquid Plan-Super 5,33,16,099 53,31,79,222 5,33,16,099 53,31,79,222

Institutional Daily Dividend-Reinvest Dividend (16,53,26,782) (165,32,69,824) (16,53,26,782) (165,32,67,824)

NLFID Can Robeco Liquid Fund 2,98,84,459 30,00,69,852 2,98,84,459 30,00,69,852

-Institutional Dialy Dividend Reinvest - – - -

Principal Floating Rate FMP Fund Insti 13,48,45,026 135,01,08,854 12,08,47,838 120,99,64,811

Option-Dividend Reinvestment Daily - - - -

HSBC Cash Fund-Institutional Flus 9,39,60,632 94,01,32,496 9,39,60,632 94,01,32,496

-Daily Dividend - - - -

HSBC Liquid Plus-Inst Plus-Daily Dividend 9,50,67,626 95,18,74,116 9,50,67,626 95,18,74,116

- - - -

ING Vysya Liquid Plus Fund-Institutional Daily 1,01,33,433 10,13,67,765 1,01,33,433 10,13,67,765

Dividend - - - -

Kotak Flex Debt Scheme-Daily Dividend 2,00,29,964 20,09,22,574 2,00,29,964 20,09,22,574

- - - -

Reliance Liquid Plus Fund-Institutional 2,49,928 25,02,11,834 1,49,885 15,00,55,266

Option-Daily Dividend Plan – - - -

Total 114,51,30,957 1279,49,06,613 114,36,02,274 1233,48,89,339

Sales

Units Units

Cost of Acquisition
Description (Amount in

Rupees)
(Amount in

Rupees)

5. Details of Investments purchased and sold during the perid :

Notes: 

(i)  The sales realisation excludes dividend, if any, received from Mutual Funds.
(ii)  Cost of acquisition includes Dividend earned and Profit and Loss on sale of investments during the year.
(iii) Previous year figures (2007) are mentioned in brackets.

5.  The Company is engaged in operation of Airport, which in the context of Accounting Standard 17 “Segment 
Reporting”, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, is considered as the only segment. Hence, 
reporting under the requirements of
 the said standard does not arise.

6.  Details of transactions with Related Parties:

     A   Name of related parties and description of relationship:

(i) Holding Company GMR Infrastructure Limited (GIL)

(ii) Ultimate Holding Company GMR Holding Private Limited (GHPL)

(iii) Subsidiary Companies Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited
GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited
GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited
Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited
GMR Hyderabad Aviation SEZ Limited
GMR Hyderabad Multiproduct SEZ Limited

(iv) Fellow Subsidiaries G V L Investments Private Limited
GMR Aviation Private Limited
GMR Corporate Centre Limited
GMR Krishnagiri SEZ Limited

(v)  Fellow Subsidiaries of holding Company GMR Industries Limited
Raxa Security Services Limited

(vi) Shareholders’ having significant influence Government of Andhra Pradesh
Airports Authority of India
Malaysia Airports Holdings Herhad

(vii) Enterprise where significant influence exists GMR Varalakshmi Foundation

(viii) Key Management Personnel Mr. Kiran Kumar Grandhi - Managing Director
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DBS Chola Short term Floating Rate 9,24,17,774 92,57,01,399 9,40,27,091 94,18,20,960

Fund-Daily Div Reinv Plan (27,96,41,066) (280,46,82,671) (33,25,85,675) 333,57,80,782

NFSTD Canara Robeco Floating Rate 15,65,25,210 160,59,48,650 15,65,25,210 160,59,48,650

ST Daily Dividend Fund (4,54,01,212) (45,58,73,571) (4,68,95,195) (47,08,74,656)

Principal Cash Management Fund 14,22,53,664 144,13,05,911 14,57,65,118 147,64,22,908

Liquid Option Inst. Plan-Dividend (5,86,80,904) (58,68,50,115) (5,51,69,450) (55,17,33,119)

Reinvestment Daily

Kotak Liquid (Institutional Premium) 3,68,37,784 45,04,56,108 3,68,37,784 45,04,56,108

-Daily Dividend (73,246) (8,95,662) (57,98,658) (7,09,06,567)

ING Vysya Liquid Fund Super 6,72,37,254 67,26,95,274 4,32,73,641 43,29,43,270

Institutional Daily Dividend Option (7,95,23,404) (79,54,73,446) (7,84,74,090) (78,50,00,000)

LIC Liquid Fund-Dividend Plan - - - -

(18,69,94,674) (205,17,61,221) (18,88,70,452) (207,27,98,469)

Reliance liquidity Fund Daily 21,14,34,406 211,49,99,510 24,31,87,978 243,26,33,662

Dividend Option (12,30,04,905) (123,04,30,362) (9,12,51,333) (91,27,96,210)

 Reliance Call Market Linked Plan - - - -

(5,54,11,863) (61,73,49,104) (5,54,11,863) (61,73,49,104)

UTI Liquid Cash Plan Institutional 9,37,699 95,59,33,049 5,95,517 60,70,97,678

-Daily Income (5,42,082) (55,26,23,639) (4,91,517) (50,10,74,978)

ICICI Pru Institutional Liquid Plan-Super 5,33,16,099 53,31,79,222 5,33,16,099 53,31,79,222

Institutional Daily Dividend-Reinvest Dividend (16,53,26,782) (165,32,69,824) (16,53,26,782) (165,32,67,824)

NLFID Can Robeco Liquid Fund 2,98,84,459 30,00,69,852 2,98,84,459 30,00,69,852

-Institutional Dialy Dividend Reinvest - – - -

Principal Floating Rate FMP Fund Insti 13,48,45,026 135,01,08,854 12,08,47,838 120,99,64,811

Option-Dividend Reinvestment Daily - - - -

HSBC Cash Fund-Institutional Flus 9,39,60,632 94,01,32,496 9,39,60,632 94,01,32,496

-Daily Dividend - - - -

HSBC Liquid Plus-Inst Plus-Daily Dividend 9,50,67,626 95,18,74,116 9,50,67,626 95,18,74,116

- - - -

ING Vysya Liquid Plus Fund-Institutional Daily 1,01,33,433 10,13,67,765 1,01,33,433 10,13,67,765

Dividend - - - -

Kotak Flex Debt Scheme-Daily Dividend 2,00,29,964 20,09,22,574 2,00,29,964 20,09,22,574

- - - -

Reliance Liquid Plus Fund-Institutional 2,49,928 25,02,11,834 1,49,885 15,00,55,266

Option-Daily Dividend Plan – - - -

Total 114,51,30,957 1279,49,06,613 114,36,02,274 1233,48,89,339

Sales

Units Units

Cost of Acquisition
Description (Amount in

Rupees)
(Amount in

Rupees)

5. Details of Investments purchased and sold during the perid :

Notes: 

(i)  The sales realisation excludes dividend, if any, received from Mutual Funds.
(ii)  Cost of acquisition includes Dividend earned and Profit and Loss on sale of investments during the year.
(iii) Previous year figures (2007) are mentioned in brackets.

5.  The Company is engaged in operation of Airport, which in the context of Accounting Standard 17 “Segment 
Reporting”, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, is considered as the only segment. Hence, 
reporting under the requirements of
 the said standard does not arise.

6.  Details of transactions with Related Parties:

     A   Name of related parties and description of relationship:

(i) Holding Company GMR Infrastructure Limited (GIL)

(ii) Ultimate Holding Company GMR Holding Private Limited (GHPL)

(iii) Subsidiary Companies Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited
GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited
GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited
Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited
GMR Hyderabad Aviation SEZ Limited
GMR Hyderabad Multiproduct SEZ Limited

(iv) Fellow Subsidiaries G V L Investments Private Limited
GMR Aviation Private Limited
GMR Corporate Centre Limited
GMR Krishnagiri SEZ Limited

(v)  Fellow Subsidiaries of holding Company GMR Industries Limited
Raxa Security Services Limited

(vi) Shareholders’ having significant influence Government of Andhra Pradesh
Airports Authority of India
Malaysia Airports Holdings Herhad

(vii) Enterprise where significant influence exists GMR Varalakshmi Foundation

(viii) Key Management Personnel Mr. Kiran Kumar Grandhi - Managing Director
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i) Receipt of Share Application Money:

a) Holding Company-GMR Infrastructure Ltd. 102,62,88,000 -

b)Shareholders’ having significant influence

Airports Authority of India 141,060,000 15,30,36,000

Government of Andhra Pradesh 141,000,000 -

Malaysia Airports Holding Berhad 11,94,20,000 -

ii) Remuneration:

a) Key Management Personnel

    Mr. Kiran Kumar Grandhi - Managing Director 1,83,38,666 1,60,09,321

iii) Services Received:

Fellow Subsidiaries

a) GMR Industries Ltd. 3,50,83,536 3,71,35,333

b) Raxa Security Services Ltd. 2,49,06,072 1,35,39,990

c) Airport Authority of India 24,48,353 -

d) GMR Aviation Pvt. Ltd. 1,95,08,252 -

iv) Charities and Donations:

Enterprise where significant influence exists

GMR Varalakshmi Foundaion 6,99,35,400 1,01,23,207

v) Investment in Subsidiary Companies:

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited 46,92,000 5,10,000

b) GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited 5,00,000 -

c) GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource 
    Management Limited 5,00,000 -

d) Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 5,00,000 -

e) GMR Hyderabad Aviation SEZ Limited 5,00,000 -

f) GMR Hyderabad Multiproduct SEZ Limited 5,00,000 -

vi) Advance towards Share Application Money:

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited 59,90,000 -

b) Hyderabad Airport Security services Limited 6,25,00,000 -

vii) Advances to Subsidiaries:

a) GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource

    Management Limited 2,33,00,000 -

b) Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 3,90,40,000 -

viii) Income from Concessional Fee:

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited 

    - Revenue share 8,01,024 -

ix) Income from Concessionaires Rent :

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited 

    - Licence Fee 13,97,516 -

(Amount in Rupees)

Particulars March 31, 2008 March 31, 2007

B.   Summary of Transactions with the above related parties is as follows :

i) Balance Recoverable:

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited, Hyderabad 24,70,280

b) GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited 2,33,00,000

c) Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 3,90,40,000

ii) Advances towards Share Application money:

Subsidiary companies:

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited 59,90,000

b) Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 6,25,00,000

iii) Investment in Subsidiaries:

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited 52,02,000 5,10,000

b) GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited 5,00,000

c) GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited 5,00,000

d) Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 5.00,000

e) GMR Hyderabad Aviation SEZ Limited 5.00,000

f) GMR Hyderabad Multi-Product SEZ Limited 5,00,000

iv) Share application money pending allotment:

a) Holding Company: GMR Infrastructure Limited 238,25,61,000

b) Shareholders’ having significant influence:

Airport Authority of India 38,68,78,000

Government of Andhra Pradesh 38,68,18,000

Malaysia Airport Holdings Berhad 32,74,20,000

(Amount in Rupees)

Particulars March 31, 2008 March 31, 2007

C.   Out standing balances as at the year end :

Notes: Transactions and outstanding balances in the nature of reimbursement of expenses incurred by one 
company On behalf of the other have not been considered above.

7. The Company has entered into certain operating lease agreements and an amount of Rs.2,40,93,288, (2007 - 
Rs.2,28,10,745) has been paid during the year, out of which Rs.2,34,37,685 (2007-Rs. Nil), has been 
capitalised and the balance amount of Rs. 6,55,603 has been considered under Rent in Profit and Loss 
Account.

8. Lease Rentals Payable towards Land lease:
In pursuance of the State Support Agreement, the Company has entered into a Land Lease Agreement will 
Government of Andhra Pradesh, for obtaining the possession of land on lease for the development of 
Airport Project. As per the agreement, the lease term is in line with the term of the Concession Agreement 
entered into with the Ministry of Civil Aviation, Government of India. The company is allotted land on lease 
by Govt of Andhra Pradesh, for a period of 30 years, with an option for extension for another 30 years. The 
lease rentals are payable from 8th anniversary from the commencement of operations. The future lease 
rentals, payable in this regard upto next 30 years are as given below:

Not later than one year - -
Later than one year and not later than five Years - -
Above five years 128,43,44,728 -

Particulars Minimum Lease Payable

March 31, 2008 March 31, 2007
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i) Receipt of Share Application Money:

a) Holding Company-GMR Infrastructure Ltd. 102,62,88,000 -

b)Shareholders’ having significant influence

Airports Authority of India 141,060,000 15,30,36,000

Government of Andhra Pradesh 141,000,000 -

Malaysia Airports Holding Berhad 11,94,20,000 -

ii) Remuneration:

a) Key Management Personnel

    Mr. Kiran Kumar Grandhi - Managing Director 1,83,38,666 1,60,09,321

iii) Services Received:

Fellow Subsidiaries

a) GMR Industries Ltd. 3,50,83,536 3,71,35,333

b) Raxa Security Services Ltd. 2,49,06,072 1,35,39,990

c) Airport Authority of India 24,48,353 -

d) GMR Aviation Pvt. Ltd. 1,95,08,252 -

iv) Charities and Donations:

Enterprise where significant influence exists

GMR Varalakshmi Foundaion 6,99,35,400 1,01,23,207

v) Investment in Subsidiary Companies:

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited 46,92,000 5,10,000

b) GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited 5,00,000 -

c) GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource 
    Management Limited 5,00,000 -

d) Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 5,00,000 -

e) GMR Hyderabad Aviation SEZ Limited 5,00,000 -

f) GMR Hyderabad Multiproduct SEZ Limited 5,00,000 -

vi) Advance towards Share Application Money:

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited 59,90,000 -

b) Hyderabad Airport Security services Limited 6,25,00,000 -

vii) Advances to Subsidiaries:

a) GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource

    Management Limited 2,33,00,000 -

b) Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 3,90,40,000 -

viii) Income from Concessional Fee:

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited 

    - Revenue share 8,01,024 -

ix) Income from Concessionaires Rent :

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited 

    - Licence Fee 13,97,516 -

(Amount in Rupees)

Particulars March 31, 2008 March 31, 2007

B.   Summary of Transactions with the above related parties is as follows :

i) Balance Recoverable:

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited, Hyderabad 24,70,280

b) GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited 2,33,00,000

c) Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 3,90,40,000

ii) Advances towards Share Application money:

Subsidiary companies:

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited 59,90,000

b) Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 6,25,00,000

iii) Investment in Subsidiaries:

a) Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited 52,02,000 5,10,000

b) GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited 5,00,000

c) GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited 5,00,000

d) Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 5.00,000

e) GMR Hyderabad Aviation SEZ Limited 5.00,000

f) GMR Hyderabad Multi-Product SEZ Limited 5,00,000

iv) Share application money pending allotment:

a) Holding Company: GMR Infrastructure Limited 238,25,61,000

b) Shareholders’ having significant influence:

Airport Authority of India 38,68,78,000

Government of Andhra Pradesh 38,68,18,000

Malaysia Airport Holdings Berhad 32,74,20,000

(Amount in Rupees)

Particulars March 31, 2008 March 31, 2007

C.   Out standing balances as at the year end :

Notes: Transactions and outstanding balances in the nature of reimbursement of expenses incurred by one 
company On behalf of the other have not been considered above.

7. The Company has entered into certain operating lease agreements and an amount of Rs.2,40,93,288, (2007 - 
Rs.2,28,10,745) has been paid during the year, out of which Rs.2,34,37,685 (2007-Rs. Nil), has been 
capitalised and the balance amount of Rs. 6,55,603 has been considered under Rent in Profit and Loss 
Account.

8. Lease Rentals Payable towards Land lease:
In pursuance of the State Support Agreement, the Company has entered into a Land Lease Agreement will 
Government of Andhra Pradesh, for obtaining the possession of land on lease for the development of 
Airport Project. As per the agreement, the lease term is in line with the term of the Concession Agreement 
entered into with the Ministry of Civil Aviation, Government of India. The company is allotted land on lease 
by Govt of Andhra Pradesh, for a period of 30 years, with an option for extension for another 30 years. The 
lease rentals are payable from 8th anniversary from the commencement of operations. The future lease 
rentals, payable in this regard upto next 30 years are as given below:

Not later than one year - -
Later than one year and not later than five Years - -
Above five years 128,43,44,728 -

Particulars Minimum Lease Payable

March 31, 2008 March 31, 2007
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Not later than one year 60,81,50,820 -
Later than one year and not later than five years 212,81,16,825 -
Above five years 121,66,97,811 -

Particulars Minimum Lease Payable

March 31, 2008 March 31, 2007

9. Lease Rent Receivable :
The Company has entered into non-cancellable operating sub-lease agreements for letting out land and premises and 
the future minimum lease receivable values are as under :

10.  Employee Benefits :

a) Transitional obligation on account of adoption of Accounting Standard 15:
Effective April 1, 2007, the Company has adopted the Accounting Standard 15(Revised 2005) on “Employee Benefits” issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Pursuant to the adoption, the transitional obligation of the Company on account of the 
defined benefit plans amounted to Rs. 9,412/-. The said cost is accumulated in the Expenditure during construction period, pending 
allocation(net) and capitalised as part of Project cost.

b) Defined Benefit Plans :
The following table sets forth the status of the Gratuity plan of the company and the amount recognised in the Balance 
Sheet.

Projected benefit Obligation at the beginning of the period (01-04-2007) 56,12,687
Current Service cost 11,42,356
Interest Cost 4,49,015
Acturial (Gain) Loss (1,08,885)
Benefits Paid (1,29,032)
Projected benefit Obligation at the end of the period (31-03-2008) 69,66,141
Amount recognised in the balance sheet

Projected benefit obligation at the end of the period (31-03-2008) 69,66,141
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the period (31-03-2008) 36,90,634

Funded status of the plans-asset/(liability) recognised in the balance sheet (32,75,507)
Cost for the period
      Current service cost 11,42,356

Interest cost 4,49,015
Expected return on plan asset (1,88,026)
Net actuarial (gain)/loss recognised in the period (1,64,677)

Net cost 12,38,668
Investment details of the plan assets
     State and central Securities -

Bonds -
Special deposits -

Actual return on plan assets
Assumptions:-
     Discount rate 8.00%

Estimated rate of return on plan assets 8.00%
Expected rate of salary increase 6.00%

Particulars

C) Defined contribution plans :
In respect of defined contribution plans (Provident Fund and Superannuation), an amount of Rs. 1,74,58,272 has 
been recognised in expenditure during construction period pending allocation(net) and charged to in the Profit and 
Loss account proportionate to the period of commercial operation.

11.   Earnings Per Share (EPS)*:

Particulars

Particulars

Particulars

Particulars

Particulars

March 31, 2008

March 31, 2007

March 31, 2007

March 31, 2007

March 31, 2007

March 31, 2008

March 31, 2008

March 31, 2008

March 31, 2008

(Amount in Rupees)

(Amount in Rupees)

(Amount in Rupees)

(Amount in Rupees)

a. Profit/(loss) after tax (Rs.) 57,80,78,187
b. Weighted average numer of Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each outstanding during the period. 

(Used for calculation of Basic earnings per Share) 58,730

c. Earning per share Basic and diluted (Rs.) (9,843)

Auditors Fee(Excluding Service Tax) 15,00,000 5,00,000

Total 15,00,000 5,00,000

Salary 1,47,53,083 1,24,25,500
Contribution to Provident & Super Annuation Fund 35,10,000 34,75,250
Other Perquisites 75,583 1,08,571

Total 1,83,38,666 1,60,09,321

Foreign Travel Expenses 5,84,28,596 47,41,612
Professional Charges 18,70,60,238 5,50,52,072
Interest 8,88,43,427 -
Others 10,99,41,122 2,13,16,228

Total 44,42,73,383 8,11,09,912

Capital Goods 5291,41,583 -

Total 5291,41,583 -

*Share application money pending allotment is not considered for calculation of diluted earnings per share as the 
company has incurred loss during the period

12.  Deferred Tax:
Deferred Tax liability as per the requirement of Accounting Standard-22, Accounting for taxes on income, issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India has not been provided during the year as the timing differences that 
originate as at the Balance Sheet date will be reversing during the tax holiday period of the company under the 
provisions of Section 80-IA of the Income tax act, 1961.

13. Company has not paid any interest or any interest payable is outstanding to Micro, Small or Medium Enterprises 
(Under the provisions of Section 16 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006) during the 
period ending March 31, 2008.

14.   Auditors Remuneration:

15.   Managerial Remuneration:

21.  Expenditure in Foreign Currency:

22.   C.I.F Value of Imports

23. Additional Information pursuant to paragraphs 3, 4, 4-C and 4-D of part - II of Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956 
to the extent either “Nil” or “Not Applicable” has not been furnished.

24. Previous year figures have been regrouped and reclassified, wherever necessary, to confirm to those of the current year.

                                                                                             For and on behalf of the Board
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Gratuity 

(Amount in Rupees)

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Kiran Kumar Grandhi R S S L N Bhaskarudu Rajgopal Swami
Partner Managing Director Director Chief Financial Officer &
Membership No. 22795 Company Secretary
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008
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Not later than one year 60,81,50,820 -
Later than one year and not later than five years 212,81,16,825 -
Above five years 121,66,97,811 -

Particulars Minimum Lease Payable

March 31, 2008 March 31, 2007

9. Lease Rent Receivable :
The Company has entered into non-cancellable operating sub-lease agreements for letting out land and premises and 
the future minimum lease receivable values are as under :

10.  Employee Benefits :

a) Transitional obligation on account of adoption of Accounting Standard 15:
Effective April 1, 2007, the Company has adopted the Accounting Standard 15(Revised 2005) on “Employee Benefits” issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Pursuant to the adoption, the transitional obligation of the Company on account of the 
defined benefit plans amounted to Rs. 9,412/-. The said cost is accumulated in the Expenditure during construction period, pending 
allocation(net) and capitalised as part of Project cost.

b) Defined Benefit Plans :
The following table sets forth the status of the Gratuity plan of the company and the amount recognised in the Balance 
Sheet.

Projected benefit Obligation at the beginning of the period (01-04-2007) 56,12,687
Current Service cost 11,42,356
Interest Cost 4,49,015
Acturial (Gain) Loss (1,08,885)
Benefits Paid (1,29,032)
Projected benefit Obligation at the end of the period (31-03-2008) 69,66,141
Amount recognised in the balance sheet

Projected benefit obligation at the end of the period (31-03-2008) 69,66,141
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the period (31-03-2008) 36,90,634

Funded status of the plans-asset/(liability) recognised in the balance sheet (32,75,507)
Cost for the period
      Current service cost 11,42,356

Interest cost 4,49,015
Expected return on plan asset (1,88,026)
Net actuarial (gain)/loss recognised in the period (1,64,677)

Net cost 12,38,668
Investment details of the plan assets
     State and central Securities -

Bonds -
Special deposits -

Actual return on plan assets
Assumptions:-
     Discount rate 8.00%

Estimated rate of return on plan assets 8.00%
Expected rate of salary increase 6.00%

Particulars

C) Defined contribution plans :
In respect of defined contribution plans (Provident Fund and Superannuation), an amount of Rs. 1,74,58,272 has 
been recognised in expenditure during construction period pending allocation(net) and charged to in the Profit and 
Loss account proportionate to the period of commercial operation.

11.   Earnings Per Share (EPS)*:

Particulars

Particulars

Particulars

Particulars

Particulars

March 31, 2008

March 31, 2007

March 31, 2007

March 31, 2007

March 31, 2007

March 31, 2008

March 31, 2008

March 31, 2008

March 31, 2008

(Amount in Rupees)

(Amount in Rupees)

(Amount in Rupees)

(Amount in Rupees)

a. Profit/(loss) after tax (Rs.) 57,80,78,187
b. Weighted average numer of Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each outstanding during the period. 

(Used for calculation of Basic earnings per Share) 58,730

c. Earning per share Basic and diluted (Rs.) (9,843)

Auditors Fee(Excluding Service Tax) 15,00,000 5,00,000

Total 15,00,000 5,00,000

Salary 1,47,53,083 1,24,25,500
Contribution to Provident & Super Annuation Fund 35,10,000 34,75,250
Other Perquisites 75,583 1,08,571

Total 1,83,38,666 1,60,09,321

Foreign Travel Expenses 5,84,28,596 47,41,612
Professional Charges 18,70,60,238 5,50,52,072
Interest 8,88,43,427 -
Others 10,99,41,122 2,13,16,228

Total 44,42,73,383 8,11,09,912

Capital Goods 5291,41,583 -

Total 5291,41,583 -

*Share application money pending allotment is not considered for calculation of diluted earnings per share as the 
company has incurred loss during the period

12.  Deferred Tax:
Deferred Tax liability as per the requirement of Accounting Standard-22, Accounting for taxes on income, issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India has not been provided during the year as the timing differences that 
originate as at the Balance Sheet date will be reversing during the tax holiday period of the company under the 
provisions of Section 80-IA of the Income tax act, 1961.

13. Company has not paid any interest or any interest payable is outstanding to Micro, Small or Medium Enterprises 
(Under the provisions of Section 16 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006) during the 
period ending March 31, 2008.

14.   Auditors Remuneration:

15.   Managerial Remuneration:

21.  Expenditure in Foreign Currency:

22.   C.I.F Value of Imports

23. Additional Information pursuant to paragraphs 3, 4, 4-C and 4-D of part - II of Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956 
to the extent either “Nil” or “Not Applicable” has not been furnished.

24. Previous year figures have been regrouped and reclassified, wherever necessary, to confirm to those of the current year.

                                                                                             For and on behalf of the Board
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Gratuity 

(Amount in Rupees)

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Kiran Kumar Grandhi R S S L N Bhaskarudu Rajgopal Swami
Partner Managing Director Director Chief Financial Officer &
Membership No. 22795 Company Secretary
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008
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A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit Before Tax and Extra Ordinary items (57,69,85,050) -
Adjustment for :
Depreciation 2,56,08,432 -
Foreign Exchange Fluctuation Gain (4,04,82,084) -
Loss on Sale of Fixed Asset 20,14,261 -
Interest income (29,55,921) -
Interest expense 2,03,64,898
Dividend received (16,94,987) -

Operating Profit Before Working Capital Changes (574,130,442) -

Adjustment for :
(Increase) / Decrease in Sundry debtors (8,95,12,137) -
(Increase) / Decrease in Loans and Advances (120,93,42,195) (4,57,54,661)
Increase / (Decrease) in Current Liabilities and Provisions 417,01,66,585 31,39,68,645

Cash Generated from Operations 229,71,81,811 26,82,13,984
Income taxes paid (2,61,16,622) (1,30,38,900)

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 2,271,065,189 255,175,084

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Fixed Assets (1262,50,87,612) (552,96,87,873)
during construction period, pending allocation)
Proceeds from Sale of fixed assets 4,73,004 -
Purchase of Long term Investments (71,92,000) (5,10,000)
Sale / (Purchase) of Short term Investments (net) (46,00,17,276) 22,23,72,094
Dividend received 16,94,978 5,55,64,301
Interest received 9,42,342 57,94,743

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities (1308,91,86,564) (524,64,66,735)

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Share application money/ Share capital 142,77,68,000 15,30,36,000
Proceeds from Grant received from GOAP - 71,65,00,000
Proceeds/(Repayment) of long term debt (Net) 1014,91,38,416 460,98,51,057 
Interest Paid (71,16,49,060) (26,82,61,010)

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities 1086,52,57,356 5,211,126,047

Net increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,71,35,981 219,834,396
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year 50,52,65,061 285,430,665
Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year 55,24,01,042 505,265,061

Notes :
1. The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in the Accounting
   Standard - 3 on Cash Flow Statements issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

2.  Previous year’s figures have been regrouped and reclassified to conform to those of the current year.

(Amount in Rupees)

March 31, 2008 March 31, 2007

Cash flow statement for the year ended March 31, 2008

This is the Cash Flow Statement referred to in our report of even date.
                                                                                                            For and on behalf of the Board

Balance Sheet Abstract and Company’s General Business Profile

1 Registration Details

Registration No. 40118 State Code 01

Balance Sheet Date March 31, 2008

2 Capital raised during the year (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Public Issue Nil Rights Issue Nil

Bonus Issue Nil Private Placement Nil

3. Position of Mobilisation and Development of Funds (Amount in Rs. Thousands) 

Total Liabilities 2,33,64,438 Total assets 2,33,64,438

Sources Funds

Paid - Up Capital 587 Share Application Money 34,83,677

Reserves & Surplus Nil Unsecured Loans 33,94,824

Secured Loan 1,54,15,350 Grant from GOAP 10,70,000

Application of Funds

Net Fixed Assets 2,47,45,026 Investments 8,98,636

Net Current Assets (28,57,301) Misc. Expenditure Nil

Accumulated Losses 5,78,078

4. Performance of company (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Total Income N.A Total Expenditure N.A

5. Generic Names of Three Principal Products / Services of Company (as per monetary terms)

Item Code No.    : N.A

Product Description N.A

For and on behalf of the Board
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Sd/- Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Kiran Kumar Grandhi R S S L N Bhaskarudu Rajgopal Swami
Partner Managing Director Director Chief Financial Officer &
Membership No. 22795 Company Secretary
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Kiran Kumar Grandhi R S S L N Bhaskarudu Rajgopal Swami
Partner Managing Director Director Chief Financial Officer &
Membership No. 22795 Company Secretary
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008
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A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit Before Tax and Extra Ordinary items (57,69,85,050) -
Adjustment for :
Depreciation 2,56,08,432 -
Foreign Exchange Fluctuation Gain (4,04,82,084) -
Loss on Sale of Fixed Asset 20,14,261 -
Interest income (29,55,921) -
Interest expense 2,03,64,898
Dividend received (16,94,987) -

Operating Profit Before Working Capital Changes (574,130,442) -

Adjustment for :
(Increase) / Decrease in Sundry debtors (8,95,12,137) -
(Increase) / Decrease in Loans and Advances (120,93,42,195) (4,57,54,661)
Increase / (Decrease) in Current Liabilities and Provisions 417,01,66,585 31,39,68,645

Cash Generated from Operations 229,71,81,811 26,82,13,984
Income taxes paid (2,61,16,622) (1,30,38,900)

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 2,271,065,189 255,175,084

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Fixed Assets (1262,50,87,612) (552,96,87,873)
during construction period, pending allocation)
Proceeds from Sale of fixed assets 4,73,004 -
Purchase of Long term Investments (71,92,000) (5,10,000)
Sale / (Purchase) of Short term Investments (net) (46,00,17,276) 22,23,72,094
Dividend received 16,94,978 5,55,64,301
Interest received 9,42,342 57,94,743

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities (1308,91,86,564) (524,64,66,735)

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Share application money/ Share capital 142,77,68,000 15,30,36,000
Proceeds from Grant received from GOAP - 71,65,00,000
Proceeds/(Repayment) of long term debt (Net) 1014,91,38,416 460,98,51,057 
Interest Paid (71,16,49,060) (26,82,61,010)

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities 1086,52,57,356 5,211,126,047

Net increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,71,35,981 219,834,396
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year 50,52,65,061 285,430,665
Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year 55,24,01,042 505,265,061

Notes :
1. The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in the Accounting
   Standard - 3 on Cash Flow Statements issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

2.  Previous year’s figures have been regrouped and reclassified to conform to those of the current year.

(Amount in Rupees)

March 31, 2008 March 31, 2007

Cash flow statement for the year ended March 31, 2008

This is the Cash Flow Statement referred to in our report of even date.
                                                                                                            For and on behalf of the Board

Balance Sheet Abstract and Company’s General Business Profile

1 Registration Details

Registration No. 40118 State Code 01

Balance Sheet Date March 31, 2008

2 Capital raised during the year (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Public Issue Nil Rights Issue Nil

Bonus Issue Nil Private Placement Nil

3. Position of Mobilisation and Development of Funds (Amount in Rs. Thousands) 

Total Liabilities 2,33,64,438 Total assets 2,33,64,438

Sources Funds

Paid - Up Capital 587 Share Application Money 34,83,677

Reserves & Surplus Nil Unsecured Loans 33,94,824

Secured Loan 1,54,15,350 Grant from GOAP 10,70,000

Application of Funds

Net Fixed Assets 2,47,45,026 Investments 8,98,636

Net Current Assets (28,57,301) Misc. Expenditure Nil

Accumulated Losses 5,78,078

4. Performance of company (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Total Income N.A Total Expenditure N.A

5. Generic Names of Three Principal Products / Services of Company (as per monetary terms)

Item Code No.    : N.A

Product Description N.A

For and on behalf of the Board

3029

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Kiran Kumar Grandhi R S S L N Bhaskarudu Rajgopal Swami
Partner Managing Director Director Chief Financial Officer &
Membership No. 22795 Company Secretary
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008
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Place: Hyderabad
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Attachments pursuant to Section 212 of the Companies Act, 1956, in relation to the following 
subsidiaries of the company. 

GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited

GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited

GMR Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited

Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited

Documents Attached: 

1. Statement of the company’s interest in the above subsidiaries as required by section 212(3) of the companies 
Act, 1956

2. Balance sheet of the above subsidiaries 

3. Profit & Loss Account of the above subsidiaries (as applicable) 

4. Directors’ Report of the above subsidiaries 

5. Auditors’ Report of the above subsidiaries

3231

S
ta

te
m

e
n

t 
p

u
rs

u
a
n

t 
to

 s
e
c
ti

o
n

 2
1

2
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
m

p
a
n

ie
s
 A

c
t,

 1
9

5
6

 r
e
la

ti
n

g
 t

o
C

o
m

p
a
n

y
’s

 i
n

te
re

s
t 

in
 S

u
b

s
id

ia
ry

 C
o

m
p

a
n

ie
s
 a

s
 a

t 
3

1
s
t 

M
a
rc

h
, 

2
0

0
8

1
T
h
e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
r 

o
f 
th

e
 s

u
b
s
id

ia
ry

 C
o
m

p
a
n
ie

s
 e

n
d
e
d
 o

n
3
1
s
t 

M
a
rc

h
, 

2
0
0
8

3
1
s
t 

M
a
rc

h
, 

2
0
0
8

3
1
s
t 

M
a
rc

h
, 

2
0
0
8

3
1
s
t 

M
a
rc

h
, 

2
0
0
8

2
(a

) 
N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
s
h
a
re

s
 h

e
ld

 b
y

  
  
 W

it
h
 i
ts

 n
o
m

in
e
e
s
 i
n
 t

h
e
 s

u
b
s
id

ia
ri
e
s
 a

t 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
  
  
 Y

e
a
r 

o
f 
th

e
 S

u
b
s
id

ia
ry

 C
o
m

p
a
n
ie

s
5
2
0
,2

0
0

5
0
,0

0
0

5
0
,0

0
0

5
0
,0

0
0

(b
) 

E
x
te

n
t 

o
f 
in

te
re

s
t 

o
f 
h
o
ld

in
g
 c

o
m

p
a
n
y
 a

t 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l
  
  
 Y

e
a
r 

o
f 
th

e
 S

u
b
s
id

ia
ry

 C
o
m

p
a
n
ie

s
5
1
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

3
T
h
e
 n

e
t 

a
g
g
re

g
a
te

 a
m

o
u
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 s

u
b
s
id

ia
ry

 c
o
m

p
a
n
ie

s
 P

ro
fi
t/

L
o
s
s
 

S
o
 f
a
r 

a
s
 i
t 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
 t

h
e
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 
th

e
 h

o
ld

in
g
 c

o
m

p
a
n
y

a
) 

N
o
t 

d
e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 i
n
 t

h
e
 h

o
ld

in
g
 c

o
m

p
a
n
y
’s

 a
c
c
o
u
n
ts

  
 i
) 

F
o
r 

th
e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
e
d
 3

1
s
t 

M
a
rc

h
, 

2
0
0
8

-
-

-
-

  
 i
i)

 F
o
r 

th
e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
rs

 o
f 
th

e
 s

u
b
s
id

ia
ry

 c
o
m

p
a
n
ie

s
  
  
  
 S

in
c
e
 t

h
e
y
 b

e
c
a
m

e
 t

h
e
 h

o
ld

in
g
 c

o
m

p
a
n
y
’s

 s
u
b
s
id

ia
ri
e
s

-
-

-
-

b
) 

D
e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 i
n
 t

h
e
 h

o
ld

in
g
 C

o
m

p
a
n
y
’s

 a
c
c
o
u
n
ts

  
  
i)

 F
o
r 

th
e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
e
d
 3

1
s
t 

M
a
rc

h
, 

2
0
0
8

(9
,1

3
9
,2

7
5
)

(1
3
3
,0

7
0
)

-
-

  
  
ii
) 

F
o
r 

th
e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
rs

 o
f 
th

e
 s

u
b
s
id

ia
ry

 c
o
m

p
a
n
ie

s
  
  
  
 S

in
c
e
 t

h
e
y
 b

e
c
a
m

e
 t

h
e
 h

o
ld

in
g
 c

o
m

p
a
n
y
’s

 s
u
b
s
id

ia
ri
e
s

F
o
r 

G
M

R
 H

Y
D

E
R
A
B
A
D

 I
N

T
E
R
N

A
T
IO

N
A
L
 A

IR
P
O

R
T
 L

IM
IT

E
D

P
la

c
e
 :

 H
y
d
e
ra

b
a
d

D
a
te

 :
  
M

a
y
 1

4
, 

2
0
0
8

  
  
  
  
  
  
S
d
/-

K
ir
a
n
 K

u
m

a
r 

G
ra

n
d
h
i

D
ir
e
c
to

r

  
  
  
  
  
  
S
d
/-

R
 S

 S
 L

 N
 B

h
a
s
k
a
ru

d
u

D
ir
e
c
to

r

  
  
  
  
  
  
S
d
/-

R
a
jg

o
p
a
l 
S
w

a
m

i
C
h
ie

f 
F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
O

ff
ic

e
r 

&
C
o
m

p
a
n
y
 S

e
c
re

ta
ry

S
l.

N
o
.

P
a
rt

ic
u
la

rs

N
a
m

e
 o

f 
th

e
 S

u
b
s
id

a
ry

 C
o
m

p
a
n
ie

s

H
y
d
e
ra

b
a
d
 M

e
n
z
ie

s
A
ir
 C

a
rg

o
 P

v
t.

 L
td

.

G
M

R
 H

y
d
e
ra

b
a
d

A
ir
p
o
rt

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

L
td

.
H

y
d
e
ra

b
a
d
 A

ir
p
o
rt

S
e
c
u
ri
ty

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 L

td
.

G
M

R
 H

y
d
e
ra

b
a
d

A
e
ro

tr
o
p
o
li
s
 L

td



G
M

R
 H

Y
D

E
R
A
B
A
D

 I
N

T
E
R
N

A
T
IO

N
A
L
 A

IR
P
O

R
T
 L

IM
IT

E
D

Attachments pursuant to Section 212 of the Companies Act, 1956, in relation to the following 
subsidiaries of the company. 

GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited

GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited

GMR Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited

Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited

Documents Attached: 

1. Statement of the company’s interest in the above subsidiaries as required by section 212(3) of the companies 
Act, 1956

2. Balance sheet of the above subsidiaries 

3. Profit & Loss Account of the above subsidiaries (as applicable) 

4. Directors’ Report of the above subsidiaries 

5. Auditors’ Report of the above subsidiaries
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Holding Company

Auditors

Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption & Foreign Exchange Earnings 
& Outgo

Particulars of Employees

Acknowledgment

Consequent upon GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited subscribing to the Memorandum 
of Association, subscribing to 50000 equity shares of Rs.10/- each, your company became a 
wholly owned subsidiary of GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited. 

The Board of Directors of your company has appointed M/s. Price Waterhouse, Chartered 
Accountants, Hyderabad as the First Auditors of the company. M/s Price Waterhouse holds office 
till the ensuing Annual General Meeting. The proposal for appointment of M/s Price Waterhouse as 
the Statutory Auditors of the company will be placed before the shareholders at the ensuing 
Annual General Meeting. M/s Price Waterhouse has confirmed their eligibility and willingness to 
accept office, if re- appointed.

The particulars as required under sub-section (1)(e) of Section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956, 
read with the Companies (Disclosure of particulars in the Report of the Board of  Directors) Rules, 
1988, are not applicable to your company. During the period under review, there were no foreign 
exchange earnings or outgo. 

Particulars required to be disclosed under Section 217(2A) of the Companies Act, 1956 read with 
Companies (Particulars of Employees) Rules, 1975, as amended, are not applicable for the 
company.

Your Directors take this opportunity to express their sincere thanks and gratitude to GMR 
Hyderabad International Airport Limited for its co-operation and support.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 

Sd/-         Sd/-
C Prasanna Rajgopal Swami
Director                 Director

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

3433

GMR HYDERABAD AEROTROPOLIS LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS’ FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2008

Directors

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

To, 
The Members, 
GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the First Annual Report and the Audited Accounts for 
the period ended March 31, 2008, together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

Your company has received the Certificate of Incorporation on the 18th day of July 2007 from the 
Registrar of Companies, Andhra Pradesh. The company received the Certificate of Commencement of 
Business on the 28th September 2007. 

During the year, your company did not carry out any commercial activities, hence there was no income 
from operations and accordingly no Profit and Loss Account was prepared. A Balance Sheet has been 
prepared for the period 18th July 2007 to 31st March 2008, being the First Financial Year of your company.

The Company is incorporated to engage in the business of property development in and around the Rajiv 
Gandhi International Airport. Lot of aviation linked business, time sensitive manufacture industries, hotel 
and entertainment industry is likely to get concentrated around the airport and the company proposes to 
engage in all this development activity. Detailed Master Planning and Infrastructure Planning for 
Commercial Property Development is currently being carried out by the company. 

Composition and size of the Board of Directors
The Board of the company presently comprises of the following directors: 
1. Mr. G M Rao, Chairman
2. Mr. Srinivas Bommidala, Co-Chairman
3. Mr. C Prasanna
4. Mr. T Srinagesh
5. Mr. Rajgopal Swami

Mr. C Prasanna, Mr. T Srinagesh and Mr. Rajgopal Swami were named as First Directors as per the 
Articles of Association of your company. Mr. G M Rao and Mr. Srinivas Bommidala were co-opted as 
Additional Directors with effect from 29th September 2007.

Mr. G M Rao, Mr. Srinivas Bommidala, Mr. C Prasanna, Mr. T Srinagesh and Mr. Rajgopal Swami 
would hold office till the ensuing Annual General Meeting.

Notices under Section 257 of the Companies Act, 1956 have been received from the shareholders 
of the company signifying the candidature of Mr. G M Rao, Mr. Srinivas Bommidala, Mr. C Prasanna, 
Mr. T Srinagesh and Mr. Rajgopal Swami for the office of Director of the company. 

Your directors confirm that

1. in the preparation of the annual accounts for the financial period ended 31st March, 2008, the 
applicable accounting standards have been followed along with proper explanation relating to 
material departures.

2. the Directors have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial period ended 31st March, 2008

3. the Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities 

4. the Directors have prepared the accounts for the financial period ended 31st March, 2008 on a 
‘going concern’ basis.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GMR HYDERABAD 
AEROTROPOLIS LIMITED

1. We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of GMR Hyderabad Aerotropolis Limited (“the 
Company”) as at March 31, 2008, and Cash Flow Statement for the period ended on that date 
annexed thereto, which we have signed under reference to this report. No Profit and Loss 
Account has been prepared for the reason stated in Note II (2) of Schedule F. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in India. 
Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes, 
examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004, issued by the Central Government of India in terms 
of sub-section (4A) of Section 227 of ‘The Companies Act, 1956’ of India (the ‘Act’) and on the 
basis of such checks of the books and records of the company as we considered appropriate and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, we give in the Annexure to this report, 
a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

4. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in paragraph 3 above, we report that:

(a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit:

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the 
company so far as appears from our examination of those books;

(c) The Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report are in agreement 
with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report comply 
with the accounting standards referred to in sub-section (3C) of Section 211 of the Act;

(e) On the basis of written representations received from the directors, as on March 31, 2008 
and taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 
March 31, 2008 from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section 
(1) of Section 274 of the Act;

(f) In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given 
to us, the said financial statements together with the notes thereon and attached thereto 
give in the prescribed manner the information required by the Act and give a true and fair 
view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

(i) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the company as at March 
31, 2008; and 

(ii) in the case of the Cash Flow Statement, of the cash flows for the period ended on that date.

Sd/-
P. Rama Krishna 

Partner
Membership No. 22795

For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse 

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008

ANNEXURE TO AUDITORS’ REPORT

[Referred to in paragraph 3 of the Auditors’ Report of even date to the members of GMR Hyderabad 
Aerotropolis Limited on the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2008]

1. The company has neither granted nor taken any loans, secured or unsecured, to/from 
companies, firms or other parties covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Act.

2. According to the information and explanations given to us, there have been no contracts or 
arrangements referred to in Section 301 of the Act during the period to be entered in the 
register required to be maintained under that Section. Accordingly, commenting on 
transactions made in pursuance of such contracts or arrangements does not arise.

3. The company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning of Sections 
58A and 58AA of the Act and the rules framed there under.

4. As the company is  not listed on any stock exchange or the paid-up capital and reserves as at 
the commencement of the financial year did not exceed Rupees Fifty Lakhs or the average 
annual turnover for a period of three consecutive financial years immediately preceding the 
financial year did not exceed Rupees Five Crores, clause (vii) of paragraph 4 of the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003  is not applicable to the company for the current period.

5. (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, in our opinion, the company is generally regular in depositing the 
undisputed statutory dues including income-tax, service tax and other material statutory 
dues as applicable with the appropriate authorities. According to the information and 
explanation given to us and the records of the company examined by us, provident fund, 
investor education and protection fund, employees’ state insurance, sales-tax, wealth 
tax, customs duty, excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for the current 
period.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, there are no dues of income-tax, and service tax which have not been 
deposited on account of any dispute. According to the information and explanations given 
to us and the records of the company examined by us, sales tax, wealth tax, customs 
duty, excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for the current period.

6. As the company is registered for a period less than five years, clause (x) of paragraph 4 of the 
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
(Amendment) Order, 2004, is not applicable to the company for the current period.

7. The company has not granted any loans and advances on the basis of security by way of 
pledge of shares, debentures and other securities.

8. The provisions of any special statute applicable to chit fund / nidhi / mutual benefit 
fund/societies are not applicable to the company.

9. In our opinion, the company is not a dealer or trader in shares, securities, debentures and 
other investments. 

10. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company 
has not given any guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial institutions 
during the period.

11. The company has not obtained any term loans.

12. On the basis of an overall examination of the balance sheet of the company, in our opinion and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, there are no funds raised on a 
short-term basis which have been used for long-term investment. 

13. The company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to parties and companies 
covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Act during the period.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GMR HYDERABAD 
AEROTROPOLIS LIMITED
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examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
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deposited on account of any dispute. According to the information and explanations given 
to us and the records of the company examined by us, sales tax, wealth tax, customs 
duty, excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for the current period.

6. As the company is registered for a period less than five years, clause (x) of paragraph 4 of the 
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
(Amendment) Order, 2004, is not applicable to the company for the current period.

7. The company has not granted any loans and advances on the basis of security by way of 
pledge of shares, debentures and other securities.

8. The provisions of any special statute applicable to chit fund / nidhi / mutual benefit 
fund/societies are not applicable to the company.

9. In our opinion, the company is not a dealer or trader in shares, securities, debentures and 
other investments. 

10. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company 
has not given any guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial institutions 
during the period.

11. The company has not obtained any term loans.

12. On the basis of an overall examination of the balance sheet of the company, in our opinion and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, there are no funds raised on a 
short-term basis which have been used for long-term investment. 

13. The company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to parties and companies 
covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Act during the period.
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14. The company has not raised any money by public issue during the period.

15. During the course of our examination of the books and records of the company, carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud 
on or by the company, noticed or reported during the period, nor have we been informed of 
such case by the management.

16. The other clauses (i), (ii), (iii)(b), (iii)(c), (iii)(d), (iii)(f), (iii)(g), (iv), (v)(b), (viii), (xi) and 
(xix) of paragraph 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the 
Companies (Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,are not applicable in the case of the 
company for the current period, since in our opinion there is no matter which arises to be 
reported in the aforesaid order. 

Sd/-
P. Rama Krishna

Partner
Membership No. 22795

For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008

I. SOURCE OF FUNDS

II. APPLICATION OF FUNDS

1. Shareholder’s Funds
    Capital A 5,00,000

                    Total 5,00,000

1. Expenditure during Construction Period 
    Pending allocation (Net) B 1,31,550

2. Current Assets, Loans Advances
a) Cash and Bank Balances C 2,01,111
b) Loans and Advances D 3,49,440

5,50,551

Less: Current Liabilities and Provisions E
a) Current Liabilities 1,82,101
b) Provisions -

1,82,101

Net Current Assets 3,68,450

                  Total 5,00,000

Statement on Significant Accounting Policies and 
Notes to the Accounts F

(Amount in Rupees)

Schedule
Ref

As at March, 31, 2008

GMR HYDERABAD AEROTROPOLIS LIMITED

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

The Schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Balance Sheet

This is the Balance Sheet referred to in our report of even date

                                                                                          For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director
Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place : Hyderabad
Date : May 14, 2008
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14. The company has not raised any money by public issue during the period.

15. During the course of our examination of the books and records of the company, carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud 
on or by the company, noticed or reported during the period, nor have we been informed of 
such case by the management.

16. The other clauses (i), (ii), (iii)(b), (iii)(c), (iii)(d), (iii)(f), (iii)(g), (iv), (v)(b), (viii), (xi) and 
(xix) of paragraph 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the 
Companies (Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,are not applicable in the case of the 
company for the current period, since in our opinion there is no matter which arises to be 
reported in the aforesaid order. 

Sd/-
P. Rama Krishna

Partner
Membership No. 22795

For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008

I. SOURCE OF FUNDS

II. APPLICATION OF FUNDS

1. Shareholder’s Funds
    Capital A 5,00,000

                    Total 5,00,000

1. Expenditure during Construction Period 
    Pending allocation (Net) B 1,31,550

2. Current Assets, Loans Advances
a) Cash and Bank Balances C 2,01,111
b) Loans and Advances D 3,49,440

5,50,551

Less: Current Liabilities and Provisions E
a) Current Liabilities 1,82,101
b) Provisions -

1,82,101

Net Current Assets 3,68,450

                  Total 5,00,000

Statement on Significant Accounting Policies and 
Notes to the Accounts F

(Amount in Rupees)

Schedule
Ref

As at March, 31, 2008

GMR HYDERABAD AEROTROPOLIS LIMITED

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

The Schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Balance Sheet

This is the Balance Sheet referred to in our report of even date

                                                                                          For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director
Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place : Hyderabad
Date : May 14, 2008
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Authorised

50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each 5,00,000

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up

50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid up 5,00,000

(Above shares are held by Holding company- GMR Hyderabad

International Airport Limited and its nominees) 5,00,000

Balances with Scheduled Banks

  - in Current Accounts 2,01,111

2,01,111

(Amount in Rupees)

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2008

SCHEDULE - A - Capital

SCHEDULE - C - Cash and Bank Balances

GMR HYDERABAD AEROTROPOLIS LIMITED
Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

Consultancy Expenses 9,032

Remuneration to Auditors

   Audit Fee 1,00,000

Printing and Stationary expenses 1,198

Preliminary expenses 21,320

1,31,550

As at
March 31, 2008

SCHEDULE - B - Expenditure during construction period, 
pending allocation (Net)

(Unsecured, considered good)

Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received 3,00,000

Balances with Customs, Excise, etc 49,440

3,49,440

As at
March 31, 2008

SCHEDULE - D - Loans and Advances 

Current Liabilities

   Sundry Creditor

-  Due to Micro, small and Medium Enterprises -

- Due to other than Micro, small and Medium Enterprises 1,31,180

Other Liabilities 50,921

1,82,101

Provisions -

1,82,101

As at
March 31, 2008SCHEDULE - E - Current Liabilities and Provisions

*Classification is on the basis of information available with the company

SCHEDULE - F

Statement on significant police and notes to the accounts.

Background: 
The Company was incorporated on 18th July, 2007 as a Wholly owned subsidiary of GMR Hyderabad International Airport 
Limited. The main objective of the company is to engage in the business of property development activities in and around 
the new Hyderabad international airport at Shamshabad.

I. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1. Accounting Assumptions:

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention on the basis of a going concern, with revenues 
recognised and expenses accounted on their accrual and amounts determined as payable or receivable during the year, 
except those with significant uncertainties, and in accordance with the applicable Accounting Standards as issued by the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 1956

II.  NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

1. (A)  Contingent Liabilities : Rs. Nil

(B) Estimated Amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for (Net of 
Advances): Rs.3,00,000/-

2. The company has not commenced business operations. Consequently no Profit and Loss Account has been drawn up. 
All the expenditure incurred during the construction stage are grouped and disclosed under expenditure during 
construction year, pending allocation (net) in Schedule B.

3. Details of transations with Related Parties

A  Name of related parties and description of relationship.

(i)   Holding company GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited (GHIAL)

(ii)  Holding company’s Holding Company GMR Infrastructure Limited (GIL)

(iii)  Ultimate Holding Company GMR Holding Private Limited (GHPL)

B.   Summary of Transactions with the above related parties is as follows:

5.    Auditors Remuneration:

Particulars March 31, 2008

(Amount in Rupees)

Related Party Transactions March 31, 2008

(Amount in Rupees)

(i) Share Capital allotted
Holding Company 5,00,000

Audit Fee (Excluding Services Tax) 1,00,000

Total 1,00,000

Notes:
(i) Transactions and outstanding balances in the nature of reimbursement of expenses incurred by one company on behalf 

of the other have not been considered as Related party transactions.

4. Company has paid any interest or any interest payable is outstanding to Mircro, Small or Medium Enterprises(Under the 
provisions of Section 16 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006) during the period ending 
March 31, 2008.

6. The company was incorporated on 18th July, 2007. Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared for the 
period from 18th July, 2007 to 31st March, 2008 and previous year figures are not applicable to the company.

7. Additional Information pursuant to paragraphs 3, 4, 4-C and 4-D of part - II of Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956 
to the extent either “Nil” or “Not Applicable” has not been furnished.

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director
Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place : Hyderabad
Date : May 14, 2008

                                                                                           For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
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Authorised

50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each 5,00,000

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up

50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid up 5,00,000

(Above shares are held by Holding company- GMR Hyderabad

International Airport Limited and its nominees) 5,00,000

Balances with Scheduled Banks

  - in Current Accounts 2,01,111

2,01,111

(Amount in Rupees)

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2008

SCHEDULE - A - Capital

SCHEDULE - C - Cash and Bank Balances

GMR HYDERABAD AEROTROPOLIS LIMITED
Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

Consultancy Expenses 9,032

Remuneration to Auditors

   Audit Fee 1,00,000

Printing and Stationary expenses 1,198

Preliminary expenses 21,320

1,31,550

As at
March 31, 2008

SCHEDULE - B - Expenditure during construction period, 
pending allocation (Net)

(Unsecured, considered good)

Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received 3,00,000

Balances with Customs, Excise, etc 49,440

3,49,440

As at
March 31, 2008

SCHEDULE - D - Loans and Advances 

Current Liabilities

   Sundry Creditor

-  Due to Micro, small and Medium Enterprises -

- Due to other than Micro, small and Medium Enterprises 1,31,180

Other Liabilities 50,921

1,82,101

Provisions -

1,82,101

As at
March 31, 2008SCHEDULE - E - Current Liabilities and Provisions

*Classification is on the basis of information available with the company

SCHEDULE - F

Statement on significant police and notes to the accounts.

Background: 
The Company was incorporated on 18th July, 2007 as a Wholly owned subsidiary of GMR Hyderabad International Airport 
Limited. The main objective of the company is to engage in the business of property development activities in and around 
the new Hyderabad international airport at Shamshabad.

I. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1. Accounting Assumptions:

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention on the basis of a going concern, with revenues 
recognised and expenses accounted on their accrual and amounts determined as payable or receivable during the year, 
except those with significant uncertainties, and in accordance with the applicable Accounting Standards as issued by the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 1956

II.  NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

1. (A)  Contingent Liabilities : Rs. Nil

(B) Estimated Amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for (Net of 
Advances): Rs.3,00,000/-

2. The company has not commenced business operations. Consequently no Profit and Loss Account has been drawn up. 
All the expenditure incurred during the construction stage are grouped and disclosed under expenditure during 
construction year, pending allocation (net) in Schedule B.

3. Details of transations with Related Parties

A  Name of related parties and description of relationship.

(i)   Holding company GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited (GHIAL)

(ii)  Holding company’s Holding Company GMR Infrastructure Limited (GIL)

(iii)  Ultimate Holding Company GMR Holding Private Limited (GHPL)

B.   Summary of Transactions with the above related parties is as follows:

5.    Auditors Remuneration:

Particulars March 31, 2008

(Amount in Rupees)

Related Party Transactions March 31, 2008

(Amount in Rupees)

(i) Share Capital allotted
Holding Company 5,00,000

Audit Fee (Excluding Services Tax) 1,00,000

Total 1,00,000

Notes:
(i) Transactions and outstanding balances in the nature of reimbursement of expenses incurred by one company on behalf 

of the other have not been considered as Related party transactions.

4. Company has paid any interest or any interest payable is outstanding to Mircro, Small or Medium Enterprises(Under the 
provisions of Section 16 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006) during the period ending 
March 31, 2008.

6. The company was incorporated on 18th July, 2007. Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared for the 
period from 18th July, 2007 to 31st March, 2008 and previous year figures are not applicable to the company.

7. Additional Information pursuant to paragraphs 3, 4, 4-C and 4-D of part - II of Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956 
to the extent either “Nil” or “Not Applicable” has not been furnished.

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director
Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place : Hyderabad
Date : May 14, 2008

                                                                                           For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
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GMR HYDERABAD AEROTROPOLIS LIMITED

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director
Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place : Hyderabad
Date : May 14, 2008

Notes :
1. The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in the 

         Accounting Standard - 3 on Cash Flow Statements issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
         India.

2.  This being the first cash flow after incorporation, previous years figures are not applicable.

A. CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit Before Tax and Extra Ordinary items -
Adjustment for working capital changes :
(Increase) / Decrease in Loans and Advances (349,440)
Increase / (Decrease) in Current Liabilities and Provisions 182,101

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (167,339)

B. CASH FLOW FROM / (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Fixed Assets and Change in Capital Work in Progress -
Expenditure During Construction Period Pending allocation (net) (131,550)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (131,550)

C CASH FLOW FROM/ (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of Share Capital 500,000

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 500,000

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DURING THE PERIOD 201,111

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 201,111

(Amount in Rupees)

2008CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2008

                                                                                           For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

This is the Cash Flow Statement referred to  in our report of even date.

1 Registration Details

Registration No.\ CIN U45400AP2007PLC054827 State Code 01

Balance Sheet Date March 31, 2008

2 Capital Raised during the year (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Public Issue Nil Rights Issue Nil

Bonus Issue Nil Private Placement Nil

3. Position of Mobilisation and Development of Funds (Amount in Rs. Thousands) 

Total Liabilities 500 Total assets 500

Sources of Funds

Paid  - Up Capital 500 Share Application Money Nil

Reserves & Surplus Nil Unsecured Loans Nil

Secured Loan Nil Grant from GOAP Nil

Application of Funds

Net Fixed Assets 132 Investments Nil

Net Current Assets 368 Misc. Expenditure Nil

Accumulated Losses Nil

4. Performance of company (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Total Income N.A Total Expenditure N.A

5. Generic Names of Three Principal Products / Services of Company (as per monetary terms)

Item Code No.    : N.A

Product Description N.A

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

          Sd/-        
Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Director Director

Place : Hyderabad
Date : May 14, 2008

Sd/-

GMR HYDERABAD AEROTROPOLIS LIMITED

Balance Sheet Abstract and Company’s General Business Profile
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GMR HYDERABAD AEROTROPOLIS LIMITED

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director
Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place : Hyderabad
Date : May 14, 2008

Notes :
1. The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in the 

         Accounting Standard - 3 on Cash Flow Statements issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
         India.

2.  This being the first cash flow after incorporation, previous years figures are not applicable.

A. CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit Before Tax and Extra Ordinary items -
Adjustment for working capital changes :
(Increase) / Decrease in Loans and Advances (349,440)
Increase / (Decrease) in Current Liabilities and Provisions 182,101

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (167,339)

B. CASH FLOW FROM / (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Fixed Assets and Change in Capital Work in Progress -
Expenditure During Construction Period Pending allocation (net) (131,550)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (131,550)

C CASH FLOW FROM/ (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of Share Capital 500,000

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 500,000

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DURING THE PERIOD 201,111

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 201,111

(Amount in Rupees)

2008CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2008

                                                                                           For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

This is the Cash Flow Statement referred to  in our report of even date.

1 Registration Details

Registration No.\ CIN U45400AP2007PLC054827 State Code 01

Balance Sheet Date March 31, 2008

2 Capital Raised during the year (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Public Issue Nil Rights Issue Nil

Bonus Issue Nil Private Placement Nil

3. Position of Mobilisation and Development of Funds (Amount in Rs. Thousands) 

Total Liabilities 500 Total assets 500

Sources of Funds

Paid  - Up Capital 500 Share Application Money Nil

Reserves & Surplus Nil Unsecured Loans Nil

Secured Loan Nil Grant from GOAP Nil

Application of Funds

Net Fixed Assets 132 Investments Nil

Net Current Assets 368 Misc. Expenditure Nil

Accumulated Losses Nil

4. Performance of company (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Total Income N.A Total Expenditure N.A

5. Generic Names of Three Principal Products / Services of Company (as per monetary terms)

Item Code No.    : N.A

Product Description N.A

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

          Sd/-        
Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Director Director

Place : Hyderabad
Date : May 14, 2008

Sd/-

GMR HYDERABAD AEROTROPOLIS LIMITED

Balance Sheet Abstract and Company’s General Business Profile
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GMR HYDERABAD AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS’ FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2008

Directors

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

To, 
The Members, 
GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the First Annual Report and the Audited Accounts for the 
period ended March 31, 2008, together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

Your company has received the Certificate of Incorporation on the 18th day of July 2007 from the 
Registrar of Companies, Andhra Pradesh. The company received the Certificate of Commencement 
of Business on the 28th September 2007. 

Your Company is incorporated with the objective of providing specialised and skilled manpower to 
the various allied and ancillary activities at the Rajiv Gandhi International Airport and provide 
certain manpower related services. The company has commenced activities and currently provides 
approximately 132 personnel specialised in the hospitality industry towards the Hotel operations of 
GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited, which is likely to commence during the financial 
year 2008-09.  

A Balance Sheet for your company has been prepared for the period 18th July 2007 to 31st March 
2008, being the First Financial Year of your company. A Profit and Loss Account for the period 
ended March 31, 2008 was also prepared. 

Composition and size of the Board of Directors

The Board of the company presently comprises of the following directors: 

1. Mr. C Prasanna

2. Mr. T Srinagesh

3. Mr. Rajgopal Swami

Mr. C Prasanna, Mr. T Srinagesh and Mr. Rajgopal Swami were named as First Directors as per the 
Articles of Association of your company. 

Mr. C Prasanna, Mr. T Srinagesh and Mr. Rajgopal Swami would hold office till the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting. 

Notices under Section 257 of the Companies Act, 1956 have been received from the shareholders 
of the company signifying the candidature of Mr. C Prasanna, Mr. T Srinagesh and Mr. Rajgopal 
Swami for the office of Director of the company. 

Your Directors confirm that

1. in the preparation of the annual accounts for the financial period ended 31st March, 2008, the 
applicable accounting standards have been followed along with proper explanation relating to 
material departures.

2. the Directors have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial period ended 31st March, 2008

3. the Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities 

4. the Directors have prepared the accounts for the financial period ended 31st March, 2008 on a 
‘going concern’ basis.

Consequent upon GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited subscribing to the Memorandum 
of Association, subscribing to 50000 equity shares of Rs.10/- each, your company became a wholly 
owned subsidiary of GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited. 

The Board of Directors of your company has appointed M/s. Price Waterhouse, Chartered 
Accountants, Hyderabad as the First Auditors of the company. M/s Price Waterhouse holds office 
till the ensuing Annual General Meeting. The proposal for appointment of M/s Price Waterhouse as 
the Statutory Auditors of the company will be placed before the shareholders at the ensuing 
Annual General Meeting. M/s Price Waterhouse has confirmed their eligibility and willingness to 
accept office, if re- appointed.

The particulars as required under sub-section (1)(e) of Section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956, 
read with the Companies (Disclosure of particulars in the Report of the Board of  Directors) Rules, 
1988, are not applicable to your company. During the period under review, there were no foreign 
exchange earnings or outgo. 

Particulars required to be disclosed under Section 217(2A) of the Companies Act, 1956 read with 
Companies (Particulars of Employees) Rules, 1975, as amended, are not applicable for the 
company.

Your Directors take this opportunity to express their sincere thanks and gratitude to GMR 
Hyderabad International Airport Limited for its co-operation and support.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 

Sd/-        Sd/-

C Prasanna Rajgopal Swami

Director                Director 

Place: Hyderabad

Date: May 14, 2008

Holding Company

Auditors

Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption & Foreign Exchange Earnings 
& Outgo

Particulars of Employees

Acknowledgment
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GMR HYDERABAD AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS’ FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2008

Directors

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

To, 
The Members, 
GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource Management Limited

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the First Annual Report and the Audited Accounts for the 
period ended March 31, 2008, together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

Your company has received the Certificate of Incorporation on the 18th day of July 2007 from the 
Registrar of Companies, Andhra Pradesh. The company received the Certificate of Commencement 
of Business on the 28th September 2007. 

Your Company is incorporated with the objective of providing specialised and skilled manpower to 
the various allied and ancillary activities at the Rajiv Gandhi International Airport and provide 
certain manpower related services. The company has commenced activities and currently provides 
approximately 132 personnel specialised in the hospitality industry towards the Hotel operations of 
GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited, which is likely to commence during the financial 
year 2008-09.  

A Balance Sheet for your company has been prepared for the period 18th July 2007 to 31st March 
2008, being the First Financial Year of your company. A Profit and Loss Account for the period 
ended March 31, 2008 was also prepared. 

Composition and size of the Board of Directors

The Board of the company presently comprises of the following directors: 

1. Mr. C Prasanna

2. Mr. T Srinagesh

3. Mr. Rajgopal Swami

Mr. C Prasanna, Mr. T Srinagesh and Mr. Rajgopal Swami were named as First Directors as per the 
Articles of Association of your company. 

Mr. C Prasanna, Mr. T Srinagesh and Mr. Rajgopal Swami would hold office till the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting. 

Notices under Section 257 of the Companies Act, 1956 have been received from the shareholders 
of the company signifying the candidature of Mr. C Prasanna, Mr. T Srinagesh and Mr. Rajgopal 
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safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities 

4. the Directors have prepared the accounts for the financial period ended 31st March, 2008 on a 
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accept office, if re- appointed.

The particulars as required under sub-section (1)(e) of Section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956, 
read with the Companies (Disclosure of particulars in the Report of the Board of  Directors) Rules, 
1988, are not applicable to your company. During the period under review, there were no foreign 
exchange earnings or outgo. 

Particulars required to be disclosed under Section 217(2A) of the Companies Act, 1956 read with 
Companies (Particulars of Employees) Rules, 1975, as amended, are not applicable for the 
company.

Your Directors take this opportunity to express their sincere thanks and gratitude to GMR 
Hyderabad International Airport Limited for its co-operation and support.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 

Sd/-        Sd/-

C Prasanna Rajgopal Swami

Director                Director 

Place: Hyderabad

Date: May 14, 2008

Holding Company

Auditors

Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption & Foreign Exchange Earnings 
& Outgo

Particulars of Employees
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GMR HYDERABAD 
AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED

1. We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource 
Management Limited (“the Company”) as at March 31, 2008, and the related Profit and Loss 
Account and Cash Flow Statement for the period ended on that date annexed thereto, which 
we have signed under reference to this report. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in India. 
Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes, 
examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,  issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of sub-section (4A) of Section 227 of ‘The Companies Act, 1956’ of India (the ‘Act’) and on 
the basis of such checks of the books and records of the company as we considered appropriate 
and according to the information and explanations given to us, we give in the Annexure to this 
report, a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

4. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in paragraph 3 above, we report that:

(a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit:

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the 
company so far as appears from our examination of those books;

(c) The Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this 
report are in agreement with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt 
with by this report comply with the accounting standards referred to in sub-section (3C) 
of Section 211 of the Act;

(e) On the basis of written representations received from the directors, as on March 31, 2008 
and taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 
March 31, 2008 from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section 
(1) of Section 274 of the Act;

(f) In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given 
to us, the said financial statements together with the notes thereon and attached thereto 
give in the prescribed manner the information required by the Act and give a true and fair 
view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

(i) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the company as at March 
31, 2008; 

(ii) in the case of the Profit and Loss Account, of the loss for the period ended on that 
date; and

(iii) in the case of the Cash Flow Statement, of the cash flows for the period ended on 
that date.

Sd/-
P. Rama Krishna, Partner

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of 
Price Waterhouse

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

ANNEXURE TO AUDITORS’ REPORT

[Referred to in paragraph 3 of the Auditors’ Report of even date to the members of GMR Hyderabad 
Airport Resource Management Limited on the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 
2008]

1. The company has neither granted nor taken any loans, secured or unsecured, to/from 
companies, firms or other parties covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the 
Act.

2. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, there is an 
adequate internal control system commensurate with the size of the company and the nature 
of its business for the sale of services. The activities of the Company did not involve purchase of 
inventory, fixed assets and sale of goods during the financial period. Further, on the basis of our 
examination of the books and records of the company, and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, we have neither come across nor have been informed of any 
continuing failure to correct major weaknesses in the aforesaid internal control system. 

3. According to the information and explanations given to us, there have been no contracts or 
arrangements referred to in Section 301 of the Act during the period to be entered in the 
register required to be maintained under that Section. Accordingly, commenting on 
transactions made in pursuance of such contracts or arrangements does not arise.

4. The company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning of Sections 
58A and 58AA of the Act and the rules framed there under.

5. As the company is not listed on any stock exchange or the paid-up capital and reserves as at 
the commencement of the financial year did not exceed Rupees Fifty Lakhs or the average 
annual turnover for a period of three consecutive financial years immediately preceding the 
financial year did not exceed Rupees Five Crores, clause (vii) of paragraph 4 of the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003 is not applicable to the company for the current period.

6. (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, in our opinion, the company is generally regular in depositing the 
undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, income-tax, and service tax and other 
material statutory dues as applicable with the appropriate authorities. According to the 
information and explanation given to us and the records of the company examined by us, 
investor education and protection fund, employees’ state insurance, sales-tax, wealth tax, 
Customs duty, excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for the current 
period.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, there are no dues of income-tax, and service tax which have not been 
deposited on account of any dispute. According to the information and explanations given 
to us and the records of the company examined by us, sales tax, wealth tax, customs duty, 
excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for the current period.

7. As the company is registered for a period less than five years, clause (x) of paragraph 4 of the 
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
(Amendment) Order, 2004, is not applicable to the company for the current period.

8. The company has not granted any loans and advances on the basis of security by way of pledge 
of shares, debentures and other securities.

9. The provisions of any special statute applicable to chit fund / nidhi / mutual benefit 
fund/societies are not applicable to the company.

10. In our opinion, the company is not a dealer or trader in shares, securities, debentures and 
other investments. 

4645



AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GMR HYDERABAD 
AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED

1. We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of GMR Hyderabad Airport Resource 
Management Limited (“the Company”) as at March 31, 2008, and the related Profit and Loss 
Account and Cash Flow Statement for the period ended on that date annexed thereto, which 
we have signed under reference to this report. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in India. 
Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes, 
examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,  issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of sub-section (4A) of Section 227 of ‘The Companies Act, 1956’ of India (the ‘Act’) and on 
the basis of such checks of the books and records of the company as we considered appropriate 
and according to the information and explanations given to us, we give in the Annexure to this 
report, a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

4. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in paragraph 3 above, we report that:

(a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit:

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the 
company so far as appears from our examination of those books;

(c) The Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this 
report are in agreement with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt 
with by this report comply with the accounting standards referred to in sub-section (3C) 
of Section 211 of the Act;

(e) On the basis of written representations received from the directors, as on March 31, 2008 
and taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 
March 31, 2008 from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section 
(1) of Section 274 of the Act;

(f) In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given 
to us, the said financial statements together with the notes thereon and attached thereto 
give in the prescribed manner the information required by the Act and give a true and fair 
view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

(i) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the company as at March 
31, 2008; 

(ii) in the case of the Profit and Loss Account, of the loss for the period ended on that 
date; and

(iii) in the case of the Cash Flow Statement, of the cash flows for the period ended on 
that date.

Sd/-
P. Rama Krishna, Partner

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of 
Price Waterhouse

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

ANNEXURE TO AUDITORS’ REPORT

[Referred to in paragraph 3 of the Auditors’ Report of even date to the members of GMR Hyderabad 
Airport Resource Management Limited on the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 
2008]

1. The company has neither granted nor taken any loans, secured or unsecured, to/from 
companies, firms or other parties covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the 
Act.

2. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, there is an 
adequate internal control system commensurate with the size of the company and the nature 
of its business for the sale of services. The activities of the Company did not involve purchase of 
inventory, fixed assets and sale of goods during the financial period. Further, on the basis of our 
examination of the books and records of the company, and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, we have neither come across nor have been informed of any 
continuing failure to correct major weaknesses in the aforesaid internal control system. 

3. According to the information and explanations given to us, there have been no contracts or 
arrangements referred to in Section 301 of the Act during the period to be entered in the 
register required to be maintained under that Section. Accordingly, commenting on 
transactions made in pursuance of such contracts or arrangements does not arise.

4. The company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning of Sections 
58A and 58AA of the Act and the rules framed there under.

5. As the company is not listed on any stock exchange or the paid-up capital and reserves as at 
the commencement of the financial year did not exceed Rupees Fifty Lakhs or the average 
annual turnover for a period of three consecutive financial years immediately preceding the 
financial year did not exceed Rupees Five Crores, clause (vii) of paragraph 4 of the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003 is not applicable to the company for the current period.

6. (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, in our opinion, the company is generally regular in depositing the 
undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, income-tax, and service tax and other 
material statutory dues as applicable with the appropriate authorities. According to the 
information and explanation given to us and the records of the company examined by us, 
investor education and protection fund, employees’ state insurance, sales-tax, wealth tax, 
Customs duty, excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for the current 
period.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, there are no dues of income-tax, and service tax which have not been 
deposited on account of any dispute. According to the information and explanations given 
to us and the records of the company examined by us, sales tax, wealth tax, customs duty, 
excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for the current period.

7. As the company is registered for a period less than five years, clause (x) of paragraph 4 of the 
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
(Amendment) Order, 2004, is not applicable to the company for the current period.

8. The company has not granted any loans and advances on the basis of security by way of pledge 
of shares, debentures and other securities.

9. The provisions of any special statute applicable to chit fund / nidhi / mutual benefit 
fund/societies are not applicable to the company.

10. In our opinion, the company is not a dealer or trader in shares, securities, debentures and 
other investments. 

4645



11. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company has 
not given any guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial institutions during 
the period.

12. The company has not obtained any term loans.

13. On the basis of an overall examination of the balance sheet of the company, in our opinion and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, there are no funds raised on a 
short-term basis which have been used for long-term investment. 

14. The company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to parties and companies 
covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Act during the period.

15. The company has not raised any money by public issue during the period.

16. During the course of our examination of the books and records of the company, carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud 
on or by the company, noticed or reported during the period, nor have we been informed of 
such case by the management.

17. The other clauses (i), (ii), (iii)(b), (iii)(c), (iii)(d), (iii)(f), (iii)(g), (v)(b), (viii), (xi) and (xix) of 
paragraph 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,are not applicable in the case of the company for 
the current period, since in our opinion there is no matter which arises to be reported in the 
aforesaid order. 

 Sd/- 
P. Rama Krishna

Partner
Membership No. 22795

For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008

(Amount in Rupees)

Schedule
Ref

As at March, 31, 2008

GMR HYDERABAD AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

The Schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Balance Sheet

This is the Balance Sheet referred to in our report of even date

                                                                                              For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

4847

I. SOURCE OF FUNDS

1. Shareholder’s Funds
    Capital A 5,00,000

                                  Total 5,00,000

II. APPLICATION OF FUNDS

1.  Current Assets, Loans Advances
a) Cash and Bank Balances B 17,16,627
b) Loans and Advances C 2,52,31,680

2,69,48,307

Less: Current Liabilities & Provisions
a) Current Liabilities D 2,64,27,783
b) Provisions 1,53,594

2,65,81,377

   Net Current Assets 3,66,930

2. Profit & Loss Account 1,33,070

                  Total 5,00,000

Statement on Significant Accounting Policies and Notes
to the Accounts F



11. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company has 
not given any guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial institutions during 
the period.

12. The company has not obtained any term loans.

13. On the basis of an overall examination of the balance sheet of the company, in our opinion and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, there are no funds raised on a 
short-term basis which have been used for long-term investment. 

14. The company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to parties and companies 
covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Act during the period.

15. The company has not raised any money by public issue during the period.

16. During the course of our examination of the books and records of the company, carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud 
on or by the company, noticed or reported during the period, nor have we been informed of 
such case by the management.

17. The other clauses (i), (ii), (iii)(b), (iii)(c), (iii)(d), (iii)(f), (iii)(g), (v)(b), (viii), (xi) and (xix) of 
paragraph 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,are not applicable in the case of the company for 
the current period, since in our opinion there is no matter which arises to be reported in the 
aforesaid order. 

 Sd/- 
P. Rama Krishna

Partner
Membership No. 22795

For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008

(Amount in Rupees)

Schedule
Ref

As at March, 31, 2008

GMR HYDERABAD AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

The Schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Balance Sheet

This is the Balance Sheet referred to in our report of even date

                                                                                              For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

4847

I. SOURCE OF FUNDS

1. Shareholder’s Funds
    Capital A 5,00,000

                                  Total 5,00,000

II. APPLICATION OF FUNDS

1.  Current Assets, Loans Advances
a) Cash and Bank Balances B 17,16,627
b) Loans and Advances C 2,52,31,680

2,69,48,307

Less: Current Liabilities & Provisions
a) Current Liabilities D 2,64,27,783
b) Provisions 1,53,594

2,65,81,377

   Net Current Assets 3,66,930

2. Profit & Loss Account 1,33,070

                  Total 5,00,000

Statement on Significant Accounting Policies and Notes
to the Accounts F



Authorised

50,000 Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each 5,00,000

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up

50,000 Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each fully paid up 5,00,000

(Above shares are held by Holding company- GMR Hyderabad

International Airport Limited and nominees) 5,00,000

Cash on Hand 1,825

Balances with Scheduled Banks

  - in Current Accounts 17,14,802

17,16,627

(Unsecured, considered good)
Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received 2,49,74,657
Balances with Customs, Excise, etc 2,57,023

2,52,31,680

(Amount in Rupees)

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2008

SCHEDULE - A - Capital

SCHEDULE - B - Cash and Bank Balances

SCHEDULE - C - Loans and Advances

GMR HYDERABAD AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

Current Liabilities

   Sundry Creditor

-  Due to Micro, small and Medium Enterprises* -

- Due to other than Micro, small and Medium Enterprises 2,38,66,606

Other Liabilities 25,61,177

2,64,27,873

Provisions

Provision for Gratuity 83,496

Provision for other employee benefits 70,098

*Classification is on the basis of information available with the company 1,53,594

As at
March 31, 2008SCHEDULE - D - Current Liabilities and Provisions

I. Income -

Total Income -

II. Expenses
Administration Cost E 1,11,750
Preliminary expenses 21,320

Total Expenses 1,33,070

III. Profit Before Interest & Depreciation (133,070)

Finance Cost -
Depreciation Cost -

IV. Profit Before Taxation (133,070)

Provision for Taxation -

V. Profit After Taxation (133,070)

VI. Available Surplus Carried to Balance Sheet (133,070)

Earnings Per Share (Rs.) - Basis & Diluted (3.78)

(Amount in Rupees)

Schedule Ref As at March 31,
 2008

Particulars

GMR HYDERABAD AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED

Profit and Loss account for the period ended 31st March, 2008

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

5049

Consultancy and other professional charges 10,007

Remuneration to auditors

         Audit fees 1,00,000

Traveling and Conveyance 450

Miscellaneous expenses 1,293

1,11,750

As at
March 31, 2008SCHEDULE - E - Administration Cost
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GMR HYDERABAD AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT  LIMITED

Statement on Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the Accounts

SCHEDULE - F

Background:

The Company was incorporated on 18th July, 2007 as a wholly owned subsidiary of GMR Hyderabad International Airport 
Limited. The main objective of the company is to provide specialized manpower and manpower management services at 
the New Hyderabad International Airport at Shamshabad.

I. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Accounting Assumptions:
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention on the basis of a going concern, with revenues 
recognised and expenses accounted on their accrual and amounts determined as payable or receivable during the year, 
except those with significant uncertainties, and in accordance with the applicable Accounting Standards as issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 1956

2. Earnings per Share :
The earnings considered in ascertaining the Company’s Earnings per Share (EPS) comprised the net profit/(loss) after 
tax. The number of shares used in computing Basic EPS is the weighted average number of equity shares which could 
have been issued to the conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares which applicable. Dilutive potential equity 
shares are deemed to have been converted as of the beginning of the year, unless they have been issued at a later date

II.  NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

1. (a)  Contingent Liabilities : Rs. Nil
(b)  Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debt : Nil

2. (a)  Company has sent all its employees on secondment to the holding company and accordingly expenditure on 
such employees has not been considered in the profit and loss account.

(b) Defined Benefit Plan :
Amount recognised in the Balance Sheet towards defined benefit plans (Gratuity and Leave Encashment) 
under Accounting Standard AS-15 (Revised 2005) is Rs. 1,53,594/-

(c) Defined Contribution Plan :
    In respect of defined contribution plans (Provident Fund) and amount of Rs. 6,27,612/- has been claimed as 

reimbursement of expenses from GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited.

3. Details of transactions with Related Parties

A     Name of related parties and description of relationship.

(i)   Holding company GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited (GHIAL)

(ii)  Holding company’s Holding Company GMR Infrastructure Limited (GIL)

B.   Summary of Transactions with the above related parties is as follows:

Related Party Transactions March 31, 2008

(i) Share Capital allotted
Holding Company 500,000

(ii) Advances received 
Holding Company 2,33,00,000

C.  Out standing balances as at the year end:

Particulars March 31, 2008

(Amount in Rupees)

(i) Balance Payable:
Holding Company 2,33,00,000

Notes
(i) Transactions and outstanding balances in the nature of reimbursement of expenses incurred by one company on behalf 

of the other have not been considered as Related party transactions.:
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3.   Earnings Per Share (EPS)*:

Particulars

Particulars

March 31, 2008

March 31, 2008

(Amount in Rupees)

a. Profit/(loss) after tax (Rs.) (133,070)

b. Weighted average number of Equity Shares of 
Rs. 10 each outstanding during the period. 35,246
(Used for calculation of Basic earnings per Share) 

c. Earning per share Basic and diluted (Rs.) (3,78)

Auditors Fee(Excluding Service Tax) 1,00,000

Total 1,00,000

4. Company has paid any interest or any interest payable is outstanding to Mircro, Small or Medium Enterprises(Under 
the provisions of Section 16 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006) during the period 
ending March 31, 2008.

5.   Auditors Remuneration:

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

6. The company was incorporated on 18th July, 2007. Accordingly, this Balance Sheet covers the period from 18th July, 2007 
to 31st March, 2008 and previous year figures are not applicable to the company.

7. Additional Information pursuant to paragraphs 3, 4, 4-C and 4-D of part - II of Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956 
to the extent either “Nil” or “Not Applicable” has not been furnished.

                                                                                             For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

GMR HYDERABAD AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT  LIMITED

Statement on Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the Accounts

(Amount in Rupees)

(Amount in Rupees)



GMR HYDERABAD AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT  LIMITED

Statement on Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the Accounts

SCHEDULE - F
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Membership No. 22795
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Chartered Accountants
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Date: May 14, 2008
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A. CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit Before Tax and Extra Ordinary items (133,070)
Adjustment for working capital changes :
(Increase) / Decrease in Loans and Advances (25,231,680)
Increase / (Decrease) in Current Liabilities and Provisions 26,581,377

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,216,627

B. CASH FLOW FROM / (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Fixed Assets and Change in Capital Work in Progress -

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES -

C CASH FLOW FROM/ (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of Share Capital 500,000
Proceeds from Unsecured Loans -

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 500,000

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DURING THE PERIOD 1,716,627

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 1,716,627

(Amount in Rupees)

2008CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2008

GMR HYDERABAD AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED

This is the Cash Flow Statement referred to in our report of even date.
                                                                                           

                                                                                          For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

Notes :
1. The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in the Accounting
   Standard - 3 on Cash Flow Statements issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

2.  This being the first cash flow after incorporation, previous years figures are not applicable.
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GMR HYDERABAD AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED

Balance Sheet Abstract and Company’s General Business Profile

1 Registration Details

Registration No. U74900AP2007PCL054821 State Code 01

Balance Sheet Date March 31, 2008

2 Capital Raised during the year (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Public Issue Nil Rights Issue Nil

Bonus Issue Nil Private Placement Nil

3. Position of Mobilisation and Development of Funds (Amount in Rs. Thousands) 

Total Liabilities 500 Total assets 500

Sources Funds

Paid  - Up Capital 500 Share Application Money Nil

Reserves & Surplus Nil Unsecured Loans Nil

Secured Loan Nil Grant from GOAP Nil

Application of Funds

Net Fixed Assets Nil Investments Nil

Net Current Assets 367 Misc. Expenditure Nil

Accumulated Losses 133

4. Performance of company (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Total Income N.A Total Expenditure N.A

5. Generic Names of Three Principal Products / Services of Company 
(as per monetary terms)

Item Code No.    : N.A

Product Description N.A

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

          Sd/-        
Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Director Director

Place : Hyderabad
Date : May 14, 2008

Sd/-
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Partner Director Director

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008
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   Standard - 3 on Cash Flow Statements issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.
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GMR HYDERABAD AIRPORT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED

Balance Sheet Abstract and Company’s General Business Profile

1 Registration Details

Registration No. U74900AP2007PCL054821 State Code 01

Balance Sheet Date March 31, 2008
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Paid  - Up Capital 500 Share Application Money Nil

Reserves & Surplus Nil Unsecured Loans Nil

Secured Loan Nil Grant from GOAP Nil

Application of Funds

Net Fixed Assets Nil Investments Nil

Net Current Assets 367 Misc. Expenditure Nil

Accumulated Losses 133

4. Performance of company (Amount in Rs. Thousands)
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(as per monetary terms)

Item Code No.    : N.A

Product Description N.A

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
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Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Director Director

Place : Hyderabad
Date : May 14, 2008

Sd/-



HYDERABAD AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS’ FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2008

Directors

To, 
The Members, 
Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the First Annual Report and the Audited Accounts for 
the period ended March 31, 2008, together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

Your company has received the Certificate of Incorporation on the 20th day of July 2007 from the 
Registrar of Companies, Andhra Pradesh. The company received the Certificate of Commencement 
of Business on the 28th September 2007. 

During the year, your company did not carry out any commercial activities, hence there was no 
income from operations and accordingly no Profit and Loss Account was prepared. A Balance Sheet 
has been prepared for the period 20th July 2007 to 31st March 2008, being the First Financial Year 
of your company.

Your company has been incorporated with the objective of providing certain security services at 
the Hyderabad Rajiv Gandhi International Airport, including providing accommodation for the 
Central Industrial Security Force (CISF). Your company has undertaken the construction and 
maintenance of the office space and residential quarters for the CISF personnel and Phase I of the 
quarters and the office space have since been handed over to the CISF.

During the year, the authorised share capital of your company has been increased to Rs.13 crores 
comprising 1.3 crore equity shares of Rs.10/- each. Your Board of Directors has at its meeting held 
on April 07, 2008 made an allotment of 62,50,000 equity shares of Rs.10/- each to and in favour of 
GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited. 

Your company has also availed of term loan facility from State Bank of Hyderabad for amounts upto 
Rs.100 crores. As on March 31, 2008, an amount of Rs.40 crores had been drawn from SBH as part 
of the term loan. 

Composition and size of the Board of Directors

The Board of your company presently comprises of the following Directors: 

1. Mr. C Prasanna

2. Mr. T Srinagesh

3. Mr.  Rajgopal Swami

Mr. C Prasanna, Mr. T Srinagesh and Mr. Rajgopal Swami were named as First Directors as per the 
Articles of Association of your company. 

Mr. C Prasanna, Mr. T Srinagesh and Mr. Rajgopal Swami would hold office till the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting. 

Notices under Section 257 of the Companies Act, 1956 have been received from the shareholders 
of the company signifying the candidature of Mr. C Prasanna, Mr. T Srinagesh and Mr. Rajgopal 
Swami for the office of Director of the company. 
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Directors’ Responsibility Statement

Holding Company

Auditors

Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption & Foreign Exchange Earnings 
& Outgo

Particulars of Employees

Acknowledgment

Your Directors confirm that

1. in the preparation of the annual accounts for the financial period ended 31st March, 2008, the 
applicable accounting standards have been followed along with proper explanation relating to 
material departures.

2. the Directors have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial period ended 31st March, 2008

3. the Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities 

4. the Directors have prepared the accounts for the financial period ended 31st March, 2008 on a 
‘going concern’ basis.

Consequent upon GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited subscribing to the Memorandum of 
Association, subscribing to 50000 equity shares of Rs.10/- each and the allotment of 6250000 
equity shares on April 07, 2008, your company became a wholly owned subsidiary of GMR 
Hyderabad International Airport Limited. 

The Board of Directors of your company has appointed M/s. Price Waterhouse, Chartered Accountants, 
Hyderabad as the First Auditors of the company. M/s Price Waterhouse holds office till the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting. The proposal for appointment of M/s Price Waterhouse as the Statutory Auditors of the 
company will be placed before the shareholders at the ensuing Annual General Meeting. M/s Price 
Waterhouse has confirmed their eligibility and willingness to accept office, if re-appointed.

The particulars as required under sub-section (1)(e) of Section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956, 
read with the Companies (Disclosure of particulars in the Report of the Board of  Directors) Rules, 
1988, are not applicable to your company. During the period under review, there were no foreign 
exchange earnings or outgo. 

Particulars required to be disclosed under Section 217(2A) of the Companies Act, 1956 read with 
Companies (Particulars of Employees) Rules, 1975, as amended, are not applicable for the company.

Your Directors take this opportunity to express their sincere thanks and gratitude to the State Bank of 
Hyderabad, Bangalore Branch and GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited for their co-operation and 
support.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 

 Sd/-         Sd/-
C Prasanna Rajgopal Swami
Director                Director 

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008



HYDERABAD AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS’ FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2008

Directors

To, 
The Members, 
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applicable accounting standards have been followed along with proper explanation relating to 
material departures.

2. the Directors have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial period ended 31st March, 2008

3. the Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
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4. the Directors have prepared the accounts for the financial period ended 31st March, 2008 on a 
‘going concern’ basis.
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Association, subscribing to 50000 equity shares of Rs.10/- each and the allotment of 6250000 
equity shares on April 07, 2008, your company became a wholly owned subsidiary of GMR 
Hyderabad International Airport Limited. 

The Board of Directors of your company has appointed M/s. Price Waterhouse, Chartered Accountants, 
Hyderabad as the First Auditors of the company. M/s Price Waterhouse holds office till the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting. The proposal for appointment of M/s Price Waterhouse as the Statutory Auditors of the 
company will be placed before the shareholders at the ensuing Annual General Meeting. M/s Price 
Waterhouse has confirmed their eligibility and willingness to accept office, if re-appointed.

The particulars as required under sub-section (1)(e) of Section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956, 
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C Prasanna Rajgopal Swami
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Place: Hyderabad
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF HYDERABAD 
AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

1. We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 
(“the Company”) as at March 31, 2008, and Cash Flow Statement for the period ended on that 
date annexed thereto, which we have signed under reference to this report.  No Profit and Loss 
Account has been prepared for the reason stated in Note II (2) of Schedule G.  These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in India. 
Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes, 
examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,  issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of sub-section (4A) of Section 227 of ‘The Companies Act, 1956’ of India (the ‘Act’) and 
on the basis of such checks of the books and records of the company as we considered 
appropriate and according to the information and explanations given to us, we give in the 
Annexure to this report, a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said 
Order.

4. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in paragraph 3 above, we report that:

(a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit:

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the 
company so far as appears from our examination of those books;

(c) The Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report are in agreement 
with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report 
comply with the accounting standards referred to in sub-section (3C) of Section 211 of 
the Act;

(e) On the basis of written representations received from the directors, as on March 31, 2008 
and taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 
March 31, 2008 from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section 
(1) of Section 274 of the Act;

(f) In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given 
to us, the said financial statements together with the notes thereon and attached thereto 
give in the prescribed manner the information required by the Act and give a true and fair 
view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

(i) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the company as at March 31, 
2008; and

(ii) in the case of the Cash Flow Statement, of the cash flows for the period ended on that 
date.

Sd/-
P. Rama Krishna

Partner
Membership No. 22795

For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008
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ANNEXURE TO AUDITORS’ REPORT

[Referred to in paragraph 3 of the Auditors’ Report of even date to the members of Hyderabad 
Airport Security Services Limited on the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2008]

1. The company has neither granted nor taken any loans, secured or unsecured, to/from 
companies, firms or other parties covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the 
Act.

2. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, having regard to 
the explanation that certain items purchased are of special nature for which suitable 
alternative sources do not exist for obtaining comparative quotations, there is an adequate 
internal control system commensurate with the size of the company and the nature of its 
business for the purchase of fixed assets.  The activities of the Company did not involve 
purchase of inventory and sale of goods and services during the financial period. Further, on 
the basis of our examination of the books and records of the company, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across nor have been 
informed of any continuing failure to correct major weaknesses in the aforesaid internal 
control system. 

3. According to the information and explanations given to us, there have been no contracts or 
arrangements referred to in Section 301 of the Act during the period to be entered in the 
register required to be maintained under that Section. Accordingly, commenting on 
transactions made in pursuance of such contracts or arrangements does not arise.

4. The company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning of Sections 
58A and 58AA of the Act and the rules framed there under.

5. As the company is not listed on any stock exchange or the paid-up capital and reserves as at 
the commencement of the financial year did not exceed Rupees Fifty Lakhs or the average 
annual turnover for a period of three consecutive financial years immediately preceding the 
financial year did not exceed Rupees Five Crores, clause (vii) of paragraph 4 of the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003 is not applicable to the company for the current period.

6. (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, in our opinion, the company is generally regular in depositing the 
undisputed statutory dues including income-tax and other material statutory dues as 
applicable with the appropriate authorities. According to the information and explanation 
given to us and the records of the company examined by us, provident fund, investor 
education and protection fund, employees’ state insurance, sales tax, wealth tax, service tax, 
customs duty, excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for the current period.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, there are no dues of income-tax, which have not been deposited on 
account of any dispute. According to the information and explanations given to us and the 
records of the company examined by us, sales tax, wealth tax, service tax, customs duty, 
excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for the current period.

7. As the company is registered for a period less than five years, clause (x) of paragraph 4 of the 
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
(Amendment) Order, 2004, is not applicable to the company for the current period.

8. According to the records of the company examined by us and the information and explanation given 
to us, the company has not defaulted in repayment of dues to any bank as at the balance sheet date. 
The Company has not issued any debentures or borrowed from any financial institution during the 
period and there are no debentures outstanding as at the balance sheet date.

9. The company has not granted any loans and advances on the basis of security by way of 
pledge of shares, debentures and other securities.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF HYDERABAD 
AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

1. We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of Hyderabad Airport Security Services Limited 
(“the Company”) as at March 31, 2008, and Cash Flow Statement for the period ended on that 
date annexed thereto, which we have signed under reference to this report.  No Profit and Loss 
Account has been prepared for the reason stated in Note II (2) of Schedule G.  These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in India. 
Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes, 
examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,  issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of sub-section (4A) of Section 227 of ‘The Companies Act, 1956’ of India (the ‘Act’) and 
on the basis of such checks of the books and records of the company as we considered 
appropriate and according to the information and explanations given to us, we give in the 
Annexure to this report, a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said 
Order.

4. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in paragraph 3 above, we report that:

(a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit:

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the 
company so far as appears from our examination of those books;

(c) The Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report are in agreement 
with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report 
comply with the accounting standards referred to in sub-section (3C) of Section 211 of 
the Act;

(e) On the basis of written representations received from the directors, as on March 31, 2008 
and taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 
March 31, 2008 from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section 
(1) of Section 274 of the Act;

(f) In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given 
to us, the said financial statements together with the notes thereon and attached thereto 
give in the prescribed manner the information required by the Act and give a true and fair 
view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

(i) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the company as at March 31, 
2008; and

(ii) in the case of the Cash Flow Statement, of the cash flows for the period ended on that 
date.

Sd/-
P. Rama Krishna

Partner
Membership No. 22795

For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008
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ANNEXURE TO AUDITORS’ REPORT

[Referred to in paragraph 3 of the Auditors’ Report of even date to the members of Hyderabad 
Airport Security Services Limited on the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2008]

1. The company has neither granted nor taken any loans, secured or unsecured, to/from 
companies, firms or other parties covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the 
Act.

2. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, having regard to 
the explanation that certain items purchased are of special nature for which suitable 
alternative sources do not exist for obtaining comparative quotations, there is an adequate 
internal control system commensurate with the size of the company and the nature of its 
business for the purchase of fixed assets.  The activities of the Company did not involve 
purchase of inventory and sale of goods and services during the financial period. Further, on 
the basis of our examination of the books and records of the company, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across nor have been 
informed of any continuing failure to correct major weaknesses in the aforesaid internal 
control system. 

3. According to the information and explanations given to us, there have been no contracts or 
arrangements referred to in Section 301 of the Act during the period to be entered in the 
register required to be maintained under that Section. Accordingly, commenting on 
transactions made in pursuance of such contracts or arrangements does not arise.

4. The company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning of Sections 
58A and 58AA of the Act and the rules framed there under.

5. As the company is not listed on any stock exchange or the paid-up capital and reserves as at 
the commencement of the financial year did not exceed Rupees Fifty Lakhs or the average 
annual turnover for a period of three consecutive financial years immediately preceding the 
financial year did not exceed Rupees Five Crores, clause (vii) of paragraph 4 of the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003 is not applicable to the company for the current period.

6. (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, in our opinion, the company is generally regular in depositing the 
undisputed statutory dues including income-tax and other material statutory dues as 
applicable with the appropriate authorities. According to the information and explanation 
given to us and the records of the company examined by us, provident fund, investor 
education and protection fund, employees’ state insurance, sales tax, wealth tax, service tax, 
customs duty, excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for the current period.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, there are no dues of income-tax, which have not been deposited on 
account of any dispute. According to the information and explanations given to us and the 
records of the company examined by us, sales tax, wealth tax, service tax, customs duty, 
excise duty and cess are not applicable to the Company for the current period.

7. As the company is registered for a period less than five years, clause (x) of paragraph 4 of the 
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
(Amendment) Order, 2004, is not applicable to the company for the current period.

8. According to the records of the company examined by us and the information and explanation given 
to us, the company has not defaulted in repayment of dues to any bank as at the balance sheet date. 
The Company has not issued any debentures or borrowed from any financial institution during the 
period and there are no debentures outstanding as at the balance sheet date.

9. The company has not granted any loans and advances on the basis of security by way of 
pledge of shares, debentures and other securities.
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10. The provisions of any special statute applicable to chit fund / nidhi / mutual benefit 
fund/societies are not applicable to the company.

11. In our opinion, the company is not a dealer or trader in shares, securities, debentures and 
other investments. 

12. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company has 
not given any guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial institutions during 
the period.

13. In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, on an overall 
basis, the term loans have been applied for the purposes for which they were obtained.

14. On the basis of an overall examination of the balance sheet of the company, in our opinion and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, there are no funds raised on a 
short-term basis which have been used for long-term investment. 

15. The company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to parties and companies 
covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Act during the period.

16. The company has not raised any money by public issue during the period.

17. During the course of our examination of the books and records of the company, carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud 
on or by the company, noticed or reported during the period, nor have we been informed of 
such case by the management.

18. The other clauses (i), (ii), (iii)(b), (iii)(c), (iii)(d), (iii)(f), (iii)(g), (v)(b), (viii) and (xix) of 
paragraph 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,are not applicable in the case of the company for 
the current period, since in our opinion there is matter which arises to be reported in the 
aforesaid order. 

   Sd/- 
P. Rama Krishna

Partner
Membership No. 22795

For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse

Chartered Accountants
Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008

6059

I. SOURCE OF FUNDS

1. Shareholder’s Funds
    Capital A 5,00,000

2. Share application money pending allotment 6,25,00,000

3. Loan Funds B 40,00,01,005
Secured Loans

                                  Total 46,30,01,005

II. APPLICATION OF FUNDS

1. Capital Work in Progress 29,00,66,704

2. Expenditure during Construction  
    Period pending allocation (Net) C 1,01,82,421

3.  Current Assets, Loans Advances
a) Cash and Bank Balances D 17,62,38,609
b) Loans and Advances E 4,26,89,855

21,89,28,464

Less: Current Liabilities & Provisions
a) Current Liabilities F 5,61,76,584

5,61,76,584

Net Current Assets 16,27,51,880

                  Total 46,30,01,005

Statement on Significant Accounting Policies and 
Notes to the Accounts G

(Amount in Rupees)

Schedule
Ref

As at March, 31, 2008

HYDERABAD AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

The Schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Balance Sheet

This is the Balance Sheet referred to in our report of even date

                                                                                              For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director
Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008
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10. The provisions of any special statute applicable to chit fund / nidhi / mutual benefit 
fund/societies are not applicable to the company.

11. In our opinion, the company is not a dealer or trader in shares, securities, debentures and 
other investments. 

12. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company has 
not given any guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial institutions during 
the period.

13. In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, on an overall 
basis, the term loans have been applied for the purposes for which they were obtained.

14. On the basis of an overall examination of the balance sheet of the company, in our opinion and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, there are no funds raised on a 
short-term basis which have been used for long-term investment. 

15. The company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to parties and companies 
covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Act during the period.

16. The company has not raised any money by public issue during the period.

17. During the course of our examination of the books and records of the company, carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud 
on or by the company, noticed or reported during the period, nor have we been informed of 
such case by the management.

18. The other clauses (i), (ii), (iii)(b), (iii)(c), (iii)(d), (iii)(f), (iii)(g), (v)(b), (viii) and (xix) of 
paragraph 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,are not applicable in the case of the company for 
the current period, since in our opinion there is matter which arises to be reported in the 
aforesaid order. 

   Sd/- 
P. Rama Krishna

Partner
Membership No. 22795

For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse

Chartered Accountants
Place: Hyderabad
Date:  May 14, 2008

6059

I. SOURCE OF FUNDS

1. Shareholder’s Funds
    Capital A 5,00,000

2. Share application money pending allotment 6,25,00,000

3. Loan Funds B 40,00,01,005
Secured Loans

                                  Total 46,30,01,005

II. APPLICATION OF FUNDS

1. Capital Work in Progress 29,00,66,704

2. Expenditure during Construction  
    Period pending allocation (Net) C 1,01,82,421

3.  Current Assets, Loans Advances
a) Cash and Bank Balances D 17,62,38,609
b) Loans and Advances E 4,26,89,855

21,89,28,464

Less: Current Liabilities & Provisions
a) Current Liabilities F 5,61,76,584

5,61,76,584

Net Current Assets 16,27,51,880

                  Total 46,30,01,005

Statement on Significant Accounting Policies and 
Notes to the Accounts G

(Amount in Rupees)

Schedule
Ref

As at March, 31, 2008

HYDERABAD AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

The Schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Balance Sheet

This is the Balance Sheet referred to in our report of even date

                                                                                              For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director
Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008
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Authorised
1,30,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs.10 each  13,

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up
50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid up 5,00,000
(Above shares are held by Holding Company
GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited and its nominees)

5,00,000

00,00,000

  Term Loans - Banks 40,00,01,005

40,00,01,005

Rates and Taxes 11,88,420

Repairs and Maintenance - Others 62,058

Consultancy and other professional charges 48,65,944

Electricity & Water charges 23,68,910

Remuneration to Auditors 

  Audit Fees 1,00,000

Interest on fixed loans 4,05,377

Finance Charges 11,25,200

Office Maintenance 34,136

Printing and Stationery 10,907

Misc expenses 149

Preliminary expenses 21,320

1,01,82,421

(Amount in Rupees)

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2008

SCHEDULE - A - Capital

SCHEDULE - B - Secured Loans

SCHEDULE - C - Expenditure during construction period, 
pending allocation (Net)

HYDERABAD AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet 

(Term loans are Secured by mortgage of Leasehold right, title, interest and benefit in 
respect of Leasehold Land and first charge on all movable and immovable assets, 
operating cash flows, book dets, receivables, intangibles and revenues, both present 
and future, as well as assignment of all right, title, interest, benefits, claims and 
demands available under the concession agreement and other project documents, 
security interest in the Trust and Retention Account, Debt Service Reserve Account)

6261

Cash on Hand -
Balances with Scheduled Banks - in Current Accounts 17,62,38,609

17,62,38,609

As at
March 31, 2008SCHEDULE - D - Cash and Bank Balances

(Unsecured, considered good)
Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received 4,17,49,450
Deposits with Government Authorities 7,50,000
Balances with Customs, Excise, etc 1,90,404

4,26,89,855

As at
March 31, 2008SCHEDULE - E - Loans and Advances

Current Liabilities

Sundry Creditors

   - Due to other than micro, small and medium enterprises 5,61,63,853

Other Liabilities 12,731

*Note: Classification is on the basis of information available with the Company

5,61,76,584

As at
March 31, 2008SCHEDULE - F - Current Liabilities and Provisions

HYDERABAD AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet 

SCHEDULE - G

BACKGROUND:

The Company was incorporated on 20th July, 2007 as a 100% subsidiary of GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited. 
The main objective of the company is to carry on the business of providing certain security services at the new Hyderabad 
International Airport at Shamshabad.

I. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Accounting Assumptions:
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention on the basis of a going concern, with 
revenues recognised and expenses accounted on their accrual and amounts determined as payable or 
receivable during the year, except those with significant uncertainties, and in accordance with the applicable 
Accounting Standards as issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and relevant provisions of 
the Companies Act, 1956.

2. Borrowing Costs:
Borrowing costs that are attributable to acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as 
a part of cost of such assets. All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the year in which they are 
incurred.

II.  NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

1. (a)  Contingent Liabilities : Rs. Nil

(b)  Capital Commitments:

Estimated Value of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account, not provided for (Net of Advances): 
Rs.30,55,79,948/- (March 2007 - Rs. NIL)

2. The company has not commenced business operations. Consequently no Profit and Loss Account has been drawn up. 
All the expenditure incurred (net of income earned) during the construction stage are grouped and disclosed under 
expenditure during construction year, pending allocation (net) in Schedule C.

3. Details of transactions with Related Parties

A     Name of related parties and description of relationship.

(i)   Holding company GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited (GHIAL)

(ii)  Holding company’s Holding Company GMR Infrastructure Limited (GIL)

(iii)  Ultimate Holdings Company GMR Holding Private Limited (GHPL)
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Authorised
1,30,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs.10 each  13,

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up
50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid up 5,00,000
(Above shares are held by Holding Company
GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited and its nominees)

5,00,000

00,00,000

  Term Loans - Banks 40,00,01,005

40,00,01,005

Rates and Taxes 11,88,420

Repairs and Maintenance - Others 62,058

Consultancy and other professional charges 48,65,944

Electricity & Water charges 23,68,910

Remuneration to Auditors 

  Audit Fees 1,00,000

Interest on fixed loans 4,05,377

Finance Charges 11,25,200

Office Maintenance 34,136

Printing and Stationery 10,907

Misc expenses 149

Preliminary expenses 21,320

1,01,82,421

(Amount in Rupees)

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2008

SCHEDULE - A - Capital

SCHEDULE - B - Secured Loans

SCHEDULE - C - Expenditure during construction period, 
pending allocation (Net)

HYDERABAD AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet 

(Term loans are Secured by mortgage of Leasehold right, title, interest and benefit in 
respect of Leasehold Land and first charge on all movable and immovable assets, 
operating cash flows, book dets, receivables, intangibles and revenues, both present 
and future, as well as assignment of all right, title, interest, benefits, claims and 
demands available under the concession agreement and other project documents, 
security interest in the Trust and Retention Account, Debt Service Reserve Account)

6261

Cash on Hand -
Balances with Scheduled Banks - in Current Accounts 17,62,38,609

17,62,38,609

As at
March 31, 2008SCHEDULE - D - Cash and Bank Balances

(Unsecured, considered good)
Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received 4,17,49,450
Deposits with Government Authorities 7,50,000
Balances with Customs, Excise, etc 1,90,404

4,26,89,855

As at
March 31, 2008SCHEDULE - E - Loans and Advances

Current Liabilities

Sundry Creditors

   - Due to other than micro, small and medium enterprises 5,61,63,853

Other Liabilities 12,731

*Note: Classification is on the basis of information available with the Company

5,61,76,584

As at
March 31, 2008SCHEDULE - F - Current Liabilities and Provisions

HYDERABAD AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet 

SCHEDULE - G

BACKGROUND:

The Company was incorporated on 20th July, 2007 as a 100% subsidiary of GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited. 
The main objective of the company is to carry on the business of providing certain security services at the new Hyderabad 
International Airport at Shamshabad.

I. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Accounting Assumptions:
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention on the basis of a going concern, with 
revenues recognised and expenses accounted on their accrual and amounts determined as payable or 
receivable during the year, except those with significant uncertainties, and in accordance with the applicable 
Accounting Standards as issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and relevant provisions of 
the Companies Act, 1956.

2. Borrowing Costs:
Borrowing costs that are attributable to acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as 
a part of cost of such assets. All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the year in which they are 
incurred.

II.  NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

1. (a)  Contingent Liabilities : Rs. Nil

(b)  Capital Commitments:

Estimated Value of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account, not provided for (Net of Advances): 
Rs.30,55,79,948/- (March 2007 - Rs. NIL)

2. The company has not commenced business operations. Consequently no Profit and Loss Account has been drawn up. 
All the expenditure incurred (net of income earned) during the construction stage are grouped and disclosed under 
expenditure during construction year, pending allocation (net) in Schedule C.

3. Details of transactions with Related Parties

A     Name of related parties and description of relationship.

(i)   Holding company GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited (GHIAL)

(ii)  Holding company’s Holding Company GMR Infrastructure Limited (GIL)

(iii)  Ultimate Holdings Company GMR Holding Private Limited (GHPL)
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B.   Summary of Transactions with the above related parties is as follows:

C.  Out standing balances as at the year end:

(Amount in Rupees)

Related Party Transactions March 31, 2008

(i) Share Capital allotted
Holding Company 5,00,000

(ii) Advances from Holding Company
Holding Company 3,85,00,000

Particulars March 31, 2008

(i) Balance Payable:
Holding Company 3,85,00,000

6463

5. Additional Information pursuant to paragraphs 3, 4, 4-C and 4-D of part - II of Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956 
to the extent either “Nil” or “Not Applicable” has not been furnished.

5. The company was incorporated on 20th July, 2007. Accordingly, this Balance Sheet covers the period from 
20th July, 2007 to 31st March, 2008, and previous year figures are not applicable to the company.

                                                                                           For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

4.  Auditors Remuneration :

Particulars March 31, 2008

Audit Fee (Excluding Services Tax) 1,00,000

Total 1,00,000

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director
Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

A. CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit Before Tax and Extra Ordinary items -
Adjustment for :
(Increase) / Decrease in Loans and Advances (4,26,89,855)
Increase / (Decrease) in Current Liabilities and Provisions 5,61,76,584

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,34,86,729

B. CASH FLOW FROM / (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Fixed Assets and Change in Capital Work in Progress (29,00,66,704)
Expenditure during Construction period, pending allocation (net) (1,01,82,421)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (30,02,49,125)

C CASH FLOW FROM/ (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of Share Capital 5,00,000
Proceeds from Secured Loans 40,00,01,005
Proceeds from Share application Money 6,25,00,000

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 46,30,01,005

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DURING THE PERIOD 17,62,38,609

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 17,62,38,609

(Amount in Rupees)

2008CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2008

HYDERABAD AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

                                                                                           For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Notes :
1. The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in the Accounting
   Standard - 3 on Cash Flow Statements issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

2.  This being the first cash flow after incorporation, previous years figures are not applicable.

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director
Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

H
Y
D

E
R
A
B
A
D

 A
IR

P
O

R
T
 S

E
C
U

R
IT

Y
 S

E
R
V
IC

E
S
 L

IM
IT

E
D



B.   Summary of Transactions with the above related parties is as follows:

C.  Out standing balances as at the year end:

(Amount in Rupees)

Related Party Transactions March 31, 2008

(i) Share Capital allotted
Holding Company 5,00,000

(ii) Advances from Holding Company
Holding Company 3,85,00,000

Particulars March 31, 2008

(i) Balance Payable:
Holding Company 3,85,00,000
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5. Additional Information pursuant to paragraphs 3, 4, 4-C and 4-D of part - II of Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956 
to the extent either “Nil” or “Not Applicable” has not been furnished.

5. The company was incorporated on 20th July, 2007. Accordingly, this Balance Sheet covers the period from 
20th July, 2007 to 31st March, 2008, and previous year figures are not applicable to the company.

                                                                                           For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

4.  Auditors Remuneration :

Particulars March 31, 2008

Audit Fee (Excluding Services Tax) 1,00,000

Total 1,00,000

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director
Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

A. CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit Before Tax and Extra Ordinary items -
Adjustment for :
(Increase) / Decrease in Loans and Advances (4,26,89,855)
Increase / (Decrease) in Current Liabilities and Provisions 5,61,76,584

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,34,86,729

B. CASH FLOW FROM / (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Fixed Assets and Change in Capital Work in Progress (29,00,66,704)
Expenditure during Construction period, pending allocation (net) (1,01,82,421)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (30,02,49,125)

C CASH FLOW FROM/ (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of Share Capital 5,00,000
Proceeds from Secured Loans 40,00,01,005
Proceeds from Share application Money 6,25,00,000

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 46,30,01,005

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DURING THE PERIOD 17,62,38,609

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 17,62,38,609

(Amount in Rupees)

2008CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2008

HYDERABAD AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

                                                                                           For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Notes :
1. The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in the Accounting
   Standard - 3 on Cash Flow Statements issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

2.  This being the first cash flow after incorporation, previous years figures are not applicable.

           Sd/-          Sd/-           Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Partner Director Director
Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

H
Y
D

E
R
A
B
A
D

 A
IR

P
O

R
T
 S

E
C
U

R
IT

Y
 S

E
R
V
IC

E
S
 L

IM
IT

E
D



6665

1 Registration Details

Registration No. U74920AP2007PCL054862 State Code 01

Balance Sheet Date March 31, 2008

2 Capital Raised during the year (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Public Issue Nil Rights Issue Nil

Bonus Issue Nil Private Placement Nil

3. Position of Mobilisation and Development of Funds (Amount in Rs. Thousands) 

Total Liabilities 4,63,001 Total assets 4,63,001

Sources Funds

Paid  - Up Capital 500 Share Application Money 62,500

Reserves & Surplus Nil Unsecured Loans Nil

Secured Loan 4,00,001 Grant from GOAP Nil

Application of Funds

Net Fixed Assets 3,40,987 Investments Nil

Net Current Assets 122,014 Misc. Expenditure Nil

Accumulated Losses Nil

4. Performance of company (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Total Income N.A Total Expenditure N.A

5. Generic Names of Three Principal Products / Services of Company (as per monetary terms)

Item Code No.    : N.A

Product Description N.A

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

          Sd/-        
Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Director Director

Place : Hyderabad
Date : May 14, 2008

Sd/-

HYDERABAD AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

Balance Sheet Abstract and Company’s General Business Profile

HYDERABAD MENZIES AIR CARGO PRIVATE LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS’ FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2008

Directors

To, 
The Members, 
Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the Second Annual Report and the Audited Accounts for 
the period ended March 31, 2008, together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

Your company has simultaneous to the opening of the Hyderabad Rajiv Gandhi International 
Airport on the 23rd March 2008, commenced commercial operations.  Accordingly a Profit and Loss 
Account was prepared for the period ended March 31, 2008. As the previous (first) financial year of 
the company ended on June 30, 2007, the current financial year of the company would be from the 
period July 01, 2007 to March 31, 2008. 

For the period ended March 31, 2008, your company has achieved a turnover (income from 
services) of Rs.46,23,677/-. For this period, your company registered a loss of Rs.1,79,20,148/- , 
after writing off an amount of Rs.84,97,952/- of project expenses not of capital nature. 

Composition and size of the Board of Directors

The Board of your company presently comprises of the following Directors: 

1. Mr. P S Nair

2. Mr. Rajgopal Swami

3. Mr. Paul Smith

4. Mr. Kamesh Peri

5. Mr. Martin Jones (Alternate Director to Mr. Paul Smith)

During the year, Mr. Rajgopal Swami was co-opted as an additional Director on the Board of the 
company with effect from December 21, 2007. Mr. Rajgopal Swami holds office of Director till the 
ensuing Annual General Meeting.  Notice under Section 257 of the Companies Act, 1956 has been 
received from a shareholder of the company signifying the candidature of Mr. Rajgopal Swami for 
the office of Director of the company. 

Mr. T Srinagesh ceased to be a Director, owing to his resignation with effect from December 21, 2007. 
The Board places on record its appreciation of the valuable contributions made by Mr. T Srinagesh 
during his tenure as Director and Chairman of the company.  

Mr. Kamesh Peri, Director retires at the ensuing Annual General and being eligible offers himself for 
reappointment. 
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1 Registration Details

Registration No. U74920AP2007PCL054862 State Code 01

Balance Sheet Date March 31, 2008

2 Capital Raised during the year (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Public Issue Nil Rights Issue Nil

Bonus Issue Nil Private Placement Nil

3. Position of Mobilisation and Development of Funds (Amount in Rs. Thousands) 

Total Liabilities 4,63,001 Total assets 4,63,001

Sources Funds

Paid  - Up Capital 500 Share Application Money 62,500

Reserves & Surplus Nil Unsecured Loans Nil

Secured Loan 4,00,001 Grant from GOAP Nil

Application of Funds

Net Fixed Assets 3,40,987 Investments Nil

Net Current Assets 122,014 Misc. Expenditure Nil

Accumulated Losses Nil

4. Performance of company (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Total Income N.A Total Expenditure N.A

5. Generic Names of Three Principal Products / Services of Company (as per monetary terms)

Item Code No.    : N.A

Product Description N.A

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

          Sd/-        
Rajgopal Swami C. Prasanna
Director Director

Place : Hyderabad
Date : May 14, 2008

Sd/-

HYDERABAD AIRPORT SECURITY SERVICES LIMITED

Balance Sheet Abstract and Company’s General Business Profile

HYDERABAD MENZIES AIR CARGO PRIVATE LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS’ FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2008

Directors

To, 
The Members, 
Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the Second Annual Report and the Audited Accounts for 
the period ended March 31, 2008, together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

Your company has simultaneous to the opening of the Hyderabad Rajiv Gandhi International 
Airport on the 23rd March 2008, commenced commercial operations.  Accordingly a Profit and Loss 
Account was prepared for the period ended March 31, 2008. As the previous (first) financial year of 
the company ended on June 30, 2007, the current financial year of the company would be from the 
period July 01, 2007 to March 31, 2008. 

For the period ended March 31, 2008, your company has achieved a turnover (income from 
services) of Rs.46,23,677/-. For this period, your company registered a loss of Rs.1,79,20,148/- , 
after writing off an amount of Rs.84,97,952/- of project expenses not of capital nature. 

Composition and size of the Board of Directors

The Board of your company presently comprises of the following Directors: 

1. Mr. P S Nair

2. Mr. Rajgopal Swami

3. Mr. Paul Smith

4. Mr. Kamesh Peri

5. Mr. Martin Jones (Alternate Director to Mr. Paul Smith)

During the year, Mr. Rajgopal Swami was co-opted as an additional Director on the Board of the 
company with effect from December 21, 2007. Mr. Rajgopal Swami holds office of Director till the 
ensuing Annual General Meeting.  Notice under Section 257 of the Companies Act, 1956 has been 
received from a shareholder of the company signifying the candidature of Mr. Rajgopal Swami for 
the office of Director of the company. 

Mr. T Srinagesh ceased to be a Director, owing to his resignation with effect from December 21, 2007. 
The Board places on record its appreciation of the valuable contributions made by Mr. T Srinagesh 
during his tenure as Director and Chairman of the company.  

Mr. Kamesh Peri, Director retires at the ensuing Annual General and being eligible offers himself for 
reappointment. 
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Directors’ Responsibility Statement 
Your Directors confirm that

Holding Company

Auditors

Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption & Foreign Exchange Earnings & Outgo

Particulars of Employees

Acknowledgment

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 

1. in the preparation of the annual accounts for the financial period ended 31st March, 2008, the 
applicable accounting standards have been followed along with proper explanation relating to 
material departures.

2. the Directors have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial period ended 31st March, 2008

3. the Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities.

4. the Directors have prepared the accounts for the financial period ended 31st March, 2008 on a 
‘going concern’ basis.

Pursuant to the Joint Venture Agreement dated April 28, 2006 and the various allotment of equity 
shares made by the company, GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited is the Holding 
Company of the company as defined under Section 4 of the Companies Act, 1956. 

The Auditors, M/s. Price Waterhouse, Chartered Accountants, Hyderabad, retire at the ensuing 
Annual General meeting and have confirmed their eligibility and willingness to accept office, if re- 
appointed.

The particulars as required under sub-section (1)(e) of Section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956, 
read with the Companies (Disclosure of particulars in the Report of the Board of  Directors) Rules, 
1988, are set out as an Annexure to this report.

Particulars required under Section 217(2A) of the Companies Act, 1956 read with Companies 
(Particulars of Employees) Rules, 1975, as amended, are set out in the Annexure to this report.

Your Directors take this opportunity to express their sincere thanks and gratitude to GMR 
Hyderabad International Airport Limited, Menzies Aviation Plc, for their co-operation and support.

Your Directors place on record their sincere appreciation of the contributions made by the 
employees at all levels through their hard work, dedication, solidarity and support.

Sd/- Sd/-
P S Nair Rajgopal Swami
Chairman         Director 

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

Auditors’ Report to the Members of 

HYDERABAD MENZIES AIR CARGO PRIVATE LIMITED 

1. We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited (the 
“Company”) as at March 31, 2008, and the related Profit and Loss Account and Cash flow statement 
for the period ended on that date annexed thereto, which we have signed under reference to this 
report. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in India.  
Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. As required by the Companies (Auditors’ Report) Order, 2003 as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004, issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of sub-section (4A) of Section 227 of ‘The Companies Act, 1956’ of India (the “Act”) and 
on the basis of such checks of the books and records of the company as we considered 
appropriate and according to the information and explanations given to us, we give in the 
Annexure a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

4. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in paragraph 3 above, we report that:

(a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;  

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the 
Company so far as appears from our examination of those books;

(c) The Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this 
report are in agreement with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt 
with by this report comply with the accounting standards referred to in sub-section (3C) 
of section 211 of the Act;

(e) On the basis of written representations received from the Directors, as on March 31, 2008 
and taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 
March 31, 2008 from being appointed as a Director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section 
(1) of section 274 of the Act;

(f) In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given 
to us, the said financial statements together with the notes thereon and attached thereto 
give in the prescribed manner the information required by the Act and give a true and fair 
view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

(i) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 
31, 2008;

(ii) in the case of the Profit and Loss Account, of the loss for the period ended on that 
date; and

(iii) in the case of the Cash Flow Statement, of the cash flows for the period ended on 
that date.

Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna, Partner

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of 
 Price Waterhouse

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008 
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Directors’ Responsibility Statement 
Your Directors confirm that

Holding Company

Auditors

Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption & Foreign Exchange Earnings & Outgo

Particulars of Employees

Acknowledgment

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 

1. in the preparation of the annual accounts for the financial period ended 31st March, 2008, the 
applicable accounting standards have been followed along with proper explanation relating to 
material departures.

2. the Directors have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial period ended 31st March, 2008

3. the Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities.

4. the Directors have prepared the accounts for the financial period ended 31st March, 2008 on a 
‘going concern’ basis.

Pursuant to the Joint Venture Agreement dated April 28, 2006 and the various allotment of equity 
shares made by the company, GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited is the Holding 
Company of the company as defined under Section 4 of the Companies Act, 1956. 

The Auditors, M/s. Price Waterhouse, Chartered Accountants, Hyderabad, retire at the ensuing 
Annual General meeting and have confirmed their eligibility and willingness to accept office, if re- 
appointed.

The particulars as required under sub-section (1)(e) of Section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956, 
read with the Companies (Disclosure of particulars in the Report of the Board of  Directors) Rules, 
1988, are set out as an Annexure to this report.

Particulars required under Section 217(2A) of the Companies Act, 1956 read with Companies 
(Particulars of Employees) Rules, 1975, as amended, are set out in the Annexure to this report.

Your Directors take this opportunity to express their sincere thanks and gratitude to GMR 
Hyderabad International Airport Limited, Menzies Aviation Plc, for their co-operation and support.

Your Directors place on record their sincere appreciation of the contributions made by the 
employees at all levels through their hard work, dedication, solidarity and support.

Sd/- Sd/-
P S Nair Rajgopal Swami
Chairman         Director 

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

Auditors’ Report to the Members of 

HYDERABAD MENZIES AIR CARGO PRIVATE LIMITED 

1. We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited (the 
“Company”) as at March 31, 2008, and the related Profit and Loss Account and Cash flow statement 
for the period ended on that date annexed thereto, which we have signed under reference to this 
report. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in India.  
Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. As required by the Companies (Auditors’ Report) Order, 2003 as amended by the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004, issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of sub-section (4A) of Section 227 of ‘The Companies Act, 1956’ of India (the “Act”) and 
on the basis of such checks of the books and records of the company as we considered 
appropriate and according to the information and explanations given to us, we give in the 
Annexure a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

4. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in paragraph 3 above, we report that:

(a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;  

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the 
Company so far as appears from our examination of those books;

(c) The Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this 
report are in agreement with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt 
with by this report comply with the accounting standards referred to in sub-section (3C) 
of section 211 of the Act;

(e) On the basis of written representations received from the Directors, as on March 31, 2008 
and taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 
March 31, 2008 from being appointed as a Director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section 
(1) of section 274 of the Act;

(f) In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given 
to us, the said financial statements together with the notes thereon and attached thereto 
give in the prescribed manner the information required by the Act and give a true and fair 
view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

(i) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 
31, 2008;

(ii) in the case of the Profit and Loss Account, of the loss for the period ended on that 
date; and

(iii) in the case of the Cash Flow Statement, of the cash flows for the period ended on 
that date.

Sd/-
P. Ramakrishna, Partner

Membership No. 22795
For and on behalf of 
 Price Waterhouse

Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008 
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ANNEXURE TO AUDITORS’ REPORT

[Referred to in Paragraph 3 of the Report of the Auditors’ Report of even date to the Members of 
Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited on the financial statements for the period ended 
March 31, 2008]:

1. (a) The Company is maintaining proper records to show full particulars including quantitative 
details and situation of fixed assets.

(b) The fixed assets of the company have been physically verified by the management 
according to a phased programme designed to cover all the items over a period of three 
years, which in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size of the company and 
the nature of its assets.  Pursuant to the programme, a portion of the fixed assets has 
been verified by the management during the period and no material discrepancies 
between the book records and the physical inventory have been noticed.      

(c) In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, a 
substantial part of fixed assets has not been disposed of by the Company during the 
period.

2. The Company has neither granted nor taken any loans, secured or unsecured, to/from 
companies, firms, or other parties covered in the Register maintained under Section 301 of the 
Act.

3. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, having regard to 
the explanation that certain items purchased are of special nature for which suitable 
alternative sources do not exist for obtaining comparative quotations, there is an adequate 
internal control system commensurate with the size of the Company and the nature of its 
business for the purchase of fixed assets and for the sale of services.  The activities of the 
Company do not involve purchase of inventory and sale of goods, during the financial period. 
Further, on the basis of our examination of the books and records of the Company, and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across nor 
have been informed of any continuing failure to correct major weaknesses in the aforesaid 
internal control system.

4. According to the information and explanations given to us, there have been no contracts or 
arrangements referred to in section 301 of the Act during the period to be entered in the 
register required to be maintained under that section.  Accordingly, commenting on 
transactions made in pursuance of such contracts or arrangements does not arise.

5. The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning of Sections 
58A and 58AA of the Act and the rules framed there under.

6. As the Company is not listed on any stock exchange or the paid up capital and reserves as at 
the commencement of the financial period did not exceed Rupees Fifty Lakhs or the average 
annual turnover for a period of three consecutive financial years immediately preceding the 
financial year did not exceed Rupees Five Crores, clause (vii) of paragraph 4 of the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
(Amendment) Order, 2004, is not applicable to the company for the current period. 

7.  (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, in our opinion, the Company is generally regular in depositing the 
undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income 
tax, service tax, customs duty and other material statutory dues as applicable with the 
appropriate authorities. According to the information and explanation given to us and the 
records of the company examined by us, investor education and protection fund, sales 
tax, wealth tax, excise duty and cess are not applicable for the company during the period 
under audit. 

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, there are no dues of income tax and service tax which have not been 
deposited on account of any dispute.  According to the information and explanations 
given to us and records of the company examined by us, sales tax, wealth tax, customs 
duty, excise duty and cess are not applicable for the company during the period under 
audit. 

8. As the Company is registered for a period less than five years, clause (x) of paragraph 4 of the 
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
(Amendment) Order, 2004, is not applicable to the Company for the current period.

9. The company has not granted any loans and advances on the basis of security by way of 
pledge of shares, debentures and other securities.  

10. The provisions of any special statute applicable to chit fund/ nidhi/ mutual benefit fund/ 
societies are not applicable to the company.

11. In our opinion, the Company is not a dealer or trader in shares, securities, debentures and 
other investments. 

12. In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company 
has not given any guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial institutions 
during the period.

13. The Company has not obtained any term loans.

14. On the basis of an overall examination of the balance sheet of the Company, in our opinion and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, there are no funds raised on a short 
term basis which have been used for long term investment.  

15. The Company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to parties and companies 
covered in the Register maintained under Section 301 of the Act during the period.

16. The Company has not raised any money by public issue during the period.

17. During the course of our examination of the books and records of the company, carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud 
on or by the Company, noticed or reported during the period, nor have we been informed of 
such case by the management.

The other Clauses (ii), (iii) (b), (c), (d), (f) and (g), (viii), (xi) and (xix) of paragraph 4 of the 
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
(Amendment) Order, 2004, are not applicable in the case of the Company for the current 
period, since in our opinion there is no matter which arises to be reported upon under the 
aforesaid order.

Sd/-
P. RamaKrishna

    Partner
Membership No. 22795

 For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse

   Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008
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ANNEXURE TO AUDITORS’ REPORT

[Referred to in Paragraph 3 of the Report of the Auditors’ Report of even date to the Members of 
Hyderabad Menzies Air Cargo Private Limited on the financial statements for the period ended 
March 31, 2008]:

1. (a) The Company is maintaining proper records to show full particulars including quantitative 
details and situation of fixed assets.

(b) The fixed assets of the company have been physically verified by the management 
according to a phased programme designed to cover all the items over a period of three 
years, which in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size of the company and 
the nature of its assets.  Pursuant to the programme, a portion of the fixed assets has 
been verified by the management during the period and no material discrepancies 
between the book records and the physical inventory have been noticed.      

(c) In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, a 
substantial part of fixed assets has not been disposed of by the Company during the 
period.

2. The Company has neither granted nor taken any loans, secured or unsecured, to/from 
companies, firms, or other parties covered in the Register maintained under Section 301 of the 
Act.

3. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, having regard to 
the explanation that certain items purchased are of special nature for which suitable 
alternative sources do not exist for obtaining comparative quotations, there is an adequate 
internal control system commensurate with the size of the Company and the nature of its 
business for the purchase of fixed assets and for the sale of services.  The activities of the 
Company do not involve purchase of inventory and sale of goods, during the financial period. 
Further, on the basis of our examination of the books and records of the Company, and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across nor 
have been informed of any continuing failure to correct major weaknesses in the aforesaid 
internal control system.

4. According to the information and explanations given to us, there have been no contracts or 
arrangements referred to in section 301 of the Act during the period to be entered in the 
register required to be maintained under that section.  Accordingly, commenting on 
transactions made in pursuance of such contracts or arrangements does not arise.

5. The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning of Sections 
58A and 58AA of the Act and the rules framed there under.

6. As the Company is not listed on any stock exchange or the paid up capital and reserves as at 
the commencement of the financial period did not exceed Rupees Fifty Lakhs or the average 
annual turnover for a period of three consecutive financial years immediately preceding the 
financial year did not exceed Rupees Five Crores, clause (vii) of paragraph 4 of the Companies 
(Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
(Amendment) Order, 2004, is not applicable to the company for the current period. 

7.  (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, in our opinion, the Company is generally regular in depositing the 
undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income 
tax, service tax, customs duty and other material statutory dues as applicable with the 
appropriate authorities. According to the information and explanation given to us and the 
records of the company examined by us, investor education and protection fund, sales 
tax, wealth tax, excise duty and cess are not applicable for the company during the period 
under audit. 

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the company 
examined by us, there are no dues of income tax and service tax which have not been 
deposited on account of any dispute.  According to the information and explanations 
given to us and records of the company examined by us, sales tax, wealth tax, customs 
duty, excise duty and cess are not applicable for the company during the period under 
audit. 

8. As the Company is registered for a period less than five years, clause (x) of paragraph 4 of the 
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
(Amendment) Order, 2004, is not applicable to the Company for the current period.

9. The company has not granted any loans and advances on the basis of security by way of 
pledge of shares, debentures and other securities.  

10. The provisions of any special statute applicable to chit fund/ nidhi/ mutual benefit fund/ 
societies are not applicable to the company.

11. In our opinion, the Company is not a dealer or trader in shares, securities, debentures and 
other investments. 

12. In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, the company 
has not given any guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial institutions 
during the period.

13. The Company has not obtained any term loans.

14. On the basis of an overall examination of the balance sheet of the Company, in our opinion and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, there are no funds raised on a short 
term basis which have been used for long term investment.  

15. The Company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to parties and companies 
covered in the Register maintained under Section 301 of the Act during the period.

16. The Company has not raised any money by public issue during the period.

17. During the course of our examination of the books and records of the company, carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud 
on or by the Company, noticed or reported during the period, nor have we been informed of 
such case by the management.

The other Clauses (ii), (iii) (b), (c), (d), (f) and (g), (viii), (xi) and (xix) of paragraph 4 of the 
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2003, as amended by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
(Amendment) Order, 2004, are not applicable in the case of the Company for the current 
period, since in our opinion there is no matter which arises to be reported upon under the 
aforesaid order.

Sd/-
P. RamaKrishna

    Partner
Membership No. 22795

 For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse

   Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008
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I. SOURCES OF FUNDS

1.  Shareholders’ Funds
Capital A 10,200,000 1,000,000
Share Application Money pending allotment 192,944,369 -

2.  Loan Funds
Unsecured Loans B 70,384,040 22,595,753

Total 273,528,409 23,595,753

II APPLICATION OF FUNDS
1. Fixed Assets C

(a) Gross Block 184,740,365 593,730
(b) Less Depreciation 2,391,193 24,318

(c) Net Block 182,349,172 569,412
(d) Capital Work-in-Progress
      (Including Capital Advances) 2,448,129 6,004,349

184,797,301 6,573,761
2. Expenditure during Construction
    Period, pending allocation (Net) D - 3,925,243

3. Current Assets, Loans and Advances
(a) Sundry Debtors E 2,917,192 -
(b) Cash and Bank Balances F 143,801,928 975,954
(c) Loans and Advances G 25,939,118 15,001,000
(d) Other Current Assets H 98,630 91,431

172,756,868 16,068,385

Less : Current Liabilities and Provisions I
(a) Current Liabilities 101,385,319 2,944,936
(b) Provisions 560,589 26,700

101,945,908 2,971,636

Net Current Assets 70,810,960 13,096,749

4. Profit and Loss Account 17,920,148 -

Total 273,528,409 23,595,753
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to Accounts O

(Amount in Rupees)

As at
June 30, 2007

As at
March 31, 2008

Sch.
No.

HYDERABAD MENZIES AIR CARGO PRIVATE LIMITED

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

        Sd/-      Sd/-     Sd/-      
P. Ramakrishna P S Nair Kamesh Peri
Partner Chairman Director
Membership no. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

The Schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Balance Sheet.

This is the Balance sheet referred to in our report of even date    
 For and on behalf of the Board

INCOME

Income from Cargo Operations 4,623,677
Other Income J 631,703

Total 5,255,380

EXPENDITURE

Operating Expenditure K 3,533,966
Personnel Cost L 4,602,137
Other Administrative Expenditure M 4,199,375
Interest and Finance Charges N 10,594
Project Expenses Written off 8,497,952
Preliminary Expenses 27,655
Depreciation 2,228,373

Total 23,100,052

Profit before Taxation (17,844,672)
Provision for Taxation -

Current Tax -
Deferred Tax
Fringe benefit Tax 75,476

   
Profit after Taxation (17,920,148)

Balance carried over to Balance Sheet (17,920,148)

Earnings per Share-for the Period
(not-annualised)
    (Basic and diluted) (48.30)

Statement on significant accounting policies O
and nodes to the Accounts

(Amount in Rupees)

Sch Ref For the period ended
March 31, 2008

HYDERABAD MENZIES AIR CARGO PRIVATE LIMITED

Profit and Loss Account for the period ended March 31, 2008

The Schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Profit and Loss Account

This is the Profit and Loss Account referred to in our Report of even date                                                 

        On behalf of the Board of Directors

        Sd/-      Sd/-     Sd/-      
P. Ramakrishna P S Nair Kamesh Peri
Partner Chairman Director
Membership no. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

H
Y
D

E
R
A
B
A
D

 M
E
N

Z
IE

S
 A

IR
 C

A
R
G

O
 P

R
IV

A
T
E
 L

IM
IT

E
D



7271
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1.  Shareholders’ Funds
Capital A 10,200,000 1,000,000
Share Application Money pending allotment 192,944,369 -

2.  Loan Funds
Unsecured Loans B 70,384,040 22,595,753

Total 273,528,409 23,595,753

II APPLICATION OF FUNDS
1. Fixed Assets C

(a) Gross Block 184,740,365 593,730
(b) Less Depreciation 2,391,193 24,318

(c) Net Block 182,349,172 569,412
(d) Capital Work-in-Progress
      (Including Capital Advances) 2,448,129 6,004,349

184,797,301 6,573,761
2. Expenditure during Construction
    Period, pending allocation (Net) D - 3,925,243

3. Current Assets, Loans and Advances
(a) Sundry Debtors E 2,917,192 -
(b) Cash and Bank Balances F 143,801,928 975,954
(c) Loans and Advances G 25,939,118 15,001,000
(d) Other Current Assets H 98,630 91,431

172,756,868 16,068,385

Less : Current Liabilities and Provisions I
(a) Current Liabilities 101,385,319 2,944,936
(b) Provisions 560,589 26,700

101,945,908 2,971,636

Net Current Assets 70,810,960 13,096,749

4. Profit and Loss Account 17,920,148 -

Total 273,528,409 23,595,753
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to Accounts O

(Amount in Rupees)

As at
June 30, 2007

As at
March 31, 2008

Sch.
No.

HYDERABAD MENZIES AIR CARGO PRIVATE LIMITED

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

        Sd/-      Sd/-     Sd/-      
P. Ramakrishna P S Nair Kamesh Peri
Partner Chairman Director
Membership no. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008

The Schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Balance Sheet.

This is the Balance sheet referred to in our report of even date    
 For and on behalf of the Board

INCOME

Income from Cargo Operations 4,623,677
Other Income J 631,703

Total 5,255,380

EXPENDITURE

Operating Expenditure K 3,533,966
Personnel Cost L 4,602,137
Other Administrative Expenditure M 4,199,375
Interest and Finance Charges N 10,594
Project Expenses Written off 8,497,952
Preliminary Expenses 27,655
Depreciation 2,228,373

Total 23,100,052

Profit before Taxation (17,844,672)
Provision for Taxation -

Current Tax -
Deferred Tax
Fringe benefit Tax 75,476

   
Profit after Taxation (17,920,148)

Balance carried over to Balance Sheet (17,920,148)

Earnings per Share-for the Period
(not-annualised)
    (Basic and diluted) (48.30)

Statement on significant accounting policies O
and nodes to the Accounts

(Amount in Rupees)

Sch Ref For the period ended
March 31, 2008

HYDERABAD MENZIES AIR CARGO PRIVATE LIMITED

Profit and Loss Account for the period ended March 31, 2008

The Schedules referred to above form an integral part of the Profit and Loss Account

This is the Profit and Loss Account referred to in our Report of even date                                                 

        On behalf of the Board of Directors

        Sd/-      Sd/-     Sd/-      
P. Ramakrishna P S Nair Kamesh Peri
Partner Chairman Director
Membership no. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008
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Authorised 

10,000,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each 100,000,000 1,000,000

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up 10,200,000 1,000,000

1,020,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid up

(Out of above 520,200, (2007 - 51,000) 

Equity shares are held by 

GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited) 10,200,000 1,000,000

Short Term

Inter-Corporate Deposits 68,642,740 22,595,753

Deposits from Concessionaires 741,300 -

70,384,040 22,595,753

(Amount in Rupees)

As at
March 31, 2008

As at
March 31, 2008

SCHEDULE - A - Capital

SCHEDULE - B - Unsecured Loans

As at
June 30, 2007

As at
June 30, 2007

HYDERABAD MENZIES AIR CARGO PRIVATE LIMITED

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet
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Salaries, Allowances and other benefits 14,425,524 2,347,932

Staff Welfare 3,070,667 -

Rent 209,243 -

Rates and Taxes 792,775 6,848

Repairs and Maintenance 190,716 -

Insurance 462,270 3,964

Printing and Stationery 240,151 2,656

Consultancy and other professional charges 2,814,151 12,362

Remuneration to Auditors - Audit Fees - 100,000

Travelling and Conveyance 4,096,036 564,571

Communication Expenses 148,257 35,721

Recruitment Expenses - 777,849

Fuel 11,825 -

Advertisement 20,000 -

Bank / other finance charges 32,397 2,187

Fringe Benefit Tax 150,747 26,700

Depreciation 162,820 24,318

Loss / (Gain) on Exchange Fluctuations (New) 1,229,666 (11,949)

Miscellaneous Expenses 136,291 4,429

Preliminary Expenses 27,655 27,655

28,221,191 3,925,243

Less: Interest income 79,185 -

28,142,006 3,925,243

Less: Project Expenses written off 8,497,952 -

19,644,054 3,925,243

Less : Preliminary Expenses written off 27,655 -

19,616,399 3,925,243

Less : Allocated to Capital Assets 19,616,399 -

- 3,925,243

Cash on Hand 15,365 1,289

- in Current Accounts 23,786,563 974,665

- in Fixed Deposits 120,000,000 -

143,801,928 975,954

Balances with Scheduled Banks

Upto and as at
March 31, 2008

Upto and as at
March 31, 2008

SCHEDULE - D - Expenditure during construction period, 
pending allocation (Net)

SCHEDULE - F - Cash and Bank Balances

Upto and as at
June 30, 2007

Upto and as at
June 30, 2007

HYDERABAD MENZIES AIR CARGO PRIVATE LIMITED

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet

(Unsecured, considered good)

Debts outstanding for a period exceeding six months - -

Other Debts 2,917,192 -

2,917,192 -

Upto and as at
March 31, 2008SCHEDULE - E - Sundry Debtors

Upto and as at
June 30, 2007

(Unsecured, considered good)

Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received” 746,031 -

Balances with Excise Authorities 10,188,087 -

Other Deposits 15,005,000 15,001,000

(Includes Deposits with Holding Company Rs. 15,000,000 (2007-  25,939,116 15,001,000Rs. 15,000,000)

As at
March 31, 2008

SCHEDULE G - Loans and Advances As at
June 30, 2007

(Amount in Rupees)

HYDERABAD MENZIES AIR CARGO PRIVATE LIMITED

Schedules forming part of Balance Sheet

(Unsecured, considered good)Interest Accrued but not due 98,630 91,431

98,630 91431

As at
March 31, 2008SCHEDULE H - Other Current Assets

As at
June 30, 2007

Current Liabilities 

Sundry Creditors

- Dues to Micro  Enterprises and Small Enterprises**

- Dues to other than Micro Enterprises and Small enterprises 97,909,242 2,944,936

Advance from Customers 2,670,275 --

Other Liabilities 805,802

101,385,319 2,944,936

Note : ** - Based on the details available with the Company and

            Information furnished by the Suppliers

Provisions

Provision for Fringe Benefit Tax (net of advance taxes) 35,248 26,700

Provision for Employee benefits 525,341

560,589 26,700

101,945,908 2,971,636

As at
March 31, 2008SCHEDULE I - Current Liabilities and Provisions

As at
June 30, 2007

Schedules annexed to and forming part of Profit and Loss Account

Interest on deposits - (Gross) 456,164

Income from Concessionaires 138,039

Misc Receipts 37,500

631,703

(Tax deducted at Source - Rs. 90,119)

For the period ended
March 31, 2008 

SCHEDULE - J - OTHER INCOME

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 4,279,676

Staff Welfare 322,461

4,602,137

For the period ended
March 31, 2008 

SCHEDULE - L - PERSONNEL COST

Concessionaire Fee 801,024

Concessionaire Rent 1,397,517

Operating Expenditure 1,335,425

3,533,966

For the period ended
March 31, 2008 

SCHEDULE - K - OPERATING EXPENDITURE
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Power and Fuel 535,838

Repairs and Maintenance 304,483

Insurance 155,090

Travelling and Conveyance Expenses 1,112,161

Professional and Consultancy charges 95,808

Printing and Stationery 77,913

Loss/(Gain) on Exchange Fluctuations (Net) 806,938

Communication Expenses 276,463

Security Charges 477,626

Auditors’ Remuneration

- Audit Fee 250,000

Miscellaneous Expenses 107,055

4,199,375

For the period ended
March 31, 2008 

SCHEDULE - M - OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENDITURE

Bank Charges 10,594

10,594

For the period ended
March 31, 2008 

SCHEDULE - N - INTEREST AND FINANCE CHARGES

Schedule O

Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to Accounts

1.  Significant Accounting Policies 

Background:

Menzies Aviation Pic, UK and GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited (GHIAL) have 
entered into a joint venture for cargo handling at the Rajiv Gandhi International Airport at 
Shamshabad, Hyderabad, Rangareddy District. The Company was incorporated on February 
22, 2006 as a Special purpose Vehicle for implementing the Cargo Handling Project. The 
Company has installed state of art Cargo Handling Facility and ready for commencement of 
commercial operations effective March 01, 2008 Commercial Operations commenced on 
March 23, 2008. 

(i) Accounting Assumptions: 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention on the basis of a 
going concern, with revenues recognized and expenses accounted on their accrual and 
amounts determined as payable or receivable during the year, except those with significant 
uncertainties and is in accordance with the applicable Accounting Standards as issued by the 
institute of Chartered accountants of India and provisions fo the companies Act, 1956. 

(ii) Revenue Recognition

Revenue from cargo is recognised at the point of departure for exports and at the point that 
the goods are ready for delivery for imports

(iii) Fixed Assets and Depreciation:

Fixed Assets are state at cost of acquisition which is inclusive of inward freight, non refundable 
duties and taxes and incidentals related to acquisitions. Assets under installation or under 
construction as at balance sheet date are shown as Capital Work in Progress. 

Depreciation is provided pro rata to the period of use on the written down value method at the 
rates specified under schedule XIV of the Companies Act., 1956. Fixed assets having an original 
cost of less than Rs. 5,000 individually are fully depreciated in the year of purchase. 

All the fixed assets are assessed for any indication of impairment, the end of each financial year. On 
such indication, the impairment loss, being the excess of carrying value over the recoverable value of 
the assets, is charged to the profit and loss account in the respective financial years. The impairment 
loss recognised in the prior years is reversed in cases where the removable value exceeds the 
carrying value, upon re-assessment in the subsequent years. 

(iv) Foreign Currency Transactions:

All foreign currency transactions are accounted at the exchanged rates prevailing on the date 
of transactions. Current assets and current liabilities are translated at the exchange rate 
prevailing on the balance sheet date and the resultant gain / loss is recognized in the financial 
statements. The contingent liability denominated in the foreign currency at the balance sheet 
date is disclosed by using the closing rate.  

(v) Earning per Share

The earnings considered in ascertaining the Company’s Earnings per share (EPS) comprise the 
net profit/(loss) after tax. The number of shares used in computing Basic EPS is the weighted 
average number of shares outstanding during the year. The number of shares used in 
computing diluted EPS comprises of weighted average shares considered for deriving Basic 
EPS and also the weighted average number of equity shares which could have been issued on 
the conversion of all dilutive potential equity share where applicable. Dilutive potential equity 
shares are deemed to have been converted as of the beginning of the year, unless they have 
issued at a later date.

(vi)Taxes on income

Tax expenses comprises both current and deferred taxes. Provision for current tax is made based 
on the applicable tax rates and tax laws with respect to theat year. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between 
financial statements carrying amount of existing assents and liabilities and their respective tax 
bases and operating loss carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using 
the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date. The effect of deferred tax assets and liabilities due to change in tax rates is recognized in the 
profit and loss account in the year of change. 

a. Contingent Liabilities and Commitments

(i) Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital accounts not provided for, 
net of advances is Rs. Nil (2007 - Rs. 61,478,064) 

(ii) Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debt. Rs. Nil 

b. The company was ready for commercial operations on March 01, 2008. Accordingly. Profit and 
Loss Account has been prepared for the period from March 01, 2008 to March 31, 2008. As this 
being the first period of operations after commercial operation, previous period figures have 
not been furnished for the Profit and Loss Account. 

e. Employee Benefits 

1.  Defined contribution plans

In respect of the defined contribution plans, an amount of Rs. 549,482 (2007-Rs. Nil) has 
been recognized in the Profit and Loss Account during the period.

2. Notes to Accounts
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2. Defined benefit plans

The following table sets forth the status of the Gratuity Plan and Leave Encasement Plan of the Company and 
the amounts recognized in the Balance Sheet and in the Profit and Loss Accounts.

Particulars Gratuity Leave
Plan Enashment Plan

Projected benefit obligation at the beginning
of the period
Current service cost 342,757 375,159
Interest cost – –
Actuarial loss / (gain) – (104,898)
Benefits paid – (87,677)
Short Term Leave Encashment Liability 347,428
Projected benefit obligation at the end of the
Period (As at March 31, 2008) 342,757 530,112

Amounts recognized in the balance sheet 342,757 530,112
Projected benefit obligation at the end of the period
Fair value of plan assets at end of the period

Funded status of the plans - (asset)/liability – –
Liability recognized in the balance sheet 342,757 530,112

Cost for the period
Current service cost 342,757 375,159
Interest cost – –
Expected return on plan assets – –
Net actuarial (gain)/loss recognised in the period – (104,898)
Benefits paid (87,677)
Short Term Leave Encashment Liability 347,428
Net cost 342,757 530,112

Investment details of the plan assets
State and Central Securities – –
Bonds – –
Special Deposits – –

Actual Return on Plan Assets* – –

Assumptions
Discount rate 8% 8%
Estimated rate of return on plan assets – –
Expected rate of salary increases 7.5% 7.5%

HYDERABAD MENZIES AIR CARGO PRIVATE LIMITED

d.      Related Party Transactions

(i)  Details of Related Parties

Ultimate Holding Company GMR Holdings Private Limited (GHPL)

Holding Company’s Holding Company GMR Infrastructure Limited

Holding Company GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited

Venturers having Significant Influence Menzies Aviation cargo (Hyderabad) Limited (Mauritius)
Menzies Aviation Plc (UK),
Menzies Aviation India Private Limited

(Amount in Rupees) (ii) Details of transactions with the above related parties are as follows:

Equity Share Alloted

- Holding Company 4,692,000 510,000

- Venturers having Significant Influence

  Menzies Aviation cargo (Hyderabad) Limited 4,508,000 -

  Manzies Aviation Pic (UK) - 490,000

Equity Share Application Money Received

- Holding Company 10,682,000 -

- Venturers having Significant Influence

  Menzies Aviation cargo (Hyderabad) Limited 2,190,000 -

  Manzies Aviation Pic (UK) 8,74,819 -

Preference Share Application Money Received

- Venturers having Significant Influence

  Menzies Aviation cargo (Hyderabad) Limited 180,530,550 -

Concessionaire Rent

- Holding Company 1,397,517 -

Concessionaire Fee

- Holding Company 801,024 -

Management Fee

- Venturers having Significant Influence 267,008 -

Menzies Aviation PLC

Unsecured Loans

- Venturers having Significant Influence

Menzies Aviation India Private Limited 69,642,740 22,595,753 

Particulars As at March 31, 2008As at June 30, 2007

iii Period End Balances

Particulars As at March 31, 2008 As at June 30, 2007

- Ventures having Significant influence

Manzies Aviation India Private Limited 69,642,740 22,595,753

Manzies Aviation PLC (Uk0 6,951,803 -

Equity Shares Application Money 
pending allotment

- Holding Company 5,990,000 -

- Venturers having Significant Influence - -

- Menzies Aviation Cargo (Hyderabad) Limited 6,423,814

Preferential Share Application Money 
Pending allotment

- Venturers having Significant Influence

- Manzies Aviation Cargo (Hyderabad) Limited (Mauritius) 118,350,000 -

  Manzies Aviation PLC (UK) 62,180,550 -

(Amount in Rupees)
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Menzies Aviation PLC

Unsecured Loans

- Venturers having Significant Influence

Menzies Aviation India Private Limited 69,642,740 22,595,753 

Particulars As at March 31, 2008As at June 30, 2007

iii Period End Balances

Particulars As at March 31, 2008 As at June 30, 2007

- Ventures having Significant influence

Manzies Aviation India Private Limited 69,642,740 22,595,753

Manzies Aviation PLC (Uk0 6,951,803 -
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pending allotment

- Holding Company 5,990,000 -
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(Amount in Rupees)
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e. Lease obligations as lessee (Leases payments)

Leases payments made under cancellable operating amounting to Rs. 1,397,517(2007-Rs. 
Nil) have been recongnised as an expenses in the Profit and Loss account. 

f. Lease obligations as lessor (Lease receivables) 

Lease receipts under cancellable operating leases amounting to Rs. 138,039 (2007-Rs. Nil) 
have been recognized as rental income in the Profit and Loss account. 

g. Earning Per Share (EPS)  

Particulars As at March 31, 2008 As at June 30, 2007

Net Profit after taxes for the period (Rs.) (17,920,148) -

Weighted average number of Equity Shares of 370,982 

Rs. 10 each outstanding during the period 

(Used for calculation of Basic Earnings Per Share)

EPS-Basis and Diluted (Rs.) (48.30)

(Amount in Rupees)

Particulars As at March 31, 2008 As at June 30, 2007

Capital goods 38,125,421 -

Total 38,125,421 -

Particulars As at March 31, 2008 As at June 30, 2007

Traveling 225,998 -

Consultancy 1,823,725 -

Others 47,564 -

Total 2,097,287 -

Particulars As at March 31, 2008 As at June 30, 2007

Audit Fee (excluding Service Tax) 250,000 100,000

Total 250,000 100,000

h. Deferred tax

Deferred tax liability as per the requirement of AS-22, Accounting for taxes in income, issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India has not been provided during the year as the timing 
differences that originate as at the Balance Sheet date will be reversing during the tax holiday period of 
the Company under the provisions of Section-80 IA of the Income Tax Act, 1961.

i. Company has not paid any interest or any interest payable is outstanding to Micro, Small or Medium 
Enterprises (under the provisions of Section 16 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
Development Act, 2006) during the period ending March 31, 2008.

j.      Auditors Remuneration

k.     Expenditure in Foreign Currency

l.     Value of Imports

(Amount in Rupees)

(Amount in Rupees)

(Amount in Rupees)

m. Additional Information pursuant to paragraphs 3, 4, 4-C and 4-D of part-II of Schedule VI to the 
Companies Act, 1956 to the extent either “Nil” or “Not Applicable” has not been furnished.

                                                                                             For and on behalf of the Board

n. Pursuant to commencement of commercial Operations the company has changed its financial year to 
align the same with the parent company’s financial year. Accordingly, these accounts have been 
prepared for the nine months period ended on March 31, 2008. Consequently, figures for the period 
ended March 31, 2008 are not readily comparable with the figures for the previous year of 16 months 
ended on June 30, 2007. However, certain comparative figures for the previous year have been 
reclassified and regrouped to conform to current period presentation.

        Sd/-      Sd/-     Sd/-      
P. Ramakrishna P S Nair Kamesh Peri
Partner Chairman Director
Membership no. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Place: Hyderabad
Date: May 14, 2008
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A. CASH FLOW FROM / (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit Before Tax and Extra Ordinary items (17,844,672) -
Adjustment for :
Loss on Foreign Exchange Fluctuations 806,938 -
Depreciation and Amortisation 2,228,373 24,318
Interest Income (456,164) -

(15,265,525) 24,318
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE WORKING CAPITAL CHANGES
Adjustment for Working Capital Changes
(Increase) / Decrease in Loans and Advances (10,938,118) (15,092,431)
(Increase) / Decrease in Sundry Debtors (2,917,192)
Increase / (Decrease) in Current Liabilities and Provisions 98,282,833 2,971,636

Cash Generated from Operations 69,161,998 (12,096,477)
Income taxes paid (190,975)

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 68,971,023 (12,096,477)

B. CASH FLOW FROM / (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Fixed Assets and Change in Capital Work in Progress (176,526,670) (6,598,079)
Expenditure during Construction period, pending allocation (net) - (3,925,243)
Interest received 448,965 -

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (176,077,705) (10,523,322)

C. CASH FLOW FROM / (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Issue of Share Capital 202,144,369 1,000,000
Deposits from Concessionaires 741,300 -
Proceeds from Inter-Corporate Deposits 47,046,987 22,595,753

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 249,932,656 23,595,753

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS 142,825,974 975,954

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD 975,954 -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 143,801,928 975,954

Notes:
1. The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in the Accounting
   Standard - 3 on Cash Flow Statements issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

2.  Previous year’s figures have been regrouped, recast and reclassified to conform to current year’s 
     presentation.

(Amount in Rupees)

For the period
from

Jul 01, 2007 to Mar
31, 2008

For the period
from

Feb 22, 2006 to Jun
30, 2007

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HYDERABAD MENZIES AIR CARGO PRIVATE LIMITED

This is the Cash Flow Statement referred to in our report of even date.

                                                                                                             For and on behalf of the Board

Place : Hyderabad
Date : May 14, 2008

        Sd/-      Sd/-     Sd/-      
P. Ramakrishna P S Nair Kamesh Peri
Partner Chairman Director
Membership no. 22795
For and on behalf of
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants
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CGF as Aero 1 1 for Aero, 0 for Non Aero

Interest Income as Non Aero 1 1 for Yes, 0 for No

REGULATORY BUILDING BLOCKS-for the period (23rd Mar 2008-31st Mar 2008) 2008

From 23-Mar-08

To 31-Mar-08

Regulatory Building Blocks

Return on Capital Employed 5.28

Operating Expense 49.89

Concession Fee 0.16

Depreciation 2.38

Taxes 0.00

Gross Target Revenue 57.70

Cross Subsidization 1.98

Aero Revenue Eligibility 55.72

Less: Actual Aero Revenue 3.90

Total Deficit (for the period 23rd Mar'08 to 31st Mar'08) 51.82

TOTAL TRUE-UP 2008

Total of Absolute Value 51.82

True up  adjusted for Time Value

Fair Rate of Return 10.02%

Discounting Factor 3.46

PV of  Eligibility (for 9 day period till 31st Mar'08)as on 01-Sep-21 179.32

REGULATORY ASSET BASE 2008

Opening RAB

Addition of Assets 2141.01

Asset Deletions 0.00

Depreciation 7.27

Closing RAB 2133.74

RAB for ARR calculation 2137.38

Fair Rate of Return (Same as CP3 consultation paper for FY09) 10.0%

REVENUE 2008

From Regulated Charges 3.90

           Aero Revenues 1.94

        Other Revenue Streams grouped as Aero 1.96

Non Aero Revenue Streams (PBT) 6.59

Total Revenue 10.50
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